

# The Role of Enterochromaffin Cells in Gut Motility and their Interactions with Extrinsic Sensory Nerves

by

## Lauren Ashleigh Jones (BMSc, BSc(Hons))

Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

## **Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)**

College of Medicine and Public Health 30<sup>th</sup> March, 2022

## **Contents Page**

LIST OF FIGURES	7
LIST OF TABLES	. 11
NOMENCLATURE	. 12
THESIS SUMMARY	. 15
PUBLICATIONS THROUGHOUT TIME OF CANDIDATURE:	. 17
DECLARATION	. 18
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:	. 19
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	. 21
1. INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM	. 22
1.1 The function of the intestinal epithelium	. 22
1.2 Identification of epithelial stem cells	. 23
1.3 Gut epithelial cells	. 26
1.4 Enteroendocrine cells	. 27
1.5 Enterochromaffin cells	. 29
1.6 Regulation of EEC differentiation	. 29
2. Serotonin	. 32
2.1 Synthesis and source	. 32
2.2 Serotonin receptors	. 35
2.3 Roles of serotonin	. 38
2.3.1 Traditional Roles of serotonin	. 38
2.3.2 Newly identified functions of peripheral serotonin in metabolic control	. 39
2.3.3 Intestinal bacteria regulate peripheral serotonin production	. 40
2.3.4 Physiological implications of the serotonin-gut microbiome interaction in	
the gut	. 42
2.3.5 Implications of the serotonin-microbiome interaction beyond the gut	. 43
3. SEROTONIN AND GUT MOTILITY	. 48
3.1 Overview of gut motility	. 48
3.2 The role of EC cell derived serotonin in GI motility	. 53
3.3 Neuronal serotonin in GI motility	. 55

4	MECHANOSENSING OF EC CELLS	57
	4.1 Evidence of EC cell mechanosensitivity	57
	4.2 Previously hypothesised mechanisms of EC cell mechanobiology	58
	4.3 Piezo channels	59
	4.4 Evidence for mouse EC cell Piezo channels	61
5	GUT-BRAIN AXIS	64
	5.1 Sensory innervation of the gut	64
	5.2 Extrinsic sensory innervation of the colon	65
	5.3 Functional evidence of direct signalling in the gut-brain axis	68
	5.4 Evidence for direct EEC – neuronal connections	69
	5.5 EC cell – neuronal connection	73
	5.6 What drives connections between EECs and neurons?	75
6	. Concluding Remarks	77
7	2. EXPERIMENTAL AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	77
СН	APTER 2: THE ROLE OF ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELL DERIVED	
SE	ROTONIN IN COLONIC MOTILITY.	79
2	1 INTRODUCTION	80
2	2 Methods	84
	2.2.1 Preparation of Mouse Tissues	84
	2.2.2 Immunohistochemistry	84
	2.2.3 Microscopy and Image Analysis	85
	2.2.4 Measuring colonic motility ex vivo via mechanical recordings	85
	2.2.5 Measuring contractions on a fixed pellet ex vivo	86
	2.2.6 Ex vivo total transit time	86
	2.2.7 Serotonin ELISA assay	86
	2.2.8 Statistical analysis	87
2	.3 RESULTS	88
	2.3.1 Ablation of EC cells and intestinal morphology in Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa <sup>26DTA</sup>	/+
	mice	88
	2.3.2 Ex vivo colonic migrating motor complexes are less frequent but still	
	present in Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa <sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice	91
	2.3.3 Contractions on a fixed pellet are reduced in force and frequency in	
	Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa <sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice lacking serotonin	95

2.3.5 Fluoxetine effect on GI motility of Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa <sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice
2.4 DISCUSSION
2.5 CONCLUSION
CHAPTER 3: THE MECHANOSENSING PROPERTIES OF
ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELLS AND THEIR SUBSEQUENT EFFECT ON
COLONIC MOTILITY115
3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.2 Methods
3.2.1 Preparation of Mouse Tissues
3.2.2 Human Intestinal Tissue
3.2.3 Immunohistochemistry on Human Intestinal Sections
3.2.4 Microscopy
3.2.5 Amperometry
3.2.6 Mechanical Orbital Shaking Experiments
3.2.7 Colonic motility recordings
3.2.8 Drugs
3.2.9 Statistical analysis126
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Piezo2 in human EC cells of the ileum and colon
3.3.2 The role of Piezo channels in the release of serotonin from human EC cells
of the ileum and colon
3.3.3 Measuring the role of Piezo channels in the release of serotonin, from
mouse EC cells in the ileum and colon132
3.3.4 Mechanical stimulation of EC cells using fluid movement, causes a dose-
dependent release of serotonin
3.3.5 Human and mouse ileal EC cells are more sensitive to mechanical stimuli
than colonic EC cells137
3.3.6 Blocking the Piezo channels causes a dose dependent reduction in
CMMCs
3.3.7 Blocking the Piezo channels in mucosa-free colon also reduces colonic
motility
3.3.8 EC cell mechanosensitivity changes with age and sex
3.4 DISCUSSION
3.5 CONCLUSION

## CHAPTER 4: ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELLS CONTAIN NEUROPODS, AND DIRECTLY CONTACT SENSORY NERVE FIBRES IN THE MOUSE DISTAL

COLON.	167
4.1 INTRODUCTION	
4.2 Methods	172
4.2.1 Mice Tissue	172
4.2.2 Human Tissue	172
4.2.3 Immunostaining	172
4.2.4 Microscopy	173
4.2.5 Image analysis	173
4.2.6 Statistical analysis	174
4.3 RESULTS	175
4.3.1 Optimisation of imaging and analysis method	175
4.3.2 Characteristics of EC cells in the mouse distal colon	178
4.3.3 Spatial relationship between CGRP fibres and EC cells in the dis	stal colon.
	180
4.3.5 EC cells in human colon contain neuropods and contact innerva	ting nerve
fibres	186
4.4 DISCUSSION	
4.5 CONCLUSION	
CHAPTER 5: CHARACTERIZATION OF THE CONNECTION BETWEEN	I
ENTEROCHROMAFFIN CELLS AND SPINAL SENSORY NEURONS IN	THE
MOUSE COLON.	203
5.1 INTRODUCTION	
5.2 Methods	
5.2.1 Mice Tissue and DRG Removal Surgery	
5.2.2 Immunostaining	
5.2.3 Microscopy	211
5.2.4 Imaris	211
5.2.5 Bioinformatic analysis and Gene Sorting	211
5.2.6 Statistical analysis	212
5.3 Results	213

5.3.1 Acute reduction in CGRP innervation of the distal colon after L6-S1 DRG
removal surgery213
5.3.2 Depleted CGRP spinal innervation and EC cell number post L6-S1 DRG
removal
5.3.3 Changes in EC cell characteristics due to the removal of spinal afferent
innervation219
5.3.4 Changes in EC cells in the colon 3 weeks post DRG removal
5.3.5 Bioinformatic identification of secreted protein:receptor pairs in DRG
sensory neurons and EC cells, respectively227
5.4 DISCUSSION
5.5 CONCLUSION:
CHAPTER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION
6.1 SUMMARY OF RESULTS AND IMPLICATIONS
6.1.1 EC-cell derived serotonin is modulatory, but not essential in GI motility: 245
6.1.2 Piezo2, an important mechanosensitive channel in mouse and human EC
cells, is important in GI motility:247
cells, is important in GI motility:247 6.1.3 EC cells contain neuropods, some of which contact sensory neurons:251
cells, is important in GI motility:247 6.1.3 EC cells contain neuropods, some of which contact sensory neurons:251 6.1.4 Factors which might drive connections between EC cells and extrinsic
cells, is important in GI motility:
<ul> <li>cells, is important in GI motility:</li></ul>
<ul> <li>cells, is important in GI motility:</li></ul>
cells, is important in GI motility:

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1: The differentiation of intestinal stem cells
Figure 1.2: The three pathways of tryptophan metabolism
Figure 1.4: Schematic of the peristaltic reflex
Figure 1.5: The proposed neuromechanical loop
Figure 1.6: Extrinsic innervation of the GI tract
Figure 2.1: Confirmation of the Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa26 <sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse model
Figure 2.2: Confirmation of the specificity of EC cell serotonin knockdown in
Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa26 <sup>DTA/+</sup> mice90
Figure 2.3: Changes in CMMCs in EC cell depleted Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa26 <sup>DTA/+</sup> mice.
Figure 2.4: Changes in CMMCs in EC cell depleted Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa26 <sup>DTA/+</sup> mice.
Figure 2.5: The frequency of CMMCs is correlated with serum serotonin levels94
Figure 2.6: A lack of Tph1 causes a reduction in the frequency and amplitude of
contractions on a fixed pellet ex vivo96
Figure 2.7: Ex vivo colonic transit is slower in mice lacking EC cell serotonin 98
Figure 2.8: Fluoxetine works through EC cell serotonin, with no role for neuronal
serotonin in motility
Figure 3.1: An example trace measuring the real-time release of serotonin as a result
of mucosal compression124
Figure 3.2: Human EC cells contain the mechanosensing ion channel Piezo2 128

Figure 3.3: The inhibition of Piezo channels reduces mechanically stimulated serotonin
release from human ileum
Figure 3.4: The inhibition of Piezo channels reduces mechanically stimulated serotonin
release from human colon131
Figure 3.5: Serotonin release from mouse ileum in response to mucosal compression
is blocked with Piezo inhibition
Figure 3.6: Serotonin release from mouse colon in response to mucosal compression
is blocked with Piezo inhibition134
Figure 3.7: Serotonin release from human colon and ileum due to fluid shear stress.
Figure 3.8: Ileal EC cells are more mechanosensitive than colonic EC cells 138
Figure 3.9: Serotonin content and release differs across the human GI tract 139
Figure 3.10: Inhibiting Piezo channels causes a dose dependant reduction in mouse
CMMCs141
Figure 3.11: GsMTx4 dose response at 10 $\mu$ M on mouse CMMC trace
Figure 3.12: Blocking the Piezo channels reduces mouse CMMCs ex vivo
Figure 3.13: Piezo inhibition abolishes CMMCs in mucosa-free mouse colon 146
Figure 3.14: Human EC cells lose mechanosensitivity with age
Figure 3.15: Sex differences in the mechanically evoked release of serotonin from
mouse GI tissue149
Figure 4.1: EC cells and CGRP labelled nerve fibres within the mouse distal colon
imaged through 2D epifluorescence microscopy176
Figure 4.2: Rendered EC cells from confocal microscopy and 3D image analysis. 177

Figure 4.3: Mouse distal colonic EC cell characteristics
Figure 4.4: EC cells contact CGRP labelled sensory nerve fibres in the mouse distal
colon
Figure 4.5: The creation of a CGRP 'heatmap' to determine the distance between EC
cells and CGRP labeled sensory nerve fibres183
Figure 4.6: Most EC cells are touching CGRP nerve fibres
Figure 4.7: CGRP fibres predominantly contact EC cells at the cell body
Figure 4.8: Colonic human EC cells also contain neuropods
Figure 4.9: Colonic human EC cells also contact neuronal fibres
Figure 5.1: Schematic of the surgical method used to remove bilateral L6 and S1 DRG.
Figure 5.2: Reduced CGRP labelled sensory innervation in DRG ablation surgery
mice
Figure 5.3: EC Cell numbers quantified from 2D epifluorescence imaging
Figure 5.4: Fewer EC cells are observed in the distal mouse colon post-surgery 217
Figure 5.5: EC cells are dramatically reduced in mouse colon post-DRG removal.218
Figure 5.6: Characteristics of EC cell morphology change with the removal of extrinsic
spinal innervation to the mouse colon
Figure 5.7: EC cells can contain multiple neuropods221
Figure 5.8: Representative images of the distal colon 3 weeks post-surgery 223

Figure 5.9: Time induced effect of removal of L6-S1 DRG on the distal colon 3 weeks
post-surgery
Figure 5.10: Representative images of the proximal colon 3 weeks post-surgery 225
Figure 5.11: Time induced effect of the removal of L6-S1 DRG on the proximal colon
3 weeks post-surgery226
Figure 5.12: Genes expressed in CGRP cells which produce secretory products of
interest
Figure 5.13: Receptor coding genes expressed in EC cells
Figure 6.1: A schematic of the neuromechanical loop hypothesis including EC cell
Piezo2
Appendix Figure 1: Fluoxetine reduces CMMC frequency in intact ex vivo mouse
colonic preparations
Appendix Figure 2: Tph inhibitor treated mice have no change in GI transit in vivo.
Appendix Figure 3: A reduction in GI mucosal serotonin in Tph inhibitor treated mice.
Appendix Figure 4: Example of unidentified Piezo2 positive cells outside of the
mucosa
Appendix Figure 5: Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Piezo2 <sup>flox/flox</sup> mice have a reduced <i>in vivo</i> GI transit.
Appendix Figure 6: EC cell neuropod bifurcating into two
Appendix Figure 7: Example of two EC cell neuropods contacting each other 296

## List of Tables

Table 1: Expression of serotonin receptor subtypes throughout the body
Table 2: List of genes which produce secretory products matched with known
receptors
Appendix Table 1: Patient information for each human specimens used in
immunohistochemical analysis290
Appendix Table 2: Patient information for each human specimen used in amperometry
analysis
Appendix Table 3: Patient information for each human specimen used in orbital
shaking mechanical stimulation experiments

## Nomenclature

5-HT	5-Hydroxytryptamine, serotonin
5-HTP	5-hydroxytryptophan
5-HTR	5-HT/serotonin receptor
AAAD	aromatic-L-amino-acid decarboxylase
Abx	antibiotic
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bHLH	basic helix-loop-helix
BMP	Bone morphogenic protein
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Calcium
ССК	Cholecystokinin
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide
CMMC	Colonic migrating motor complex
CNS	Central nervous system
DE	Differential expression
DRG	Dorsal root ganglion
DTA	Diptheria toxin
EC cell	Enterochromaffin cell
EEC	Enteroendocrine cell
ELISA	Eenzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ENS	Enteric nervous system
Fz	Frizzled
Gap43	Growth associated protein 43
GAST	Gastrin
GF	Germ-free
GI	Gastrointestinal

GHRL	Ghrelin
GIP	Gastric inhibitory polypeptide
GLP-1/2	Glucagon-like peptide-1/2
GO	Gene ontology
HFD	High fat diet
IBS	Irritable bowel syndrome
ICC	Interstitial cells of Cajal
IPAN	Intrinsic primary afferent neuron
ISX-9	Isoxazole9
ко	Knockout
Leu-enk	leucine-enkephalin
LGR5 <sup>+</sup>	leucine-rich-repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptor5
Met-enk	methionine-enkephalin
n	Number of biological replicates
Ν	Number of technical replicates
Na <sup>+</sup>	Sodium
NGF	Nerve growth factor
Ngn3	Neurogenin-3
NK	Neurokinin
NPY	Neuropeptide Gamma
ns	not significant
NTS	Neurotensin
PACAP	pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide
PFA	paraformaldehyde
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
РҮҮ	Peptide YY
rabG	rabies G glycoprotein
Rfx6	Regulatory factor X6

rpm	rotations per minutes
SCFA	Short chain fatty acid
scRNAseq	single cell RNA sequencing
SCT	Secretin
S.C	subcutaneous
SERT	Serotonin reuptake transporter
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Sema	Semaphorin
SFRP1	Secreted frizzled-related protein 1
SGLT1	Sodium/glucose transporter 1
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SMC	Smooth muscle cell
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
ТА	Transit amplifying
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
тк	Tachykinin
Tph1/2	Tryptophan hydroxylase isoform 1/2
Tph1/2 <sup>-/-</sup>	Tph1/2 knockout mouse
Tph1 DTA	Tph1 <sup>CreERT2/+</sup> ;Rosa26 <sup>DTA/+</sup>
Тх	Tamoxifen
UTP	Uridine triphosphate
VIP	Vasoactive intestinal peptide
VGLUT1	Vesicular glutamate transporter 1 protein
VMAT1/2	Vesicle monoamine transporter 1/2

### **Thesis Summary**

Enterochromaffin (EC) cells are a specialised enteroendocrine cell (EEC) type scattered throughout the gastrointestinal (GI) epithelium, responsible for the production of 90-95% of the body's serotonin. Serotonin is a pleiotropic bioamine, with a wide range of functions throughout the body, both centrally and peripherally. Serotonin is important in the sleep-wake cycle, control of mood, anxiety and depression, GI motility, platelet aggregation, bone density regulation, and throughout many aspects of metabolism.

Within the GI tract, serotonin has long been known to play a role in GI motility, although the importance of serotonin in gut motility has been argued within the field for years. Initial evidence suggested that serotonin was essential in driving gut motility, however more recent studies demonstrate that GI motility still occurs in mice lacking EC cell serotonin *ex vivo*. EC cell knockout mice were created, however, come with complications, including developmental changes in GI tract morphology. As such, the field has been lacking an adequate conditional knockout model to conclusively define the importance of EC cell-derived serotonin in GI motility.

EC cells are important luminal sensory cells that can detect mechanical stimuli within the GI tract, a function of EC cells which has long been known, however the mechanisms involved are not well understood. The most recent evidence suggests the newly identified mechanosensory ion channel, Piezo2, is important in mouse mechanobiology, however this has not yet been characterized in human.

To facilitate the sensory functions of EECs, including EC cells, it has recently been demonstrated that EECs form functional synaptic-like connections with enteric neurons. These connections are thought to be facilitated by basal projections, termed neuropods, although neither the connections, nor neuropods, have been investigated of EC cells as yet.

The aims of this work were to conclusively define whether EC cell serotonin is essential in gut motility, and to investigate the mechanosensing capabilities of both mouse and human EC cells and whether EC cell mechanotransduction is facilitated through the mechanosensitive ion channel, Piezo2. This work also aimed to determine whether colonic EC cells make direct contact with sensory nerves in the intestinal wall, and contain basal projections, termed neuropods. Finally, this work aimed to investigate the role for extrinsic afferents in driving the formation of EC cell neuropods in mouse colon.

This study utilized a specific, conditional knockdown mouse model approach, in which EC cells were specifically ablated post-development. As such, we have conclusively demonstrated that EC cell serotonin is not essential, but modulatory, in GI motility both ex vivo and in vivo. Further, we have provided significant evidence for the importance of Piezo2, the mechanosensing ion channel, in mouse and human EC cell mechanobiology. We provide novel evidence that cell Piezo2 is important in GI motility and demonstrate the novel finding that EC cell mechanosensitivity is lost with age in the human colon. We also characterize EC cell neuropods and establish for the first time the connection between EC cells and sensory innervating nerves to the mouse colon, also providing preliminary evidence for human EC cell neuropods and neuronal connections. As such, these findings increase the validity of work completed in mice for human applications and progress our understanding of the EEC-neuronal connections thought to underpin the gut-brain axis. Furthermore, we find that the removal of extrinsic spinal afferents to the mouse colon *in vivo* significantly reduces EC cell neuropod number and length, as well as EC cell numbers within a short timeframe, which replenish over time. As such we identify 13 protein: receptors pairs of interest from the bioinformatic analysis of genes coded for by CGRP nerve fibres and EC cells respectively.

Overall, this study has demonstrated the role for EC cell mechanosensitivity and serotonin release in GI motility, and the connections EC cells form with sensory afferents which might underpin the gut-brain axis, all of which has significant implications in regulating human health.

### **Publications throughout time of Candidature:**

The following publications have arisen from work associated with this thesis:

- 1. Jones, L. A., Sun, E. W., Martin, A. M. & Keating, D. J. 2020. The ever-changing roles of serotonin. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 105776.
- Wei, L., Singh, R., Ha, S. E., Martin, A. M., Jones, L., Jin, B., et al.Ro, S. 2021. Serotonin deficiency is associated with delayed gastric emptying. *Gastroenterology*.
- 3. Jones, L. A., Jin, B., Martin, A. M., Wei, L., et al., Ro, S., Keating, D. J. Under review. Age-dependent decline in human enterochromaffin cell mechanosensitivity and Piezo2 channel expression slows *in vivo* gut transit. *Gastroenterology*.
- Martin, A. M., Jones, L. A., Wei, L., Sanders, K., Spencer, N. J., Ro, S., Keating, D. J. Under review. Distinguishing the contributions of neuronal and mucosal serotonin in the regulation of colonic motility. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility.*

The following publications have arisen from work unrelated to this thesis:

1. Martin, A. M., **Jones, L. A**., Jessup, C. F., Sun, E. W. & Keating, D. J. 2020. Diet differentially regulates enterochromaffin cell serotonin content, density and nutrient sensitivity in the mouse small and large intestine. *Neurogastroenterology* & *Motility*, 32, e13869.

### Declaration

I certify that this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university; and to the best of my knowledge and belief, does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

Lauren Ashleigh Jones 2/10/2021

#### Acknowledgements:

I would like to thank my supervisors, Damien, Claire, and Nick for their induvial contributions to my candidature and this thesis. Damien has provided a supportive lab environment in which I have had the chance to develop a vast breadth of skills in all aspects of research. Damien has been a brilliant primary supervisor, providing invaluable guidance, knowledge, and above all he has been a wonderful source of inspiration. Claire has provided me with endless moral support, without whom I may not have completed this thesis. I am eternally grateful for all that she has done for me. Nick has been a useful resource, helpful in the development of many of my experimental studies and provided me with access to essential equipment.

I'd like to give a big shout out to Alyce, Emily, Mandy, Clare, Oahn and Dan, among other lab members and students that I have shared pipettes, chats and offices with throughout my time in the Keating lab. Alyce in particular has been the best office mate, travelling buddy, partner in crime, friend, and sounding board that I could have asked for - at many times she has been my rock and I am eternally grateful that our paths have crossed in the ways that they have.

I must also mention Lauren, Rochelle, Adam, Mel, and Lee, who have all provided numerous laughs, technical support, and comradery along the Level 6 corridor.

Various other people at Flinders have shown support throughout my candidature of which I would also like to thank, including Karin, Rainer, Dusan, Briony, and Pat. I'd like to particularly pay mention to Pat, who has taught me almost all that I know around tissue fixation and preparation, cryostat cutting (she's a wizard) and immunohistochemical techniques. She has also provided unwavering support, stimulating conversation and chocolate treats throughout my candidature, and as such I would consider her my (science) fairy godmother.

I must give a massive thanks to all of my friends in the 'Reno Lab' at the University of Nevada, including Jin, Brian 'obiwan', Rajan, Hannah, Sandra, See-eun, Professor Seungil Ro, and most significantly Lai Wei, who were all incredibly welcoming, supportive and hospitable to me during both of my visits. I hope to work with you all again one day.

I would like to acknowledge the contribution of the Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, the Department for Water and Agriculture, the Centre for Neuroscience, and various other small grants that have made much of this work possible.

A massive thanks to all the Colorectal Surgeons, and to the patients who kindly consented to the collection of their tissue for use in the subsequent chapters, without whom important scientific and medical advances would fail to occur. You are highly important and should always be acknowledged. Similarly, I must acknowledge the animal house staff, and all of the mice sacrificed, without whom medical research in its current form would not be achievable.

I must thank my family, Mum, Dad, Ryan, Courtney, Tim, Chris, Leanne, and Grandma, who all love me and inspire me every day. I know that you will all share in this joy with me and breathe a massive sigh of relief that I've finally finished. Also, thanks for my 'science brain' mum and dad!

All friends, but particularly Tess and Lewis, who have been the most supportive best friends a person could possibly ask for - they've fed me, they've entertained me, they've been an endless shoulder to cry on. I love them and I couldn't have done it without them.

Finally, I would like to individually and personally thank Clare Peterson, the sole human being responsible for my sanity and the subsequent completion of this thesis. Without whom I would be nowhere. Thank you for sticking by me through the good times and the bad, for always celebrating my achievements, and for tirelessly reminding me of how far I have come. I adore you Clare and am eternally grateful for all that you are.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

#### **1.1 Intestinal Epithelium**

#### 1.1.1 The function of the intestinal epithelium

The gut lining (or intestinal epithelium) is the single layer of cells that separate the contents of the intestinal lumen from the underlying tissue. The cells making up this barrier are replaced every 4-5 days, representing the highest turnover rate of any adult mammal tissue (Heath, 1996). These cells can be divided into five categories, including the pluripotent stem cells, paneth cells, goblet cells, enterocytes, and enteroendocrine cells (EECs). Each of these cell types have separate functions, including but not limited to absorption, digestion, and transport of electrolytes and water (Guzman et al., 2013).

The intestines are anatomically divided into different regions, the small intestine, made up of the duodenum, jejunum, and the ileum, and the large intestine, typically termed the colon, which can be divided into the ascending, transverse, descending, and sigmoid colon. The small intestinal lining is defined by large villi and crypts, which provide a significant surface area for absorption (De Santa Barbara et al., 2003). The principal function of the small intestine is digestion, and the subsequent absorption of nutrients (De Santa Barbara et al., 2003). Whereas the colon only contains crypts with the rest of the epithelial lining remaining as a flat surface (van der Flier and Clevers, 2009). The primary function of the colonic epithelium is to absorb water and salt (De Santa Barbara et al., 2003). The colon hosts the majority of the gut microbiome, the bacteria living inside the gut used to digest food and aid in host nutrient metabolism (Jandhyala et al., 2015).

#### 1.1.2 Identification of epithelial stem cells

More than 30 years ago it was hypothesised that there must reside a stem cell population present at the base of intestinal crypts, however this population had long evaded scientists. A cycling cell placed at the very base of the crypts adjacent to the Paneth cells, were termed crypt base columnar cells at the time by Leblond and Cheng (Cheng, 1974). These cells are now known as LGR5<sup>+</sup> stem cells, as Clevers distinguished in 2007 (Barker et al., 2007a). These LGR5<sup>+</sup> cells fulfill the stem cell requirements, including that they are long lived, and have the ability of differentiating into any of the cell types found within the epithelium (Barker et al., 2007a). With between 4 and 6 stem cells per crypt (Barker et al., 2007a, Bjerknes and Cheng, 1999), these cells are continually cycling along the intestine, with some remaining quiescent in the colon (Barker et al., 2007a).

LGR5 stands for 'leucine-rich-repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptor 5', although it has also previously been termed 'Gpr49' (Barker et al., 2007a). This gene encodes an orphan G-protein-coupled receptor that is characterised by a large leucine-rich extracellular domain (Hsu et al., 1998). However, the function of Lgr5 within physiology is still currently not known, particularly as its ligand remains elusive, although it is hypothesised to be involved in the Wnt signaling pathway (Barker et al., 2007a). Lgr5<sup>+</sup> stem cells cycle steadily to form transit-amplifying (TA) cells, which last approximately two days in the crypt, then divide multiple times before terminally differentiating into all lineages of the epithelium (Flier and Clevers, 2009). This process is aided through Wnt signaling, a highly conserved signaling system involved in cellular proliferation and differentiation (Mah et al., 2016). Other signaling involved, particularly further up in the crypts, include R-Spondin, EGF and Notch signaling (Spit et al., 2018), all essential growth signals required for the continuous self-renewing of the intestinal

epithelium. The different lineages include enterocytes, goblet cells, and EECs, which differentiate at the crypt-villus junction (see Figure 1.1) (Barker et al., 2008). These cells migrate up the villi in bands, with each villus receiving cells from various neighbouring crypts. The Paneth cell, however, remains at the base of the crypt (Barker et al., 2008). (Barker et al., 2007a)The high turnover from the proliferation and differentiation of these stem cells is offset by apoptosis of cells occurring at the tips of villi. Epithelial cells then typically traverse to the top of the villus in around three days, where the cells undergo spontaneous apoptosis, the cells are then shed from the villus into the intestinal lumen (Hall et al., 1994).



Figure 1.1: The differentiation of intestinal stem cells.

A schematic of the differentiation of intestinal stem cells, including an example crosssection of an intestinal crypt and villi, in which the proliferation and differentiation of epithelial cells are outlined. The trajectory from stem cell to transit amplifying (TA) cell, to the final differentiation of Paneth, Goblet, Enteroendocrine cell and Enterocyte. Adapted from (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2008).

#### 1.1.3 Gut epithelial cells

Goblet cells get their name from their morphology, pertaining to their goblet like shape. Goblet cells secrete protective mucins which form the 200 µm thick layer of mucous that lubricates and protects the walls of the intestine (Johansson et al., 2014), also involved in the movement and expulsion of gut contents, as well as the protection from dangerous contents such as chemical injury (Flier and Clevers, 2009). The proportion of goblet cells represents 5% of the small intestinal epithelial cells (Karam, 1999).

Paneth cells are unique from the rest of the differentiated cells of the intestinal epithelium, found only in the small intestine, and lasting approximately three weeks, far longer than any other terminally differentiated villus cell (Bjerknes and Cheng, 1981). Paneth cells exist towards the bottom of the crypts, adjacent to the LGR5<sup>+</sup> stem cells. They are the only epithelial cell type to migrate to the bottom of the crypt, after forming in the middle of the crypt (Bjerknes and Cheng, 1981). Paneth cells are considered part of the innate immune system, containing large secretory granules enclosing antimicrobials, lysozymes, and defensins among other immune factors (De Santa Barbara et al., 2003, Flier and Clevers, 2009). Although most importantly Paneth cells express EGF, Wnt3, Notch-ligand D114 and TGF $\alpha$ , all vital factors for stem cell maintenance and the proliferation and differentiation of gut epithelial cells (Sato et al., 2011).

Enterocytes, often termed columnar cells, are the most abundant cells making up the gut lining, totaling approximately 80% of all GI epithelial cells, and forming the basis of the structural integrity of the epithelium (De Santa Barbara et al., 2003). Enterocyte morphology is described as columnar, with apical microvilli which significantly increases the surface area, making them responsible for absorbing and transporting nutrients out of the lumen and into circulation (Flier and Clevers, 2009). These cells

are also largely involved in limiting the number of antigens reaching the epithelial surface. This is highly important as the luminal contents are filled with antigens, such as broken-down food, resident bacteria, and foreign micro-organisms (Snoeck et al., 2005). This is a difficult task, as the epithelium must be permeable for important factors such as nutrients and macromolecules essential for growth and development, which are of similar size to that of many antigens (Snoeck et al., 2005). Thus, enterocytes form tight junctions between the epithelial cells, which control the paracellular transport of antigens (Snoeck et al., 2005), as well as adopting and processing antigens to then present to immune cells (Snoeck et al., 2005).

#### **1.1.4 Enteroendocrine cells**

Enteroendocrine cells (EECs) are the main hormone secreting cells which line the gut, their secreted peptide hormones play a major role in the control of the body's metabolism. These cells are very low in number, making up less than 1% of the gut epithelium (Reimann and Gribble, 2013), and are scattered amongst the vast numbers of other more prominent cell types. This factor can make them hard to study, along with the inability for primary EECs to be maintained for long periods in cell culture. However, much research has gone into understanding the nature of different EECs, including the differences and similarities in the peptides they secrete (Habib et al., 2012, Haber et al., 2017, Adriaenssens et al., 2018, Gehart et al., 2019), and their location and densities along the GI tract (Martin et al., 2017a, Suzuki et al., 2018, Beumer et al., 2018, Gehart et al., 2019).

It is important to note that the literature is adapting to accept an enteroendocrine spectrum model, moving away from the enteroendocrine nomenclature previously established. Originally EECs were classified using a letter code based on their location and main secretory product. EECs were split into 8 specific subclasses, including cells

expressing secretin (SCT), cholecystokinin (CCK), proglucagon (GLP-1), glucosedependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP), somatostatin (SST), neurotensin (NTS), ghrelin (GHRL), and serotonin (5-HT), traditionally termed S, I, L, K, D, N, A and EC cells, respectively (Gribble and Reimann, 2016). However, studies using fluorescent reporter mice (Egerod et al., 2012, Habib et al., 2012) and single-cell transcriptomic data (Gehart et al., 2019) have demonstrated that a single EEC can secrete a multitude of varying hormones. Studies looking at the secreted factors from various EECs along the gut lining have shown that most EECs express a range of hormones (Diwakarla et al., 2017, Habib et al., 2012, Haber et al., 2017). For example, one EEC was found to express SCT, CCK, proglucagon and GHRL, and using this outdated terminology, could be labelled as SILA (Haber et al., 2017). Habib et al (2012) showed using microarray expression profiling comparisons that GLP-1 cells in the proximal small intestine are closer in expression profile with neighbouring GIP cells, than with GLP-1 cells from the colon (Habib et al., 2012). Similarly, it has recently been reported that EECs alter their characteristics, including their signaling and receptor expression profiles, along the crypt-villus axis (Beumer et al., 2018). Together, these recent advances reflect the adaptive enteroendocrine hormonal profile of cells which traverse the crypt-villus axis, supporting a potential for change in the nomenclature of EECs to better reflect the spectrum in which they lie.

EECs are polarised, with each cell containing an apical surface which faces the gut lumen, and a basal surface exposed to the circulating plasma (Noah et al., 2011), giving these cells the ability for sensing on both sides of the epithelial membrane. This polarisation is ideally suited for a sensory cell, as it can sample the luminal composition and respond by releasing hormones into circulation (Reimann and Gribble, 2013). EECs contain G-protein-coupled receptors and nutrient transporters in order to sense the luminal contents (Chimerel et al., 2017).

#### 1.1.5 Enterochromaffin cells

(Ahlman and Nilsson, 2001)Enterochromaffin (EC) cells are the most abundant enteroendocrine cell (EEC), spanning all regions of the digestive tract (Sjölund et al., 1983). EC cells primarily secrete serotonin but have also been found to contain other hormones such as SCT, substance P and CCK (Diwakarla et al., 2017, Haber et al., 2017). EC cells can be activated by an array of stimuli including toxins, inflammatory cues, mechanical stimuli, and the gut microbiota (Bertrand and Bertrand, 2010, Yano et al., 2015, Williams et al., 2016). EC cells respond to such stimulants through the range of varying channels and receptors which they express, including voltage-gated sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>) and calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) channels (Bellono et al., 2017), microbial metabolite sensors (Yano et al., 2015, Reigstad et al., 2014), and mechanosensitive ion channels (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). It was recently shown that EC cell depolarisation can induce serotonin release, indicating EC cells are electrically excitable (Bellono et al., 2017). These sensory transduction pathways stimulate Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels to control serotonin release, primarily via P/Q-type voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Bellono et al., 2017). Although recent evidence has indicated that different Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels may be responsible for differing forms of stimulated serotonin release (Alcaino et al., 2020), such as T-type Ca2+ channels, CaV3.2 also known to be enriched in EC cells (Bellono et al., 2017).

#### **1.1.6 Regulation of EEC differentiation**

All intestinal epithelial cell types originate from Lgr5<sup>+</sup> crypt stem cells (Barker et al., 2007b), and are differentiated into various cell types including EECs, however our understanding of the factors which control EEC differentiation is incomplete (Piccand et al., 2019, Tsakmaki et al., 2020). The differentiation of varying EEC subtypes is guided through factors such as their location along the GI tract and height within the

crypt-villus axis, both of which dictate their exposure to signalling gradients from the stem cell niche, such as Wnt and bone morphogenic protein (Basak et al., 2017, Beumer et al., 2018). As cells begin to differentiate from stem cells at the bottom of crypts, Notch inhibition followed by Atoh1 expression shifts them into the secretory lineage (Zecchini et al., 2005a, Stanger et al., 2005, Fre et al., 2005). Atoh1 cells are then assigned to the endocrine lineage by expression of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor Neurogenin-3 (Ngn3) (Jenny et al., 2002a, Lee et al., 2002). Hence Ngn3 is expressed in all endocrine progenitors which give rise to EECs (Mellitzer et al., 2010a, Gehart et al., 2019). The expression of Ngn3 is then suppressed as cells migrate up the crypt-villus axis and terminally differentiate into distinct EEC subtypes (Piccand et al., 2019). A number of studies have used mouse lineage tracing to identify the regulatory transcriptional factors downstream of Ngn3. important in the regulation of specific subpopulations of EEC differentiation (Beucher et al., 2012, Du et al., 2012, Larsson et al., 1998, Terry et al., 2014, Ye and Kaestner, 2009, Gierl et al., 2006, Naya et al., 1997, Gehart et al., 2019). Transcriptional factors identified for certain EEC subtypes include NeuroD1 (SCT and CCK containing EECs) (Mutoh et al., 1997, Naya et al., 1997), Insm1 (substance P and NTS containing EECs) (Gradwohl et al., 2000), Nkx2.2 (CCK, GAST, GIP and SST containing EECs) (Desai et al., 2008), Pax4 (5-HT, SCT, GIP, PYY and CCK containing EECs) (Beucher et al., 2012, Larsson et al., 1998), Pax6, Foxa1 and Foxa2 (preproglucagon and its products GLP-1 and 2 containing EECs) (Ye and Kaestner, 2009, Larsson et al., 1998), Arx (GLP-1, GIP, CCK, SCT, GAST and GHRL containing EECs) (Beucher et al., 2012, Du et al., 2012), Islet-1 (GLP-1, GIP, CCK containing EECs) (Terry et al., 2014), and Lmx1A (5-HT containing EECs) (Gross et al., 2016).

Several investigations have demonstrated that EC cells branch off as a separate pool from endocrine progenitors to all other EECs earlier in the differentiation process

(Gehart et al., 2019, Piccand et al., 2019). As such, distinct transcriptional factors have been associated with the differentiation of EC cells specifically, including Nkx2-2 (Gross et al., 2016), Lmx1a (Gross et al., 2016), Mnx1, Atf6, Glis3, and Lhx1 (Piccand et al., 2019). Furthermore, the use of a 'Regulatory factor X6' (Rfx6) knockdown mouse demonstrated a role for this gene in Ngn3-positive enteroendocrine progenitors, as a specific reduction in EECs was seen in the intestines of Rfx6 knockdown mice (Piccand et al., 2019). Despite the overall reduction in EECs seen in Rfx6 mice, the majority of EC cell enriched genes were up regulated, including Tph1, ChgA, and Scn3a, as well as transcription factors Lmx1a and Glis3 (Piccand et al., 2019). Other genes specific to EC cell lineage were unaffected, suggesting Rfx6 controls only the expression of specific genes associated with EC lineages (Piccand et al., 2019). Separately, the use of a small molecule isoxazole9 (ISX-9), discovered in a chemical screen for drivers of neuronal differentiation (Schneider et al., 2008), was found to drive the differentiation of EC cells and I cells when applied to intestinal organoids (Tsakmaki et al., 2020). ISX-9 increased the expression of genes correlated with the EC progenitor pool (Rfx6, Fev, Prdm16 and Hmgn3), and decreased genes linked with the general EEC differentiation pool (Isl1, Arx and Cdkn1a) (Gehart et al., 2019). These results further highlighted the early separation of EC cells from other EECs and demonstrated a novel mechanism of ISX-9 to drive EC formation (Tsakmaki et al., 2020).

#### 1.2 Serotonin

#### 1.2.1 Synthesis and source

EC cells play a crucial role in both GI regulation and more broadly in peripheral metabolism and the gut-brain axis. EC cells express a range of gut hormones but are primarily noted for their secretion of serotonin, known to produce 90-95% of the body's peripheral serotonin (Erspamer, 1966). EC cell serotonin release is stimulated through multiple mechanisms, including chemical sensing and mechanical stimuli among others. Serotonin, or 5-Hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) is perhaps more commonly known as a neurotransmitter, with its link to mood, sleep and control of the circadian rhythm within the central nervous system (CNS). All forms of serotonin are sourced from tryptophan, an essential amino acid provided to the body only through diet (Le Floc'h et al., 2011). Tryptophan is absorbed from the gut lumen, where it is made available in the circulation (Fernstrom and Fernstrom, 2006), or to enter EC cells. Tryptophan can then cross the blood brain barrier and participate in serotonin synthesis in the CNS (Ruddick et al., 2006) or, as the majority of serotonin is produced, be processed into serotonin within EC cells lining the gut (Spiller, 2008). Tryptophan is converted into 5hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) by tryptophan hydroxylase (Tph), known as the rate limiting enzyme in serotonin production (see Figure 1.2) (Walther and Bader, 2003). There are two isoforms of the Tph enzyme, Tph1 present in specific non-neuronal cell types (Walther et al., 2003), and Tph2, present in the central and enteric nervous system (Walther et al., 2003). The short lived 5HTP is then converted by aromatic-Lamino-acid decarboxylase (AAAD) to form serotonin (5-HT). Serotonin is synthesized in 2% of nerve cell bodies in the enteric nervous system (ENS) (Costa et al., 1996). Recently, a third enzyme, phenylalanine hydroxylase, has been identified to contribute to serotonin synthesis in the blood (Mordhorst et al., 2021). Phenylalanine hydroxylase is reported to be responsible for the remaining 10% of serotonin found in mice lacking both Tph1 and Tph2 (Mordhorst et al., 2021).

Tryptophan can also take a different metabolic path, known as the kynurenine pathway, which does not result in the production of serotonin. The kynurenine pathway is actually the dominant physiological pathway for the processing of tryptophan (Schwarcz et al., 2012), making up about 95% of tryptophan metabolism (Tyce, 1990). Kynurenic acid can cross the blood brain barrier, involved in CNS synthesis of certain neuroactive metabolites (Ruddick et al., 2006).

Once synthesized serotonin can be stored in cells within vesicles for release, or taken up by platelets for storage (Humphrey and Jaques, 1954), where it can then participate in various physiological processes throughout the body. The transporter which typically facilitates the uptake of serotonin through the plasma membrane is SERT (Blakely et al., 1991). SERT is expressed by EC cells, other EECs, enterocytes and serotonergic neurons (Martel, 2006). Recently, a SERT-like transporter was identified on certain microbiota with similar sequence and structure to mammalian SERT, allowing certain bacterium to take-up and store serotonin (Fung et al., 2019).



Figure 1.2: The three pathways of tryptophan metabolism.

Adapted from (Olson et al., 1960)

#### **1.2.2 Serotonin receptors**

The family of serotonin receptors is comprised of 14 distinct subtypes, grouped into 7 different classes (Nichols and Nichols, 2008), not including receptors generated through alternative splicing of single genes (Hoyer et al., 2002, Nichols and Nichols, 2008). All receptors, except one ligand-gated ion channel (the 5HT<sub>3</sub> receptor), are G-protein coupled receptors (Nichols and Nichols, 2008). All subtypes can be found in the brain, and 5 receptor subtypes are expressed within the intestine (5-HT<sub>1</sub>, 5-HT<sub>2</sub>, 5-HT<sub>3</sub>, 5-HT<sub>4</sub>, and 5-HT<sub>7</sub>) (see Table 1) (Hoyer et al., 2002). The 5-HT<sub>2B</sub> receptor is vital for life, as mice with the genetic knockout of this gene produce severe embryonic defects and do not survive (Nebigil et al., 2000, Nichols and Nichols, 2008). This is most likely due to the importance of this receptor in development, regulating the formation of essential organs such as the heart and brain (Nebigil et al., 2000, Choi et al., 1997) (Nebigil et al., 2001, Nichols and Nichols, 2008). Separately the 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor is linked with the development of the enteric nervous system, involved in neuroprotection within the gut (Liu et al., 2009, Bianco et al., 2016).

The most understood receptor subtypes within the gut are 5-HT<sub>3</sub> and 5-HT<sub>4</sub>. 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors are found predominantly on presynaptic enteric neurons, while 5-HT<sub>3</sub> receptors are typically localized on sensory and myenteric nerves (Richardson et al., 1985, Johnson and Heinemann, 1995, Mawe et al., 1986). Both receptor subtypes are targeted via various drugs for the treatment of a number of motility disorders, including IBS (Goldberg et al., 1996, Gershon, 2004).

It is through these receptor subtypes that serotonin is known to function and undertake its vast number of roles throughout the body.

## Table 1: Expression of serotonin receptor subtypes throughout the body.

Receptor family	Primary Coupling	Tissues in which receptor subtypes are expressed
subtype	Mechanism	
1	G <sub>i/o</sub> -coupled	Enteric Nervous System (ENS), spleen, neonatal
		kidney (Rosenbaum et al., 2007), and brainstem
		(Smith et al., 2002, Nichols and Nichols, 2008).
2	G <sub>q/11</sub> -coupled	ENS, Enterochromaffin (EC) cells, cardiovascular
		related tissues (Kaumann and Levy, 2006,
		Nagatomo et al., 2004), Dorsal Root Ganglion
		(Sommer, 2004, Van Steenwinckel et al., 2008),
		liver, kidneys, stomach, gut, lung, (Nichols and
		Nichols, 2008)and brain (Duxon et al., 1997, Choi et
		al., 1994, Clemett et al., 2000, Pasqualetti et al.,
		1999, Nichols and Nichols, 2008)
3	Ligand-gated	ENS (Gershon, 2004), EC cells, peripheral nervous
	Na <sup>+</sup> /K <sup>+</sup> cation	system (PNS), and central nervous system (CNS)
	channel	(Nichols and Nichols, 2008, Parker et al., 1996,
		Ohuoha et al., 1994).
4	G <sub>s</sub> -coupled	ENS, EC cells, CNS (Nichols and Nichols, 2008)
5	G <sub>i/o</sub> -coupled	Limited to the CNS (Nichols and Nichols, 2008).
6	G <sub>s</sub> -coupled	Almost exclusively expressed within the CNS
		(Nichols and Nichols, 2008).
7	G <sub>s</sub> -coupled	ENS, Brain (Bickmeyer et al., 2002, Neumaier et al.,
---	-------------------------	--
		2001), Peripheral blood vessels and colon (Irving et
		al., 2007).

#### 1.2.3 Roles of serotonin

The majority of work presented in the following section (2.3) is comprised of published work, from the following publications: Lauren A Jones et al (2020) "The ever-changing roles of serotonin." *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, 125*, [105776]. The relative author contributions to this work are as follows: LA Jones, and DJ Keating were involved in planning the content of the manuscript. LA Jones, and DJ Keating reviewed the literature. E Sun and AM Martin provided critical input and advice. LA Jones wrote the majority of the paper with minor contributions from DJ Keating, and all authors were involved in drafting the manuscript.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2020.105776

#### 1.2.3.1 Traditional Roles of serotonin

Central serotonin is heavily implicated in important brain functions such as mood, sleep and appetite regulation (Martin et al., 2017b). Increased synaptic serotonin availability in the CNS is associated with elevated mood and reduced anxiety (Gershon and Tack, 2007), which forms the basis of several classes of widely used antidepressants that prevent the removal of serotonin from synaptic space by blocking serotonin transporter (SERT). Serotonin was initially thought to drive peristalsis, as serotonin is released from the mucosa concomitantly with peristaltic contractions (Bulbring and Lin, 1958). However, EC cell-derived serotonin is not essential in the establishment of these contractions, as peristalsis is preserved, albeit less frequent, in experimental models that were physically or genetically devoid of EC-derived serotonin (Heredia et al., 2013, Keating and Spencer, 2010). The role for EC cell-derived serotonin in GI motility will be discussed in depth in section 3 of the current chapter. Serotonin has also been known to have a key role in platelet aggregation, and vasoconstriction as it was first identified 70 years ago (Rapport et al., 1948),

however more recently other roles for serotonin in the periphery have been further elucidated, including its role in metabolism.

#### 1.2.3.2 Newly identified functions of peripheral serotonin in metabolic control

The physiological roles of gut-derived serotonin have more recently begun to move away from paracrine effects within the gut. Serotonin was reported to have a role in bone formation; however, these findings have not been supported by the work of other groups (Brommage et al., 2015, Cui et al., 2011, Yadav et al., 2009). A role for serotonin in bone degradation was indicated in mice in whichTph1 inhibitors were both a preventative tool and a treatment in mouse models of osteoporosis (Yadav et al., 2009). However, other groups found no correlation between peripheral serotonin levels and bone mass in mice, with replication of these aforementioned experiments reporting no improvement in bone mass with the use of Tph1 inhibitors or in Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Brommage et al., 2015, Cui et al., 2011). Hence leaving the role of serotonin in bone mass unclear and outlining the need for further research.

Increasing evidence now demonstrates a clear role of peripheral serotonin as a hormone capable of modulating peripheral metabolism (Martin et al., 2017b, Young et al., 2015). Similar to the classical fasting hormone glucagon, circulating serotonin is markedly elevated in response to fasting as a result of upregulation of intestinal Tph1 expression. During fasting, serotonin potently promotes lipolysis from adipocytes, which in turn provides substrates for hepatic gluconeogenesis, a process that is also markedly upregulated by serotonin (Sumara et al., 2012). On the other hand, gut-derived serotonin also effectively reduces energy expenditure by suppressing thermogenic processes such as the browning of white adipose tissue (Oh et al., 2015), and brown adipose tissue thermogenesis, through lowering the activation of hormone sensitive lipase, and reducing the expression of uncoupling protein 1 responsible for

thermogenesis (Crane et al., 2015). As such, gut-derived serotonin plays a key role in driving multiple physiological adaptations to nutrient deprivation by increasing short-term energy availability and promoting longer term energy conservation.

Paradoxically, circulating serotonin levels are also increased under obesogenic conditions. Elevated levels of circulating and gut-derived serotonin occur in obese humans (Young et al., 2018) and after a high fat diet in rodents (Le Beyec et al., 2014). Peripheral serotonin modulates glucose stimulated insulin secretion in islets (Zhang et al., 2017), and increased levels of peripheral serotonin from a high-fat diet cause hepatic steatosis through the increase of fat storage in the liver (Choi et al., 2018). Pharmacological or genetic reductions in gut serotonin protect against diet-induced obesity, hepatic steatosis and glucose intolerance (Choi et al., 2018, Crane et al., 2015, Oh et al., 2015, Sumara et al., 2012), illustrating a causative role of elevated gut-derived serotonin in driving metabolic dysfunctions. Both the density of EC cells and the expression of TPH1 are increased in human obesity (Young et al., 2018), however mechanisms driving such changes remain unknown. Recent evidence supports a causative role of gut microbiota in controlling gut serotonin levels and in host metabolism.

#### 1.2.3.3 Intestinal bacteria regulate peripheral serotonin production

A complex microbial ecosystem exists along the length of the gastrointestinal tract (Scarpellini et al., 2015). These commensal bacteria, commonly known as the microbiota, and their genes and gene products (referred to as the gut microbiome), can influence host physiology in multiple ways. Germ-free (GF) mice that lack an endogenous microbiome from birth, or mice treated with antibiotics to deplete gut microbiota, both have substantially lower levels of Tph1 expression, mucosal serotonin content (Reigstad et al., 2014) and reduced numbers of EC cells compared to

conventionally raised mice (Yano et al., 2015). However, how gut microbiota signal to EC cells to regulate their numbers remains unknown.

EECs are known to act as sensory cells that are capable of responding to their local environment including ingested nutrients (Sun et al., 2017, Sun et al., 2018a), microbial metabolites (Lund et al., 2018), immune activation (Findeisen et al., 2019) and some medications (Bahne et al., 2018, Sun et al., 2019). Similarly, EC cells release serotonin in response to increased gut contractile force (Bertrand, 2006, Keating and Spencer, 2010), and ingested nutrients (Martin et al., 2017c, Martin et al., 2017d). EC cells also have the capacity to sense microbial metabolites, as they express short chain fatty acid receptors, Ffar2 and Ffar3 (Akiba et al., 2015, Martin et al., 2017c), toll-like receptors (Wang et al., 2019a) and a number of olfactory receptors (Bellono et al., 2017, Lund et al., 2018). Contrasting to their robust secretory response to high extracellular glucose (Lumsden et al., 2019, Martin et al., 2017d, Young et al., 2018, Zelkas et al., 2015), primary EC cells do not readily release serotonin upon acute exposure to short chain fatty acids, an abundant microbial metabolite (Martin et al., 2017d). Chronic exposure to short chain fatty acids, however, does increase Tph1 expression and serotonin biosynthesis in a human EC cell line (Reigstad et al., 2014) and other serotonin-secreting cell-lines (Yano et al., 2015). As such, it is likely that gut microbiota influences intestinal and circulating serotonin levels by altering the levels of different microbial metabolites within the gut lumen, which subsequently exert a modulatory effect on serotonin biosynthesis in EC cells. Whether true EC cells respond in such a way to microbial metabolites and to which metabolites they respond to remain to be ascertained.

# 1.2.3.4 Physiological implications of the serotonin-gut microbiome interaction in the gut

As serotonin is an important regulator of gut functions (Gershon and Tack, 2007), reduced intestinal serotonin observed in mice without a microbiota is anticipated to have direct functional consequences. Indeed, GF mice display abnormal ENS neuroanatomy (De Vadder et al., 2018) and altered intestinal motility patterns (Ge et al., 2017, Kashyap et al., 2013), which can be rectified upon microbiota colonization (Kashyap et al., 2013) in a serotonin-dependent manner (Yano et al., 2015). The fact that luminal infusion of the short chain fatty acid butyrate, a microbial metabolite, is able to restore altered gut motility in GF mice, an effect that is blunted in Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice. indicates gut microbiota likely regulates intestinal motility by acting directly on EC cells, rather than on serotonin-producing enteric neurons (Vincent et al., 2018). Nevertheless, intestinal microbiota also plays a crucial role in the development and maintenance of the serotonergic network within the ENS, which in turn, is essential for the development and survival for other enteric neuron populations. Serotonin is largely absent from neurons within the myenteric plexus of GF mice and microbiota recolonization can gradually restore serotonin neurons, which leads to differentiation and maturation of other enteric neurons through 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors (De Vadder et al., 2018).

Furthermore, altering serotonin levels alters gut microbiota composition with downstream implications for inflammation in the gut. It is known that pharmacological and genetic suppression of Tph1 in mice reduces the severity of experimental colitis by reducing macrophage infiltration and proinflammatory cytokine levels (Ghia et al., 2009). Faecal matter transfer from Tph1<sup>+/-</sup> mice into GF Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice increases the severity of pharmacologically induced colitis (Kwon et al., 2019). These findings

demonstrate a novel role of gut-derived serotonin in shaping the composition of gut microbiota in relation to the susceptibility to colitis and identify the serotonin– microbiota axis as a potential therapeutic target in inflammatory bowel disorders. Thus, there exists an interdependent relationship between gut serotonin and gut microbiota, and that this represents a previously undefined pathway that modulates numerous aspects of host physiology.

# 1.2.3.5 Implications of the serotonin-microbiome interaction beyond the gut

Most recently we (Martin et al., 2019), and others (Fung et al., 2019, Kwon et al., 2019, Mandić et al., 2019), have further demonstrated that the interactions of microbiota with gut serotonin is highly complex and bi-directional, with physiological implications beyond the gastrointestinal tract (Figure 1.3). Long term oral delivery of serotonin in mice alters the diversity of the microbiome and the levels of various families of sporeforming bacteria (Fung et al., 2019), a subset of microbe previously shown to increase host serotonin (Yano et al., 2015). This effect was blocked by the SERT inhibitor, fluoxetine, due to the fact that specific microbiota contain transporters for serotonin that can be inhibited by selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), a class of antidepressants to which fluoxetine belongs to. Indeed, the authors reported that all four strains of Turicibacter sanguinis, which are closely linked with serotonin levels, expresses a serotonin transporter orthologous to mammalian SERT (Fung et al., 2019). This supports a bi-directional link between gut-derived serotonin and the microbiome and provides a mechanism to explain how host serotonin modulates the levels of only specific bacterial species. Related to this, it was recently reported that the oral delivery of SSRIs, including fluoxetine, signal via the gut-brain axis, mediated by vagus nerve activation, to execute their anti-depressive function (McVey Neufeld et al., 2019). It is known that EECs form direct connections with nerve endings

innervating the gut (Hunne et al., 2019, Kaelberer et al., 2018), and that quantities of serotonin secreted from EC cells are high enough to activate nearby afferent serotonin receptors (Raghupathi et al., 2013). Thus, anti-depressants targeting serotonin levels may have clinical effects through modulating serotonin availability from EC cells.



Figure 1.3: EC cells are sensory cells within the gut lumen which affect host physiology through the circulation and afferent pathways. Release of serotonin (5-HT) from EC cells (shown in purple) ignites a bi-directional relationship with gut microbiota, whereby serotonin increases colonisation of specific microbiome, and the microbiome increases the number of EC cells. Serotonin release can stimulate vagal afferents innervating the colon, to modulate intestinal motility and augment gastric emptying. On release, serotonin can also enter the circulation, and exert effects on glucose homeostasis and lipid metabolism. Microbiome composition, or at least the presence of particular bacterial species, significantly impacts the likeliness of obesity in mice. In GF mice, T. sanguinis monocolonization in the small intestine significantly decreased serum triglyceride levels and altered expression of genes relating to lipid metabolism, effects that were neutralised by fluoxetine (Fung et al., 2019). Similarly, in mice monocolonised with Clostridium ramosum, another spore-forming bacteria bi-directionally linked with serotonin, along with an increase in EC cell numbers, these mice experienced a shift in the expression of genes relating to lipid transport and storage (Mandić et al., 2019). When fed a high fat diet (HFD), C.ramosum mice also experienced significant increase in Tph1 expression and a subsequent body weight gain, with increased WAT and blood glucose levels compared to GF mice (Mandić et al., 2019). Thus, gut microbiota affect host lipid metabolism through a serotonin-dependant mechanism.

Psychiatric drugs, including SSRIs, are associated with marked reductions in at least one bacterial species in humans (Hiemke and Hartter, 2000, Maier et al., 2018), indicating SSRIs may have effects through the microbiota-serotonin link in humans as they do in mice. Long-term use of SSRIs is also implicated with increased incidence of obesity and dysregulated metabolism (Lee et al., 2016). Hence these recent studies introduce a new paradigm where SSRIs affect serotonin-microbiota interactions and modify the gut-brain axis, resulting in their antidepressant actions, whilst subsequently altering metabolic function and lipid metabolism. Further studies will be needed in humans to verify the clinical relevance of these findings in rodents.

Interactions between microbiota and gut-derived serotonin have also recently been illustrated to modulate host glucose metabolism. Pharmacological inhibition of gut serotonin synthesis or Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, with or without antibiotic (Abx)-associated microbiota depletion, were all found to have significant improvements on glucose

clearance (Martin et al., 2019). Importantly, there was no additive effect with both serotonin depletion and Abx-associated microbiota depletion compared to either treatment alone (Martin et al., 2019), implicating gut-derived serotonin as the link through which gut microbiota modulates host glucose homeostasis. The serotonin-microbiota axis may therefore be a new target in the treatment of various human health disorders both within and outside of the GI tract.

# 1.3 Serotonin and gut motility

#### 1.3.1 Overview of gut motility

GI motility defines the contractile events which occur in the gut wall to push the luminal contents along the GI tract and towards the rectum. This key physiological phenomenon is understood at a functional level, but not yet at a cellular level. After a meal the bowel senses an increase in pressure within its lumen and responds with neurologically stimulated contractions. This involves propulsive waves of oral contractions and anal relaxation with respect to the bolus, hence driving the bolus towards the rectal end of the GI tract (see Figure 1.4) (Bayliss and Starling, 1899). This theory when first introduced was termed as 'the law of the intestine' (Bayliss and Starling, 1899), however is now referred to as the peristaltic reflex. The peristaltic reflex refers to the contractile process that occurs when a bolus stimulates a contraction of circular muscle orally and a relaxation of the circular muscle and contraction of the longitudinal muscle caudally (Brierley, 2016).

Removed due to copyright restriction

# Figure 1.4: Schematic of the peristaltic reflex.

A depiction of the proximal contraction and distal relaxation that occurs in the peristaltic reflex to propel contents distally along the GI tract. Adapted from (Koeppen, 2009)

The gut also contains a rhythmic contractile cycle which occurs naturally, without stimulus, consisting of two key types of contraction. One type of contraction which underlies the natural rhythmic cycle is the myogenic rhythmic contraction. This is thought to be a natural periodical occurrence generated by pacemaker cells within the GI, the Interstitial Cells of Cajal (ICC) (Ward et al., 1999). The second type of contraction is an ongoing neurological action, with temporally synchronized activity between large pools of both excitatory and inhibitory neurons (Spencer et al., 2018). This ENS activation is highly synchronized, and involves large areas of myenteric neurons, all firing at ~2 Hz intervals (Spencer et al., 2018), preceding smooth muscle depolarization. Hence indicating a role for the enteric neurons in controlling rhythmic depolarizations in smooth muscle (Spencer et al., 2018). These are the first neuronal rhythmic firing patterns of the ENS to be described in detail, hence there is still a significant amount to be understood regarding the neurological control and mechanisms underlying GI motility. These neurogenic mediated cyclic rhythmic contractions are known as colonic migrating motor complexes (CMMCs), which are not dependent on content (Spencer et al., 2016). The coupling of myogenic and neurogenic rhythmic contractions forms propulsive movement initiated by a bolus (Spencer et al., 2018, Corsetti et al., 2019), defined as peristalsis.

This theory has been built on to encompass the continuous loop in which peristalsis occurs along the intestines, the neuromechanical loop hypothesis (Dinning et al., 2014, Spencer et al., 2016), in which distension evokes the polarised reflex (as described by Bayliss and Starling) is then continued along the colon as the bolus moves to activate a similar neural pathway further down the intestine (see Figure 1.5). Furthermore, this neuromechanical loop takes into consideration the effects of varying content consistency, shape and size of the luminal contents which have all been shown to affect the rate of peristalsis (Costa et al., 2015, Costa et al., 2021). This is

likely because the size of the content determines the size of the area, and hence number of sensory enteric neurons activated by the stimulus. Hence peristalsis is not a simple reflex as described by Baylis and Starling, but instead a series of polarized pathways which respond to mechanical factors, to form a dynamic functional loop that can adapt motility to deal effectively with differing contents or stimuli (Spencer et al., 2016). This neuromechanical loop is thought to work in synchrony with CMMCs, together underlying all propulsive movements which occur within the intestines (Spencer et al., 2016).



Figure 1.5: The proposed neuromechanical loop.

The mechanical stimulus of the bolus ('Mechanical', blue) activates EC cells (red, arrow), to release serotonin ('5-HT', arrow). As such, serotonin activates enteric neurons ('Neuro', blue;); including mucosal-projecting neurons (green and blue) and interneurons (green), within the gut wall, which causes a contraction (red) prior to the bolus, and a relaxation (red) of the muscles anally, with respect to the bolus. The bolus is then propelled along the GI tract, stimulating the same pathway, thereby defining the neuromechanical loop.

#### 1.3.2 The role of EC cell derived serotonin in GI motility

Seminal studies completed in the 1950s noted that the release of serotonin coincides with GI contractile activity (Bulbring and Crema, 1958). As such, it was believed that luminal distension stimulated the release of serotonin from EC cells, to activate intrinsic sensory nerve endings in the mucosa and hence drive peristalsis (Foxx-Orenstein et al., 1996, Grider et al., 1996, Jin et al., 1999, Kadowaki et al., 1996). However, the role of serotonin in gut motility is still not fully understood, with opposing reports published detailing the extent of the role and importance of serotonin in the phenomenon (Smith and Gershon, 2015a, Spencer et al., 2015, Smith and Gershon, 2015b). One primary question the field is trying to understand is whether serotonin is essential for motility to occur, and what role it plays specifically in the process.

The application of exogenous serotonin, or 5-HT<sub>3</sub> and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptor agonists, potently stimulates peristalsis (Bulbring and Lin, 1958, Keating and Spencer, 2010, Spencer et al., 2011, Jin et al., 1999). We know that intrinsic sensory neurons contain endings which lie in close proximity to EC cells along the intestinal mucosa (Kunze et al., 1995a, Bertrand et al., 2000), and that serotonin activates intrinsic primary afferent neurons (IPANs) which drive motility (Bulbring and Crema, 1959) (Pan and Gershon, 2000, Heredia et al., 2009, Bayguinov et al., 2010). Therefore, it is hypothesised that serotonin acts on these nerve endings to have some form of modulatory effect on GI motility. Further, serotonin antagonists can inhibit peristalsis, along with CMMCs (Bush et al., 2001, Heredia et al., 2009, Grider et al., 1996). One study suggested that serotonin release from EC cells was essential for CMMCs, due to their absence in *ex vivo* colonic preparations with their mucosa removed (Heredia et al., 2009). Taken together, these data indicated that serotonin must play a pivotal role in peristalsis.

mucosa, submucosa and submucosal plexus from the entire mouse colon, and still recorded spontaneous, consistent CMMCs. The remaining cyclical migrating complexes and peristalsis (Keating and Spencer, 2010, Spencer et al., 2011), indicated that serotonin is not essential for gut motility but instead acts as a modulator. Fluid and pellets placed in intact preparations, and mucosa-free intact preparations still maintained peristalsis, albeit at significantly slower frequencies (Spencer et al., 2011).

Further experiments were conducted, using the same serotonin receptor antagonists as were found to inhibit peristalsis of intact preparations previously (Sia et al., 2013a), in mucosa-free colonic preparations, and found to have the same inhibitory effects on CMMCs and peristalsis (Barnes et al., 2014). This was a surprising result as the mucosa-free preparations, depleted of all endogenous serotonin, were expected to be unaffected by 5-HTR-selective antagonists on peristalsis. It has since been proposed that these antagonists are not acting in a serotonin dependent manner, but that the 5-HT<sub>3</sub> and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors on which they act are constitutively active. This indicated that these receptors do not require their ligand, in this case serotonin, to stimulate intracellular signaling or activate the cells. Constitutive activity of both 5-HT<sub>3</sub> and 5-HT<sub>4</sub> receptors have been described (Hu and Peoples, 2008, Berthouze et al., 2005), which explains the result in which 5-HTR antagonists blocked peristalsis in serotonin dependent preps.

A Tph1 knockout mouse (Tph1<sup>-/-</sup>) line was generated to better answer the question surrounding the role of serotonin in motility, this mouse line showed that EC-derived serotonin is not critical for motility as no effect on *in vivo* GI transit was demonstrated (Heredia et al., 2013). Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> were shown to have no difference in total GI transit time, gastric emptying, small intestinal transit and colonic transit compared with control mice (Li et al., 2011). *Ex vivo* propulsion of pellets was slower in Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice and CMMCs

still occurred in Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, although they were significantly slower, and propagated significantly less often (Heredia et al., 2013). Such *in vitro* data, supports the notion that EC cell derived serotonin is a modulator of gut motility but that it is not essential for it to occur. However, this was not a perfect model as developmental issues were found within these mice, including changes in colonic anatomy. As such colons of Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice were hypertrophic, longer and with a larger internal diameter than that of Tph1<sup>+/+</sup> mice (Heredia et al., 2013). This significant change makes the comparison between normal mice and Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> in terms of GI motility and transit effectively impossible, and as such this model was not able to definitively answer the question of the importance of serotonin in GI motility.

In summary, the exact role of serotonin in GI motility still remains unclear. It has been shown through multiple studies that taking serotonin out of the system, through removal of mucosa, the use of pharmaceutical techniques, and genetic ablation of serotonin synthesis, that peristalsis and CMMCs remain intact. Therefore, it is suggested that serotonin is not essential for peristalsis but does modulate this physiological phenomenon. In order to definitively support this hypothesis, it seems a genetic model with complete removal of EC cell-derived serotonin in the gut but with no development effects would be ideal.

## 1.3.3 Neuronal serotonin in GI motility

The individual contribution of the two different serotonin sources (EC cells and enteric neurons) to motility and activation of the neural pathways in the ENS is an additional unknown in the field. Discrete quantities of serotonin are synthesised in 1-2% of Tph2 enteric neurons in the ENS (Costa et al., 1996), and is a neurotransmitter of myenteric interneurons (Gershon and Tack, 2007). As such, studies have attempted to determine whether neuronal serotonin might also play a role in the control of gut motility through

the use of Tph2 knockout (Tph2-/-) mice (Li et al., 2011). These mice were found to have a reduced total GI transit time compared with controls; however, these mice also experience significant neuroanatomical and neurochemical differences in the ENS, which are likely to be the cause for the changes in transit time (Li et al., 2011). A following study tested preparations with the mucosa and submucosa removed, along with the treatment of reserpine, a blocker of the vesicular monoamine transporters (VMAT1 and VMAT2). VMAT2 transports serotonin from the cytoplasm into presynaptic vesicles ready for subsequent release (Yelin and Schuldiner, 2002). Thereby the blockade of VMAT2 by reserpine inhibits the uptake and removing both mucosal and enteric pools of serotonin, without the neuronal side effects of a Tph knockout mouse. Mice were injected with reserpine 24 h prior to euthanasia, to determine the effect of the loss of neuronal serotonin on CMMCs (Sia et al., 2013b). The study using these preparations showed no effect on distention-evoked peristalsis (Sia et al., 2013b) or CMMCs (Spencer et al., 2013) hence indicating no role for neuronal serotonin in motility. However, these preparations still undergo off-target effects with reserpine, and the disruption of physical integrity through the removal of mucosa. Not to mention, the removal of mucosa is not specific to EC cells. Hence, similar to EC cell-derived serotonin, the lack of an adequate model to test the role of neuronal serotonin in GI motility remains, hence the exact role of neuronal serotonin in GI motility is not yet fully understood.

## 1.4 Mechanosensing of EC cells

#### 1.4.1 Evidence of EC cell mechanosensitivity

It is evident that in order for digestion to occur, the GI tract must respond to the presence of contents in the lumen and work to push the contents caudally. This is achieved through fluid secretion and peristalsis, however, the mechanism through which the gut epithelial layer senses and responds to mechanical stimulation is not currently understood within the field. EC cells themselves have long been recognized as mechanically sensitive (Bulbring and Crema, 1959), typically responding through the secretion of serotonin (Bulbring and Crema, 1959, Kim et al., 2001, Kim et al., 2007). This was first described by Edith Bulbring in 1959, who noted small amounts of serotonin released in response to mucosal pressure applied to guinea pig small bowel (Bulbring and Crema, 1959). As such, Bulbring and Crema (1959) proposed that the deformation of EC cells from peristalsis or general distention of the gut wall could be responsible for the release of serotonin. The same conclusion was made when an EClike cell line, BON cells, released serotonin in response to mechanical stimulation (Kim et al., 2001). Furthermore, EC cells in whole-thickness preparations of guinea pig small intestine release serotonin in response to the shear stress of fluid caused by rotational shaking ex vivo (Kim et al., 2001). This occurred in the presence of a neuronal blocker, tetrodotoxin, to block any neuronally stimulated serotonin release. The release of serotonin was proportional to the level of shaking. Hence, it would appear that EC cells are capable of responding to a variety of mechanical forces. There are numerous kinds of mechanical stimuli which occur within the GI tract, including intraluminal pressure, shear stress, distension, deformation, touch and centrifugal forces during peristalsis (Linan-Rico et al., 2016). Amperometry studies on the guinea-pig ileum mucosa, revealed in real-time that the release of serotonin occurs

as a direct result of mucosal compression of EC cells within the mucosa (Bertrand, 2004). Hence it is apparent that EC cells are mechanosensitive, and likely respond to contractile events of the GI wall *in vivo* to modulate GI motility.

# 1.4.2 Previously hypothesised mechanisms of EC cell mechanobiology

Previously, a number of mechanisms have been identified to play a role in EC cell mechanosensitivity. These include G-protein coupled receptors (Kim et al., 2001), purinergic receptors P2Y and P2X (Kim et al., 2001, Christofi, 2008, Chin et al., 2011, Liñán-Rico et al., 2013), and caveolae (Kim et al., 2007). More specifically, mechanical stimulation of EC cells stimulates the release of nucleotides Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and Uridine triphosphate (UTP) (Cooke et al., 2003, Christofi, 2008, Liñán-Rico et al., 2013, Linan-Rico et al., 2014), both commonly released from cells in response to mechanical stimuli (Linan-Rico et al., 2016). However, the role for these nucleotides in mechanosensory signaling remains unknown, particularly as purinergic receptors themselves are not mechanosensitive (Linan-Rico et al., 2016). It has been suggested that these are likely downstream of the primary mechanosensor (Liñán-Rico et al., 2013). Such an example has been identified in the bladder, in which ATP release occurs secondary to Piezo channel activation, to provide a positive feedback loop upon mechanical stimulation (Miyamoto et al., 2014a). Furthermore, ATP release has been associated with painful sensations in pathophysiological conditions, in which ATP activates EC cells, to signal to both enteric and visceral afferent pain pathways (Wynn et al., 2004, Burnstock, 2009). As such, it is important to note that a large proportion of EC cells have been identified which do not require ATP or other nucleotides for mechanotransduction (Liñán-Rico et al., 2013). Others have indicated that mechanosensory cells likely contain a range of mechanoreceptors to mediate mechanotransduction (Eyckmans et al., 2011a, Joshi et al., 2021), with the potential

for differing stimuli to be detected through different mechanosensory pathways (Cooke et al., 2003). However, it has since been suggested that Piezo2, a recently identified mechanosensitive ion channel, is the primary mechanosensor important for the mechanosensing capabilities of EC cells (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018).

#### 1.4.3 Piezo channels

The Piezo family of ion channels were discovered just 10 years ago, consisting of Piezo1 and Piezo2 (Coste et al., 2010, Coste et al., 2012). The Piezo channels are transmembrane proteins which form mechanosensitive ion channels selective for cations (Coste et al., 2012). The two channels confer distinct properties (Coste et al., 2010), differing in both their inactivation kinetics and their roles as mechanosensory channels. The time constant of inactivation of Piezo2 dependent mechanosensory currents, 7 ms, are half that of Piezo1, 16 ms (Coste et al., 2012, Ikeda et al., 2014). Piezo1 and Piezo2 also have unique structures (Taberner et al., 2019, Wang et al., 2019b, Lin et al., 2019), although they both form very large and complex proteins (Lin et al., 2019).

The Piezo family have been extensively investigated in recent years, demonstrating their key role in the development and function of a variety of sensory transducing mechanisms. Piezo1 has been shown to sense shear stress (Cox et al., 2016a, Lewis and Grandl, 2015, Syeda et al., 2016), cell volume changes (Retailleau et al., 2015a, Faucherre et al., 2014a, Miyamoto et al., 2014b, Cinar et al., 2015a) and cell crowding (Slattum and Rosenblatt, 2014). In particular, Piezo1 expression is observed in smooth muscle, red blood, vascular endothelial cells (Faucherre et al., 2014b, Cinar et al., 2014b, Cinar et al., 2015b, Retailleau et al., 2015b), bladder, colon, kidney, lung and skin, with low expression seen in dorsal root ganglion (DRG) (Coste et al., 2010). Piezo1 has been demonstrated to function in mechanotransduction during vascular development

(Ranade et al., 2014a), lymphatic development (Nonomura et al., 2018), red blood cell volume control (Zeng et al., 2018), blood pressure control (Wang et al., 2016), arterial remodeling (Retailleau et al., 2015a), stretch-activated channel activity in proximal convoluted tubule epithelial cells of the kidney (Peyronnet et al., 2013a), and tissue inflammation (Romac et al., 2018, Solis et al., 2019). Although there are conflicting reports surrounding the mechanosensing role of this channel in vascular architecture (Fang et al., 2019, Mehta et al., 2020), with the most recent data reports that Plexin D1 is the key mechanosensory channel in vascular endothelial cells, demonstrating no effect on force response when Piezo1 expression was knocked down (Mehta et al., 2020).

Piezo2, alternatively is important in general cellular mechanosensation, activated typically via membrane deformation and touch (Wu et al., 2017). Piezo2 is expressed in the bladder, colon, lung, and somatosensory neurons (Coste et al., 2010), Merkel cells of the skin (Ikeda et al., 2014), and in the kidney (Coste et al., 2010). Piezo2 is the key mechanosensory channel involved in light touch sensation of the skin (Ikeda et al., 2014b, Woo et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2016), functioning in Merkel cells the primary epithelial cells on the surface of the skin. Merkel cells form serotonergic synapses with epithelial projecting DRG to transduce mechanosensory information (Ikeda et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2016). Furthermore, Piezo2 is involved in a number of other touch sensing mechanisms throughout the body, including in airway stretch and lung inflation (Nonomura et al., 2017), somatosensory touch (Ranade et al., 2014b), proprioception (Woo et al., 2015), visceral sensation (Yang et al., 2016), pain sensation (Basbaum et al., 2009, Lewin and Moshourab, 2004), and most recently within sensory neurons and urothelial cells controlling bladder sensing and the micturition reflex (Marshall et al., 2020).

Hence it is clear that Piezo1 and Piezo2 are important mechanosensors in a range of mechanosensory systems throughout the body. A number of these systems have been confirmed in human, through investigations of patients who exhibit gain-of-function and loss-of-function mutations in Piezo1 and Piezo2 proteins. Gain-of-function mutations in Piezo1 are linked with dehydrated hereditary xerocytosis, a rare genetic disease which is characterised by red blood cell dehydration with mild hemolysis (Albuisson et al., 2013). Whereas loss-of-function mutations in Piezo2 exhibit deficiencies in vibration detection, touch discrimination, joint proprioception (Chesler et al., 2016, Szczot et al., 2018), and a reduction in detection of low-threshold mechanical stimuli in pain (Szczot et al., 2018). Finally, these patients are also affected in bladder sensation, exhibiting negative impacts in bladder control and bladder-filling sensation (Marshall et al., 2020).

#### 1.4.4 Evidence for mouse EC cell Piezo channels

Piezo2 has been identified in EC cells, in mice and human, demonstrated through both immunohistochemistry and gene expression profiling (Coste et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2017). Wang et al (2017) found that Piezo2 mRNA was expressed in human (jejunum) and mouse small bowel (ileum, duodenum, jejunum) mucosa, with ~90% of EC cells found to contain Piezo2 using immunohistochemistry on human jejunum (Wang et al., 2017). A separate study used lineage tracing, to show that Piezo2 is expressed in a subset of EECs, of which 80% were identified as EC cells (Alcaino et al., 2018). Alcaino (2018) reported updated numbers on Piezo2 expression in EC cells, with 85% Piezo2 positive EC cells in the small bowel, and ~80% in the large bowel (mouse) (Alcaino et al., 2018). Furthermore, super-resolution microscopy has demonstrated that Piezo2 is located in close proximity to serotonin vesicles within EC cells (Alcaino et al., 2018).

Functionally, a number of *in vitro* experiments, utilizing EC cell model QGP-1 cells, have demonstrated a role for Piezo2 in EC cell mechanosensitivity (Wang et al., 2017). Pressure-induced currents were blocked with the mechanosensitive ion channel antagonist, D-GsMTx4, in QGP-1 cells and HEK cells transfected with a human Piezo2 construct (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). Further, use of D-GsMTx4 or Piezo2 siRNA inhibited pressure induced serotonin release from mouse small bowel ex vivo (Wang et al., 2017). An EEC reporter mouse line (NeuroD1<sup>+</sup> reporter mice) was created, in which a proportion of NeuroD1<sup>+</sup> isolated cells were found to be EC cells (Alcaino et al., 2018). The shear force of a perfused liquid stimulated 58% of NeuroD1<sup>+</sup> cultured cells, measured via calcium imaging, and caused an intracellular increase of Ca<sup>2+</sup> of more than 200% (Alcaino et al., 2018). This response was inhibited using Ca<sup>2+</sup>free media, D-GsMTx4 and Piezo2 siRNA (Alcaino et al., 2018), demonstrating the importance of Piezo2 channels in EC cell mechanosensitivity. These results also highlighted this mechanosensory mechanism as Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent, hence indicating that Piezo2 stimulates serotonin release through an increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>. It is postulated that the exocytosis of serotonin vesicles is caused through large Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry via both Piezo2 channels and voltage gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Chang et al., 2016). Piezo2 activation in Merkel cells also causes an inward flux of cation currents (Woo et al., 2014), causing depolarization of the cell and activation of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Ikeda et al., 2014). The opening of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels allows a further influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, postulated to stimulate exocytosis (Haeberle et al., 2004). Our lab has previously demonstrated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx as the main physiological trigger for serotonin release (Raghupathi et al., 2013), indicating EC cells may use the same Ca<sup>2+</sup> mediated pathway in their mechanically stimulated serotonin release. A conditional GI epithelium-specific Piezo2 knockdown mouse model (Vil-cre;Piezo2<sup>f/f</sup>) was created (Alcaino et al., 2018). Pressure-induced stimulation of intestinal mucosa from VilCre;Piezo2<sup>f/f</sup> mice was measured, in which a significant reduction in mechanically stimulated secretion was seen compared with controls (Alcaino et al., 2018). The effects on GI motility were not measured in this model, leaving a significant gap within the literature surrounding the role of EC cell Piezo2 in GI motility.

Although gut transit has been investigated in a gut specific Piezo1 inducible knockout (Villin-Piezo1<sup>flox/flox</sup>) mouse model (Sugisawa et al., 2020), in which total gut transit time was significantly slower compared with controls, the initial presence and subsequent reduction in Piezo1 levels were not measured. Interestingly, both serum and duodenal serotonin levels were significantly reduced in Villin-Piezo1<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice, as well as Tph1 expression and the number of EC cells in the duodenum (Sugisawa et al., 2020). This investigation also highlighted that Piezo1 knockdown, in an EC cell model, did not influence mechanically stimulated serotonin secretion, while Piezo2 knockdown of the same model inhibited serotonin release (Sugisawa et al., 2020). Together, this data suggests that Piezo1 is involved in serotonin production, and hence it is likely that a reduction in EC cell serotonin levels caused the slower transit seen in Villin-Piezo1<sup>flox/flox</sup>. Finally, a study conducted in Drosophila, found that Piezo KO flies ate and drank significantly more than controls, some to the point of overeating to death, they consumed more regardless of nutritional value (Wang et al., 2020). Indicating that flies feeding is based on mechanical cues from Piezo<sup>+</sup> neurons in the gut, which sense gut distension and signal food consumption and satiety to halt overconsumption. It is important to note that flies contain just one Piezo channel type, and hence cannot be used as a direct comparison to mammals, although generally the endocrine and neuropeptide systems in Drosophila which control feeding are conserved in mammals (Jourjine, 2017, Wang et al., 2020).

#### 1.5 Gut-brain axis

#### **1.5.1 Sensory innervation of the gut**

The intestines are a unique organ, in that they are innervated by an intrinsic nervous system (the enteric nervous system, ENS), and extrinsic neurons which arise primarily from either nodose ganglia or dorsal root ganglia (DRG) (Furness et al., 1999). The ENS is organised into two interconnected nerve plexuses, the myenteric plexus embedded between the circular and longitudinal muscle layers, and the submucosal plexus located just under the mucosa in the gut wall. Each plexus is filled with a heterogeneous population of neurons, of which approximately 20 varying subtypes of enteric neurons can be defined (Brookes and Costa, 2002, Furness, 2008), based on diverse neurochemical coding, function, morphology, and region of innervation. Amidst the 20 subtypes exist sensory neurons commonly termed intrinsic primary afferent neurons (IPANs) (Furness et al., 2014), which project into the mucosal epithelium in both the proximal and distal direction (Bertrand et al., 1998). IPANs innervate all layers of the gut wall, including the mucosa, in which they detect information of luminal content and the physical state of the gut (Furness et al., 2004a). IPANs then communicate with interneurons, motor neurons and other IPANs, to modulate functions such as gut motility, secretion, and blood flow (Furness et al., 2014).

The extrinsic innervation of the gut is derived from vagal neurons, spinal neurons, preand postganglionic sympathetic and parasympathetic neurons (Kang et al., 2021). Spinal afferents originate in DRG and project to the spinal cord and into the layers of the gut wall (Brookes et al., 2016), whereas vagal cell bodies are located in the nodose or jugular ganglia, projecting both centrally to the brainstem and into the gut wall (Brookes et al., 2016). The vagus provides both sensory and motor innervation to the

GI tract, with sensory afferents consisting of mucosal mechanoreceptors, chemoreceptors and tension receptors, which primarily innervate the oesophagus, stomach and small intestine (Furness et al., 2014). In the current study, we will focus on the extrinsic sensory innervation to the colon.

#### 1.5.2 Extrinsic sensory innervation of the colon

The colon is primarily innervated extrinsically by neurons which arise in the DRG of the spinal cord (Furness et al., 1999). It is unclear to what proportion the vagus nerve also contributes to colonic extrinsic innervation although it is believed to be minimal (Altschuler et al., 1993, Furness et al., 2014, Herrity et al., 2014). Extrinsic sensory afferents of the colon can be subdivided based on the anatomical location in which their cell body lies, this includes splanchnic nerve cell bodies located within the thoracolumbar DRG, and pelvic afferents which originate from lumbosacral DRG (Grundy and Brierley, 2018) (see Figure 1.6). The majority of sensory afferents in the mouse colon are proposed to originate from lumbosacral DRG (Christianson et al., 2006, Tan et al., 2008). Furthermore, the pelvic and splanchnic thoracic and lumbar spinal cord innervate the proximal colon via the lumbar splanchnic nerve, while the lumbar splanchnic and sacral pelvic nerves both separately innervate the distal colon (Harrington et al., 2018).

Colonic sensory afferents are primarily responsible for mediating conscious sensations such as fullness, discomfort, bloating, urgency, and pain (Harrington et al., 2018, Brookes et al., 2013). Spinal afferents can be classed based on the layer in which they innervate within the GI wall, such as the mucosa (Yu et al., 2016), muscle (Yu et al., 2016, Jiang et al., 2011, McGuire et al., 2018), serosa (Yu et al., 2016, Jiang et al., 2016, McGuire et al., 2018), and mesentery (Yu et al., 2016, Hockley et al., 2016, McGuire et al., 2018). A recent study identified seven

distinct classes of sensory neurons based on their genetic profiling derived from single-cell RNA sequencing (Hockley et al., 2019). Broadly, these groups include two distinct neurofilament classes both associated with myelinated DRG neurons; non-peptidergic nociceptors; three classes of peptidergic neurons expressing calcitonin gene-related peptide (*Calcb*) and substance P (*Tac1*), transient receptor potential cation channel A1 (*Trpa1*) and tyrosine hydroxylase (*Th*) respectively; and the final subtype, which expresses Piezo2 (Hockley et al., 2019). Distinct expression patterns were identified for 7 spinal afferent subtypes, which likely suggests functional differences between the classes of neurons that innervate the colon (Hockley et al., 2019).

Overall, we still have a limited understanding on how sensory projections into the GI tract sense information about luminal contents, and how these sensory connections are developed and integrated (Kang et al., 2021). However, the most recent evidence suggests the potential for a direct synaptic-like connection between EECs and neurons within the GI wall (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018).



# Figure 1.6: Extrinsic innervation of the GI tract.

Schematic diagram showing sympathetic (blue) and parasympathetic (pink) innervation to the GI tract. Adapted from (Uesaka et al., 2016).

# 1.5.3 Functional evidence of direct signalling in the gut-brain axis

The mechanism through which the CNS is informed of the sensory environment within the GI tract is an area of growing interest, with a myriad of recent studies demonstrating evidence that a fast direct line of communication exists between the gut and the brain, termed the gut-brain axis. As EECs are sensory cells which are on the front-line of the intestinal epithelium, they are responsible for a significant portion of collecting the sensory information within the GI lumen. EECs respond to a vast array of stimuli, including ingested nutrients (Ye et al., 2021), bacterial metabolites (Yano et al., 2015), and mechanical stimulation (Alcaino et al., 2018). In response to such stimuli, EECs release various hormones and neurotransmitters, through a Ca2+dependent mechanism (Furness et al., 2013), to facilitate sensory information to surrounding cell types. As such EECs are able to act locally to regulate GI motility, intestinal secretion, digestion, and the absorption of nutrients (Liddle, 2019). Furthermore, EECs transfer sensory information to extrinsic nerves which innervate the GI tract, a sensory connection thought to contribute to the gut-brain axis. Despite the important sensory role of EECs, the mechanism which facilitates this direct transmission of information onto extrinsic nerves is poorly understood (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Ye et al., 2021). It was long believed that EECs signalled to the CNS through the diffusion of hormones, in which hormones would be released into the circulation to be carried to receptors on distant organs (Wade and Westfall, 1985a, Okano-Matsumoto et al., 2011, Psichas et al., 2015). Whilst some evidence suggests EECs do not come into direct contact with blood vessels (Bohórguez et al., 2015), it is true that released hormones can act via diffusion into the circulatory system or in a paracrine fashion to neighbouring cells (Bertrand, 2009, Cummings and Overduin, 2007). However, in order for such a mechanism to facilitate this communication to the

CNS would take minutes to hours after the ingestion of a meal (Rehfeld, 1998), this does not align with the most recent evidence of the fast, direct communication which indicates that neurons in the hypothalamus respond to luminal contents within seconds (Beutler et al., 2017, Su et al., 2017). Such evidence suggests that the brain receives sensory information from the gut through fast neuronal signalling.

#### 1.5.4 Evidence for direct EEC – neuronal connections

Due to the recent evidence of fast communication between EECs and neurons, several studies have highlighted the potential for EECs to form synaptic connections with neurons (Bohórquez et al., 2014, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). The most notable aspect of EECs which have been highlighted are basal processes often seen extending into the intestinal wall. These long processes were described up to 40 years ago on D cells (Larsson et al., 1979), and more recently on L cells (Lundberg et al., 1982, Karaki et al., 2006). Original evidence for basal processes on D cells, indicated that such processes were directed at neighbouring cell types, to release somatostatin from these pseudopod-like structures to act in a paracrine manner to target cells containing somatostatin receptors (Larsson et al., 1979). However, in 2010 the description of 'pseudopod-like basal cell processes' were described of I cells in the small intestine (Chandra et al., 2010), projected to facilitate direct synaptic-like connections with neurons. As such these processes have recently become a focal point for many in the field, termed neuropods by some in the literature (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2014, Bohórquez et al., 2015).

Neuropod anatomy differs between EEC subtypes, with some L cell neuropods extending up to 50  $\mu$ m in length (Bohórquez et al., 2011), while I cell neuropods were usually less than 10  $\mu$ m (Chandra et al., 2010). Although both L cell and I cells have been found to contain multiple neuropods (Chandra et al., 2010, Bohórquez et al.,

2011), or singular extensions which bifurcate in two (Chandra et al., 2010, Bohórquez et al., 2011). Investigation into neuropods of I cells were found to project significant distances from the cell body, with endings described as bulb-like swellings (Alumets et al., 1979, Chandra et al., 2010) which resemble synaptic boutons (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórguez et al., 2014). Further investigation into neuropods has revealed that they contain both hormone containing large dense-core vesicles and small clear synaptic vesicles (Nilsson et al., 1991), with the highest concentration of secretory vesicles noted within neuropods (Bohórquez et al., 2014). The ends of neuropods also contain a significant distribution of mitochondria, hypothesised to maintain the secretion of vesicles from neuropods (Bohórquez et al., 2014). Neurofilaments, structural proteins typical of neuronal axons, have also been identified within these structures, extending from the cell body to the end of neuropods (Bohórguez et al., 2014). A number of classical pre-synaptic and post-synaptic markers, as well as synaptic adhesion genes have been identified in EECs, such as synapsin 1 (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Südhof, 2012, Kaelberer et al., 2018), piccolo, bassoon, MUNC13B, RIMS2, latrophilin 1, transsynaptic neurexin 2 (Südhof, 2012, Bohórguez et al., 2015), transsynaptic neuroligins 2 and 3, homer 3, and postsynaptic density 95 (Chen et al., 2008, Bohórguez et al., 2015), Efnb2, Lrrtm2, Lrrc4, and Nrxn2 (Kaelberer et al., 2018). Together, this evidence is postulated to suggest a physical connection, which facilitates direct synaptic-like communication, is formed between EEC neuropods and enteric nerves (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2014).

The proposal of a synaptic connection between EEC neuropods and neurons has been doubted by some (Bertrand, 2009, Koo et al., 2021), particularly due to the rapid turn-over of EECs typically thought to renew every 5 days. Such a short life for EECs has been noted as a particularly short window of time for such a synaptic connection to form, particularly as EECs are changing constantly moving up the crypt-villus axis

and thought to change in characteristics as they traverse this axis such as their hormonal profile and morphological shape (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Beumer et al., 2018). In opposition to these concerns, the most recent evidence on the life span of EECs has indicated that a proportion of cells can live significantly longer than originally thought, even up to 13 months for some EEC subtypes (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Wei et al., 2021). Such data suggests that a proportion of EECs have a comparable life span to that of other innervated epithelial sensory cells in other body systems, such as olfactory receptor neurons or taste cells (Hamamichi et al., 2006, Hinds et al., 1984).

Furthermore, it has been shown that various EEC subtypes make direct contact with neurons which innervate the mucosa of the ileum and colon (Bohórguez et al., 2015), and that such nerves appeared to penetrate the basal lamina to directly contact EEC neuropods (Bohórquez et al., 2015). The different neuronal subtypes which contacted L cells were investigated, it was found that 67.3% contacted PGP 9.5 nerves, with the majority being neurofilament medium nerves and calbindin positive nerves (Bohórguez et al., 2015). A portion of L cells were found to contact calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP) nerves; but none appeared to touch vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) nerves (Bohórquez et al., 2015). To further investigate the nature of such connections, EECs were co-cultured with isolated sensory neurons in vitro, neurons were found to extend a neurite towards the EEC within 12 hrs, followed by the EEC growing a cytoplasmic process toward the neuron to form a connection just one hour later (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). This connection lasted up to 88 hrs in co-culture. It is important to note that not all EECs formed connections with neurons in co-culture, typically just 15% of I cells were found to form contact with a neuronal fibre in vitro (Bohórquez et al., 2015).

Further in vivo experiments were conducted in which a GFP labelled rabies virus, known to only travel via monosynaptic connections, was used in Pyy-Cre-rabG mice to trace synaptic connections between L cells and their connecting neurons (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). Pyy-Cre–rabG mice are mice in which L cells are genetically modified to express the G glycoprotein necessary for transsynaptic spread of rabies (rabG), allowing L cells to be transduced and pass on the virus to any synaptically-connected cells (Bohórquez et al., 2015). Pyy-Cre-rabG mice were given a GFP labelled rabies virus via an enema into the distal colon, EECs and their connecting neurons were seen to be infected with the virus 7 days postenema (Bohórguez et al., 2015). Hence demonstrating evidence for a functional synaptic-like connection between EECs and neurons in the colon. Furthermore, labelled fibres were seen in the DRG and vagal nodose ganglia, which indicated that EECs communicate with spinal afferents as well as vagal neurons (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). This study further analysed the brain regions in which EECs communicate, demonstrating tracing into the nucleus tractus solitarius of the brainstem (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018).

EECs express two enzymes essential in dopamine synthesis, aromatic-L-amino-acid decarboxylase (AAAD) and tyrosine hydroxylase (Bohórquez et al., 2015), as well as the vesicular glutamate transporter 1 protein (VGLUT1) (Kaelberer et al., 2018). As vesicular glutamate is a neurotransmitter typical of other sensory epithelial cells, these results indicated that EECs might use glutamate in synaptic-like transmission. As such, the role for glutamate as a key neurotransmitter in I cells was investigated through co-culturing isolated, I cells with vagal neurons, in which an EEC stimulus was found to activate vagal neurons. The inhibition of the glutamate transporter blocked this response in connected vagal neurons (Kaelberer et al., 2018), indicating that glutamate mediates synaptic-like communication between EECs and neurons. More
specifically, these experiments demonstrated the role for glutamate as a fast mediator of communication with vagal neurons, occurring within milliseconds of EEC stimulation. Whilst also demonstrating that CCK release occurs at a slower rate, exhibiting a paracrine action on co-cultured vagal neurons (Kaelberer et al., 2018).

We know that sugars are readily sensed within the small intestine, however whether this stimulus is sensed directly by the vagus, or through EECs which transmit the signal to the vagus, has been unclear until recently (Williams et al., 2016). A recent investigation presented that EECs respond to luminal content, such as sugars, to then stimulate connecting neurons, such as the vagus nerve (Kaelberer et al., 2018). This was first demonstrated in vitro, in which isolated nodose neurons were tested via calcium imaging when treated with glucose, with no response seen in neurons (Kaelberer et al., 2018). HoweverHowever,, when vagal neurons were co-cultured with EECs, the same neurons were activated in response to the glucose stimulus {Kaelberer, 2018 #238), indicating that glucose activation of EECs is transmitted to synapsing neurons. This proposed system was tested in vivo, in which sugars were delivered via intraluminal transfusion directly into the duodenal lumen, while the vagal neurons were recorded via electrophysiology in real time (Kaelberer et al., 2018). In such experiments, sugars significantly increased the vagal firing rate, a response abolished with the severing of the vagus, or a glucose transporter (SGLT1) inhibitor (Kaelberer et al., 2018). As SGLT1 is expressed in EECs and not in vagal neurons, this data suggests that luminal stimuli are sensed via EECs, which transduce this signal to connecting vagal neurons (Kaelberer et al., 2018).

#### 1.5.5 EC cell – neuronal connection

There is considerable data available on the morphology of EC cells along the GI tract of mouse, rat and human, although no reported investigations into EC cell neuropods,

or the connection between EC cells with neurons in the GI tract. In the rat colon, 80% of EC cells contain cytoplasmic processes (Kuramoto et al., 2007). Some EC cells are bipolar, with a long process running down the crypt, and a second process extending towards the lumen from the apical end (Kuramoto et al., 2007). Furthermore, the processes of EC cells have also been described to resemble axons, containing swollen bulges similar to nerve varicosities (Kuramoto et al., 2007). Like other EECs, EC cells have also been shown to express several presynaptic markers, such as synapsin, and postsynaptic markers, such as PSD-95, observed immediately adjacent to EC cells (Bellono et al., 2017). Although, these processes typically extended towards the submucosa, there has been no evidence to suggest that they cross the basement membrane into the lamina propria (Kuramoto et al., 2007). The limited knowledge on EC cell neural connections, has suggested that 5-HT<sub>3</sub>R labelled mucosal afferents appear to contact the basolateral side of EC cells (Bellono et al., 2017).

A number of immunohistochemical studies have investigated the presence of basal processes on EC cells along the human GI tract, demonstrating their occurrence in the stomach, colon and rectum (Inokuchi et al., 1984, Bordi et al., 2000, Sjölund et al., 1983). Human fundic EC cells are described as pleomorphic (Inokuchi et al., 1984), noting long and sometimes multipolar cytoplasmic processes projecting in all directions (Inokuchi et al., 1984, Kusumoto et al., 1988). While other studies suggest that there are 3 distinct morphologies of human EC cells, 'round and closed cells', 'typical flask-shaped open cells', and 'cells with multiple basal processes' (Fakhry et al., 2019). Whilst a number of studies have described the anatomy of EC cells, and basal processes, there is no data which analyses the relationship between EC cell neuropods and nerves within the human gut.

#### 1.5.6 What drives connections between EECs and neurons?

It is apparent that EECs and neurons within the GI tract make anatomical connections, as shown through in vitro and in vivo studies (Bohórquez et al., 2014, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Bellono et al., 2017, Kaelberer et al., 2018), however the mechanism which drives the formation of such connections is not currently understood. It has been proposed by some that chemoattractants are released from both EECs and neurons to drive the extension of neuropods and neurites to form a connection (Bohórquez et al., 2014, Liddle, 2019). Enteric glia are important in the development of enteric neurons (Bush et al., 1998), known to drive axonal growth through the release of neurotrophins (Van Landeghem et al., 2011, Neunlist et al., 2014). The first evidence of a relationship between enteric glial cells and the L cell neuropods was recently described (Bohórquez et al., 2014), thought to imply that enteric glia drive neuropod growth from EECs through release of neurotrophic factors (Bohórquez et al., 2014). L cells express several receptors for glial derived neurotrophins, including TrkA and glial-derived neurotrophic factor 3 (Kaplan et al., 1991, Klein et al., 1991), which are stimulated through the neurotrophins nerve growth factor (NGF) and artemin respectively. NGF and artemin are two established neurotrophins known to stimulate axonal growth in neurons (Yasuda et al., 1990, Baloh et al., 1998, Madduri et al., 2009). These two neurotrophins were used to treat intestinal organoids, both found to increase the number of EECs containing neuropods, as well as increasing the length of neuropods on average (Bohórquez et al., 2014).

It is apparent that the brain must communicate directly with EECs, based on the recent evidence that the CNS responds to luminal stimuli *in vitro* and *in vivo* within a matter of milliseconds. Here, we have described the recent advances in the field, in which EEC basal extensions, termed neuropods, are hypothesised to form direct synaptic-

like connections with innervating neurons. With the exception of D cells, the exact function of neuropods in EECs is not yet understood, although, they have been suggested to facilitate direct connections between EECs and the brain. There is a gap in the literature surrounding the presence of EC cell neuropods, and the factors which facilitate the connections between EECs and neurons within the GI tract.

#### 1.6 Concluding Remarks

EC cell serotonin has numerous functions throughout the body, in both central and peripheral physiology. The exact role for EC cell-derived serotonin in GI motility, and the mechanisms used by these cells to sense mechanical stimulation, are not completely understood. This is particularly the case due to a lack of availability of adequate tools to fully elucidate this system *in vivo*. The most recent evidence suggests that Piezo2, the newly identified mechanosensory ion channel, is important for mouse EC cell mechanobiology, however this has yet to be deduced in human EC cells. Furthermore, our understanding of connections between EECs and enteric neurons is also gaining momentum, with evidence now suggesting that EECs may form direct synaptic-like connections, and the communication of EC cells with enteric neurons, are currently understudied warranting deeper investigation.

Further knowledge on the nature of EC cell-neuronal communication is required to shed light on the mechanisms which underpin the gut-brain axis and form a greater understanding of the circuitry with which EC cells mediate their function. Overall, the two key questions of how serotonin is involved in GI motility, and how EC cells communicate with neurons, remain as an important and clinically relevant questions to be answered.

#### 1.7 Experimental aims and hypotheses

The broad aims of the current study were to:

1. Validate the new specific, inducible Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice, and use this model to determine the importance of EC cell-derived serotonin in gut motility.

- 2. Investigate the presence and function of the mechanosensing ion channel, Piezo2, in mouse and human EC cells.
- 3. Identify and characterize neuropods in colonic EC cells.
- Identify whether EC cells contact sensory nerve fibres in the colonic wall and determine the role of extrinsic sensory afferents in the formation of EC cell neuropods.

The broad hypotheses of the current study were that:

1. The inducible and specific ablation of EC cells will slow, but not cease, gastrointestinal motility.

2. Piezo2 is an ion channel significantly involved in the mechanosensing function of human EC cells, with implications in GI motility.

3. Both mouse and human colonic EC cells contain neuropods, which have the potential to form neural connections via direct connections.

4. The removal of extrinsic sensory innervation will alter EC cell neuropod formation in the mouse distal colon.

CHAPTER 2: The role of enterochromaffin cell derived serotonin in colonic motility.

#### 2. The role of enterochromaffin cell derived serotonin in colonic motility.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Serotonin was first implicated in gastrointestinal motility 70 years ago when Bulbring and Lin described the presence of the hormone during peristalsis (Bulbring and Lin, 1958). Since then, the role of serotonin in gut contraction has not been conclusively defined. Initial studies described the presence of high concentrations of serotonin around the time of contractile events in the guinea pig small intestine (Bulbring and Crema, 1959) and hypothesized that EC cells respond to the distention caused by luminal contents, which stimulates the release of serotonin, initiating peristalsis. Hence, serotonin was suspected to be the key driver of intestinal motility and for many years it was believed that peristalsis would fail to initiate in its absence.

Early studies found that the application of exogenous serotonin potently stimulated peristalsis (Bulbring and Lin, 1958) and that serotonin antagonists inhibit peristalsis and other migrating motor complexes (Bush et al., 2001). Numerous studies have since reported conflicting evidence regarding the role of serotonin in motility. One study reported a lack of colonic migrating motor complexes (CMMCs) in mucosa-free colonic preparations (Heredia et al., 2009). This group concluded that serotonin is vital for motility to occur since mucosa-free colons lack EC cell serotonin. Evidence from our research group disputes this conclusion. We confirmed that serotonin is released from EC cells in close temporal association with peristalsis (Keating and Spencer, 2010), and that cyclic motor activity still occurs, albeit more slowly, in mucosa-free colons lacking EC cell serotonin (Keating and Spencer, 2010). Furthermore, serotonin receptor antagonists used on colonic preparations lacking mucosa, and hence also lacking EC cell serotonin, blocked CMMCs in these preparations (Barnes et al., 2014). This result opposes earlier conclusions that serotonin is critical for motility (Bush et al.,

2001), as it indicates these antagonists act in a manner independent of EC cell serotonin.

In contrast, more recent studies using the pharmacological inhibition of Tph1 and genetic Tph1 ablation (Tph1<sup>-/-</sup>) mouse models found no difference in total gastrointestinal (GI) transit time compared with controls (Yadav et al., 2010, Li et al., 2011), indicating that a lack of EC cell serotonin has no effect on *in vivo* transit. However, in further work on Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, less frequent CMMCs were observed (Heredia et al., 2013). This was contrary to earlier work from this group, as motility remained despite the lack of EC cell serotonin. Further studies found that Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice have significant differences in their GI morphology compared with controls (Heredia et al., 2013), which likely influenced gut motility.

The existence of a second pool of serotonin derived from Tph2, contained in neurons within the enteric nervous system (ENS) (Walther et al., 2003), adds complication to the investigation of the role of serotonin in motility. It has proven difficult to distinguish between the separate effects of these two pools of serotonin on motility. Experiments using reserpine, a drug which inhibits the neuronal uptake of serotonin through VMAT (a vesicular serotonin transporter), found no differences in mucosa-free CMMCs between reserpine treated or control mice (Sia et al., 2013b, Spencer et al., 2013). This result indicates enteric neuronal derived serotonin does not play a role in regulating CMMCs. Although Tph2 knockout (Tph2<sup>-/-</sup>) mice were found to have a significant reduction in all *in vivo* measures of GI transit (Li et al., 2011), further studies revealed that Tph2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were developmentally different including a decrease in myenteric neuronal density and proportions of certain neuronal types in the ENS. These differences occurred as Tph2-derived serotonin is important in the neurodevelopment of the ENS (Li et al., 2011, De Vadder et al., 2018).

It has proven difficult to distinguish the importance of EC cell derived serotonin in the peristaltic reflex due to the lack of an adequate model. The various pharmacological, surgical dissection, and genetic approaches previously utilized to advance understanding in this area have lacked specificity and physiological relevance. The need for an inducible Tph1 knockdown mouse model is merited due to the following reasons: 1) pharmacological approaches have maintained the physiological integrity of tissue, but are often not specific to Tph1 derived serotonin, or not totally effective in reducing mucosal serotonin (Yadav et al., 2010, Martin et al., 2019). 2) Dissection methods in which the mucosa is removed from the colon is not specific to effects on EC cell serotonin and also impair the integrity of the GI tract and removes other important epithelial cell types, leaving the question of its physiological relevance (Keating and Spencer, 2010). 3) Constitutive mouse knockout models are severely impacted during development, including compensatory adjustments to intestinal morphology (Heredia et al., 2013) and impaired development of the ENS (Li et al., 2011), leaving potential cofounding factors in results gathered using these mice. Although each model has contributed to our understanding of the role of serotonin in this system, it is clear they each come with their own disadvantages. Thus, a superior model is needed to specifically knockdown EC cells post-development and conclusively define the role of Tph1 derived serotonin in motility.

To finally deduce the role of EC cell derived serotonin in motility and define the importance of the hormone in peristalsis, we used an inducible Tph1 knockdown mouse model Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> (referred to as Tph1 DTA mice in the following chapter) (Wei et al., 2021). In Tph1 DTA mice, tamoxifen injections promote the production of diphtheria toxin (DTA) only in cells expressing Tph1, causing cell death via its inhibition of protein synthesis (Collier, 1975). This mouse model will allow us to

specifically test the importance of EC cell serotonin in GI motility of developmentally normal mice. The following chapter contains results from *ex vivo* colonic experiments performed by me in the laboratory of Associate Professor Seungil Ro at the University of Nevada (Reno) during my time on site in this laboratory. The specific aims are to:

- Confirm the reduction in mucosal serotonin in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice and test whether morphological changes occur in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse GI tract;
- 2. Test whether motility changes are observed in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> colon.

The overriding hypothesis of this chapter is that the inducible and specific ablation of EC cells will slow, but not cease, gastrointestinal motility.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Preparation of Mouse Tissues

Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> (Tph1 DTA) male mice with a C57BL/6 background, of 8-12 weeks old were used in the following chapter. Generation of this mouse line was described previously (Wei et al., 2021). A Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup> mouse was (Wei et al., 2021) crossed with a Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse line (The Jackson Laboratory, B6.129P2-Gt(ROSA)26Sortm1(DTA)Lky/J, stock 009669), no. to create а Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse model. Tph1 DTA mice were intraperitoneally injected with tamoxifen (Tx) (Sigma Aldrich, 1.0mg/20g body weight daily) for 5 consecutive days (Wei et al., 2021). The control groups were injected with the same volume of sunflower oil (Sigma Aldrich). The mice were then anesthetized through CO2 inhalation, followed by cervical dislocation in accordance with approval by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at University of Nevada. A ventral midline incision was made to expose the peritoneal cavity, and the intestines were gently removed from the animal. For mechanical recordings, segments of mouse colon ~8 cm long were placed into beakers containing oxygenated Krebs solution ((in mM): NaCl, 118; KCl, 4.7; NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.0; NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 25; MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.2; D- Glucose, 11; CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5) and bubbled with 95%  $O_2/5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>.

# 2.2.2 Immunohistochemistry

Intestinal tissue was removed from mice and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at 4°C for 20 minutes and left in 1 x Tris-buffered saline (TBS) at 4°C overnight. Samples were dehydrated in 20% sucrose in TBS at 4°C. Tissue was frozen in 1:1 optimum cutting temperature (Sakura)/20% sucrose in TBS using liquid nitrogen. Frozen tissue was cut into 8 µm-thick cryosections, then used for

immunohistochemistry experiments. Sections were blocked with 0.5% Triton X-114, 4% skim milk in TBS for 1 hour at room temperature, then washed with TBS twice for 10 minutes each. Primary antibodies directed for Tph1 (1:200, Rabbit anti-Tph1 IgG, Cat# ab52954, Abcam) was applied for 48 hours on a rocker at 4°C. Sections were washed with TBS twice for 10 minutes and then incubated with secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (1:500, Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG H&L, Cat# ab150077, Abcam) for 2 hours at room temperature. The sections were washed 3 times with TBS for 10 minutes each, dried, and mounted with mounting medium containing DAPI (Wei et al., 2021).

## 2.2.3 Microscopy and Image Analysis

All images were taken using an Olympus Fluoview FV1000 confocal laser scanning microscope. Tph1 cell knockdown was analysed using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health) (Wei et al., 2021).

#### 2.2.4 Measuring colonic motility ex vivo via mechanical recordings

The colons were removed from mice and maintained in Krebs solution, as above (2.2.1). The colons were left to naturally expel faecal pellets in 37°C Krebs and after 10 minutes, the remaining faecal pellets were gently flushed out with 37°C Krebs. Each end of the colon was anchored into an organ bath using fine suture thread and microhooks. Three hooks were connected to three separate regions of the colon, which were attached to three force transducers with fine suture thread. A resting tension of 0.5 g was applied to all preparations. These force transducers were connected to three separate custom-made preamplifiers (Biomedical Engineering, Flinders University), all connected to a PowerLab 4/30 (AD Instruments, Castle Hill, NSW, Australia). Recordings were made and analysed using LabChart (version 8.0, ADInstruments).

# 2.2.5 Measuring contractions on a fixed pellet ex vivo

The colons were removed, prepared, and anchored as described above (2.2.4). Fresh faecal pellets were collected from mice, covered in superglue (Gorilla) and attached to fine suture thread. These pellets were inserted into the oral end of the colon, allowed to naturally propel along the colon until stopped halfway along. The other end of the suture thread was connected to a force transducer, measuring the forces placed on the fixed pellet by colonic contractions. These recordings were made using the same equipment as above (2.2.5).

### 2.2.6 Ex vivo total transit time

Colons were removed, prepared, and anchored as described above (2.2.4). Fresh faecal pellets were collected from mice and covered in superglue (Gorilla), then inserted into the oral end of the colon. Pellets were allowed to freely move along the colon with natural contractions, this was filmed, and the time taken for the pellet to transverse to the anal end of the colon was recorded as the *ex-vivo* total transit time.

### 2.2.7 Serotonin ELISA assay

Serotonin levels in serum, lysed mucosa, and lysed brain were measured using a serotonin ELISA (Serotonin Research ELISA, LDN, Germany, Cat# BA E-5900R). Mucosal samples were collected from the desired regions of the GI tract, and stored in RIPA buffer (Thermo-Fischer), and treated with serotonin stabilizer (1:1000, Stabilizer, BA E-5937, LDN, Germany). Whole blood samples were collected from mice and rested for 20 minutes at room temperature to allow the platelets to clot, samples were then centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 minutes and the serum collected. Tissue samples were lysed using a homogenizer at 4°C. The homogenates were collected. All

samples were stored at -80°C until analysis. Protein concentrations of mouse GI tissue samples were determined using the BCA assay (Thermo-Fisher). All samples were run in duplicate on the ELISA plate and normalized to protein concentrations. The ELISA was performed as per manufacturer's instructions and results analysed using a 4-parameter sigmoidal curve with GraphPad Prism (Version 9, GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

# 2.2.8 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by using GraphPad Prism. Results with two groups were tested for statistical differences using a two-tailed unpaired t-test, unless otherwise specified. Statistical analysis on results with multiple comparisons was tested using a one-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparisons test, unless otherwise specified. Differences were considered significant when p<0.05. All statistical results are reported as mean +/- standard error of the mean unless where otherwise stated. The number of animals used in each set of experiments is indicated as lower case 'n'. All non-significant differences (p>0.05) are reported as 'ns'.

#### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Ablation of EC cells and intestinal morphology in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa<sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice

Our collaborators from the University of Nevada have developed an inducible mouse line, Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> (Wei et al., 2021), in which tamoxifen (Tx) treatment induces diphtheria toxin (DTA) activation specifically in Tph1 expressing cells. DTA expression inhibits cellular protein synthesis which leads to apoptotic death of the target cell, in this case EC cells. To confirm the phenotype of Tph1 DTA mice, intestinal tissue from oil-treated (control) mice and Tx-treated mice was collected and immunohistochemically stained for Tph1 (Figure 2.1A). These images confirm the loss of Tph1 containing cells in the Tx-treated Tph1 DTA mice compared with oil-treated controls (Figure 2.1A) (for quantification see (Wei et al., 2021)). We confirmed whether these mice experienced any intestinal morphological changes, as seen in previous Tph1 genetic knockout approaches (Heredia et al., 2013). No difference in intestinal length was seen in the small intestine, cecum or colon between control and Tx-treated mice (Figure 2.1B-D). Finally, to ensure the mouse model was specific for Tph1 producing cells and did not affect the levels of Tph2 derived serotonin, measurements were taken of serotonin levels in the brains and intestinal mucosa of control and Txtreated Tph1 DTA mice by ELISA (Figure 2.2). There was no change in serotonin levels in the brain between groups but a significant decrease in mucosal serotonin of the Tx-treated mice compared with controls. These results support this model as an inducible and reliable EC cell depletion model, and hence a suitable model to determine the role of EC cell derived serotonin on gastrointestinal motility.





(A) Tph1 (green) staining in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice colon after 5 days showing near complete ablation of Tph1<sup>+</sup> cells in tamoxifen treated tissue compared with oil controls, enlarged examples inset in white boxes. Scale bar = 100  $\mu$ m. (B) The lengths of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> small intestine (n=14) (A), cecum (n=5) (B), and colon (C) after 5 days oil or tamoxifen treatment (n=14). Data are shown as mean ± SEM.



# Figure 2.2: Confirmation of the specificity of EC cell serotonin knockdown in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice.

Serotonin content in the brain and intestinal mucosa confirmed the Tph1 specific knockout of serotonin production in EC cell ablated mice (Tx; n=11) compared with oil injected controls (n=7). Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*p < 0.01

# 2.3.2 *Ex vivo* colonic migrating motor complexes are less frequent but still present in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa<sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice

To test the role of EC cell derived serotonin on ex-vivo colonic motility, the Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse line was used to evaluate colonic migrating motor complexes (CMMCs) in EC cell-depleted and control mice. CMMCs were measured from oil- and Tx-treated mice, using force transducers (see Method 2.2.5). The example traces shown in Figure 2.3 are representative of the change in characteristics of proximal CMMCs seen between control (oil-injected) and Tx-treated Tph1 DTA mice. There was a significant decrease between control (oil-injected) and Tx-treated proximal CMMCs in the frequency of contractions (Figure 2.4A), as well as the percentage of contractions which propagated down the colon from the proximal to the distal end (Figure 2.4B). The CMMC frequency was positively correlated with serum serotonin concentrations across both Tx-treated and oil-treated Tph1 DTA mice (Figure 2.5). To rule out the potential effects of tamoxifen on motility, Cre<sup>-/-</sup> mice were also tested after being given the same tamoxifen treatment regime as Tx-treated Tph1 DTA mice and analysed the CMMCs ex vivo. The Tx-treatment of C57BL/6 mice revealed no effect of tamoxifen on colonic motility compared with oil injected control mice in both frequency and propagation (Figure 2.4). These results indicate that EC cell derived serotonin is not essential for CMMC generation but has a role in the modulation of frequency and propagation of contractile events down the colon.





Example traces of (A) oil-injected and (B) tamoxifen treated (Tx) Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> CMMCs recorded from the proximal (P), mid (M) and distal (D) region of the colon.



Figure 2.4: Changes in CMMCs in EC cell depleted Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice.

(A) Frequency of proximal CMMCs from oil or tamoxifen injected Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice, and tamoxifen injected Cre<sup>-/-</sup> mice. (B) The percentage of CMMCs which propagate from the proximal to distal colon of oil or tamoxifen injected Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice, and tamoxifen injected Cre<sup>-/-</sup> (C57BL/6) mice. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01



Figure 2.5: The frequency of CMMCs is correlated with serum serotonin levels.

The frequency of baseline proximal contractions of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice plotted against serum serotonin (5-HT) levels. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05

# 2.3.3 Contractions on a fixed pellet are reduced in force and frequency in Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa<sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice lacking serotonin

To measure the effect of EC cell derived serotonin on peristalsis, the force of contractions used on a natural pellet fixed in place was recorded using *ex vivo* colons from control and Tx-treated Tph1 DTA mice (Figure 2.6A). This allows the measurement of the peristaltic reflex stimulated by a natural bolus to propel it distally towards the rectum. The force of contraction (amplitude) was reduced in Tx-treated Tph1 DTA colons compared with controls (Figure 2.6C). The frequency of contractions was also decreased in Tph1 DTA mice compared with controls (Figure 2.6B). These results support the notion that EC cell derived serotonin is not required for peristalsis but does have a role in the strength and timing of the peristaltic reflex.



Figure 2.6: A lack of Tph1 causes a reduction in the frequency and amplitude of contractions on a fixed pellet *ex vivo*.

(A) example traces of oil-injected and tamoxifen treated Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> contractions on a fixed pellet. The baseline frequency (B) and amplitude (C) of fixed-pellet contractions *ex vivo* of control (oil injected) and tamoxifen injected (Tx) Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05

# 2.3.4 Ex vivo colonic transit time is slower in EC cell depleted mice

The time taken for a natural pellet to transit the length of the colon was measured *ex vivo* in control and Tx-treated Tph1 DTA colons to deduce the effect of serotonin on peristalsis. The time taken for the pellet to move down the Tx-treated Tph1 DTA colons was on average 4 times (p < 0.05) longer than controls (Figure 2.7). The significantly longer time observed in the Tx-treated Tph1 DTA colonic transit time indicates that the lack of EC cell derived serotonin contributes significantly to the efficiency of peristalsis but does not inhibit the occurrence.



Figure 2.7: *Ex vivo* colonic transit is slower in mice lacking EC cell serotonin.

Representation of *ex vivo* colonic transit of a pellet along the colon of a (A) oil and (B) tamoxifen treated Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse at various time points (t). (C) *Ex vivo* transit time for complete pellet transit in oil vs tamoxifen treated Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice *ex vivo*. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05

# 2.3.5 Fluoxetine effect on GI motility of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa<sup>26DTA/+</sup> mice

Fluoxetine is a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) routinely prescribed for anxiety and depression (Wong et al., 1974, Hillhouse and Porter, 2015). SSRIs function by blocking the serotonin transporter, SERT, from allowing the reabsorption of serotonin into SERT containing cells (Ross and Renyi, 1969). Thus, free serotonin accumulates outside of cells and is readily available to act on various serotonin receptors. The use of fluoxetine (2 µm, Sigma-Aldrich) on CMMCs in control C57BL/6 mouse colons ex vivo was trialled to determine the role of excess endogenous serotonin on motility. Preliminary work by our research group has found that while fluoxetine slows the frequency of CMMCs in an intact preparation, it has no effect when the mucosal layer (and therefore all EC cells) is removed by dissection (see Appendix Figure 1). Thus, suggesting fluoxetine must affect colonic motility through EC cell derived serotonin, with no role for neuronal serotonin in regulating GI motility. We wanted to confirm this by repeating this experiment in a superior model, such as the Tph1 DTA mouse model, with the benefit of a genetic approach to specifically remove EC cells thus not needing to remove the entire mucosal layer. CMMCs of intact ex vivo colons from control and Tx-treated Tph1 DTA mice at baseline and with fluoxetine (2 µM). Fluoxetine had similar effects on control Tph1 DTA mice as was found with mucosa-on preparations, in which a decrease in frequency is seen in CMMCs with treatment (see Figure 2.8A). Also, in accordance with initial results using mucosa-free colons we found that fluoxetine did not affect CMMC frequency in EC cell depleted mice. We additionally tested the effects of fluoxetine on fixed pellet experiments to test whether neuronal serotonin had an impact on the peristaltic reflex, and similarly found fluoxetine reduced the frequency of contractions on a natural pellet stimulus in control conditions but had no significant effect in Tx-treated Tph1 DTA on

the frequency of contractions of a fixed pellet (see Figure 2.8B). These results support the notion that fluoxetine affects colonic motility through EC cell derived serotonin and indicates that ENS-derived serotonin does not regulate motility.





The frequency of proximal CMMCs (A) and fixed-pellet contractions (B) measured from oil and tamoxifen injected Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice, with fluoxetine (2  $\mu$ M)

. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05

## 2.4 Discussion

The precise role of EC cell derived serotonin in gastrointestinal (GI) motility has long been contested within the field. The suitability of the models used in research addressing this question has been a consistent issue. The aim of this body of work was to determine the importance of serotonin in colonic motility using a new specific and inducible mouse model Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> (Tph1 DTA), that specifically targets the ablation of EC cells. Determining the role of serotonin in motility will provide a better understanding of the mechanisms involved in normal GI motility. This is crucial considering the regulation of GI motility is reasoned essential for overall healthy GI function (Gershon, 2004). To elucidate the exact role of serotonin in this process will aid in highlighting key aspects of motility to target for the treatment of motility issues and thus, enable the better management of various motility disorders.

This study has validated the highly specific, inducible Tph1 depletion mouse model, Tph1CreERT2/+;Rosa26DTA/+, and verified its appropriateness as a tool in deducing the role of EC cell serotonin in motility. The lengths of all components of the GI tract were found to be unchanged in this inducible model indicating no obvious change in intestinal morphology. This is unlike differences seen previously in Tph1-<sup>/-</sup> intestines (Heredia et al., 2013). The inducible nature of the new model allows it to bypass the developmental effects on intestinal morphology seen in Tph1-<sup>/-</sup> mice. The size of faecal pellets appeared larger in Tph1 DTA mice (Wei et al., 2021), as was reported in Tph1-<sup>/-</sup> (Heredia et al., 2013), demonstrating that a lack of serotonin can impact the size of faecal pellets. This could be due to a reduced frequency of contractions seen in the Tph1 DTA mouse model. It has recently been confirmed in mice, as previously in guinea pig (Costa et al., 2015), that faecal pellets are formed at a functional colonic flexure between the proximal and distal colon (Costa et al., 2021). These motor

patterns are preserved down the entire length of the colon (Costa et al., 2015), and contractile activity forming large boluses have been shown to be less frequent (Ehrlein et al., 1983). Hence, the rate of GI motility impacts the size of faecal pellets. The contractions measured in our colonic preparations from Tph1 DTA mice were significantly slower. The less frequent contractions likely produced the larger faecal pellets seen from EC cell depleted mice. The consistency of content is another determination of pellet size (Ehrlein et al., 1983), with more fluid consistencies resulting in larger faecal pellets (Costa et al., 2015). The predominant absorption of water along the GI tract occurs in the SI, aided by a process known as segmentation (Huizinga et al., 2014). Segmentation is a series of contractions local to the small intestine, which mix content to stimulate nutrient and water absorption (Huizinga et al., 2014). Serotonin has been linked with segmentation, increasing the number of segmentation contractions after a nutrient meal (Siegle and Ehrlein, 1989). EC cell serotonin is also proposed to play an important role in the feedback loop which controls segmentation (Ellis et al., 2013). Furthermore, serotonin has been demonstrated to significantly enhance water absorption along the GI tract (Kisloff and Moore, 1976). Hence in our model, a lack of serotonin could contribute to a decrease in water absorption, and therefore more fluidic faecal content in the proximal content leading to larger faecal pellets. Overall, these results indicate that this inducible Tph1 DTA mouse model does not contain the developmental perturbances noted in the intestinal morphology of the previous Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> model. We believe that the inducible Tph1 DTA model is an advanced tool, which bypasses previous issues, to better deduce the role of serotonin in motility.

The specificity of this model was evident through both the depletion of Tph1 positive cells in Tx-treated Tph1 DTA mouse GI tissue, and the significant reduction in EC cell derived serotonin content in the GI mucosa. No difference was shown between the

levels of serotonin in control and Tx-induced Tph1 DTA mouse brains, consistent with previous Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> models (Walther et al., 2003), indicating our Tph1 DTA model had no effect on Tph2 derived serotonin levels, and further confirming the specificity of this model. The Tph1 DTA model did not produce a total knockout of mucosal serotonin, as there were remaining levels of the hormone post-tamoxifen treatment. The most likely explanation for this detection is that the Tx treatment of our model wasn't long enough to deplete all EC cell serotonin, hence a longer protocol might have further reduced serotonin levels. This is reflected in a recent study on the refinement of Tx injection protocols, which highlights several parameters which can affect the specificity and effectiveness of Cre-loxP recombination in vivo. Such parameters include the dose and duration of Tx, the level of CreERT2 expression and tissue type, as different tissues respond differently to Tx protocols (Jahn et al., 2018). Another possibility for the detection of remaining serotonin is it being taken up by other colonic epithelial cells containing the serotonin reuptake transporter (SERT) in the mucosal lining of Tph1 DTA mice. Enterocytes, as well as certain enteroendocrine cell types known to contain SERT (Wade et al., 1996, Chen et al., 1998) (Lund et al., 2020) could have taken up serotonin and potentially contributed to the remaining serotonin in the mucosa. Together, these postulations likely explain the residual serotonin present in the Tph1 DTA mucosa. Ultimately, EC cell serotonin was specifically reduced in this mouse model, hence indicating this model is ideal for testing the role of EC cell derived serotonin in motility.

A number of *ex vivo* colonic motility tests were performed in this investigation to determine the effect which a lack of EC cell serotonin has on the characteristics of colonic motility. Colonic motility has been described by numerous studies, using varying terms, animal models, and experimental tools (Corsetti et al., 2019). Here, we describe the effects of serotonin on CMMCs, cyclic contractions that propagate along

the colon regardless of the presence of content (Spencer et al., 2016). Although CMMCs can occur regardless of faecal content, distention of the bowel has been shown to increase CMMCs frequency (Zagorodnyuk and Spencer, 2011) indicating a relationship between the presence of content and CMMCs. The inducible knockdown of EC cell serotonin in our model was found to reduce both the frequency and propagation of CMMCs along the colon, indicating that CMMCs are not likely to depend on EC cell serotonin. This data supports previous findings where the removal of the mucosa, and hence EC cell serotonin, also decreased the frequency of CMMCs (Keating and Spencer, 2010). Similarly, a decrease in ex vivo CMMCs was also reported in Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Heredia et al., 2013). Serum serotonin levels were found to have a positive correlation with proximal CMMC frequency. As gut serotonin levels are known to substantially contribute to serum serotonin levels (Yano et al., 2015), this further highlights the relationship between serotonin and colonic motility. This infers that one role of EC cell derived serotonin is to modulate the frequency of cyclic contractions. Contractile events on a fixed pellet were also measured ex vivo, experiments that allow the unique collection of the size and frequency of contractions in direct response to a natural stimulus. The recordings from a fixed pellet are thought to reflect the *in vivo* peristaltic reflex (Bayliss and Starling, 1899, Heredia et al., 2013). In these fixed pellet experiments, it was clear that the force and number of contractions on a natural stimulus were reduced compared with controls. This reduction in amplitude has been previously noted in fixed faecal pellet contractions with the application of a 5-HT<sub>3</sub> receptor antagonist, ondansetron (Heredia et al., 2009). Furthermore, the peristaltic reflex of Tph1 DTA mice was tested ex vivo using a natural faecal pellet to further determine the role of serotonin in colonic motility. Peristalsis is defined as a propulsive movement initiated by a bolus, occurring due to the coupling of myogenic and neurogenic rhythmic contractions (Spencer et al., 2018, Corsetti et al., 2019). The time taken for the pellet to freely transverse the length of the colon, known as the total colonic transit time, was significantly slower in Tph1 DTA preparations lacking serotonin. This result reflected previous findings, in which the introduction of a faecal pellet into mucosa-free colonic preparations still initiated peristalsis albeit significantly slower than intact preparations (Spencer et al., 2011). Together, all *ex vivo* measurements of contractile activity in the current study suggest that EC cell serotonin does not drive peristalsis, but rather has a role in modulating certain characteristics of these cyclic contractions. This links to previous real-time recordings of serotonin release from the colonic mucosa, in which serotonin was hypothesised to be released as a consequence of and not prior to contractions (Keating and Spencer, 2010). These findings support our hypothesis that serotonin is a modulatory molecule of peristalsis, and not the driving force.

Distension within the colon stimulates an oral ascending excitatory contraction and a descending inhibitory relaxation (Bayliss and Starling, 1899), facilitating the propulsion of a bolus along the colon. It has previously been hypothesised that the propulsion of content is accomplished through the combination of CMMCs and activation of the peristaltic reflex through distension, working together to form propulsive movements (Spencer et al., 2016). Both CMMCs and peristalsis are neural in origin, as they are both inhibited through the application of tetrodotoxin (Spencer et al., 2018). It has also been confirmed in this study, as supported by previous studies (Keating and Spencer, 2010, Spencer et al., 2011, Heredia et al., 2013), that serotonin is not essential for CMMCs or peristalsis to occur. With significantly reduced serotonin this Tph1 DTA model experiences a diminished rate of cyclic contractions, and slower pellet propulsion both *ex vivo* and *in vivo*, indicating a role for serotonin in the modulation of colonic motility. It is proposed that serotonin behaves as a signaling molecule, used by EC cells in a feedback loop controlling the rate of cyclic contractions and peristalsis.

In line with this theory, the addition of exogenous serotonin dramatically increases the rate of CMMCs (Bulbring and Lin, 1958) and initiates strong responses on neuronal excitability and transmitter release (Gershon, 2000). It is likely that EC cell serotonin plays a role in this feedback loop, as the release of serotonin from the mucosa stimulates downstream neural pathways via intrinsic primary afferent nerves (IPANs) (Spencer et al., 2016). A similar 'neuromechanical loop' has been hypothesized previously (Spencer et al., 2016), and this new data using Tph1 DTA mice provides further evidence supporting this hypothesis. EC cells are mechanically stimulated through colonic distention, mediated by their recently identified mechanosensing properties (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). Mechanically stimulated serotonin release signals to intrinsic mucosal afferents, including mechanosensitive myenteric and submucosal sensory neurons (Bertrand et al., 1997, Furness et al., 2004b), which contain serotonin receptors (Gershon, 2000, Gershon, 2004) and are responsive to serotonin (Bulbring and Crema, 1959, Pan and Gershon, 2000, Heredia et al., 2009). These IPANs then signal to both excitatory and inhibitory motor neurons, stimulating a neural-mediated contraction to push the bolus along the colon (Spencer et al., 2016). As the bolus advances, it continues to activate this pathway. Hence the positive feedback loop continues, whereby serotonin is released in response to mechanical stimuli, signaling to various afferents, which signal to both excitatory and inhibitory motor neurons perpetuating cyclic contractions and peristalsis, repeatedly continuing the loop which propagates along the colon and ultimately causes propulsion of content.

Importantly, *in vivo* tests were conducted on Tph1 DTA mice, with both colonic and total gastrointestinal transit time measured by our collaborators (Wei et al., 2021). All *in vivo* GI transit measures revealed a reduction in GI motility in EC cell depleted mice, confirming *ex vivo* results discussed above. This result contrasts previous findings

from both the pharmacological inhibition of Tph1 (Yadav et al., 2010) and Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Li et al., 2011), which saw no change in *in vivo* GI transit. One important note to make, is the significant difference in timeframes of EC cell depletion between pharmacological inhibition and Tx induced Tph1 knockdown. The timecourse for the Tph1 inhibitor, LP533401, used by Yadav et al is around 1 month (2010), which could be enough time for compensatory effects to kick in. Comparatively, the timecourse for Tx treatment is just 5 days. The use of LP533401 has previously decreased serum serotonin by 80% (Yadav et al., 2010). Our lab has unpublished data using LP533401 in vivo, where total GI transit time was also unchanged (see Appendix Figure 2). When we investigated the levels of serotonin remaining in the mucosa, only a ~60% decrease was found (see Appendix Figure 3), showing that the amount of mucosal serotonin still present likely facilitates motility as normal. Tph1-/- mice undergo adaptive compensation, as discussed earlier, which includes significantly larger intestines in these mice. CMMCs in gut from Tph1<sup>-/-</sup> mice are significantly slower than control (Heredia et al., 2013), likely due to the lack of serotonin release feeding into the neuromechanical loop. However, no change is seen in total GI transit time in vivo of these mice (Heredia et al., 2013), which suggests the morphological adaptions must be enough to overcome the lack of EC cell serotonin in *in vivo* motility. The Tph1 DTA model used in this study is a more elegant model, ruling out the need to use pharmacological tools (Yadav et al., 2010) and circumventing the compensatory adaptations seen in congenital KO colons (Heredia et al., 2013). This study clearly suggests that mice lacking EC cell serotonin have a significantly slower GI transit time, supporting our initial hypothesis that serotonin is not essential but has an important role in modulating motility.

To counter the potential confounding results of using tamoxifen (Tx) to switch on the Cre<sup>ERT2</sup>/loxP system in our genetic approach to EC cell knockdown, we tested *in vivo*
motility of Tx injected Cre<sup>-/-</sup> C57BL/6J mice. Tx is an anticancer drug commonly used for the treatment of breast cancer (Osborne, 1998), reported to have frequent GI side effects in patients (Lee et al., 2005). Only a singular study has reported any effects of Tx on GI motility in the literature, suggesting Tx acts on ion channels in mouse colonic smooth muscle cells to decrease GI motility (Lee et al., 2005). However, this study only reported the effect of Tx on voltage dependent potassium channels in isolated mouse colonic smooth muscle cells, without demonstrating an effect directly on GI motility. Here we show no change in *ex vivo* CMMCs of Tx treated C57BL/6J mice in comparison to oil injected controls and conclude that Tx treatment does not have an impact in our results or on overall GI motility (Wei et al., 2021).

It is possible that other non Tph1 derived factors secreted from EC cells play a role in regulating motility. Enteroendocrine cells, including EC cells, contain a profile of secreted hormones (Haber et al., 2017). One such candidate from EC cells are the tachykinins (Roth and Gordon, 1990, Haber et al., 2017, Beumer et al., 2020), which includes the neuropeptides Substance P, neurokinin (NK) A, and NK B (Holzer and Holzer-Petsche, 1997). Tachykinins are postulated to play a role in regulating aspects of GI motility (Holzer and Holzer-Petsche, 1997, Deiteren et al., 2011, Dickson et al., 2010), acting via NK1 and NK2 receptors present in the longitudinal and circular muscle layers (Mulè et al., 2007, Jaafari et al., 2007). One study has tested the effects of each tachykinin through pharmacological means, testing the agonists and antagonists of each respective tachykinin receptor on the mouse colon (Deiteren et al., 2011). Stimulation of NK2 and NK3 receptors increased the amplitude of contractions in both the proximal and distal colon, where stimulation of the NK1R only enhanced the amplitude in the distal colon (Deiteren et al., 2011). Where the NK1R agonist increased the frequency of colonic motility in the distal colon, both the NK2R and NK3R prolonged the intervals of contractile events of the distal colon (Deiteren et al., 2011). Alternatively, blocking these receptors led to a reduction of amplitude but no change in interval for NK1R, a dose-dependent inhibition of peristalsis in the distal colon for NK2R, and no effect on peristalsis from blocking the NK3R (Deiteren et al., 2011). Similar results were found in separate studies, which concluded a synergistic enhancement of peristalsis in mouse colon with stimulation of NK1 and NK2 receptors (Mulè et al., 2007) and the inhibition of peristalsis via NK2 or NK1 antagonists (Dickson et al., 2010). Overall, these results support the potential role for endogenous tachykinins in regulating GI motility, however, no direct evidence of the role of EEC derived tachykinins has yet been identified in the literature. The source of tachykinins' affecting motility could also be primary afferent neurons known to also contain these peptides (Matsumoto et al., 2009). Further studies are needed to better understand which pool of these peptides has a role in GI motility, and hence whether EC cell depletion could also impact tachykinin controlling GI motility. Such studies could utilize the Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup> mouse line used in the current study, to cross with a Tachykinin1 floxed mouse line, to generate mice with the inducible specific knockdown of TK1 expression in EC cells. A model such as this would allow conclusive investigation into the role of EC cell derived substance P in *in vivo* and *in vitro* motility.

It is known that around 1-2% of neurons within the myenteric plexus contain serotonin (Costa et al., 1982, Wardell et al., 1994, Costa et al., 1996) and as such, it has been suggested that neuronal serotonin might also contribute to GI motility (Li et al., 2011, Smith and Gershon, 2015a). The role of neuronal serotonin has been another point of contention within the field, as outlined in multiple rebuttals from groups with differing opinions (Smith and Gershon, 2015a, Spencer et al., 2015, Smith and Gershon, 2015b). Smith et al (2015) suggested that neuronal serotonin is essential for peristalsis based primarily on results attained from Tph2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Li et al., 2011). However, Spencer et al (2015) argue that there is no definitive evidence for neuronal serotonin

as a mediator of motility, highlighting the lack of evidence for serotonin as an active neurotransmitter in the mouse ENS (Furukawa et al., 1986, Nurgali et al., 2004). Furthermore, the significant developmental changes in the ENS of Tph2-/- mice (Li et al., 2011) reduce the feasibility of this mouse model for studies relating to the role of ENS serotonin and gut motility and are likely responsible for the slower transit times seen in these mice (Li et al., 2011). Hence, we wanted to use our EC cell serotonin depletion model coupled with pharmaceutical approaches to delineate the role of neuronal serotonin in GI motility. To do this we used a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), Fluoxetine, to block the serotonin transporter, SERT. Consequently, the re-uptake of serotonin into SERT containing cells or neurons is inhibited (Ross and Renyi, 1969) and the released serotonin pools at synaptic terminals. As we are using EC cell depleted mice, the major source of serotonin acting at these synaptic terminals must therefore be neuronal. When fluoxetine was applied to our ex vivo colonic preparations, CMMCs in EC cell depleted colons were unaffected however CMMCs of oil treated Tph1 DTA control mice were reduced in frequency. The same results were seen when fluoxetine was applied to fixed pellet preparations, with a reduction in the frequency of control contractions and no change in Tph1 DTA contractions. This supports our previous data, in which fluoxetine slowed the frequency of contractile events in intact preparations but did not affect mucosa-free preparations (see Appendix Figure 1). This suggests fluoxetine effects colonic motility through EC cell derived serotonin and does not depend on serotonin from enteric neurons. Furthermore, this aligns with previous studies in which the inhibition of neuronal serotonin (through reserpine treatment) in EC cell serotonin depleted models (mucosa and submucosa free), saw no effect on CMMCs or peristalsis (Sia et al., 2013b, Spencer et al., 2013). Together these results support the notion that neuronal serotonin does not have a role in regulating GI motility.

One future direction arising from this work could include further investigation into the role of neuronal serotonin in motility, by use of a similar specific and inducible Tph2 floxed model. This would enable a conclusive deduction of the differing actions of neuronal serotonin in motility without effecting EC cell serotonin. The use of such a model would provide the same benefits as seen with the Tph1 DTA model discussed here, whilst also bypassing issues with previous pharmacological and knockout mouse models (Yadav et al., 2010, Li et al., 2011). As Tph2 neurons are cholinergic, removing these through a DTA model would slow transit, as cholinergic neurons are known to play a central role in motility (Okamoto et al., 2014). Hence the use of a floxed model, in which Tph2 expression is knocked down in the enteric nervous system, by the Wnt1 promoter specific to peripheral neural crest-derived neurons and glia (Wiese et al., 2013, Schriemer et al., 2016) would allow the inducible loss of Tph2 expression while cholinergic activation would remain unaffected. In particular, the use of such an inducible model would allow the conditional knockdown of Tph2 expression and hence circumvent the developmental differences seen in the neuroanatomy Tph2<sup>-/-</sup> ENS. Whilst the data depicted in the current study is reflective of a lack of a role of neuronal serotonin in gut motility, a model such as the one proposed would allow conclusive investigation into the role of neuronal serotonin in *in vivo* and *in vitro* motility in developmentally normal mice without the potential of off-target effects from pharmaceuticals.

The Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup> mouse model is additionally beneficial in enabling the production of EC cell-restricted genetic manipulations, including single gene knockouts or knock-ins (Wei et al., 2021). To do this, the Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup> model could be crossed with other floxed mouse models to investigate the roles of specific proteins within EC cells. This could help to further deduce the involvement of EC cell serotonin in motility, such as using this model to investigate the mechanical sensing properties of EC cells. The

identity of the specific protein involved in mouse EC cell mechanosensing has recently been identified as Piezo2 (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018), however the role for such mechanisms in EC cell serotonin modulation of GI motility is yet to be investigated. The use of such a model could help to further delineate the mechanism through which EC cells sense distention or contraction to modulate motility.

The research completed within this chapter to distinguish the role of serotonin in GI motility is important for our overall understanding of GI motility in both health and disease. This knowledge enables insight into the mechanisms which are affected in motility disorders and allow the formation of more specific treatments for people affected by them. A recent study published by our group, with our collaborators, highlights the importance of serotonin in gastric emptying and demonstrates that patients with idiopathic gastroparesis have reduced levels of gastric serotonin (Wei et al., 2021). This study shows that treatment with exogenous serotonin corrects both delayed gastric emptying and slow transit constipation displayed in Tph1 DTA mice (Wei et al., 2021). Further down the GI tract, mucosal serotonin has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel syndrome (IBS) (Coates et al., 2004, Gershon, 2004, Linan-Rico et al., 2016, Vahora et al., 2020). IBS can have different phenotypes, including chronic constipation, diarrhea or mixed (Gershon, 2004) (Vahora et al., 2020), and significantly affects the quality of life for sufferers (Fukudo et al., 2016). Despite having a significant research base, the precise pathophysiology of IBS is still unclear (Sinagra et al., 2012). Various serotonergic agents acting on the 5HT<sub>3</sub> and 5HT<sub>4</sub> receptors are prescribed for IBS patients (Vahora et al., 2020). Treatment for the syndrome includes 5HT<sub>4</sub>R agonists such as Prucalopride (Sinagra et al., 2017), Renzapride (Sinagra et al., 2017), Velusetrag (Sinagra et al., 2017), Tegaserod (Camilleri, 2018); and 5HT<sub>3</sub>R antagonists such as Ramosetron (Sinagra et al., 2017, Camilleri, 2018, Fukudo et al., 2016, Qi et al., 2018),

Alosetron (Olden et al., 2019, Lacy et al., 2018), and Ondansetron (Gunn et al., 2019a, Cangemi and Lacy, 2019, Goldberg et al., 1996, Gunn et al., 2019b). The use of SSRIs is contested due to significant adverse effects and hence they are not readily prescribed for IBS (Lacy, 2016, Xie et al., 2015, Chen et al., 2017). Whilst such serotonergic agents have proven helpful in IBS treatment, they do not abolish all symptoms of the syndrome and typically involve significant side effects (Zheng et al., 2017). Hence, furthering our understanding of the role of EC cell serotonin in motility might allow for the development of pharmaceutical treatments which could act directly on EC cells to either stimulate or block the release of serotonin. Such treatment options could be designed to act specifically on EC cells and be non-absorbable insomuch that they would not cross the GI mucosal barrier. This would mean a significant reduction in off-target effects to improve the quality of life for those who suffer from such chronic disorders.

# 2.5 Conclusion

In this study we confirm the specificity and feasibility of a new inducible Tph1 knockdown mouse model, Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup>. We find that EC cell depleted mice experience a constipation-like phenotype, with a marked reduction in both *in vivo* and *ex vivo* motility. Furthermore, we conclude that EC cell serotonin is not essential in GI motility but modulatory, and that neuronal serotonin does not have a role in this process.

CHAPTER 3: The mechanosensing properties of enterochromaffin cells and their subsequent effect on colonic motility.

# 3. The mechanosensing properties of enterochromaffin cells and their subsequent effect on colonic motility.

### **3.1 Introduction**

The ability for enterochromaffin (EC) cells to sense mechanical stimuli has long been known, with initial evidence published over 60 years ago that demonstrated mechanical stimulation of the intestinal mucosa triggers the release of serotonin (Bulbring and Crema, 1959). Bulbring et al (1959) saw an increase in serotonin levels during peristaltic contractions of the guinea pig ileum, which stimulated large debate surrounding the role of serotonin release in peristalsis (discussed in the previous chapter). Further studies have since demonstrated mechanically stimulated release of serotonin from EC cell-like human cell lines (BON cells and QGP-1 cells) (Kim et al., 2001, Liñán-Rico et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2017), and mouse and guinea pig colonic and small intestinal mucosa (Kim et al., 2001, Bertrand, 2004, Keating and Spencer, 2010, Alcaino et al., 2018). These studies each demonstrate that EC cells across species respond to varying types of mechanical force, such as fluid movements and mucosal compression, through the release of serotonin. EC cells are exposed to various forms of mechanical stimuli under physiological conditions, including mucosal compression, distention, flow shear stress, deformation, intraluminal pressure, and fluctuations in cell volume (Linan-Rico et al., 2016), although the exact mechanisms involved in EC cell mechanotransduction are not well understood. One remaining frontier in understanding EC cell mechanobiology is the study of mechanically stimulated serotonin release from human EC cells, and the role that such mechanisms have in the regulation of GI motility in all species. Early investigations reported the involvement of G-protein coupled receptors (Kim et al., 2001), purine receptors (Christofi, 2008, Liñán-Rico et al., 2013), and mechanosensing caveolae (Kim et al., 2007) as potential mediators of EC cell mechanotransduction. However more recent

studies have indicated the involvement of a newly identified mechanosensing ion channel, Piezo2, as the primary mechanotransduction protein in mouse EC cells (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018).

The Piezo ion channel family were only recently identified as important mechanosensors (Coste et al., 2010), found to be responsible for mechanotransduction in a variety of cell types throughout the body (Xiao, 2020). The Piezo channels, consisting of Piezo1 and 2 (Coste et al., 2010), have differing properties, including their structure (Lin et al., 2019, Taberner et al., 2019, Wang et al., 2019b), function (Alcaino et al., 2017a, Taberner et al., 2019, Sugisawa et al., 2020, Wang et al., 2020), and their biophysical and gating properties such as their inactivation kinetics (Coste et al., 2010, Coste et al., 2012). Piezo2 is a transmembrane protein which forms a non-selective cationic ion channel, involved in light touch of the skin (Ikeda et al., 2014, Ranade et al., 2014b), sensing stretch in the lung (Nonomura et al., 2017), mediating the baroreceptor reflex (Zeng et al., 2018), and in bladder distention (Marshall et al., 2020). Phenotypic data from Piezo2 knockout mouse models for bladder sensation, touch perception, and nociception, have been confirmed by symptoms in humans with Piezo2 genetic mutations (Chesler et al., 2016, Szczot et al., 2018, Marshall et al., 2020).

The presence of the Piezo2 ion channel in EC cells has been reported in human jejunum, and quantified in mouse small intestine and colon (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). Evidence of the channel's functionality as a mechanosensory channel in EC cells has been shown with the QGP-1 cell line, and mouse intestinal EC cells (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018), with use of the Piezo inhibitor D-GsMTx4 (Alcaino et al., 2017b, Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018) and knockdown of Piezo2 expression using small interfering RNA (siRNA) (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). These studies revealed that blocking Piezo2 resulted in a dramatic

reduction in EC cell activation in response to mechanical stimuli, inferring the importance of Piezo2 in EC cell mechanobiology.

Piezo2 produces an inward cationic current upon stimulation by a mechanical force, which depolarises the cell and activates calcium channels resulting in an influx of calcium (Chang et al., 2016). An influx of calcium is important for serotonin release from EC cells (Raghupathi et al., 2013). Studies using a gastrointestinal (GI) epithelium specific Piezo2 knockout (Vil-cre;Piezo2f/f) mouse model found a significantly reduced response to pressure-induced secretion in these mice (Alcaino et al., 2018), however this model was not specific to EC cells, nor was serotonin measured. In order to better understand the role of Piezo2 in EC cells a more specific model is required.

Further investigation is required to deduce the mechanisms in which EC cells of both mouse and human sense mechanical stimuli and respond, and to define the importance of Piezo2 in human EC cell mechanotransduction. The following chapter endeavours to provide evidence that human EC cells of both the small and large bowel also contain the mechanosensing ion channel Piezo2, and provide the very first demonstration functional that this channel is and important in the mechanotransduction abilities of human EC cells. I will do this through the use of previously various techniques used by our research group, including immunohistochemistry, the real time detection of serotonin release through carbon fibre amperometry, and serotonin ELISA kits. Finally, I aim to provide evidence that Piezo2 in EC cells has an important role in GI motility. In the previous chapter, I described the role of serotonin in GI motility, concluding that serotonin is released as a result of contractile events, and not as their driving force. This result inferred the role of mechanosensing in EC cells as an important factor in GI motility. I aim to provide evidence of this mechanism in this current chapter through studies involving human

and mouse intestinal tissue, with pharmacological techniques to block the Piezo channels and to delineate the importance of this channel in gut motility. The specific aims are to:

- Quantify the co-localisation of Piezo2 in EC cells of human small and large bowel;
- 2. Test the importance of Piezo2 in the real-time release of serotonin from mechanical stimulation of mouse and human intestinal mucosa;
- 3. Determine the role of Piezo2 ex vivo in mouse colonic motility.

The overriding hypothesis of this chapter is that Piezo2 is an ion channel significantly involved in the mechanosensing function of human EC cells, with implications in GI motility.

#### 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Preparation of Mouse Tissues

C57 BL/6 male and female mice of 8-12 weeks were anesthetized with isoflurane (4%, IsoFlo) and euthanized humanely by cervical dislocation in accordance with approval by the Animal Welfare Committee of Flinders University (965-19). For all mice, a ventral midline incision was made to expose the peritoneal cavity, and the intestines were gently removed from the animal. Segments of mouse colon and ileum were used, these were placed into beakers containing oxygenated Krebs solution and bubbled with 95%  $O_2/5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub> to keep tissue viable for hours after removal.

### 3.2.2 Human Intestinal Tissue

Human colonic and ileum samples were collected from the Flinders Medical Centre and Flinders Private Hospital surgical theatres with patient consent, as per the South Australian Human Research Ethics Committee (50.07). Fresh tissue was collected from cancer or stoma reversal bowel resections, the tissue well outside the perimeter of cancerous tissue was collected for use and considered as healthy tissue. The specimens underwent dissection of adipose, muscular and connective tissue for use in amperometry and immunohistochemistry. This human tissue protocol has been previously published by our lab (Sun et al., 2017). For all experimental work outside of immunohistochemistry, tissue was kept in oxygenated Krebs solution and bubbled with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub> to keep the tissue viable until used in experiment. The complete information collected from the human specimens can be seen in Appendix Table 1-3, where the age, sex and region are listed for each patient.

### 3.2.3 Immunohistochemistry on Human Intestinal Sections

Freshly removed human ileum and colonic tissue was collected (as per 3.2.2) and maintained in oxygenated Krebs solution. Tissue was pinned out as far as could be stretched, with mucosa facing down, using micro pins in Sylgard (Sylgard 184 Silicone Elastomer Kit, Dow Silicones Corporation) coated dissection dishes. Tissue was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at room temperature overnight. The next day the tissue was removed and placed in a 50 mL pot containing 4% PFA for several hours to ensure full penetration of fixation. Tissue was then washed 3 times in 1x PBS and left in PBS containing sodium azide (0.01%) until required for staining. A small segment from each sample was placed in 30% sucrose in PBS at 4°C overnight to cryoprotect. Tissue was then frozen in a cryomold, in optimal cutting temperature compound (Sakura Finetek) using liquid nitrogen. Tissue was cut transversely into 10 µm sections with a cryostat (Leica CM1850) at -20°C and mounted onto polyethylene glycol coated microscope slides for immunohistochemical staining. Sections were air dried for 30 minutes, then washed with 1x PBS for 10 minutes to remove excess OCT. Sections were blocked with 10% Donkey Serum (Cat# D9663, Sigma Aldrich) in PBS for 30 minutes, and then stained for 5-HT (1:2000, Goat anti-Serotonin IgG, Cat# 20079, Immunostar) and Piezo2 (1:400, Rabbit anti-Piezo2 IgG, NBP1-78624, Novus Biologicals) in 10% donkey serum in 1x PBS for 2 nights, at room temperature in a humidity box. Sections were washed 3 times 5 minutes in 1x PBS, before secondary antibodies were applied, Cy3 conjugated Donkey anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) and Cy5 Donkey anti-Sheep IgG (H+L) (1:200, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) along with the nuclei marker DAPI (1:1,000, Cat# D9542, Sigma-Aldrich), in PBS for 2 hours at room temperature in a humidity box. Glass coverslips were then mounted with 100% buffered glycerol to

cover the sections on the slides, using clear nail varnish to seal, and kept at 4°C until viewed on the microscope.

# 3.2.4 Microscopy

Immunofluorescence of samples was viewed using an upright fluorescence microscope (Olympus Fluorescence AX70 Upright Microscope) and imaged using the Zeiss Axiocam 506 monochrome camera with Zen Blue software (Zen Blue Image Capture Software, ZEISS). The exposure time was kept constant for each image capture. Images were analyzed and cells were counted using Zen Blue software. High-resolution confocal images were taken using the LSM 880 high-resolution airyscan confocal microscope (ZEISS LSM880, Carl Zeiss, Sydney, Australia). Images were obtained using the 20x air objective in two channels: 561 nm and 633 nm on the LSM 880. Z-stacks were taken throughout the thickness of the tissue (~10  $\mu$ m), using regular confocal mode. Images were collected using Zen Black software (Zen Black Image Capture Software, ZEISS).

### 3.2.5 Amperometry

The real time release of serotonin was measured using carbon fibre amperometry on the mucosa of both mouse and human colonic and ileal tissue after a mechanical stimulus was applied. This amperometry technique has been used and published by our lab previously (Raghupathi et al., 2013). Amperometry records serotonin oxidation using a carbon fibre electrode (ProCFE, Dagan Corporation, Minneapolis, MN, USA) voltage-clamped of +400 mV, at which serotonin will readily oxidise. Current due to serotonin oxidation was recorded using an EPC-10 amplifier and Pulse software (HEKA Electronic, Germany) with the current sampled at 10 kHz. For quantitative analysis files were converted to Axon Binary Files (ABF Utility, version 2.1,

Synaptosoft, USA) and analysed (Clampfit, version 10.7, pCLAMP, USA). Tissue was maintained in Krebs solution under constant bubbling with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The carbon fibre electrode, which was slowly lowered down onto the mucosa to a depth of 100 µm using a digital motorised micromanipulator (MP-285, Sutter Instruments, USA) to mechanically stimulated the mucosa (Bertrand, 2006, Keating and Spencer, 2010). The peak response is recorded as the largest change in current from baseline. The steady state refers to the current 10 seconds after initial compression, also recorded as a change from baseline (see Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: An example trace measuring the real-time release of serotonin as a result of mucosal compression.

### 3.2.6 Mechanical Orbital Shaking Experiments

To measure the stimulation of serotonin release via fluid mechanical stimulation of intestinal mucosa, segments of human colonic and ileal tissue were pinned out in 45 mm dissection dishes (Corning) lined with Sylgard (Sylgard 184 Silicone Elastomer Kit, Dow Silicones Corporation), in Krebs solution containing Fluoxetine (Sigma-Aldrich, 1 µM) and serotonin stabilizer (1%, Stabilizer, BA E-5937, LDN, Germany), pH 7.3-7.4. These dishes were then placed on an orbital shaker at varying RPM levels, 0, 200, 300 and 400 rpm for a period of 20 minutes. The supernatant was collected for serotonin release quantification, tissue samples were also collected, weighed, and lysed for serotonin total content quantification to normalize serotonin release. Serotonin quantification was measured using a serotonin ELISA kit (Serotonin Research ELISA, LDN, Germany, Cat# BA E-5900R). Samples from lysed human intestinal mucosa and secreted from mucosa secretion experiments were diluted at 1/1000 and 1/10 respectively and loaded onto the serotonin ELISA. The ELISA was performed as per manufacturer's instructions, and results analysed using a 4-parameter sigmoidal curve with GraphPad Prism (v9).

### 3.2.7 Colonic motility recordings

The recordings of CMMCs in this chapter were all measured from flat sheet colon preparations, in which the colons of mice were removed, cut open longitudinally along the mesenteric border and pinned down in organ baths with the mucosa facing up. The hooks were then attached to 3 separate regions along the colon on one side of the tissue longitudinally, correlating with the proximal, mid and distal regions. CMMCs were recorded as previously described (Method 2.2.4 of the previous chapter).

# 3.2.8 Drugs

GsMTx4 (ab141871, Abcam) was made up to 100  $\mu$ M in distilled H<sub>2</sub>O, and diluted further to 1, 5, and 10  $\mu$ M in Krebs solution. Krebs' solution contained (in mM): NaCl, 118; KCl, 4.7; NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.0; NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 25; MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.2; D- Glucose, 11; CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5 and was maintained via constant bubbling of 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub> gas.

# 3.2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed as in previous method (2.2.8).

# 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Piezo2 in human EC cells of the ileum and colon.

Human intestinal sections were stained using antibodies raised against serotonin and Piezo2 to confirm their presence and quantify the co-expression of the ion channel in human EC cells in both ileum and colonic samples. Serotonin was used as a marker for EC cells. Piezo2 expression was found in some but not all EC cells in human ileum and colonic tissue (Figure 3.2A). Piezo2 expression was quantified and present in 62.2  $\pm$  9.3% of cells which contained serotonin in the ileum (Figure 3.2B), and 33.9  $\pm$  5.0% in the colon (Figure 3.2B). Conversely, 56.1  $\pm$  4.0% of Piezo2 positive cells were serotonin positive in the human ileum, and 32.4  $\pm$  6.7% in colon (Figure 3.2C). These results indicate that the proportion of EC cells containing Piezo2 is greater in human ileum than colon. Together these results confirm the presence of the mechanosensitive channel, Piezo2, in human small and large bowel.



Figure 3.2: Human EC cells contain the mechanosensing ion channel Piezo2.

A) EC cells containing serotonin (green) and Piezo2 (red) co-stained in human ileum and colon, with DAPI (blue) as a cell nuclei marker. Scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m. B) The percentage of EC cells which contained Piezo2 in human colon (n=16, N=36) and ileum (n=3, N=16). C) The percentage of Piezo2<sup>+</sup> cells which contained serotonin. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01

# 3.3.2 The role of Piezo channels in the release of serotonin from human EC cells of the ileum and colon.

Human GI tissue was collected from surgical theatres (as per method 3.2.2) and stimulated via mechanical compression, using a carbon fibre probe lowered into the mucosa to a depth of 100  $\mu$ m (Keating and Spencer, 2010). In all preparations, the oxidation current increased significantly as the carbon fibre touched the mucosal epithelium (Figure 3.3-3.4), confirming that human EC cells release increased concentrations of serotonin in response to mechanical stimuli. This response was dampened by the addition of the Piezo inhibitor, GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M) (Figure 3.3), indicating the mechanical sensing properties of EC cells are diminished by blocking Piezo channels. This effect was largely reversible upon wash-out of the drug (Figure 3.3). This process was repeated in human colonic samples, where the peak and steady state release also decreased in the presence of GsMTx4, only the peak difference reached statistical significance (see Figure 3.4). Overall, these results support the hypothesis that Piezo channels are important in the mechanosensing properties of human EC cells.



Figure 3.3: The inhibition of Piezo channels reduces mechanically stimulated serotonin release from human ileum.

A) Example traces of serotonin release from the mechanical stimulation of human ileum at baseline, with GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M) and at washout. B) Peak release of serotonin from human ileum (n=7). C) Steady state serotonin release from human ileum (n=7). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05



Figure 3.4: The inhibition of Piezo channels reduces mechanically stimulated serotonin release from human colon.

A) Example traces of serotonin release from the mechanical stimulation of human colon, measured at control, with GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M), and after the washout of drug. B) Peak release of serotonin from human colon (n=8). C) Steady state of serotonin release from human colon (n=8). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05

# 3.3.3 Measuring the role of Piezo channels in the release of serotonin, from mouse EC cells in the ileum and colon.

Mouse intestinal tissue was collected from control C57BL/6 mice as described previously (see method 3.2.1). A change in current representing serotonin release was measured using carbon fibre amperometry (as above), and segments of mouse ileum or colon were mechanically stimulated via mucosal compression. The current was recorded from mucosal stimulation at baseline, and with the Piezo inhibitor (GsMTx4, 5 µM) (Figure 3.5). As with human tissue, mouse ileum and colon showed a reduction in peak serotonin release in the presence of GsMTx4 (see Figure 3.5, 3.6), which returned to baseline with wash out. Overall, these results indicate the similarities between EC cell mechanosensitivity across species and provide further evidence for the functional role of Piezo channels in mouse EC cell mechanobiology.



# Figure 3.5: Serotonin release from mouse ileum in response to mucosal compression is blocked with Piezo inhibition.

A) Example traces of serotonin release from mechanical stimulation of mouse ileum, measured at baseline, with GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M), and after the washout of drug. B) Peak release of serotonin from mouse ileum (n=8). C) Steady State of serotonin release from mouse ileum (n=8). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01.





A) Example traces of serotonin release from mechanical stimulation of mouse colon, measured at control, with GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M), and after the washout of drug. B) Peak release of serotonin from mouse colon (n=4). C) Steady state of serotonin release from mouse colon (n=4). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05

# 3.3.4 Mechanical stimulation of EC cells using fluid movement, causes a dosedependent release of serotonin.

EC cell serotonin release was measured from stimulation via fluid movement across the intestinal mucosa. Human ileum and colonic samples were incubated at varying degrees of orbital shaking (0, 200, 300, 400 rpm) for a 20-minute period, and the amount of serotonin released per sample was deduced. This result was normalised to the total serotonin content of each sample. A stimulation dependent release of serotonin was observed in the ileum, where the amount of serotonin release correlated with the amount of orbital shaking experienced (see Figure 3.7A). The same effect was not seen in human colonic samples, with no consistent release of serotonin measured as a result of stepwise increases in shaking (Figure 3.7B). This experiment was repeated on human ileum with the addition of the Piezo inhibitor, GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M), which reduced serotonin release due to orbital shaking and fluid stimulation (see Figure 3.7C). These results indicate that fluid stimulation causes the release of serotonin from EC cells of the human small bowel, an effect which can be reduced by blocking Piezo channels.



Figure 3.7: Serotonin release from human colon and ileum due to fluid shear stress.

Release of serotonin from (A) human ileum (n=4) and (B) human colon (n=5) from control (0 rpm) and mechanical stimulation via orbital shaker at 400 rpm. (C) Release of serotonin from human ileum with (n=3) and without (n=5) GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M) on mechanical stimulation via orbital shaker at 0 and 400 rpm. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001

# 3.3.5 Human and mouse ileal EC cells are more sensitive to mechanical stimuli than colonic EC cells.

Various methods of mechanical stimulation used in this chapter have indicated that serotonin release in response to a mechanical stimulus is lesser in the colon than the ileum. Amperometry recordings of mucosal compression of mouse and human ileum both resulted in a significantly greater release of serotonin that the colon (see Figure 3.8 A, B). These results were reanalysed to deduce the mechanical sensitivity, using peak/baseline. The mechanical sensitivity showed an almost significant (p=0.05) difference, with the ileum greater than colon (Figure 3.8C. Similar results were seen from serotonin release stimulated by fluid movement in ileum and colon, in which serotonin release was also greater from the human ileum compared with the colon. These results were confirmed when comparing paired human samples, in which human colon and ileum were collected at the same time from a patient undergoing a right hemicolectomy. This paired analysis confirmed that the ileum releases a greater amount of serotonin in response to a mechanical stimulus (see Figure 3.9A, B). Interestingly the total content of serotonin was analysed in colonic and ileal mucosa, with the colonic mucosa found to have a significantly greater total serotonin level than the ileal mucosa (Figure 3.9C). These results indicate that ileal EC cells are more mechanically sensitive than the colonic EC cells.



Figure 3.8: Ileal EC cells are more mechanosensitive than colonic EC cells.

Real-time serotonin release resulting from the mechanical compression of (A) human colon (n=8, N=45) and ileum (n=8, N=51) and (B) mouse colon (n=4 mice, N=16) and ileum (n=8 mice, N=52). C) The mechanical sensitivity of human ileum (n=8, N=51) and colonic (n=8, N=51) EC cells. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001



Figure 3.9: Serotonin content and release differs across the human GI tract.

(A) Baseline and (B) fluid shear stress stimulated release of serotonin from the human ileum and colon of the same patient (n=5). (C) Total serotonin content across separate regions of the human intestinal tract. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001

# 3.3.6 Blocking the Piezo channels causes a dose dependent reduction in CMMCs.

To investigate the role of Piezo2 in colonic motility, CMMCs were measured from C57BL/6 mouse colonic preparations *ex vivo*. CMMCs were measured for 30 min at baseline, and in the presence of the Piezo channel antagonist (GsMTx4) at varying concentrations (1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, and 10  $\mu$ M). An initial dose of 1  $\mu$ M appeared to slow down CMMCs and cause a reduction in propagation (Figure 3.10), the addition of 5  $\mu$ M GsMTx4 then stopped propagation altogether and appeared to slow CMMCs further (Figure 3.10). The final addition of 10  $\mu$ M GsMTx4 caused an immediate abolition of all CMMCs (Figure 3.11). It could hence be seen that CMMCs had a proportional decrease in frequency in relation to the concentration of GsMTx4 indicating a dose-dependent relationship. The following experiments were therefore conducted at concentrations including 1  $\mu$ M and 5  $\mu$ M. The frequency of contractions slowed significantly with the use of GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M) (see Figure 3.12), and the amplitude also reduced at 1 and 5  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.12). These results indicate that the inhibition of Piezo channels causes a reduction in colonic contractile activity.



Figure 3.10: Inhibiting Piezo channels causes a dose dependant reduction in mouse CMMCs.

An example trace of *ex vivo* mouse CMMCs with GsMTx4 dose response at baseline, 1  $\mu$ M, and 5  $\mu$ M, measured from the proximal (P), mid (M), and distal (D) region.



Figure 3.11: GsMTx4 dose response at 10  $\mu$ M on mouse CMMC trace.

Example trace of CMMCs at baseline, and with GsMTx4 (10  $\mu$ M), measured from the proximal (P), mid (M), and distal (D) region.



# Figure 3.12: Blocking the Piezo channels reduces mouse CMMCs ex vivo.

A) Example trace of CMMCs at baseline, with GsMTx4 (1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M) and at wash out, measured from the proximal (P), mid (M), and distal (D) region. B) Average proximal frequency of CMMCs at baseline compared with GsMTx4 (n=4). C) Average amplitude of CMMCs at baseline compared with GsMTx4 (n=4). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05
## 3.3.7 Blocking the Piezo channels in mucosa-free colon also reduces colonic motility.

A number of enteric neuronal subtypes are also mechanosensitive, including IPANs amongst other myenteric neurons (Kunze et al., 2000, Spencer and Smith, 2004, Mazzuoli and Schemann, 2009, Mazzuoli and Schemann, 2012, Williams et al., 2016), some of which have recently been identified to also contain Piezo2 (Drokhlyansky et al., 2020). Hence, we wanted to test the role of non-EC cell, or mucosal in general, Piezo2 in colonic contractile activity. CMMC recordings were repeated using mouse colonic samples with their mucosa removed, leaving just the muscle layers containing the myenteric plexus and submucosal plexus intact. These experiments would define the effect of the Piezo blocker, GsMTx4, on contractile activity of tissue lacking EC cells. The frequency of CMMCs in mucosa-free preparations was significantly reduced from intact preparations at baseline (see Figure 3.13A), as expected based on previous experiments from our research group (Keating and Spencer, 2010). When GsMTx4 (5 µM) was applied to the bath of mucosa-free preparations, CMMCs were completely abolished (see Figure 3.13). The frequency and amplitude of mucosa-free preparations was significantly reduced compared with control (Figure 3.13B, C). This data suggests that there are Piezo channels within the myenteric or submucosal plexuses, or the muscle layers of the colon which are also mechanically sensitive and may play a role in the formation of CMMCs.





A) Example trace of mucosa-free CMMCs at baseline, and with GsMTx4 (5  $\mu$ M), measured from the proximal (P), mid (M), and distal (D) region. B) Average frequency of mucosa-free CMMCs at baseline compared with GsMTx4 (n=3). C) Average amplitude of mucosa-free CMMCs at baseline compared with GsMTx4 (n=3). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05

#### 3.3.8 EC cell mechanosensitivity changes with age and sex.

We noted that the co-localisation of Piezo2 in human colon was lower than that reported in mice (Alcaino et al., 2018), and observed that this co-localisation appeared lower in samples from aged human gut. A correlation analysis on the percentage of Piezo2 containing EC cells from immunohistochemical images was measured against age. This analysis revealed a reduction in the percentage of Piezo2 positive EC cells with age in the colon, as seen by the negative correlation (see Figure 3.14A). The same analysis was conducted on the amount of serotonin released in real-time from mechanical stimulation of human colonic EC cells against age, finding the same relationship (Figure 3.14B). The results of mechanical stimulus on male and female mouse colonic and ileal mucosa revealed that the real-time peak release of serotonin from female mice was greater than that of male mice in both the colon and ileum (see Figure 3.15A, C). The steady state release of female mice was also greater from the colon, although no differences were seen in ileum steady state release (Figure 3.15B, D). Overall, these results suggest that both age and sex impact the mechanosensing capabilities of EC cells.



•••

Figure 3.14: Human EC cells lose mechanosensitivity with age.

A) The percentage of EC cells containing Piezo2 in human intestine is negatively correlated with age (n=15). B) The mechanically evoked release of serotonin is reduced with age (n=7). Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05



Figure 3.15: Sex differences in the mechanically evoked release of serotonin from mouse GI tissue.

A larger release of serotonin from the colon as measured by the (A) peak and (B) steady state release from the mouse colon, and from the (C) peak and (D) steady state release from mouse ileum. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001

#### 3.4 Discussion

While EC cells from mouse and guinea pig small and large bowel have long been known to be mechanosensitive (Bertrand, 2004, Kim et al., 2001, Keating and Spencer, 2010), it had recently been hypothesised that Piezo2 functions as the main mechanosensory mechanism in mouse and human EC cell mechanobiology (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018),. In the present study we quantify Piezo2 expression in human small and large bowel and provide the first evidence of the functionality and importance of Piezo2 in human EC cell mechanotransduction. Furthermore, we demonstrate a role for Piezo2 in colonic motility, and an association with a decline of expression of the mechanosensing channel in EC cells with age in humans.

Our immunohistochemical studies on human tissue are the first to reveal that both colonic and ileal EC cells contain the mechanosensing ion channel Piezo2, supporting previous evidence that human jejunum expresses the gene encoding for Piezo2 (Wang et al., 2017). We find a greater percentage of Piezo2 positive EC cells in human small bowel compared to colon, similar to previous findings in mice (Alcaino et al., 2018). A number of human EC cells do not contain Piezo2, a similar trend is seen in mice albeit the proportion of Piezo2 negative cells is smaller in mice (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). Both of these results indicate that there is a proportion of mouse and human EC cells which either contain another mechanosensor or are potentially not mechanically sensitive. One hypothesis proposed 50 years ago, suggested that enteroendocrine cells (EEC) can have different functions relating to differences in morphology. This study suggests that the apical process of open EECs detect chemical stimuli (Fujita and Kobayashi, 1971), while closed cells were thought to respond to mechanical stimuli (Fujita and Kobayashi, 1971, Kobayashi et al., 1971). This hypothesis is supported by recent evidence that suggests EC cells can be divided

into two distinct pools, with one EC cell pool remaining in the mucosa for up to 13 months (Wei et al., 2021), a new discovery which significantly differs from the previous dogma that EECs turnover within 4-5 days (Heath, 1996). Similarly, two separate pools containing Tph1, predicted to be two distinct EC cell subtypes, have been described from RNA sequencing studies performed on both mouse and human intestinal epithelial cells (Gehart et al., 2019, Beumer et al., 2020). Hence there are likely subtypes of EC cells found along the GI tract, which differ in their time of residence, morphologies and lumen facing characteristics. As highlighted by Fujita et al (1971), these differences in morphology might indicate that different EC cells may respond to different stimuli or facilitate different functions. Leading to the hypothesis that some EC cells are mechanically sensitive, while others may respond to other, nonmechanical stimuli hence potentially explaining the lack of Piezo2 in a proportion of EC cells. This hypothesis could be studied further in the future, through the isolation of EC cells using our previously published method (Martin et al., 2017a). In such an investigation, we could measure single cell mechanosensitivity of EC cells, and then analyse Piezo2 expression within these same cells to form pair analyses and deduce whether mechanosensitivity correlates with the presence of Piezo2.

There was a proportion of unidentified Piezo2 positive cells in the mucosal and submucosal layers which did not contain serotonin (see Appendix Figure 4). Whilst there are currently no other specially identified mechanosensitive intestinal epithelial cells in the literature (Beyder, 2019), past studies have indicated that other epithelial cells are mechanosensitive (Burnstock, 2009). Recently, an enteroendocrine lineage reporter mouse line (NeuroD1-cre; GCaMP5-tdTomato) was found to contain Piezo2 (Alcaino et al., 2018). In NeuroD1-cre; GCaMP5-tdTomato mice, cells containing the transcription factor involved in late stage enteroendocrine cell development, NeuroD1

(Haber et al., 2017), are labelled with red (tdTomato) fluorescent protein. NeuroD1 cells contained Piezo2 expression in enteroendocrine cells not containing serotonin, inferring that other enteroendocrine cells, aside from EC cells, contain Piezo2 and are likely mechanosensitive. Several cells in the muscularis mucosa and submucosal layers were also found to contain Piezo2. It is possible that these are smooth muscle cells (SMCs), such as Interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC), which are known to be mechanosensitive (Kraichely and Farrugia, 2007, Joshi et al., 2021). These cells act through a calcium-mediated mechanism (Farrugia et al., 1999, Joshi et al., 2021) similar to Piezo2 (Woo et al., 2014, Ikeda et al., 2014), however the presence and function of Piezo channels in GI SMCs remains unexplored (Joshi et al., 2021). It is likely that other intestinal epithelial cell types also contain Piezo2, however further studies are needed to identify these cell types and confirm their mechanosensitivity.

The current study suggests that the ion channel Piezo2 is important for mechanosensing in human EC cells, as human intestinal mucosa was shown to release serotonin as a direct response to mucosal compression in real-time. The release of serotonin typically occurred in less than a second from the point of contact, comparable to previous reports of mechanically stimulated release of serotonin from guinea pig small intestine and mouse colon (Bertrand, 2004, Keating and Spencer, 2010). The same response was seen in both human and mouse small and large bowel, with a fast peak response at the point of mucosal compression followed by a slower steady state release of serotonin. The peak or 'fast' release of serotonin from mucosal compression was seen from all samples regardless of species or location along the GI tract, followed by a steady state or 'slow' release lasting at least 10 seconds (the maximum time recorded per mechanical stimulus). The same release kinetics were described from mouse EC cells, in which there was a fast Piezo2-dependent

152

mechanosensitive release of serotonin, followed by a sustained phase lasting many seconds (Alcaino et al., 2018). This peak release could represent the readily releasable pool of serotonin vesicles in EC cells, while the longer steady state release of serotonin could represent the slower release of the reserve pool of serotonin vesicles. The steady state duration measured does not match the typical inactivation decay kinetics for Piezo2 of ~6-7 ms (Coste et al., 2012, Ikeda et al., 2014). In such a case, the peak response could represent the opening and closing of the Piezo2 channel, while the steady state release could be mediated through other mechanisms down-stream of Piezo2 which allow the slower release of the reserve pool of serotonergic vesicles. Potential downstream mechanisms likely involve a steady influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup> resulting in the longer lasting release of serotonin, such a mechanism could be mediated through 'long-lasting' L-type Ca2+ channels important for EC cell serotonin release (Raghupathi et al., 2013). Previous reports by Alcaino et al (2018) describe intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> increases seen in mouse EC cells as a result of intestinal membrane displacement, which lasts many seconds and is only limited by extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> availability (Alcaino et al., 2018). It is common for cells to use Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling to control the size and length of response to receptor current (Beyder, 2019). This is similar to the Merkel cell, in which force activation of Piezo2 causes an inward cation current, that leads to the depolarization of the cell, stimulating L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels which allow a further influx of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> that presumably leads to exocytosis (Woo et al., 2014, Ikeda et al., 2014). Together, these findings suggest that both human and mouse EC cells augment Piezo2 responses to force into temporally controlled serotonin release. These results coupled with the confirmed expression of Piezo2 in human EC cells indicates that this channel is likely involved in the mechanotransduction of human EC cells, as shown in mouse EC cells (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018).

The real-time release of mechanically stimulated serotonin from human intestinal mucosa was significantly reduced when Piezo channels blocked pharmacologically with the inhibitor, GsMTx4, confirming a role for Piezo channels in human EC cell mechanotransduction. This inhibitor is a peptide known to block both Piezo1 and Piezo2 channels specifically (Coste et al., 2010, Bae et al., 2011, Gottlieb et al., 2011, Coste et al., 2012, Alcaino et al., 2017b, Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018, Gottlieb and Sachs, 2012), derived from the venom of the spider Grammostola spatulate. This inhibitor blocks cationic-selective stretch channels by increasing the threshold required for channel activation (Suchyna et al., 2000, Suchyna et al., 2004), hence favouring the closed state of both Piezo1 and Piezo2 channels (Gottlieb et al., 2011, Alcaino et al., 2017b). A second form of the inhibitor also exists, D-GsMTx4, simply an enantiomer of the naturally occurring GsMTx4 (Suchyna et al., 2004). Both forms of the inhibitor have been shown to have the same effectiveness in blocking Piezo channels (Suchyna et al., 2004) (Bae et al., 2011). In the current study, GsMTx4 caused a 30-45% reduction in the mechanically stimulated peak release of human and mouse colonic and ileal serotonin release, indicating that a Piezo channel is likely to be a significant mediator for mechanical transduction in human and mouse EC cells. This degree of reduction seen with GsMTx4 is comparable with previous reports, in which the same drug successfully blocked the mechanosensation in the QGP1 cell line, primary mouse EC cells, and HEK-293 cells transfected with human Piezo2 (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2017b, Alcaino et al., 2018). Wang et al (2017) reported an 89% inhibition of mechanosensitive inward currents in QGP-1 cells by D-GsMTx4. Similarly, Alcaino et al (2018) blocked pressure-invoked responses from

cultured mouse NeuroD1+ cells by 94.6%. Previous reports of total inhibition of mechanical response have only been achieved with the use of Piezo2 siRNA in primary mouse EC cells (Alcaino et al., 2018). This is expected as siRNA knockdown is a more targeted approach to silence the channel (Fire et al., 1998), hence more specific and effective than pharmaceutical approaches such as GsMTx4. The reported results with siRNA suggest that Piezo2 is the primary mechanosensory channel in mouse EC cells, hence indicating it is possible human EC cell Piezo2 is equally as important albeit further testing with Piezo2 siRNA or other approaches are necessary to conclusively deduce such information.

As GsMTx4 is known to block both Piezo1 and Piezo2 channels (Coste et al., 2010, Bae et al., 2011, Gottlieb et al., 2011, Coste et al., 2012, Alcaino et al., 2017b, Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018, Gottlieb and Sachs, 2012), we cannot conclusively state that Piezo2 is the primary mechanosensor involved in human EC cell mechanotransduction. It is also important to note that while recent findings have implicated Piezo2 as important in EC cell serotonin release (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018), the presence or potential role of Piezo1 in EC cells has not been explored to date (Sugisawa et al., 2020). However, we hypothesize that Piezo2 is the primary mechanosensory protein in human EC cells for the following reasons:

1) The results from the current study reflect those found in primary mouse EC cells, in which D-GsMTx4 was found to significantly reduce EC cell activation and serotonin release (Alcaino et al., 2018), confirmed to be through Piezo2 through siRNA knockdown of Piezo2 in mouse EC cells which abolished EC cell mechanically stimulated response altogether (Alcaino et al., 2018).

2) The two channels are known to have distinct mechanosensing functions in different cell types throughout the body. This is evidenced by the literature, as Piezo1 is typically

155

involved in sensing shear stress and membrane tension (Cox et al., 2016b, Lewis and Grandl, 2015, Syeda et al., 2016), changes in cell volume (Peyronnet et al., 2013b, Faucherre et al., 2014b, Miyamoto et al., 2014a, Cinar et al., 2015b, Retailleau et al., 2015b, Martins et al., 2017) and cell crowding (Slattum and Rosenblatt, 2014). In the gut, Piezo1 has been shown to sense static forces such as cell crowding (Eisenhoffer et al., 2012) and cell migration (Yang et al., 2014) in the GI epithelium. Piezo2, however, is important in specialized mechanosensation such as sensing light skin touch (Ikeda et al., 2014, Ranade et al., 2014b), proprioception (Woo et al., 2015, Chesler et al., 2016), mechanical pain (Szczot et al., 2018) and stretch in airway (Nonomura et al., 2017) and bladder (Marshall et al., 2020).

It is likely that the mechanosensing response of EC cells is not solely mediated by Piezo2, particularly as the mechanical response of primary human and mouse EC cells is not entirely depleted when Piezo channels are pharmacologically inhibited or knocked down. In the current study, this was evident through amperometry studies in which the real-time release of serotonin was significantly reduced, but not abolished in the presence of GsMTx4. Similar results were previously reported from primary mouse EC cells, in which D-GsMTx4 did not completely eliminate the mechanically stimulated release of serotonin (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). Similarly, GI epithelial Piezo2 knockdown (Vil-cre;Piezo2<sup>t/r</sup>) mice did not experience complete inhibition of pressure-induced secretion either (Alcaino et al., 2018), suggesting another mechanism contributes to this mechanically stimulated response. However, this Piezo2 conditional knockout mouse line was not specific to EC cells, and interestingly nor was serotonin release reported as a parameter in this study. Also of note, the mouse intestinal samples used in this study were full thickness, hence mechanosensory neurons and smooth muscle cells also likely impacted the results.

One explanation for the incomplete inhibition of mechanically stimulated serotonin release in the current study, is that EC cells may use different mechanosensory pathways to both detect and respond to different stimuli (Cooke et al., 2003) (Eyckmans et al., 2011b). Initial reports on EC cells found other mechanisms important in their mechanical sensing properties, including purinergic receptors for adenosine and nucleotides (ATP, ADP) (Cooke et al., 2003, Christofi, 2008) (Liñán-Rico et al., 2013), disruption of caveolae (Kim et al., 2007), and G-protein coupled receptors, such as P2Y (Kim et al., 2001, Christofi, 2008, Chin et al., 2011, Liñán-Rico et al., 2013). Mechanical stimulation causes the release of nucleotides, ATP and UTP, from various cell types, a process which also occurs from the epithelial lining of the intestine during peristalsis (Kim et al., 2001, Cooke et al., 2003). Caveolae also play a role in mechanosensitivity (Yu et al., 2006), and have been linked with mechanically stimulated ATP and serotonin release from the human EC cell model, BON cells (Kim et al., 2007). Similarly, mechanical stimuli such as mucosal stroking or stretch promote the release of ATP and adenosine to regulate mechanosensitive secretory reflexes in BON cells and the guinea pig colon (Cooke et al., 1999, Christofi et al., 2004). In the bladder epithelium, ATP release resulting from mechanical stimulation is linked with Piezo1, in which the mechanical activation of Piezo1 leads to Ca2+ influx and ATP release from urothelial cells (Miyamoto et al., 2014c). Whilst P2X channels are not mechanosensitive themselves, it is well documented that ATP is commonly released in response to the mechanical stimulation of different cellular systems (Guan et al., 2018), therefore it may provide a positive feedback loop upon mechanical stimulation potentially linked with Piezo channels as the mechanism recently shown in the bladder (Miyamoto et al., 2014c). As these described molecules have not been established as mechanosensitive (Beyder, 2019), it is likely that the primary mechanosensor in

human EC cells is Piezo2, and that other mechanisms are either involved in modulating, or downstream of Piezo activation.

Studies have indicated a role for many of the aforementioned mediators, including nucleotides, in modulating Piezo function. Specifically, UTP and ATP reduce the threshold for mechanically stimulation of peptidergic nociceptive DRG neurons, and hence enhance their mechanosensitivity (Lechner and Lewin, 2009). At the time of this study, Piezo channels had not yet been identified, however it has since been determined that Piezo channels are expressed in DRG and contribute to their mechanosensitivity (Ranade et al., 2014b, Shin et al., 9000). Importantly the desensitisation of Piezo2 containing sensory neurons by bradykinin is important in inflammatory and pathophysiological mechanical responses (Dubin et al., 2012). A similar pathway was depicted, in which the activation of G protein-coupled receptors also enhances mechanically activated Piezo2 channels and DRG neurons, interestingly this pathway was shown to act via serotonin receptors (Del Rosario et al., 2020). Under pathophysiological conditions of the gut, irregular distension associated with painful sensation simulates ATP release (Wynn et al., 2004, Burnstock, 2009). ATP activates EC cells, which trigger visceral afferent pain pathways (Wynn et al., 2004, Burnstock, 2009). However, not all EC cells require endogenous ATP or other nucleotides for mechanotransduction. This is demonstrated by indirect (Liñán-Rico et al., 2013), and direct pharmacological experiments (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018) all completed on healthy tissue. Hence, we propose that mediators such as ATP and other nucleotides likely modulate Piezo channels, playing a role in hypersensitive or pathophysiological conditions, and that Piezo2 is the primary mechanism for EC cell mechanosensation in normal or healthy states.

158

EC cells are known to be subject to various forms of mechanical stimulation, including distention, stretch, deformation, and shear stress among others (Linan-Rico et al., 2016). In the current study, we find that both shear stress and mucosal compression stimulate mouse and human EC cell serotonin release. We replicated previous shear stress experiments completed by Kim et al (2001), in which human ileum and colon mucosa were mechanically stimulated via shaking of fluid over the tissue. A dosedependent increase in shaking correlated with an increase in serotonin release from human ileum samples. The release of serotonin from human ileum samples was inhibited by GsMTx4 to a level similar to that of control (no shaking) samples, although this study was underpowered. This reflected previous reports, in which shear stress stimulated 58% of NeuroD1+ cultured cells measured via calcium imaging (Alcaino et al., 2018). These results were blocked or inhibited by calcium free media, Gadolinium (common mechanosensitive channel blocker), D-GsMTx4 and Piezo2 siRNA, indicating the importance of Piezo channels in the response. The colonic samples however were not stimulated in a uniform manner, this could be a result of underpowered results, or it could signify a difference in mechanosensing capabilities between the human small and large bowel. It is interesting that the colon did not appear to respond to fluid stimulation and begs the question whether this is a functional difference between the colon and small intestine. It is possible that the difference in morphology of the epithelium between these two regions of intestines has a role in their mechanosensing properties. The villi which occur in the small intestine have the potential to be more prone to sensing fluid movement, compared with colonic crypts. This would make sense as the small intestine is typically involved in water absorption along the GI tract, aided by the large surface area and a process known as segmentation (Huizinga et al., 2014). It has been demonstrated that content becomes

increasingly less fluid along the colon due to fluid absorption (Hukuhara and Neya, 1968, Costa et al., 2015), suggesting that most of the colon would not typically experience large volumes of fluid. For this reason, colonic EC cells likely require less sensitivity to fluid, and more specific response to other types of mechanical stimulation such as mucosal compression or colonic distention. It has been suggested previously that different stimuli activate different mechanosensory systems (Cooke et al., 2003, Linan-Rico et al., 2016).

Interestingly the degree of response to mechanical stimulation was greater from the small intestine of both mouse and human compared with colon. This correlates with the higher percentage of EC cells containing Piezo2 in the small intestine of both species and could further indicate different mechanosensing abilities between EC cells of the small and large bowel. One might think that a greater number of EC cells in the small intestine could cause such a result, particularly as it has been previously reported that the level of serotonin release is dependent on EC cell density (Raghupathi et al., 2013). However, the colon contains a greater number of EC cells (Martin et al., 2020a, Wei et al., 2021) and has a greater total content of serotonin, as shown in the current study, compared with the small intestine. This suggests that EC cells in the small intestine are more mechanically sensitive, hence EC cells of different regions of the GI tract may respond differently to mechanical stimuli. Previously published work by our research group reported changes in nutrient response and receptor profiles of EC cells between the small and large bowel (Martin et al., 2017d). A recent study demonstrated that colonic EC cells have smaller capacitances and faster fast inactivation time constants via electrophysiology (Strege et al., 2017). Hence these studies demonstrate differences in EC cells based on their location along the GI tract. Further investigation is needed to delineate the difference in

mechanosensing properties of EC cells between different regions of the GI tract, as EC cells are known to differ in characteristics based on their location.

EC cell derived serotonin has recently been shown to modulate GI motility (Wei et al., 2021). We wished to further understand whether Piezo2 is the mechanism by which EC cells sense distension to trigger serotonin secretion and thereby modulate colonic motility. The previously mentioned Piezo inhibitor, GsMTx4, was used on mouse CMMCs ex vivo and found to dramatically reduce the frequency of CMMCs. The drug was given at varying doses, where 1 and 5 µM also reduced the amplitude and propagation of CMMCs, and a dose of 10 µM ablated CMMCs entirely. This is the first demonstration that blocking Piezo2 channels has a negative impact on colonic motility. As expected, the colonic motility data shown here reflects that recorded from previous models lacking EC cell serotonin (Keating and Spencer, 2010, Spencer et al., 2011, Wei et al., 2021), in which the frequency and propagation of CMMCs were also reduced significantly. Together, this reflects the proposal that EC cells sense distention of the gut via Piezo2, and as a result release serotonin to further perpetuate motility and increase the frequency and strength of contractions. Thereby suggesting that the mechanism through which EC cells are mechanosensitive and contribute to the modulation of GI motility is through the mechanosensing ion channel Piezo2. A potential limitation of the current study is that contractile activity was measured from open-sheet preparations, hence the inhibitor is not applied just to the mucosa but can also reach the serosal side of the tissue. In which case there is potential for the inhibitor to act on smooth muscle cells and neurons within the myenteric and submucosal plexus. In future experiments it would be desirable to use intact preparations in which the drug is perfused through just the lumen, in which the area of application is limited to just the mucosa. Previous results reported that application of D-GsMTx4, to the

mucosal side of GI tissue in an Ussing chamber, blocked pressure-induced serotonin release by 43% (Wang et al., 2017). This is the first investigation into the role of Piezo2 in EC cell's role in CMMCs, which occurs likely through a reduction in serotonin release due to a decreased ability of EC cells to sense mechanical stimuli. This data supports the hypothesis that the mechanosensory protein, Piezo2, is responsible for EC cell's ability to sense mechanical stimuli to modulate motility.

CMMCS from mucosa-free mouse colonic preparations were measured with the Piezo inhibitor to test whether neuronal mechanotransduction, via Piezo2, has a role in colonic motility. The baseline frequency of mucosa-free CMMCs was significantly slower than that of intact preparations, in line with previously published results (Keating and Spencer, 2010). The inhibition of Piezo channels, with GsMTx4, on mucosa-free preparations completely abolished CMMCs. This result indicated that neurons within the myenteric or submucosal plexuses might also contain Piezo channels that contribute to the formation of CMMCs. Piezo2 is found in ~85% of DRG neurons (Coste et al., 2010, Ranade et al., 2014b, Eijkelkamp et al., 2013, Lou et al., 2013), and Piezo1 and 2 are expressed by several neuronal types of the mouse ENS (Drokhlyansky et al., 2020). Furthermore, enteric neurons are known to be mechanosensitive (Kunze et al., 2000, Zagorodnyuk and Spencer, 2011, Hibberd et al., 2012), and their response to mechanical stimulation has previously been identified to contribute to motility in the gut (Spencer et al., 2003). This suggests that there is likely a coupling of mechanosensation in the gut, between the mechanosensing EC cells and mechanosensing neurons in the myenteric or submucosal plexuses that contribute to the modulation of colonic contractile activity via Piezo2 mediated pathways. This is similar to other mechanosensing systems throughout the body, known to utilize Piezo2 as their main mechanotransducer, in which Piezo2 is

162

expressed and functional in both the epithelial cell type and synapsing neurons (Ranade et al., 2014b, Woo et al., 2014, Maksimovic et al., 2014, Nonomura et al., 2017, Marshall et al., 2020). Many of these studies have indicated a two-part signaling mechanism involving Piezo2, in which epithelial cell–neuronal sensory machinery shares the response to mechanical stimuli. This has been demonstrated through the deletion of Piezo2 in both epithelial and sensory neurons, such as the Merkel cell and sensory neurons (Ranade et al., 2014b). Similarly, we see the complete termination of CMMCs when GsMTx4 is applied to both the mucosal and serosal side of colonic preparations. Hence it would seem likely that a similar system is found in the gut, where EC cells, known to interact with mechanosensitive sensory neurons (Kunze et al., 2000), and mechanosensing neurons both contain Piezo2 as their primary mechanotransducer and have a role in the modulation of CMMCs.

Our collaborators created a specific Tph1 Piezo2 knockdown mouse model, Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Piezo2<sup>flox/flox</sup>, in which Piezo2 is knocked down from all Tph1 containing cells specifically. This model allows us to deduce the role of EC cell mechanically stimulated serotonin release in CMMCs without effecting potential confounding factors such as neuronal Piezo2. GI motility of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Piezo2<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice was measured *in vivo*, and mice lacking EC cell Piezo2 were found to have a significantly slower whole gut and colonic total transit time compared with control mice (see Appendix Figure 5). This is the first evidence to confirm the role for EC cell Piezo2 in modulating GI motility and supports our hypothesis that Piezo2 in EC cells is important in activating the release of EC cell derived serotonin to modulate colonic motility. A recent investigation on Piezo in *Drosophila*, described that Piezo knockout (KO) flies ate and drank significantly more than controls, some to the point of overeating to death (Wang et al., 2020). This indicates that flies feed based on mechanical cues from Piezo+ neurons in the gut, which sense gut distension and signal food consumption and satiety to halt overconsumption (Wang et al., 2020). A separate study described a slower gut transit time in a gut epithelia-specific Piezo1 knockdown (Villin-Piezo1<sup>flox/flox</sup>) mouse line, although no evidence was provided to demonstrate the expression of Piezo1 in EC cells specifically or to confirm that the protein was knocked down from EC cells (Sugisawa et al., 2020). The study did describe a reduction in both serum and duodenum serotonin levels, Tph1 mRNA expression in the gut and a reduced number of serotonin positive cells in the duodenum of Piezo1 floxed mice (Sugisawa et al., 2020). Interestingly, it was reported from this research group, that Piezo1 knockdown did not influence serotonin secretion in response to cyclic stretch, in RIN14B cells, however Piezo2 knockdown did inhibit serotonin release to cyclic stretching (Sugisawa et al., 2020). Overall, the results from this study are inconclusive, and further work is needed to delineate the separate functions of Piezo1 and Piezo2 in EC cell mechanobiology and colonic motility. Original evidence suggested serotonin is released during peristalsis from the guinea pig ileum (Bulbring and Crema, 1959), which indicated the ability for EC cells to mechanically sense content via distention. The order in which serotonin release and peristalsis occurs has been debated within the field, with some groups suggesting that EC cell serotonin drives GI motility (Smith and Gershon, 2015a). However, the most recent evidence substantiates that peristalsis occurs without serotonin (Wei et al., 2021), indicating that serotonin is not the driver of peristalsis but rather is released consequently to perpetuate the neuromechanical loop (Spencer et al., 2016). This indicates that the mechanosensing properties of EC cells likely modulate the role that EC cells play in GI motility, a function investigation mediated through Piezo2. Furthermore, additional of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Piezo2<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice will allow the deduction of the importance of neuronal Piezo2 in colonic motility.

The importance of functional mechanosensing in healthy GI function is evident as shown by abnormalities in GI mechanosensation linked with certain motility disorders, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (Yang et al., 2016) and constipation (Neshatian et al., 2015, Alcaino et al., 2017a). As outlined in the previous chapter, it is also known that serotonin is closely linked with a number of functional motility disorders {Gershon, 2004 #586; Galligan, 2007 #1132; Wei, 2021 #688}. The current study provides the first evidence of a relationship between EC cell mechanosensitivity and age, revealing a reduction in both the number of EC cells containing Piezo2 and EC cell mechanosensitivity in the colon with age. Similarly, female mice EC cells were found to be significantly more mechanosensitive than male EC cells in both the small and large bowel. As highlighted by the use of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Piezo2<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice, a reduction in EC cell mechanosensitivity leads to a constipation-like phenotype with the significant slowing of GI transit seen in these mice. This is interesting, as females are known to be affected by IBS at a significantly higher rate than males (Kim and Kim, 2018). It is also widely known that constipation affects the aging population at a significantly higher rate, with approximately 50% of adults over the age of 80 (Higgins and Johanson, 2004). However, the underlying cause of age-related constipation is still unknown (Gandell et al., 2013). Various studies report a reduction in the number of myenteric neurons in human and mouse (Sun et al., 2018b, Saffrey, 2013, Camilleri et al., 2000) as a contributing factor to age-related GI motility dysfunction. Other reports describe the importance of mechanosensitivity of smooth muscle cells, such as ICCs, in motility (Rao and Gershon, 2016, Joshi et al., 2021) and indicate a reduction in the number of ICCs in the aging colon (Gomez-Pinilla et al., 2011, Joshi et al., 2021). However, age-related differences in GI anatomy and physiology are not deemed to be significant contributors to the development of constipation (Camilleri et al., 2000). The research from this chapter suggests that the reduction in EC cell mechanosensitivity in aging individuals might contribute to age-related constipation, however significant further investigation is required to assess this hypothesis. One suggestion is to assess EC cell mechanosensitivity and GI Piezo2 expression in colonic biopsies from elderly patients who experience age-related constipation, this would allow a deduction of the role of GI Piezo2 in age-related constipation specifically. Overall, this sheds light on a link between Piezo2 expression with age and sex, indicating potential new target for treatment in age-related constipation.

#### 3.5 Conclusion

This study has provided the first evidence of Piezo2 functionality as a key mechanosensor in EC cells in the human small and large bowel. We have provided further evidence detailing the role of Piezo2 in mucosal differing forms of mechanical stimuli on mouse EC cell mechanosensitivity. Furthermore, the pharmacological inhibition of Piezo, in various experiments, was shown to significantly diminish mechanically stimulated serotonin release from both human and mouse gut. Evidence for a role of Piezo2 in colonic motility has also been reported for the first time, demonstrating EC cell Piezo2 is important in the modulation of GI motility. Finally, we note the link between EC cell mechanosensitivity with both age and sex.

CHAPTER 4: Enterochromaffin cells contain neuropods, and directly contact sensory nerve fibres in the mouse distal colon.

### 4. Enterochromaffin cells contain neuropods, and directly contact sensory nerve fibres in the mouse distal colon.

#### 4.1 Introduction

The nerves within the gastrointestinal (GI) tract have long been known to sense the contents of the lumen and cause both local effects, as well as communicate sensory information to the brain via a mechanism termed the gut-brain axis. It was originally hypothesised that enteroendocrine cells (EECs) secrete hormones which act locally on adjacent cells, innervating nerves, or enter into the circulation by diffusion (Bertrand, 2009, Cummings and Overduin, 2007, Wade and Westfall, 1985b). However the most recent evidence indicates that neuronal responses to luminal contents occur within seconds (Beutler et al., 2017, Su et al., 2017), making diffusion (which takes hours to minutes (Rehfeld, 1998)) less likely to be the predominant mechanism. This finding sparked investigation into the mechanism of communication between EECs and nerves in the GI tract, with several groups suggesting a new hypothesis that EECs directly synapse with neurons innervating the GI mucosa (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). Thus, suggesting that synaptic connections may underpin the gut-brain axis, however further investigation is warranted to understand the nature of such connections.

The GI tract is unique as it is the only organ system which has its own intrinsic nervous system. The enteric nervous system (ENS) interacts with extrinsic innervation to mediate GI function but can also operate in complete neural circuits within the intestinal wall without input from the brain (Kunze et al., 1995b, Furness et al., 1995). The extrinsic innervation is part of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and innervation is derived from distinct anatomical sources relative to different regions along the GI tract. The upper gut, pertaining primarily to the stomach and small

168

intestine, is primarily innervated by the vagus nerve (Powley et al., 1994, Berthoud et al., 1995, Berthoud et al., 1997). The vagus nerve is a nerve bundle which originates in the nodose and jugular ganglia and projects predominantly to the nucleus of the solitary tract (Norman and Bower, 1982). The distal gut, which largely refers to the colon and the rectum, is innervated principally by spinal neurons that originate in the spinal cord (Brookes et al., 2013, Brierley et al., 2018). Intrinsic and extrinsic efferent and afferent neural systems work together to coordinate various gut functions; however, it is the extrinsic sensory neurons of the GI tract that facilitate the direct connection between the GI tract and the central nervous system (CNS).

It has been hypothesised the basal processes (termed "neuropods" (Bohórquez et al., 2011)) extending from EECs act as neurite-like extensions to facilitate the newly appreciated direct communication between EECs and neurons. The discovery of neuropods was made by Bohorquez, who found that both CCK and PYY EECs appear to make direct contact with nerves that penetrate the basal lamina (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2015). These EECs express presynaptic and postsynaptic genes which encode proteins required for trans-synaptic signaling (Südhof, 2012, Chen et al., 2008), strengthening the case that these cells can form functional connections with neurons. Several *in vitro* studies have indicated that EECs are able to grow neuropods towards sensory neurons in culture (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018), suggesting that neurons may secrete chemoattractants to stimulate and direct EEC neuropod growth (Bohórquez et al., 2015). *In vivo* experiments in which mice were given an enema of a fluorescently tagged Rabies virus, which only travels through monosynaptic connections, showed that connected EECs and enteric neurons transmitted the virus (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2016, monosynaptic connections, showed that connected EECs and enteric neurons transmitted the virus (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2015, Kaelb

al., 2018). These results were the first evidence that EECs *in vivo* form direct functional connections with enteric neurons.

There have been many reports of EECs containing neuropods (Chandra et al., 2010, Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2014, Bohórquez et al., 2015) however, despite the importance of EC cell-derived serotonin both within the gut and more broadly in the gut-brain axis (Jones et al., 2020), the presence and distribution of neuropods on enterochromaffin (EC) cells is currently missing within the literature. The morphology of EC cells has been described to contain neuropod-like structures (Sjölund et al., 1983, Kuramoto et al., 2007), however, these have not been thoroughly characterised. Whilst one group observed that EC cells are electrically excitable, express presynaptic genes and are located within close proximity to nerve fibres containing serotonin receptors (Bellono et al., 2017), the relationship between EC cells and nerves has not been quantified or well characterised to date.

This chapter will describe the characterisation of EC cell neuropods in the mouse and human colon. This characterisation includes investigation into the presence and distribution of neuropods in EC cells of the mouse distal colon, and analysis of the anatomy of EC cell neuropods. Further goals of this study to characterise EC cell neuropods, are to determine whether EC cells contact sensory nerves within the distal colon and quantify the nature of such connections. We also investigate human colonic tissue, to determine for the first time whether neuropods on human EECs contact nerves which innervate the colonic wall. The specific aims are to:

- 1. Identify and characterise neuropods in mouse colonic EC cells;
- 2. Determine whether EC cells contact sensory nerve fibres within the colonic wall;
- 3. Identify neuropods on EC cells in human colon.

170

The overriding hypothesis is that both mouse and human colonic EC cells contain neuropods, which have the potential to form neural connections via direct connections.

#### 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Mice Tissue

C57 BL/6 male mice of 8-12 weeks were anesthetized with isoflurane inhalation (4%, IsoFlo) and euthanized humanely by cervical dislocation in accordance with approval by the Animal Welfare Committee of Flinders University (965-19). As in previous methods (3.2.1) segments of mouse colon were collected and stored in beakers containing oxygenated Krebs solution bubbled with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub> to keep tissue viable until use.

#### 4.2.2 Human Tissue

Human colonic samples were collected from the Flinders Medical Centre and Flinders Private Hospital surgical theatres with patient consent, as per previous chapter method (3.2.2).

#### 4.2.3 Immunostaining

Freshly removed colonic tissue was collected from mice and human surgical samples, pinned out as far as could be stretched, mucosa facing down, using micro pins in Sylguard (Dow) coated dissection dishes. Tissue was fixed within one hour of removal in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at room temperature overnight. Whole thickness samples were washed 3 times in 1x PBS and left in PBS containing sodium azide (0.01%) at 4°C until required for immunofluorescence staining. Samples were blocked with 10% Donkey Serum (Sigma Aldrich) in PBS for 1 hour, and then treated with primary antibodies for; serotonin (1:2000, Goat anti-5-HT IgG, 20079, Immunostar); calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) (1:2000, Rabbit anti-CGRP IgG, T-4032, Peninsula) and PGP9.5 (1:1500, 165622D, Cedarlane), in 10% donkey serum in 1x

PBS and left shaking for 3 nights at room temperature. Samples were washed 3 times 10 minutes with 1x PBS, before secondary antibodies were applied. Secondary antibodies used were Cy3 conjugated Donkey anti-Sheep IgG (H+L) and Cy5 Donkey anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) (1:200, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) in PBS overnight at room temperature. Finally, the samples were washed with PBS 3 times for 10 minutes at room temperature while shaking, and then left in 100% buffered glycerol for 5 minutes before being mounted onto microscope slides. Samples were mounted onto polyethylene glycol coated slides using 100% buffered glycerol to completely cover the samples, glass coverslips were placed, and clear nail varnish was used to seal slides. Slides were maintained at 4°C until viewed using microscopy.

#### 4.2.4 Microscopy

Microscopy and image capture for the following chapter was performed as in previous method (3.2.4).

#### 4.2.5 Image analysis

Images were exported and analysed offline using the 3D/4D imaging analysis software Imaris (Version 8.4.1, Bitplane). Thresholds were set for each fluorescent channel and applied to all images within the same experimental batch. Surfaces were created for cells and neuronal fibres using Imaris in-built software. Surfaces were set to a 0.2-0.5  $\mu$ m surface grain size. Surfaces of non-specific staining were filtered out based on fluorescence intensity, sphericity, and volume. The created surfaces were exported to quantify cell statistics, such as numbers of cells, cell volume, area, length, and fluorescence intensity. The Distance Transformation function was used to determine distances between two surfaces. Information such as the presence and length of neuropods, and the location of connection between EC cells and sensory nerve fibres were all calculated manually. All EC cells fully within the perimeter of the image were counted. Cells were deemed to contain a neuropod if they contained an extension or process longer than 2  $\mu$ m clearly extending from the cell body. The location of connection between EC cells and sensory nerves was determined through analysis in all three dimensions.

#### 4.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed as in previous method (2.2.8). Additionally, the number of technical replicates in total used per experiments is indicated as uppercase 'N'.

#### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Optimisation of imaging and analysis method.

Wholemount tissue was stained for serotonin and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) to determine the characteristics of EC cells and to better understand the relationship between EC cells and the sensory innervation of the distal colon. Images taken using 2D epifluorescent microscopy can be informative (see Figure 4.1), however do not allow accurate interpretation of the 3D spatial relationship of the cells, and their connection with neural fibres. By using laser scanning confocal microscopy we were able to scan and image individual layers throughout the intestines, with significantly better resolution, and form 3D images (see Figure 4.2). Advanced analysis software (Bitplane's 'Imaris'), enabled us to gain intricate information from 3D reconstructed images. By applying a surface to each filter, fluorescence intensities can be used as parameters to reduce background and increase the accuracy of results through the analysis of specific immunofluorescence.



# Figure 4.1: EC cells and CGRP labelled nerve fibres within the mouse distal colon imaged through 2D epifluorescence microscopy.

A) Serotonin (red) labelled EC cells. B) CGRP (green) labelled neuronal fibres. C)

Composite image. Scale bar =  $40 \ \mu m$ .





A) A z-projection of serotonin (red) stained EC cells and CGRP (green) stained neuronal fibres in the mouse distal colon. B) A gallery image of EC cells ordered by length from the z-projection in A. Scale bar =  $30 \mu m$ .

#### 4.3.2 Characteristics of EC cells in the mouse distal colon

Using 3D reconstruction, various characteristics of EC cells in mouse distal colon were ascertained. The average volume of EC cells in the distal colon was  $618.1 \pm 25.8 \ \mu m^3$  (see Figure 4.3B). EC cells were analysed through all three planes, using 3D reconstructed models, and the presence of neuropods was determined. An EC cell was determined to contain a neuropod if the cell had a notable extension determined to be greater than 2  $\mu m$  in length (see Figure 4.3A). It was found that  $82.3 \pm 2.4 \%$  of EC cells contained neuropods in the mouse distal colon (n=4 mice, N=20 images) (see Figure 4.3C). Interestingly, some EC cells appeared to have multiple neuropods extruding from the cell body. The number of neuropods per cell was also investigated, it was found that  $14.9 \pm 2.1\%$  had no neuropods (see Figure 4.3E). The length of neuropods were manually measured for each individual cell using the software measuring tool. The length was measured in 3D, hence taking into account the protrusion of neuropods into different planes. The average length of neuropods on EC cells was  $11.6 \pm 0.3 \ \mu m$  (see Figure 4.3D).



Figure 4.3: Mouse distal colonic EC cell characteristics.

A) Example image of an EC cell with the length of neuropods measured. B) The average volume of EC cells. C) The percentage of EC cells which contain neuropods.
D) The average length of EC cell neuropods. E) The number of neuropods per EC cell (n=4 mice, N=20 images). Data are shown as mean ± SEM.

#### 4.3.3 Spatial relationship between CGRP fibres and EC cells in the distal colon.

We were interested to determine whether EC cell neuropods came in close contact with sensory nerve fibres of the distal colon. Mouse distal colon was immunolabelled for serotonin and CGRP (a common marker for sensory nerve fibres found within this region of the GI tract) and imaged using confocal microscopy. The sensory nerve fibres stained with CGRP were apparent, and it was clear at first glance that some EC cells come into contact with CGRP nerves within the GI wall (see Figure 4.4). The distance between EC cells and CGRP neuronal fibres within all 3 dimensions of the mouse distal colon was measured and used to derive a 3D heat map based on CGRP staining intensity (see Figure 4.5). This data was determined across all samples, and the distances were sorted into bins of 2 µm increments, from which the frequency of varying distances were guantified, revealing that 64.1% of EC cells were within 0-2  $\mu$ m with a CGRP fibre (see Figure 4.6). All EC cells were found to lie within a 0 – 15 µm range to the nearest CGRP fibre, and those which lied within the 0-2 µm bin were considered a close contact for the purposes of this study. We were then interested to determine the point at which CGRP fibres made contact with EC cells, as in some instances it appeared that the CGRP fibre was contacting the EC cell body (see Figure 4.7A). The location of connection between EC cells and CGRP neuronal fibres was manually determined for each identified point of connection in all samples. The regions identified were on the cell body, halfway along the neuropod, and at the end of the neuropod (see Figure 4.7). The location EC cells most regularly contacted CGRP fibres was at the cell body, totalling 57.7% of all connections (see Figure 4.7D). CGRP fibres were found to contact the end of the neuropod 27.6% of the time, and halfway along the neuropod 14.7% of the time (see Figure 4.7D). These results indicate that
EC cells contain neuropods of which a proportion are in contact with CGRP sensory nerve fibres.



# Figure 4.4: EC cells contact CGRP labelled sensory nerve fibres in the mouse distal colon.

A) Serotonin (red) labelled EC cell contacting a CGRP (green) labelled neuronal fibre. Scale bar =  $30 \ \mu m$ .



## Figure 4.5: The creation of a CGRP 'heatmap' to determine the distance between EC cells and CGRP labeled sensory nerve fibres.

A) Serotonin (red) labelled EC cells and CGRP (green) labelled neuronal fibres. B) A surface is created to cover CGRP immunofluorescence and is rendered green. C) A new channel is created through the distance transformation function for the CGRP surface, in which a black-blue scale indicates distance from CGRP. D) All of the EC cells which contact the CGRP, as analysed through the new 'heatmap' channel, are now shown in pink. Scale bar =  $30 \,\mu\text{m}$ 



Figure 4.6: Most EC cells are touching CGRP nerve fibres.

A) The percentage of EC cells at 2  $\mu$ m distance bins to CGRP nerve fibres within the mouse distal colon. B) The distance between EC cells and CGRP fibres (n=4 mice, N=20 images). Data are shown as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.7: CGRP fibres predominantly contact EC cells at the cell body.

A CGRP fibre making contact with A) an EC cell body, B) the end of an EC cell neuropod, and C) EC cell along the neuropod, near the cell body. D) Quantification of the number of contacts which were defined as 'Cell Body', 'End of Neuropod' or 'Cell/body/neuropod' (n=4 mice, N=20 images). Scale bar = 30  $\mu$ m. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*=p<0.05, \*\*\*\*=p<0.0001.

## 4.3.5 EC cells in human colon contain neuropods and contact innervating nerve fibres.

Finally, we wanted to test whether human colonic EC cells also contain neuropods, and whether these cells also form connections with neuronal fibres in the human colon. One human colonic sample was collected and stained for serotonin and either CGRP or PGP9.5, a sensory nerve marker and a pan-neuronal marker respectively. The CGRP staining was not as successful in these thick human samples compared to mouse tissue, however PGP9.5 stain was clearly visible (see Figure 4.8) and hence was used for further quantification. Human colonic EC cells also appear to be in close proximity with neuronal fibres (see Figure 4.9A, B). The 3D analysis software was used to determine whether these EC cells are in contact with neuronal fibres in human gut. 19.4% of EC cells were found to be in contact with neuronal fibres within the intestinal wall (see Figure 4.9C). This is the first specific characterisation of these structures in human EECs.



Figure 4.8: Colonic human EC cells also contain neuropods.

A) A z-projection of EC cells (green) and PGP95 labelled neuronal fibres (red) in the human colon. Scale bar = 30  $\mu$ m.



Figure 4.9: Colonic human EC cells also contact neuronal fibres.

A) an example z-projection of EC cells (green) contacting PGP95 labelled neuronal fibres (red) in the human colon (n=1). B) EC cells (yellow) make direct contact with PGP9.5 neurons. Scale bar = 30  $\mu$ m. C) The percentage of EC cells at 2  $\mu$ m distance bins to PGP-95 labelled nerve fibres within the human colon (n=1). Data are shown as mean ± SEM.

### 4.4 Discussion

The mechanism through which enteroendocrine cells (EECs) communicate directly with the neuronal innervation of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract is not currently known. In this chapter we examined how EC cells interact with sensory nerves which innervate the mouse distal colon. We were interested to see whether EC cells contain basal processes known as neuropods, reported in other types of EECs, and whether these neuropods form connections with sensory nerve fibres within the gut wall. To gain a better understanding of EC cell neuropods, mouse wholemount colonic tissue was immunohistochemically stained and imaged using confocal microscopy. 3D reconstruction and analysis were conducted to confirm the presence of neuropods on mouse EC cells and define their characteristics in the distal colon.

In this study the in-depth analysis of the spatial characteristics of EC cells revealed that 82% of EC cells in the mouse distal colon contain neuropods, supporting previous data obtained using thick sections of the rat distal colon which reported 80% of EC cells contained 'cytoplasmic processes' (Kuramoto et al., 2007). Here, we also show that numerous EC cells contain multiple neuropods which are seen in a wide range of lengths, the largest extending up to 37.5  $\mu$ m. EC cells have previously been reported as bipolar (Kuramoto et al., 2007, Koo et al., 2021), with long neuropods running down the crypt, and second neuropods from the apical end of the cell extending towards the lumen (Kuramoto et al., 2007). The lengths of EC cell neuropods vary significantly in length, with many EC cells containing neuropods longer than their cell body, occasionally extending beyond 100  $\mu$ m (Kuramoto et al., 2021, Koo et al., 2021). We found that 22.2% of EC cells had 2 neuropods, which is comparable to I cells of the small intestine (33% of which have 2 neuropods) (Chandra et al., 2010). Interestingly we observed some EC cells in the distal colon with neuropods which bifurcate (see

Appendix Figure 7), as seen previously in I cells (Chandra et al., 2010). EC cells in the small intestine are reported not to contain neuropods (Koo et al., 2021), contrasting data on other EEC subtypes in the small intestine such as I and L cells (Chandra et al., 2010, Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2014, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). Other aspects of these cells differed including neuropod length, as neuropods of I cells of the small intestine are short, with the longest at 15  $\mu$ m (Chandra et al., 2010) half the size of the longest neuropod on a colonic EC cell. L cells also have long neuropods in the small intestine (Bohórquez et al., 2014), and differ in neuropod anatomy compared with colonic L cells which do not contain synaptic-like structures (Bohórquez et al., 2011). Hence, it can be seen that there are differences in the anatomy of EEC neuropods dependent on EEC subtype and region of the GI tract. The factors leading to these differences are unknown. Overall, it is clear that EC cells in the colon contain neuropods and that EEC morphology and neuropod characteristics differ between both EEC subtype and region of the GI tract.

We also provide the preliminary evidence of neuropods on human colonic EC cells, supporting initial reports from up to 30 years ago which describe these 'cytoplasmic processes' in human EC cells in different regions of the stomach (Inokuchi et al., 1984, Kusumoto et al., 1988), and colon (Sjölund et al., 1983). In the current study, EC cells contained neuropods of varying lengths in human colon. However more samples need to be examined to adequately quantify the number of human EC cells containing neuropods. Previous work on human GI tissue described EC cells with varying shapes, sizes and morphologies (Inokuchi et al., 1984), while another group observed 3 distinct morphologies of human EC cells in the oxyntic mucosa, including cells with multiple neuropods (Fakhry et al., 2019). It was also noted that EC cells contain long uni- and

sometimes multipolar neuropods which projected in many directions (Inokuchi et al., 1984, Kusumoto et al., 1988).

The use of 3D analysis has proven highly beneficial in the study of EEC morphology, in particular the anatomy of EEC neuropods, as shown through various studies over the last decade. Confocal and electron microscopy coupled with significant advances in 3D analysis software has enabled noteworthy developments in understanding the morphology and cellular interactions in many tissue types, including the identification of anatomical features of EECs in all 3 planes (Bohórquez et al., 2014). Such advancements allow the examination of spatial information of EECs and their relationships within the crypts of the GI tract, and with other cell types. Multiple studies have utilized thick sections of mouse and rat GI samples (60-120 µm (Kuramoto et al., 2007 (Kuramoto, 2021 #712, Koo et al., 2021)), while we used wholemount GI samples, to identify EEC morphology and distribution. Thick sections or wholemount samples provide a better representation of cellular morphology compared to conventional thin sections (~10 µm), as they can reveal the existence of long neuropods and provide in-depth information on EECs in terms of morphology and position (Koo et al., 2021). This was shown in one study, in which the 3D reconstruction of thicker sections indicated an under-representation of I cells containing neuropods, due to their extension into the z-plane, which were invisible through 2D observation of a 5 µm thick section (Chandra et al., 2010). The use of 3D analysis also allows the determination and in-depth analysis of connections between different cell types, not possible when consulting 2D images.

One limitation in the current study, was the lack of a fluorescent marker to depict the orientation of the tissue, hence the polarity of EC cells within crypts was unable to be determined. This particularly reduced the ability to distinguish whether neuropods

191

originated from the basal or apical membrane of the cell, as well as the cell's position along the crypt-villus axis. In future the use of a nuclear stain, such as DAPI, would aid in delineating the overall structure of the tissue and hence the orientation of EC cells within crypts. This is an important limitation to note, as previous studies have classed neuropods as basal or apical through the identification of the polarity of EECs, hence in the current study we have been unable to do this, instead defining all extensions from EC cells as neuropods generally. Other studies have also used the polarity of the cell to determine characteristics such as the direction of the neuropod within the crypt (Chandra et al., 2010, Bohórquez et al., 2011); the length of neuropods comparatively between the direction from which they extend from the cell (Kuramoto et al., 2021); and the cell position number within the crypt (Bohórquez et al., 2011), such information can provide insight into characteristics such as the age, or level of differentiation of the EEC. These characteristics of neuropods are also important in the investigation into their function. Hence this was one limitation of the current study, however, considerable information can still be deduced through the co-staining of other immunohistochemical markers, particularly directed at other epithelial cells and neurons.

Since the discovery of EEC projections, they have been termed "basal processes" (Kobayashi et al., 1971), "pseudopod-like basal cellular" processes (Chandra et al., 2010), and most recently due to the postulated connection between the basal processes of EECs and neurons which innervate the intestines, these basal processes were given the name 'neuropods' (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018). Most recently they have been suggested to grow towards neurons to form direct connections, hence allowing the fast transfer of information between the EECs which sense the lumen, and the brain (Bohórquez et al., 2015,

Kaelberer et al., 2018). This has been demonstrated through immunohistochemical and confocal analysis, in which EECs directly contact nerves that penetrate the basal lamina to innervate the mucosa of the mouse ileum and colon (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018).

Serotonin plays a significant role in modulating gut function, in particular GI motility, a mechanism known to be primarily controlled by neurons in the gut (Spencer et al., 2018). EC cell serotonin was originally thought to act on neurons in a paracrine manner, but recent studies have indicated a direct functional connection between EC cells and GI innervating neurons (Bellono et al., 2017). Here we show that 64.1% of EC cells appear to be within 0-2 µm from the nearest CGRP labelled nerve fibres in the mouse distal colon. Overall, 95% of EC cells were found to come within 10 µm from the nearest CGRP labelled sensory nerve fibre, a distance at which previous studies have indicated EC cell released serotonin is in high enough concentrations to activate nearby serotonin receptors (Raghupathi et al., 2013). CGRP is a known marker of sensory neurons in the GI tract, known to label both intrinsic and extrinsic sensory neurons, with 90% of sensory mucosal endings in the colon being CGRP+ (Spencer et al., 2014). Extrinsic CGRP labelled sensory neurons typically have a role in sensing temperature, itch, and pain (McCoy et al., 2013), while both extrinsic and intrinsic forms are thought to play a role in GI motility (Furness et al., 2004b). Others have reported that two-thirds of EECs synapse with nearby nerves innervating the intestinal mucosa (Bohórquez et al., 2015), although only two common EEC subtypes were analysed, which does not represent all EECs. Further studies found that L cell neuropods in the colon contacted 67.3% of PGP9.5 (a pan-neuronal marker (Otsuki et al., 2004)) labelled nerve fibres (Bohórquez et al., 2015). These same cells were also specifically found to contact CGRP nerves in the colon, although these connections were not quantified (Bohórquez et al., 2015). Other studies on EC cells found that the basolateral side made contact with 5-HT<sub>3</sub> receptor (5HT<sub>3</sub>R) expressing nerve fibres in intestinal tissue collected from 5HT<sub>3</sub>R reporter mice (Bellono et al., 2017). 5HT<sub>3</sub>R is expressed by intrinsic neurons of the intestines, as well as a subset of extrinsic sensory nerve fibres (Tecott et al., 1995). One future direction from the current study, is to use 5-HTR reporter mice to determine the frequency at which neurons containing the serotonin receptor are in close contact with EC cells. This tissue could also be immunohistochemically stained and analysed for other neuronal markers which commonly innervate the intestinal mucosa to determine neuronal circuitry in which EC cells are involved within the gut wall, and hence gain a better understanding of the mechanisms through which serotonin might act.

Interestingly, a recent study reported an opposing conclusion on the relationship between EC cells and neurons, declaring that colonic EC cells do not form consistent close relationships with any nerve fibres, including CGRP, tachykinin (TK) or vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) nerve fibres (Koo et al., 2021). This study did note that some EC cells of the proximal colon, which contained both serotonin and TK, were in close proximity to TK containing nerve fibres (Koo et al., 2021). However, the method used to study this, and the definition used to determine a 'close contact' was not mentioned in this study, and hence it is hard to compare their conclusions with what was found in the current study.

The current study is the first published record that human EECs contain neuropods which make contact with nerve fibres in the colon, as we provide the first evidence that EC cells of the human colon contact PGP 9.5 labelled neuronal fibres within the GI wall. This provides the first evidence that EECs of the human GI tract also have the capacity to make direct communication with nerves in the gut wall. Interestingly just 25% of human EC cells were found to be within 0-2 μm of the nearest nerve fibre, this is significantly lower than the ~60% of EC cells which come within 0-2 μm of the nearest nerve fibre in mice, however, is likely due to either significant underpowered results in human, or the differences in neuronal marker used between the two tissue types. Previous reports suggested that human EC cell neuropods extend to other epithelial cells (Sjölund et al., 1983). Whilst significant further investigation is required, it is apparent that some human EECs contain neuropods with the potential to form functional connections with neurons.

In the present study, every EC cell found to touch a CGRP nerve fibre was manually studied to determine the location at which the sensory fibre contacts the EC cell in mouse colon. The majority of contact points on EC cells from neuronal fibres was discovered to be on the cell body, rather than at the end of neuropods. This was an unexpected finding given the previous reports of the functional connection formed between these two cell types and does not align with the previous hypothesis that the primary function of neuropods is to grow towards neurons to form direct connections. Hence whilst the term 'neuropod' has been used recently, we believe that this is not an accurate description of these cells, particularly as only a proportion of cells contain neuropods, and most connections with neurons are not made at the point of neuropods. For consistency throughout this thesis, however, we will continue with the term neuropods.

Others have suggested that EECs contain swellings along their neuropods which resemble neuronal varicosities (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Kuramoto et al., 2021). Varicosities are known to facilitate the diffuse transmission of neurotransmitter release along neuronal axons but can also form the point of synaptic transmission (Zhang et al., 2011). This idea is supported by studies which found the expression of genes

195

encoding for presynaptic and postsynaptic proteins in EEC subtypes (Bohórguez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018) including EC cells (Bellono et al., 2017); as well as the identification of genes which transcribe the glutamate transporter (vesicular glutamate transporter 1 protein) (Kaelberer et al., 2018) and enzymes which are essential for the synthesis of the neurotransmitter dopamine within some EEC subtypes (Bohórguez et al., 2015). Neuropods also contain neurofilaments, which resemble filaments present in axons (Bohórquez et al., 2014), suggesting that these basal structures are similar to axonal projections. Finally, when co-culturing EECs with sensory neurons, a connection is formed between the two cell types, as the EEC develops a process that extends towards the neuron (Bohórquez et al., 2015). Together, these data suggest that EEC neuropods function as synaptic-like structures which facilitate direct communication to innervating nerves. Taken together these results indicate that neurons make functional connection with EECs, however this might not be the direct function of neuropods. The use of immunohistochemical analysis to determine whether presynaptic and postsynaptic proteins are present within both EECs and on neuronal fibres at the points of contact would provide further evidence to indicate whether these interactions might facilitate functional connections.

The prospect that the connections between EC cells and neurons facilitate direct synaptic-like communication has been doubted by some research groups. Such researchers argue that neither EC cell neuropods nor nerves fibres generally cross the basal lamina (Kuramoto et al., 2007, Koo et al., 2021, Kuramoto et al., 2021), hence the likeliness of these cells forming synaptic connections seems questionable. Other studies have identified a complete lack of close contact between other EECs, such as I cells, and enteric or vagal sensory nerves in the rat small intestine (Berthoud and Patterson, 1996). Furthermore, the likelihood of such connections between EEC

cells, known to migrate along the crypt-villus axis in typically 4-5 days (Heath, 1996), and neurons innervating the GI tract is doubted by others (Bertrand, 2009). As this rapid turnover of EECs indicates only a short timeframe for the formation of such neuronal connections, hence reducing the feasibility of such connections. However, the most recent evidence on EEC lifespan is adapting, with recent studies suggesting that specific pools of EECs remain in the epithelium for up to 13 months, for EC cells (Wei et al., 2021), or up to 70 days for other EECs (Bohórquez et al., 2015, Tsubouchi and Leblond, 1979). This suggests that there might be pools of EECs which are longlived and hence more likely to form functional connections with neurons in the intestinal wall. It would be interesting to co-stain intestinal tissue from EC cells are the subgroup of cells that form connections with neurons.

A key to better understanding the function of these neuropods will be to identify the cell types to which they extend towards. Reports have suggested that EEC neuropods might form contact with other epithelial cells, including other EECs. This is indicated by the vast literature describing the location of neuropods within the mucosal lining, in which some neuropods are seen to extend away from the direction of the crypt (Bohórquez et al., 2011), in other cases they are shown to extend towards adjacent cells (Chandra et al., 2010, Kuramoto et al., 2021), and other times towards epithelial cells considerably further away (Bohórquez et al., 2011). Interestingly neuropods have been found to extend across 3 or more neighbouring cells (Chandra et al., 2010), even spanning up to 15 epithelial cells away. Neuropods also extend significant lengths, upwards of 100  $\mu$ m (Koo et al., 2021), and in an intricate and complex manner by weaving between neighbouring cells (Bohórquez et al., 2011). Submucosally-directed neuropods are usually longer than apical-directed neuropods opening to the lumen

197

(Kuramoto et al., 2021), and often run along the bases of surrounding epithelial cells (Koo et al., 2021). These EEC neuropods have also been suggested to form an interface between epithelial cells and the lamina propria (Bohórquez et al., 2011). The complex anatomy and intricacies of EEC neuropods suggests that the direction and length to which they are formed is purposeful, however significant work is required in order to further understand this purpose.

D cells were the first EEC subtype described to contain a 'basal process' in the literature, since found to function through paracrine secretions onto other EEC subtypes (Larsson et al., 1979). In this system, D cell basal processes come into close contact with target cell types, G cells and parietal cells (Chandra et al., 2010), to form a circuit in which D cell basal processes are seen to innervate other cells, so that somatostatin could be delivered to a targeted single cell (Larsson et al., 1979). As mentioned above, other EEC subtypes, including L, I and EC cells, have been described to extend towards other epithelial cell types (Bohórguez et al., 2011, Sjölund et al., 1983), such as other EECs, or enterocytes (Chandra et al., 2010). Similarly, we have shown that EC cell neuropods also appear to project towards each other in the mouse colon (see Appendix Figure 8) however further analysis is required. Studies on human colon and rectum identified EC cells which extended neuropods towards adjacent epithelial cells (Sjölund et al., 1983). It is possible that EECs might release hormones in a more directed paracrine fashion onto specific cell types through neuropods. A very recent study identified that serotonin release from EC cells has a paracrine role in regulating L cell differentiation (Lund et al., 2020). These results suggest that basal processes on EC cells, and EECs more broadly, might facilitate interactions on surrounding epithelial cells, including other EECs, and nerve endings through either a synaptic connection or a paracrine manner.

198

It is possible that different subtupes of EC cells exist, which facilitate separate functions, hence explaining why only a portion of EC cell neuropods make contact with sensory nerve fibres. Support for the hypothesis that there are at least two separate pools of EC cells in the GI tract is growing within the literature, based on numerous recent studies. One pool of EC cells is known to be significantly longer lived (Wei et al., 2021), while the other pool is thought to turnover at the typical rate for EEC cell cycle. There is also evidence that EC cells can be divided into two distinct pools based on genotype, as two separate clusters of EC cells are seen as a result of genetic sequencing of the intestinal epithelium (Piccand et al., 2019, Gehart et al., 2019, Beumer et al., 2020). Similarly, EC cells are known to differ greatly in morphology, with some populations containing neuropods and others which do not, as in both the current study and previous studies (Kuramoto et al., 2007, Koo et al., 2021, Kuramoto et al., 2021). Such differences in EC cell morphology might suggest different functions of these cells. It has long been known that some EC cells, as well as other EECs, are open to the lumen, while other cells are closed off to the lumen (Koo et al., 2021), hence only a percentage of EC cells are able to detect luminal contents. This prompts questions such as how open and closed cells might differ in function. Both open and closed EC cells contain neuropods (Koo et al., 2021), with a greater abundance of EC cells containing long neuropods in the mouse distal colon compared to the proximal colon (Koo et al., 2021, Kuramoto et al., 2021). Open EC cells are the most common morphology seen along the colon (Kuramoto et al., 2021), although interestingly most EC cells with long neuropods were closed off from the lumen (Kuramoto et al., 2021). It is likely that the different morphologies seen in EC cells pertain to different roles that these cells are known to play as sensory cells, such as responding to nutrients (Bellono et al., 2017) and metabolites (Reigstad et al., 2014), mechanical stimuli

(Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018), and noxious stimuli (Latorre et al., 2016a). Furthermore, genetic subtypes have been identified, in which endocrine and nonendocrine genotypes have been described (Piccand et al., 2019, Tsakmaki et al., 2020). Recent evidence suggests that mechanosensitive and chemo-sensitive EC cells utilise separate signalling pathways (Alcaino et al., 2020). A similar hypothesis was postulated up to 50 years ago that open type cells extend their apical neuropod to reach the lumen to detect the chemical contents (Fujita and Kobayashi, 1971, Fujita, 1973) in order to relay back to neurons in the GI wall. While closed cells were thought to spread their neuropods over the basement membrane, opening them up to be easily distorted in response to mechanical pressure (Fujita and Kobayashi, 1971), hence responding to mechanical stimuli applied to the mucosal membrane (Kobayashi et al., 1971, Kuramoto et al., 2021). This hypothesis has not yet been disproven, and with two thirds of neuropod-containing EC cells found in the lower half of the crypt (Kuramoto et al., 2007), and most of the EC cells with long neuropods being of closed morphology (Kuramoto et al., 2021), the idea that closed cells could be mechanoreceptors is favoured. In further support of the idea of two different subtypes of EC cells, other EECs have been shown to display different forms of communication, such as I cells which have been shown to release CCK in a paracrine function, as well as use glutamate as a transmitter to activate vagal sensory nerves via synaptic connections (Kaelberer et al., 2018). It is also known that synaptic connections only cover a few hundred nanometres in length (Bohórquez et al., 2014) and hence these large and long neuropods likely facilitate both neural connections along the process, as well as hormonal release towards the tip in a paracrine fashion. It may depend on where EECs are along the crypt-villus axis, or which EEC subtype they differentiate into, as to whether these neuropods are functional as connections to neurons, or as

paracrine communicators which release hormones to other epithelial and EECs. It is likely that there are different subtypes of EC cells, which differ in their lifespan, morphology, and function, however further investigation is required to delineate these subtypes and characterise them individually.

Many studies have indicated that the function of these neuropods is to form connections with neurons which innervate the GI tract, to facilitate the direct communication between EECs which sense the luminal environment and extrinsic innervation which signals to the brain. Such a direct connection has been supported through two recent studies which demonstrate an inhibitory effect in hypothalamic neurons, known to control food intake, within seconds nutrients entering the duodenum (Beutler et al., 2017, Su et al., 2017). More specifically to EC cells, GPR65containing vagal afferents, largely present in the small intestinal mucosa, have been shown to be serotonin sensitive (Williams et al., 2016). GPR65 neurons are responsive to meal associated stimuli in the intestinal lumen (Williams et al., 2016), hence it is likely that direct EC cell-neuronal connections may facilitate such a direct transfer of information. Similarly, it is known that EC cell serotonin acts within the gut-brain axis to mediate chemotherapy-induced nausea (Blackshaw and Grundy, 1993). It is also likely that such connections could facilitate communication between EC cells and intrinsic neurons, to facilitate their function in the modulation of GI motility as a direct functional connection between EC cells and intrinsic neurons labelled with serotonin receptors was recently revealed (Bellono et al., 2017). Such connections are likely to facilitate the neuromechanical loop in which EC cells signal to intrinsic sensory neurons to modulate gut motility (Spencer et al., 2016). Hence, there are many functions for which direct connection between EC cells and nerves within the gut-wall, with implications both within the GI tract and more broadly the gut-brain axis.

201

## 4.5 Conclusion

In the current study we have found that more than half of EC cells contain neuropods in the mouse distal colon and provide the first evidence that EC cells form direct contact with sensory afferents in mouse colon and nerve fibres in the human colon. We also note, however, that such connections primarily occur at the cell body, and not at the point of neuropods as was hypothesised based on the initial descriptions of neuropods. Overall, we demonstrate the EC cells do come into direct contact with sensory neurons in the gut wall, however we open up a range of further questions surrounding such the function of neuropods. CHAPTER 5: Characterization of the connection between enterochromaffin cells and spinal sensory neurons in the mouse colon.

## 5. Characterization of the connection between enterochromaffin cells and spinal sensory neurons in the mouse colon.

### 5.1 Introduction

Enteroendocrine cells (EEC) are important in a range of physiological functions including in intestinal physiology, peripheral metabolism and the gut-brain axis (Martin et al., 2020b, Latorre et al., 2016b, Gribble and Reimann, 2016, Jones et al., 2020). The connection between EECs and enteric neurons, which facilitate the gut-brain axis, is of emerging interest due to the significant list of physiological functions in which the gut-brain axis has been implicated (Agirman and Hsiao, 2021). While the connections between EECs and enteric neurons are not well understood, it has recently been hypothesised that they form functional synaptic-like connections to communicate sensory information (Bohórquez et al., 2015). The existence of such connections is clear as described in the previous chapter, as well as by numerous other studies (Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018), however there is a poor understanding of the factors which drive the formation of such connections. The primary extrinsic innervation of the mouse colon originates in the spinal column, with the entirety of spinal afferent nerve cell bodies encompassed in the dorsal root ganglion (DRG) (Brierley et al., 2018). The mouse distal colon, specifically, is thought to be predominantly innervated by extrinsic afferents originating from levels L6-S1 DRG (Spencer et al., 2020). Initial in vitro work on the morphology of neuropods indicates that both EEC neuropods and neuronal extensions grow towards each other (Bohórquez et al., 2015), suggesting that there are likely chemoattractants expressed by both cell types guiding the formation of connections. Such chemoattractants could include neurotrophic factors, known to encourage neuronal growth and guide axons of DRG neurons ex vivo (Yasuda et al., 1990, Madduri et al., 2009), which also form

chemical gradients that stimulate and guide the formation of neuropods in EECs (Bohórquez et al., 2014). Further *in vitro* work utilising intestinal organoids has demonstrated nerve growth factor (NGF) as an important neurotrophin in driving neuropod formation of EECs (Bohórquez et al., 2014). However, the cellular source and relevance of NGF signalling *in vivo*, is currently unknown. Enteric glia have also been proposed to play a role in promoting enteric neuronal and axonal development via the secretion of neurotrophic factors (Bush et al., 1998, Bohórquez et al., 2014), however this work is only in its infancy. Overall, the factors driving the formation of EEC-neural connections warrant further study.

Similarly, little is known about the factors that control the fate of locally residing intestinal stem cells, which give rise to five terminally differentiated epithelial cell types: enterocytes, paneth, goblet, tuft and EECs. Recent lineage tracing studies have described transcriptional factors that contribute to the differentiation of these epithelial cells, such as those that inhibit Notch signaling and upregulate Atoh1 expression associated with the secretory cell lineage (Zecchini et al., 2005b, Stanger et al., 2005, Fre et al., 2005). Notably EEC differentiation is also favoured through neurogenin-3 (Ngn3) expression (Jenny et al., 2002a, Lee et al., 2002). In addition, EECs adapt their hormonal profile based on their position along the crypt-villus axis (Beumer et al., 2018), a process mediated by bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signaling (Beumer et al., 2018). Other non-genetic factors can also alter intestinal epithelial cell fate, including the microbiome. Germ-free mice have significant increases in the number of EECs (as per Chromogranin A expression), enterochromaffin (EC) cells, K cells and L cells (Modasia et al., 2020) which are restored to baseline after colonization with certain bacterial strains (Modasia et al., 2020). In some circumstances particular cell types can be favoured, such as in mice on a high fat diet (HFD), in which colonic EC

cell density is markedly increased (Martin et al., 2020a). This is reflected in obese human gut, also shown to contain significantly higher densities of EC cells compared to controls (Young et al., 2018). Few studies have considered a role for enteric neurons in the control of epithelial cell proliferation. A small number of studies have provided evidence that mucosal afferents can regulate intestinal stem cell proliferation (Lundgren et al., 2011, Peck et al., 2017), with one such study indicating the potential role for calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) and substance P in such a capacity (Lundgren et al., 2011). Other neuronal subtypes, such as vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), have also been shown to influence intestinal stem cell fate, favouring differentiation into goblet cells (Schwerdtfeger and Tobet, 2020). Despite a significant amount of ongoing research, the precise mechanisms and factors that control intestinal stem cell fate remain incompletely understood.

In this chapter we address the numerous gaps in understanding of the factors which control EEC fate and the formation of EEC-neuronal connections. Due to the close relationship between EC cells and CGRP neuronal fibres, with ~64% of EC cells making these connections, we were interested to determine the effect of which the removal of extrinsic sensory fibres would have on EC cells. The following chapter aims to test the role of extrinsic sensory innervation of the mouse distal colon specifically on EC cells and their neuropod characteristics. To do this we utilise a surgical mouse model, in which L6-S1 DRG are ablated, hence lesioning the majority of extrinsic sensory innervation of the distal colon *in vivo*. Confocal microscopy analysis on the colonic tissue from DRG-ablated and control mice was conducted to deduce the role of extrinsic sensory innervation of EC cell neuropods and EC cells. The specific aims were to:

- 1. Determine whether the removal of extrinsic spinal sensory innervation of the colon affects the number of EC cells and characteristics of their neuropods;
- Ascertain the effect of this surgical removal of extrinsic innervation on EC cells over time;
- Identify chemoattractants which might contribute to the formation of EC cell neuropods.

The overriding hypothesis of this chapter is that the removal of extrinsic sensory innervation alters EC cell neuropod formation and the density of EC cells in the mouse distal colon.

### 5.2 Methods

### 5.2.1 Mice Tissue and DRG Removal Surgery

Male C57 BL/6 mice between 12-21 weeks old were used in this study. The following surgery was conducted in accordance with Flinders University Animal Welfare Committee, approval number 933/16. Mice were individually housed for 6 days prior to lesion surgery. At commencement of surgery, mice were anaesthetised using inhalation isoflurane – induction 3% in 1L O2 and maintained at 1.5-2% in 1L O2. The dorsal surface was cleaned with sterile alcohol (70%)/chlorhexidine (0.5) (Bayer). Opsite film was applied to the surgical site and a 1.5 cm incision is made into the skin. A bilateral incision is then made into the muscle along the spinal column, and the vertical bone dissected to expose L5-S1 DRG, at no point was the spinal cord exposed. Using super fine 55 forceps (Dumont by FST) the dorsal nerves were lesioned and the DRG detached from the motor/ventral nerve and removed (see Figure 5.1). At completion, the wound was irrigated with sterile saline and muscle incision was closed using 6.0 absorbable polyglycholic acid suture (SilverGlide). Skin was closed using 6.0 non-absorbable nylon suture (SilverGlide) and treated with sterile alcohol (70%)/chlorhexidine (0.5). Mice received a 3-day course of analgesics, subcutaneous (s.c) 1mg/kg Buprenorphine (Temvet, Ilium) at time of surgery, and 1mg/kg Buprenorphine (Activis) in Nutella paste on days 2 and 3 post op. Mice received a single s.c. dose of antibiotic Enrofloxacin (Baytril), 10mg/kg at time of surgery. Mice were clinically monitored for 5 days post-surgery and maintenance monitored until time of euthanasia (day 7 or 21). At time of tissue collection, mice were anesthetized with isoflurane (4%, IsoFlo) and euthanized humanely by cervical dislocation. Colonic tissue was collected as in previous method (3.2.1) and stored in

208

a beaker containing oxygenated Krebs solution, bubbling with 95%  $O_2/5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub> until use.

## 5.2.2 Immunostaining

Immunohistochemistry for the following chapter was performed as in previous chapter methods (4.2.3)



Figure 5.1: Schematic of the surgical method used to remove bilateral L6 and S1 DRG.

A) A schematic of the spinal cord, with a red-dotted line indicating the area of DRG which are cut, and B) the extrinsic innervation of the distal colon, with sensory (green) and efferent (blue) neural innervation. C) A schematic of the spinal cord, with the L6 and S1 DRG removed, and D) the resultant reduction in the extrinsic sensory innervation of the distal colon. Created with BioRender.com.

#### 5.2.3 Microscopy

Microscopy and image capture for the following chapter was performed as described in previous methods (3.2.4).

## 5.2.4 Imaris

Imaris image analysis for the following chapter was performed as described in previous methods (4.2.5). Additionally, in this chapter the thickness of tissue was used to normalise the intensity of CGRP staining for analysis.

## 5.2.5 Bioinformatic analysis and Gene Sorting

Bioinformatics analysis was performed through systematic integration of two publicly available gene lists. The first list was derived from the analysis of mouse DRG sensory neurons in two mice reporter lines (Chiu et al., 2014), in which gene expression in 3 populations of non-overlapping somatosensory neuron classes were quantified using microarray. This initial list was filtered using the gene ontology (GO) term "protein secretion", such that only expression from genes coding for secreted proteins were retained for downstream analyses. Further, focussing on the pairwise comparison conducted between IB4<sup>+</sup> and IB4<sup>-</sup> SNS-Cre lineage neurons, where differential expression (DE) was determined by the statistical criteria of fold-change >2, p < 0.05, we created a curated list of protein secretion genes more highly expressed in IB4<sup>-</sup> compared to IB4<sup>+</sup> SNS-Cre. The second list was derived from EC cells, using a GFP-tagged Chromogranin A reporter mouse small intestinal tissue (Bellono et al., 2017) in which gene expression was quantified through single cell RNA sequencing (scRNAseq). Briefly, this study collected RNA from GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> cells, in which GFP<sup>+</sup> was a purified population of EC cells from organoids, and GFP<sup>-</sup> consisted of all other intestinal epithelial cells. This list was interrogated for all known receptors of the

previously identified secreted proteins of interest. Further, using the data obtained by Bellono et al. (2017), we retained only receptors with a fold-change >1 and statistical significance p< 0.05 based on differential expression between GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> cells.

## 5.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed as in previous method (4.2.6).

## 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Acute reduction in CGRP innervation of the distal colon after L6-S1 DRG removal surgery.

Confocal microscopy and 3D image analysis were used to confirm the reduction in extrinsic sensory innervation of the distal colon, post-removal of the DRG known to innervate this region (L6-S1). The reduction in sensory innervation was measured through CGRP immunofluorescence in images of the distal colon 7 days post-surgery, confirming a significant reduction in CGRP-labelled nerve fibres of DRG ablated mice (Figure 5.2A, B). This was quantified through analysis of the total fluorescence of CGRP staining in 3D re-constructed images, revealing a 52.7% reduction in CGRP fluorescence of DRG ablated colonic tissue (see Figure 5.2C).



Figure 5.2: Reduced CGRP labelled sensory innervation in DRG ablation surgery mice.

An example z-projection of CGRP (green) labelled A) control mouse distal colon and B) mouse distal colon 7 days post-DRG removal surgery. Scale bar = 30  $\mu$ m. C) The quantified immunofluorescent intensity of CGRP compared between control and post-DRG removal. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001

## 5.3.2 Depleted CGRP spinal innervation and EC cell number post L6-S1 DRG removal.

EC cells were immunohistochemically labelled and quantified in control and DRGablated distal colonic tissue using epifluorescence and confocal microscopy. Images (n=5 per colon) were taken in a blinded manner from the most distal 1 cm of the colon (termed 'distal cm'), and the next 1 cm of the distal colon more proximally (termed 'proximal distal cm'), by two different researchers. These images were then quantified separately and in a blinded manner by the two researchers. The data from both researchers confirmed a significant reduction in EC cell number in the DRG-ablated colon compared with controls (see Figure 5.3). A similar proportion of reduction was noted from both researchers, with a 53% and 48% reduction reported of the most distal cm, and 37% and 33% reduction in the more proximal distal cm. These results were then re-analysed using 3D imaging analysis, which confirmed the reduction in EC cell number of the distal colon (see Figure 5.4), indicating a 52% reduction in EC cells in the distal colon of DRG-ablated mice (see Figure 5.5). This data demonstrates that a reduction in the extrinsic sensory innervation of the distal colon leads to the significant reduction in the number of EC cells in the mouse colon.



Figure 5.3: EC Cell numbers quantified from 2D epifluorescence imaging.

The number of EC cells counted by double blinded A) researcher one and B) researcher two (n=4, N=10). Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.


Figure 5.4: Fewer EC cells are observed in the distal mouse colon post-

#### surgery.

Representative z-stack projections of EC cells labelled with serotonin (red) and CGRPlabelled nerve fibres (green) in the A) control distal colon, and the notable reduction of both in B) DRG-ablated mice. Scale bar =  $30 \mu m$ .







Representative gallery images of the number of EC cells (stained for serotonin) counted in the distal colon of control (A) and surgery (B) mice. Scale bar = 30  $\mu$ m. C) The number of EC cells counted in the distal colon of control and surgery mice (n=4; N=20). Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001,

# 5.3.3 Changes in EC cell characteristics due to the removal of spinal afferent innervation.

Considering the differences in EC cell number, we were interested to see whether there were other cellular changes in the characteristics of the remaining EC cells. Using 3D reconstruction and analysis, the volume of EC cells was decreased in DRGablated distal colons by 17.7%, with an average volume of 508.6 µm<sup>3</sup> compared to 618.1 µm<sup>3</sup> in controls (see Figure 5.6A). In addition, there was a reduction in the proportion of EC cells containing neuropods, decreasing by 20.6% (see Figure 5.6B). The number of neuropods per EC cell was also quantified between DRG-ablated mice and controls. DRG-ablated mice were found to have a reduced number of multiple neuropods overall (see Figure 5.7). The number of EC cells with no neuropods was increased from 14.9% to 30.6% (see Figure 5.7C), as expected because this reflects the reduction in the proportion of EC cells containing neuropods. The proportion of EC cells with 2 neuropods was decreased by 72.8% in DRG-ablated mice, from 22.1% to 6% (see Figure 5.7C). The length of neuropods from cells with only single neuropods was reduced by ~1 µm on average in DRG-ablated colons compared with control (see Figure 5.6C). Hence it is clear that the removal of extrinsic sensory innervation significantly reduced the number, size and neuropod characteristics in EC cells.



Figure 5.6: Characteristics of EC cell morphology change with the removal of extrinsic spinal innervation to the mouse colon.

A) The volume of EC cells measured in the distal colon of control and DRG-ablated mice. B) The percentage of EC cells containing neuropods. C) The median length of all singular neuropods. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*=p<0.05, \*\*=p<0.01





Figure 5.7: EC cells can contain multiple neuropods.

A) An example image of a region of control distal colon with an EC cell with multiple neuropods (in white box) and B) a close-up of this EC cell. Scale bar = 30  $\mu$ m. C) The number of neuropods per EC cell, relative to cell number, in the distal colon of control and surgery mice. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. \*=p<0.05

#### 5.3.4 Changes in EC cells in the colon 3 weeks post DRG removal.

To examine the persistence of differences in CGRP labelled sensory nerve fibres and EC cell number over time DRG-ablated and control proximal and distal colonic tissue was analysed 21 days after surgery. A similar reduction in CGRP fluorescence was seen at 21 days post-surgery in the distal colon (see Figure 5.8), with a 43.1% reduction in total CGRP intensity (see Figure 5.9A). However, the number of EC cells was not different between control and DRG-ablated mouse distal colon at this longer time point (see Figure 5.9B). Interestingly, the total intensity of CGRP fluorescence in the proximal colon of surgery mice also showed a trend of reduction compared to controls, by 57.2% (see Figure 5.10, 5.11A). The number of EC cells is also decreased in the proximal colon of DRG-ablated mice (see Figure 5.11B), by 51%. This data suggests that separate regions of the colon are affected differently at distinct time points.



### Figure 5.8: Representative images of the distal colon 3 weeks post-surgery.

Z-stack projection of A) control distal colon and B) surgical DRG-ablated colon, stained for serotonin (green) and CGRP (red). Scale bar =  $30 \mu m$ .

В





A) The total CGRP fluorescence intensity of the distal colon between control and DRGablated mice. B) The number of EC cells in the distal colon of control and DRG-ablated mice. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*=p<0.05



### Figure 5.10: Representative images of the proximal colon 3 weeks postsurgery.

Z-stack projection of A) control proximal colon and B) surgical DRG-ablated colon, stained for serotonin (green) and CGRP (red). Scale bar =  $30 \ \mu m$ .

В





A) The total CGRP fluorescence intensity is unchanged in the proximal colon between control and DRG-ablated mice. B) The number of EC cells in the proximal colon is reduced in DRG-ablated mice 3 weeks post-surgery. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*=p<0.01

## 5.3.5 Bioinformatic identification of secreted protein:receptor pairs in DRG sensory neurons and EC cells, respectively.

Due to the differences in EC cell density as a result of the removal of the extrinsic sensory innervation to the mouse distal colon, we were interested to determine whether potential chemoattractants secreted from CGRP-labelled sensory nerve fibres contain receptors on EC cells. To do this, we used publicly available data from scRNAseq, to identify the transcript expression of protein-coding genes associated with a subset of mice DRG neurons, IB4<sup>-</sup>SNS-Cre/TdTomato<sup>+</sup> (Chiu et al., 2014). This pool of neurons is known to contain the complete population of CGRP sensory neurons which innervate the colon (Chiu et al., 2014). The 17,000<sup>+</sup> genes sequenced from this population were investigated using gene ontology, and after a comprehensive literature search, 164 protein-encoding genes that transcribe for known secreted proteins were identified. The scRNAseq dataset used here was composed of 2 specific DRG cell types, IB4+SNS-Cre/TdTomato+ and IB4-SNS-Cre/TdTomato<sup>+</sup> (as in method 5.2.5). Using results from the differential expression performed by Chiu et al (2014), the list of protein-coding genes from CGRP neurons was then evaluated based on expression and narrowed down to 42 genes of interest up-regulated in CGRP neurons.

To confirm whether these encoded proteins could be involved in driving EC cell neuropod outgrowth, or EC cell fate, a second literature search was performed to determine receptors for each protein of interest. This list of receptors was cross analysed with a list of genes expressed in EC cells (see Table 2), also from a publicly available scRNAseq data set (Bellono et al., 2017). Notably, of the 162 receptors of interest, 120 were encoded for by genes expressed in EC cells (Bellono et al., 2017). Finally, of the protein:receptor pairs identified, 13 genes were shown to be up regulated in EC cells, compared to all other intestinal epithelial cell types, by differential expression performed by Bellono, et al (2017). This identified a unique set of 13 proteins of interest, where both the protein-coding gene for CGRP neuron secreted factors and the protein-coding gene for EC cell receptor were up-regulated (see Figures 5.12 and 5.13).



Figure 5.12: Genes expressed in CGRP cells which produce secretory products of interest.

The fold-change expression of the 13 protein coding genes of interest in the CGRP pool (IB4<sup>-</sup>SNS-Cre/TdTomato<sup>+</sup>) of DRG neurons relative to non-CGRP containing DRG neurons (IB4<sup>+</sup>SNS-Cre/TdTomato<sup>+</sup>). In which statistical significance of enrichment is indicated by colour, where orange indicates p < 0.05, green indicates p < 0.01, blue indicates p < 0.001, and red indicates p = 0.05.

Table 2: List of genes which produce secretory products matched with knownreceptors.

Protein of Interest		Receptor	
Gene Symbol	Protein	Gene Symbol	Enriched in EC cells
Fgf12	fibroblast growth factor 12	Fgfr1	Yes
Sfrp1	secreted frizzled-related protein 1	Fzd1 Wnt10a	Yes
Penk	[Met]enkephalin [Leu]enkephalin	Receptor not highly expressed in EC cells	No
Adcyap1	adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide 1	Receptor not highly expressed in EC cells	No
Snca	Alpha synuclein	Esr1	Yes
Sema3f	Semaphorin 3f	Plxnb3 Plxnd1	
Sema3e	Semaphorin 3e	Nrp2 Itga4	Yes
Sema5a	Semaphorin 5a	Itga9 Itgal Itgb7	
Lama1	laminin	Dagla	
Bmp15	bone morphogenetic protein 15	Receptor not highly expressed in EC cells	No
Gap43	growth associated protein 43	Receptor unknown	N/A
Slc1a3	solute carrier family 1 (glial high affinity glutamate transporter)	Grin2c Grik4 Grm4	Yes



Figure 5.13: Receptor coding genes expressed in EC cells.

Fold change expression of receptors for secreted proteins of interest highly enriched in EC cells.

#### 5.4 Discussion

A physical connection between EECs lining the GI epithelium and neuronal innervation to the GI tract was recently identified in mouse gut (Bohórquez et al., 2014, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018), as discussed in depth in Chapter 4, however the mechanisms which drive these points of contact are not currently well understood. Here we use a surgical DRG-ablation mouse model, in which the extrinsic sensory innervation of the mouse distal colon is removed, to investigate the impact that extrinsic afferents have on EC cells. We investigated the implications of this deinnervation on EC cell density and EC cell neuropod characteristics over multiple time points, with the use of confocal microscopy, 3D reconstruction and advanced image analysis.

The removal of the extrinsic afferents resulted in a 50% reduction in total CGRP of the mouse distal colon, with remaining CGRP assumed to comprise intact intrinsic afferents. The removal of just the extrinsic innervation to the colon *in vivo* has not been achieved before, although similar experiments are routine in the upper gut, known as a vagotomy. A vagotomy is a surgery in which the primary extrinsic innervation to the small intestine, the vagus nerve, is severed to remove the primary extrinsic innervation to the stomach and small intestine among other organs. The separate contributions of intrinsic and extrinsic sensory innervation to the distal colon have proven difficult to distinguish, due to their similarities in chemical coding and genetic make-up, our unique DRG-ablation surgery model allows the identification of such contributions. Interestingly, just 7 days after surgery there is a dramatic reduction in the number of EC cells in the distal colon, as measured through serotonin staining. This considerable loss of EC cells was surprising as we had anticipated a more significant effect from the surgical DRG-ablation on EC cell neuropod formation than on the density of cells

themselves. However, it is important to note that only serotonin fluorescence intensity was used to quantify EC cell numbers, not cell counts, hence it is possible that Tph1 expression was affected rather than the number of EC cells. A reduction in Tph1 expression would also result in a reduction of serotonin production, which could lead to the dramatic decrease in serotonin staining seen here in colonic tissue from DRG-ablation mice. Other circumstances have been shown to alter Tph1 expression, such as the absence of a microbiome which causes a reduction in colonic Tph1 in germ-free (GF) mice (Sjögren et al., 2012, Yano et al., 2015). In these mice, Tph1 can be restored by short chain fatty acids (SCFA) (Reigstad et al., 2014). To address this in future studies, samples from DRG-ablation mice should be co-stained with other EC cell markers not involved in serotonin production, such as VMAT1, Tac1 or Reg4 (Haber et al., 2017).

EC cell neuropod morphology was also affected as a result of the DRG-ablation surgery, specifically, the percentage of EC cells containing neuropods, neuropod length and the number of EC cells with multiple neuropods were all reduced in the distal colon of DRG-ablated mice. These results supported our hypothesis that CGRP fibers might secrete chemoattractants to promote their connection with EC cells and hence drive neuropod growth. A similar hypothesis was made by another group, suggesting that a chemical gradient is formed by the secretion of such chemical attractants, which drive these directional extensions of cellular processes (Liddle, 2019). Preliminary work by Bohorquez (2014) displayed a role for particular neurotrophins in driving EEC neuropod outgrowth. In this study, two growth factors, nerve growth factor (NGF) and artemin, both secreted from enteric glia and known to have a role in axonal growth were chosen (Yasuda et al., 1990, Baloh et al., 1998, Madduri et al., 2009). *In vitro* work showed that both NGF and artemin increased

233

neuropod formation and length of EECs in intestinal organoids (Bohórquez et al., 2014). This work was important in narrowing down factors which control EEC neuropod formation, and potentially drive EEC-neuronal interactions. However, such work is only preliminary and requires *in vivo* evidence to determine the source of such neurotrophins. Otherwise, there is a paucity of research investigating the factors driving EEC-neural connections. Our study, however, provides further indication that neurons might secrete signals that drive EEC neuropod growth.

A positive relationship between the number of EC cells and CGRP fibres was determined which indicates that CGRP fibres might play a role in determining epithelial cell fate, favouring EC cell differentiation from intestinal stem cells. There is some evidence of such a phenomenon occurring, in which mucosal afferents were found to impact intestinal stem cell proliferation (Lundgren et al., 2011, Peck et al., 2017). In these studies, markers for cell proliferation were investigated in the intestinal mucosa rather than specific epithelial cell markers (Lundgren et al., 2011). This study also suggested that this effect might have been mediated by CGRP or substance P (Lundgren et al., 2011). The effect of CGRP on proliferation, suggests that it would be interesting to determine if other EECs or epithelial subtypes are affected in our DRGablation mice. Interestingly, it was recently shown that vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), presumedly secreted from VIP neurons, modulates ileal goblet cell density in mice (Schwerdtfeger and Tobet, 2020). These studies provide evidence that secreted factors from enteric neurons could have an impact on intestinal stem cells and cell fate. Similarly, other factors have been shown to impact EC cell density, such as short chain fatty acids (SCFA's) shown to increased serotonin release and the number of Chromogranin A positive cells in organoids (Tsuruta et al., 2016). Other studies have shown that commensal bacteria increase EC cell density via SCFAs (Reigstad et al.,

2014, Yano et al., 2015). The reduction in EC cells observed in the current study could occur through an impact of these various factors on the stem cell niche, hence controlling differentiation into EC cells. Recently, transcriptional profiling on mouse EEC fate in real-time has investigated factors which control epithelial cell fate (Gehart et al., 2019), revealing that particular transcriptional factors are important in distinct epithelial lineages (Gehart et al., 2019), such as, Atoh1 expression (Zecchini et al., 2005a, Stanger et al., 2005, Fre et al., 2005) and neurogenin3 (Jenny et al., 2002b, Lee et al., 2002) important in secretory cell fate. The correlation between CGRP intensity and EC cells, together with this evidence increases the feasibility that CGRP neurons have the potential to drive EC cell differentiation.

As we hypothesise that CGRP fibres secrete factors which drive EC cell neuropod formation and regulate EC cell density or Tph1 expression we were interested to determine whether receptors for CGRP-derived guidance signals or neurotrophins are enriched in EC cells. We used bioinformatic analysis to identify genes coding secreted proteins in sensory neurons (Chiu et al., 2014) with receptors for these proteins on EC cells (Bellono et al., 2017), resulting in a shortlist of 13 ligands. Gene ontology determined ligands associated with axon guidance and synaptic formation. One limitation of this dataset was that the publicly available dataset for the CGRP-containing DRG neuronal pool was collected using microarray (Chiu et al., 2014), which is a targeted approach and may not have recorded all genes of interest in comparison to RNAseq which will find all genes above a non-zero transcript abundance. The other publicly available dataset, however, was produced through scRNAseq (Bellono et al., 2017), making it a more sensitive and less biased dataset. Another factor to consider is that this bioinformatic analysis was conducted on mature EC cells, which does not account for the possibility that secreted proteins from CGRP

nerve fibre could affect differentiation at the stem cell level. Hence future bioinformatic analysis should also look at receptors on the colonic stem cell niche, as it is important to delineate whether the effect of sensory neurons is on mature EC cells, Tph1 expression, or on stem cell fate.

The final list of secreted factors of interest includes pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide (PACAP), secreted frizzled related protein 1 (SFRP1), methionine-enkephalin (Met-enk), leucine-enkephalin (Leu-enk), Alpha-synuclein, Semaphorin 3f, 3e and 5a, bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15), laminin, growth associated protein 43 (Gap43) and glutamate. Glutamate is an amino acid that was selected based on the expression of solute carrier family 1, a glial high affinity glutamate transporter, which indicates glutamate is transported by these neurons.

The final list of proteins were selected as potential factors of interest due to their known roles in neuronal development and axonal growth, as well as controlling cell fate. PACAP has a role in neuronal development and neurite outgrowth of sympathetic neuroblasts of the subcallosal cingulate gyrus in the central nervous system (CNS) (DiCicco-Bloom, 1996, Sherwood et al., 2000). PACAP and its receptor are notably expressed throughout the embryonic nervous system, suggested to function in regulating neural patterning and neurogenesis (Dicicco-Bloom et al., 1998).

SFRP1 is a secreted protein part of the secreted frizzled-related protein family (Kawano and Kypta, 2003). SFRP1 binds directly to Wnt, and Frizzled (Fz) proteins (Bafico et al., 1999, Kawano and Kypta, 2003) modulating Wnt signalling (Kawano and Kypta, 2003, Esteve et al., 2019), and also regulates Bmp and Notch (Esteve et al., 2019). Wnt, Bmp and Notch all have significant functions in controlling intestinal stem cell proliferation and cycling (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2008). SFRP1 in the mouse

236

developing retina has a downstream role in Notch signaling, and retinal neurogenesis (Esteve et al., 2011, Esteve et al., 2019).

The naturally occurring endogenous opioids have been described to act as growth factors (Zagon and McLaughlin, 1984, Zagon et al., 1999), these peptides are cleaved from the preproenkephalin gene which we found to be highly expressed by CGRP nerve fibres in our bioinformatic analysis. Met-enk is an endogenous opioid peptide, sometimes referred to as the native opioid growth factor (Malendowicz et al., 2005). The peptide is found in several tissue types throughout the body (Tegeder and Geisslinger, 2004), and has roles in controlling cell proliferation and tissue organisation during embryogenesis (Zagon et al., 1999), (Malendowicz et al., 2005). While the other naturally occurring endogenous opioid, Leu-enk, is expressed in enteric nerves and EC cells (Alumets et al., 1978), the role for the peptide in this context has not been well investigated. As such, it was left in our final list of proteins of interest due to the requirement of further understanding of the peptide's role.

The function of Alpha-synuclein is also not currently well understood (Bendor et al., 2013), although the misfolding of the protein is linked with Parkinson's disease (Bendor et al., 2013). It was included as a protein of interest during the bioinformatical process due to the limited knowledge surrounding the protein's function.

Semaphorins were originally unearthed as axon guidance molecules in the CNS (Koncina E., 2007, Alamri et al., 2017), in particular the class 3 of semaphorins (Alamri et al., 2017). More specifically, Semaphorin 3f (Sema3F) has been shown to act as an axon guidance molecule, with implication for growth cones (Nakayama et al., 2018). Similarly, Semaphorin 3e (Sema3e) has been shown to function in axonal growth through its interactions with Plexin-D1 and NRP1 (Chauvet et al., 2007, Alamri et al., 2017)). This occurs in the spinal cord, in which spinal post-synaptic neurons release

237

Sema3E as a guidance cue to repel or attract incoming axons expressing Plexin-D1, dependant on NRP1 co-expression (Yoshida, 2012). In this instance, Sema-3E controls the specificity of monosynaptic sensory-motor connections, preventing inappropriate synapse formation (Pecho-Vrieseling et al., 2009, Alamri et al., 2017). The third type of Semaphorin highly expressed by CGRP neurons is Semaphorin 5a (Sema5a), known to act as a bifunctional axon guidance cue in the mammalian midbrain (Hilario et al., 2009).

Although no direct role for BMP15 has been indicated in the literature as yet, other BMP proteins are known to impact intestinal epithelial cell differentiation along the crypt-villus axis (Beumer et al., 2018).

Laminin is well known to stimulate axonal growth and play a prominent role in growth cone guidance (Edgar et al., 1994, McKerracher et al., 1996), as well as in axon guidance in development and regeneration (McKerracher et al., 1996, Turney and Bridgman, 2005). Laminin has been linked with neurite growth of sensory neurons in particular (Baron-Van Evercooren et al., 1982), and the guidance of sensory innervation *in vivo* (Sann et al., 2008). These studies highlight laminin as a prominent protein in sensory neuron growth, leading to its inclusion in the current list of proteins of interest.

GAP43, also known as Neuromodulin, is implicated as a protein significantly linked with neuronal growth and pathfinding (Aarts et al., 1998), shown to have specific roles in neurite elongation and synapse formation (Rosskothen-Kuhl and Illing, 2014).

Glutamate is typically known as a traditional neurotransmitter for its functions as an excitatory signaling molecule used significantly in the CNS (Watkins and Jane, 2006). Other roles for the amino acid have been identified, including its function in promoting new growth of functional spines in the developing cortex (Kwon and Sabatini, 2011).

Whilst glutamate is not a typical growth factor, the possibility of such a function within the enteric nervous system or contributing to EEC neuropod formation and growth cannot be ruled out. As described here, the known functions of these proteins indicate that they may contribute to neuropod outgrowth of EECs or potentially play a role in intestinal epithelial cell fate. For future studies, these proteins of interest could be tested on an intestinal organoid model to determine whether they contribute to neuropod outgrowth or EC cell density. If such pathways are identified, future experiments could utilise Tph1<sup>Cre/+</sup> mice (Wei et al., 2021) to knockdown receptors of interest in EC cells specifically to look *in vivo* at whether this influences neuropod development, serotonin and Tph1 expression, or EC cell numbers.

After 21 days post-surgery the amount of CGRP in the distal colon appeared to be less significantly affected, potentially indicating recovery in the system. One possible reason for this could be that the initial ablation of DRG caused such substantial denervation to the colon that it may have caused inflammation in the affected regions, although further evidence would be needed in order to substantiate such a hypothesis. This inflammation could have caused the significantly greater depletion in EC cell density seen initially 7 days post-surgery, as seen previously of EECs in GI inflammation (Lomax et al., 2006), a phenomenon which could have corrected itself by the 21-day time point, hence explaining the recovery of EC cells and CGRP-labelled nerve fibres that we see 3 weeks post-surgery. Interestingly along with the recovery of EC cell numbers in the distal colon, a subsequent reduction of CGRP and EC cell number in the proximal colon was also noted at the longer time point post-surgery. These observations might indicate that sensory neurons from the proximal colon could be migrating to the distal colon to replenish this severely affected region. Similar reinnervation after injury has been shown previously in zebrafish, in which migration

of existing precursor cells distinct from stem cells migrate to affected areas post injury (Vandestadt et al., 2019). Similarly, innervation from the ENS could also have occurred, a phenomenon which has been shown following denervation of the small intestine (Galligan et al., 1988, Jiang and Surprenant, 1992). Such a recovery mechanism might occur due to the importance of EECs along the gut wall. The importance of these cells has been outlined through mouse models, in which an important transcriptional factor for EEC differentiation, Ngn3, is lethal in knockout mice (Mellitzer et al., 2010b). It is also important to understand the mechanisms by which EECs differentiate, as EEC numbers have implications in a variety of human diseases, such as various gut disorders, diabetes, obesity, and even cognitive disorders including depression and anxiety (Tsakmaki et al., 2020). Hence to define the regulatory network which controls EEC differentiation has significant therapeutic potential.

The lack of a sham model in this study is a significant limitation, one which would help to decipher whether inflammation caused by the surgery might be a confounding factor in such results. Hence it is clear that in future studies using these experimental mice a number of extra important controls will be included, such as sham surgery mice and the use of proximal tissue from all time points as an internal control. The use of sham surgery mice are particularly important as surgical procedures themselves can cause confounding effects. Hence, the use of a sham model would confirm that the results we see in the current study are as a direct result of the removal of spinal afferent innervation to the gut, and not as a result of the surgical procedure itself.

The molecular pathways which guide the innervation of the mucosa and determine the anatomy of the myenteric and submucosal plexuses are also not entirely understood yet (Kang et al., 2021). A few studies have recently identified neurons as having a role in the control of the epithelium and intestinal stem cell fate, and vice versa (Lai et al., 2020). Serotonin has been shown to play a role in enteric neural development, proposed to act as an axon guidance cue in the ENS {Park, 2019 #4556}(Vicenzi et al., 2020). This has been suggested by other researchers, who propose that chemoattractants are released from both EECs and enteric neurons to promote neurite and neuropod growth to form EEC-neuronal connections (Liddle, 2019). Hence EC cells might secrete serotonin to attract neurons to innervate the mucosa and synapse with EECs, whilst neurons might secrete factors which control EEC cell differentiation and neuropod outgrowth. Recent work has shown that serotonin might act as a chemoattractant/directional cue in axonal outgrowth of DRG sensory neurons in vitro (Vicenzi et al., 2020). As such, low concentrations of serotonin were shown to attract sensory growth cones, while high concentrations were shown to stop growth cones. Such a gradient would make sense as a guidance cue, as the concentration of serotonin would start low, and get higher as the axon grows closer to EC cells. In vivo models, such as germ-free mice, have demonstrated both a reduction in EC cell serotonin and a reduction in enteric neurons, and the replenishment of enteric neurons with the addition of exogenous serotonin (De Vadder et al., 2018). As such, it has been suggested that serotonin may function as a mucosal growth factor, important as a developmental signal in the early postnatal mouse ENS {Park, 2019 #4556}. In future studies, it would be interesting to look at the ENS of Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mice (Wei et al., 2021), in which a knockdown of EC cell serotonin can be induced in mature mice, to determine the role of EC cell serotonin on enteric neurogenesis and maintenance.

#### 5.5 Conclusion:

This body of work has demonstrated, and characterised, for the first time the relationship between EC cells and extrinsic sensory neurons in the mouse distal colon. We show through the utilisation of a surgical DRG-ablation mouse model, that the removal of the extrinsic sensory innervation to the mouse distal colon has inhibitory effects on EC cell neuropods, and the number of EC cells themselves. This phenomenon appeared to recover over time, however more investigation is required. Finally, we highlight 13 protein:receptor pairs of interest, through bioinformatic analysis of CGRP and EC cell sequencing, which may mediate the role of CGRP-secreted proteins in EC cell formation.

**CHAPTER 6: General Discussion** 

#### 6. General Discussion

The overall aim of this body of work was to determine how serotonin is involved in gastrointestinal (GI) motility, and to characterise the connections between enterochromaffin (EC) cells and sensory neurons. Using a combination of primary mouse and human GI tissue, and mouse models with Tph1-specific genetic manipulations or novel DRG ablation surgery, this work specifically aimed to answer the following questions:

- 1. Is EC cell serotonin essential in gut motility?
- 2. Is Piezo2 the mechanosensitive ion channel responsible for human and mouse EC cell mechanotransduction?
- 3. Do EC cells make direct contact with sensory nerves in the intestinal wall?
- 4. What role do extrinsic afferents play in driving the formation of EC cell neuropods?

This chapter discusses how these questions have been addressed by this thesis, and highlights both contributions to the field and future directions from these studies.

#### 6.1 Summary of results and implications

#### 6.1.1 EC-cell derived serotonin is modulatory, but not essential in GI motility:

Significant investigation has taken place surrounding the importance of serotonin in GI motility, since the establishment of initial dogma suggested serotonin as the key driver of motility. Work within the last decade focusing on the importance of serotonin in motility has polarised research groups, with debate surrounding whether serotonin is essential in driving motility or is released in response to motility (Smith and Gershon, 2015a, Spencer et al., 2015, Smith and Gershon, 2015b). Previous work within this field has utilised dissected preparations, pharmacological approaches and knockout models, although each have been confounded with their own issues detracting from normal physiology (Keating and Spencer, 2010, Li et al., 2011, Heredia et al., 2013). Hence, there has been a distinct lack in technology, in which the need for a superior model to specifically knockdown EC cells post-development has left an overall gap in the literature around the explicit role of serotonin in motility. To address this, Chapter 2 of this thesis details the investigation of the role of EC cell derived serotonin in colonic motility utilising a novel mouse model in which the specific ablation of EC cells is induced in mature mice. In this study we confirm the specificity of ablation and normal gut development in the Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Rosa26<sup>DTA/+</sup> mouse line, allowing us to conclusively investigate the role of EC cell derived serotonin in motility while bypassing many of the previous confounding issues. We demonstrate conclusively for the first time that contractile activity and peristalsis is still functional in adult mice lacking EC cell serotonin, indicating that EC cell serotonin is not essential for GI motility. Furthermore, Chapter 2 details the conclusive finding that EC cell depleted mice have significantly slower motility both ex vivo and in vivo compared with control mice, demonstrating that EC cell serotonin is modulatory, but not the key driver, of GI

motility. This work builds on previous reports by our research group on the role of EC cell serotonin as important, but not required, for gut motility.

Furthermore, the debate regarding the role of serotonin in GI motility extends to neuronal-derived serotonin, and whether this pool of serotonin is important for contractile activity. We addressed the role of neuronal serotonin in motility in Chapter 2, providing evidence that inhibiting serotonin re-uptake at neuronal synapses has no effect on motility in mice devoid of EC cells. Hence demonstrating that Tph2-derived serotonin is unlikely to have a role in modulating motility, supporting the conclusion drawn by previous investigation (Sia et al., 2013b, Spencer et al., 2013).

The research completed within this thesis conclusively distinguishes the role of serotonin in GI motility, an important addition to our overall understanding of GI motility in both health and disease. This new knowledge may now enable better insight into the mechanisms which are affected in various motility disorders, hence opening up potential new targets to direct treatments towards for such disorders. Altered gut serotonin levels have previously been implicated in a number of functional motility disorders, such as gastric emptying, slow transit constipation, and IBS (Gershon and Tack, 2007, Wei et al., 2021). Currently many of these are treated with serotonergic agents that reduce symptoms, but do not cure disease and typically come with significant side effects. The data presented in this thesis adds significantly to our understanding of the role of serotonin in motility which will allow for the development of pharmaceuticals to act directly on EC cells to either stimulate or block the release of serotonin to treat various motility disorders. The primary benefit of this work is that it identifies a target for future drug treatments, as non-absorbable oral drugs could be developed to directly target EC cells to better modulate motility in these patients. Such

specificity would significantly reduce off-target affects common with serotonergic acting drugs and improve the quality of life for those who suffer from such chronic disorders.

## 6.1.2 Piezo2, an important mechanosensitive channel in mouse and human EC cells, is important in GI motility:

EC cells have long been known to possess mechanosensing abilities, with early evidence published over 60 years ago demonstrating the release of serotonin from guinea pig intestine upon mucosal compression. Since these initial reports the mechanisms in which EC cells sense mechanical stimuli have been further investigated, with the most recent evidence demonstrating a role for the mechanosensing ion channel Piezo2 in mouse EC cell mechanobiology (Wang et al., 2017, Alcaino et al., 2018). However, to date no evidence for human EC cell mechanotransduction has been described. In Chapter 3 of this thesis, we provide the first evidence that the mechanosensing channel Piezo2 is present and important in human EC cell mechanotransduction. We demonstrate through carbon-fibre amperometry that the real-time release of serotonin is significantly reduced from human small and large bowel in the presence of a Piezo inhibitor, highlighting the role for Piezo2 in human EC cell mechanically evoked serotonin release for the first time. Throughout this study we use varied techniques to describe the release of serotonin in response to both mucosal compression and fluid movement and provide evidence suggests differences EC which between small large bowel cell and mechanosensitivity.

One key factor in the debate surrounding the importance of EC cell serotonin in motility is the order in which events serotonin release and gut contractions occur. Some

247

researchers suggest that serotonin release comes first to drive GI motility (Heredia et al., 2009, Smith and Gershon, 2015a), while others believe serotonin is released in response to distention or contraction to modulate this process (Keating and Spencer, 2010, Spencer et al., 2015). However, evidence provided in Chapter 2 demonstrates that contractile activity still occurs in EC cell depleted mice supporting the notion that EC cell serotonin is not required for contractile activity. We instead hypothesised that EC cell serotonin is released in response to motility. Results from Chapter 3 using an ex vivo model where we measure CMMCs in the presence of a Piezo channel inhibitor to demonstrate for the first time that EC cell Piezo2 is a significant modulator of GI motility. These results were confirmed by our collaborators using a novel in vivo model, in which mice with Tph1 cells lacking Piezo2 demonstrate a constipation-like phenotype. This data implicates Piezo2 as the key mechanosensitive ion channel in mouse and human EC cells which allow these cells to detect and respond to distention and contraction, stimulating serotonin release and modulating the rate of peristalsis. Hence, we provide the first conclusive evidence that Piezo2 mediated EC cell mechanosensation is important in modulating colonic motility. Put together, these observations suggest that serotonin release occurs as a result of motor activity rather than as a trigger for it, this role for serotonin is likely in the intrinsic feedback loops which modulates motility. These results further support the previous hypothesis of a positive feedback loop, whereby a bolus stimulates EC cell serotonin which signals to intrinsic neurons to increase the rate of contractions and propagate CMMCs, known as the 'neuromechanical loop'. Here, we add EC cell Piezo2 to the neuromechanical loop, depicting the mechanically stimulated EC cell serotonin is implicated in this pathway and is important in modulating colonic motility (see Figure 6.1). Furthermore,

we suggest a potential role for neuronal Piezo2 in this loop and highlight the need for future investigation to delineate the exact circuitry involved.





The mechanical stimulus of the bolus (Mechanical, blue) activates Piezo2 (arrow) in EC cells (red, arrow), to release serotonin (5-HT, arrow). As such, serotonin activates enteric neurons (Neuro, blue) within the gut wall, which causes a contraction (red) prior to the bolus, and a relaxation (red) of the muscles anally, with respect to the bolus. The bolus is then propelled along the GI tract, stimulating the same pathway, thereby defining the neuromechanical loop.

The work is important in building our understanding surrounding the mechanisms involved in GI motility, particularly as functional mechanosensing is important for healthy GI function. Abnormalities in GI mechanosensation are also linked with diseases including motility disorders such as IBS and constipation (Alcaino et al., 2017a). In slow transit constipation, there is an issue in detecting or responding to a bolus, or distention (Dinning et al., 2015, Dinning et al., 2016) which indicates an issue in the mechanosensing of a stimulus/the luminal environment. This property highlights a potential role for Piezo2 in such motility disorders and opens up a key avenue for future investigation into the pathophysiology underlying slow transit constipation. This is particularly evident as we show here that the specific knockdown of EC cell Piezo2 leads to a slow transit constipation phenotype, similar to that in the Tph1 DTA mouse line (Wei et al., 2021), hence providing further evidence for the potential role of Piezo2 in such motility disorders. Another significant and novel finding from Chapter 3 is that EC cell mechanosensitivity is lost with age, a factor which might contribute to agerelated motility issues such as chronic constipation common amongst the ageing population. Such evidence highlights a new avenue for future investigation into this common issue which could in the future lead to better understanding and treatments for age-related constipation. Hence, data in this thesis creates a building block for future work looking at the potential link between Piezo2 function with slow transit constipation and/or age-related constipation.

#### 6.1.3 EC cells contain neuropods, some of which contact sensory neurons:

We wanted to characterise the connection between EC cells and sensory neurons in the colon to determine how EC cells might communicate with neurons to modulate peristalsis. Recent studies suggest a direct connection between enteroendocrine cells (EECs) and extrinsic sensory neurons of the upper gut via synaptic-like connections, such connections are postulated to occur via anatomical extensions from EECs termed 'neuropods'. Research in this area has focused on L and I cells of the small intestine (Chandra et al., 2010, Bohórquez et al., 2011, Bohórquez et al., 2015, Kaelberer et al., 2018), two EEC subtypes known to play a role in appetite and satiety signalling through communication with extrinsic nerves. There are currently no reports in the literature pertaining to EC cell neuropods, and whether these cells form connections with extrinsic or intrinsic afferents in the colon. We were interested to look at whether EC cells form direct connections to sensory nerves, a mechanism which might facilitate the control of GI motility or impact other central mechanisms. In Chapters 4 and 5 of this thesis we investigate for the first time the relationship between EC cells and CGRP-labelled sensory nerves within the intestinal wall of the colon and demonstrate the presence of neuropod-like processes on most EC cells in the mouse colon. We also demonstrate the presence of EC cell neuropods in human colonic tissue and the very first evidence of direct connections between mouse and human EC cells with colonic neurons. In Chapter 4, we provide evidence that more than half of all EC cells make direct contact with sensory afferents in the distal mouse colon, although upon closer investigation we determine that many of these connections lie at the EC cell body and not at neuropods. This data prompts many questions surrounding such connections, such as whether they are functional, whether they are facilitated by neuropods or another mechanism, and leaves uncertainty around the function of these anatomical processes. Furthermore, whether these connections occur within intrinsic or extrinsic pathways is likely to correlate with their function, EC cells which communicate with intrinsic sensory pathways are likely to modulate colonic contractile activity, whereas those which communicate with extrinsic neurons are likely to have implications in the gut-brain axis. The gut-brain axis has been implicated in a raft of
functions such as in appetite and satiety signalling, as well as numerous diseases, including obesity, psychiatric disorders, and neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease (Cryan et al., 2019). Hence these connections are of great interest as they may play a significant role in gut-brain axis signalling, and hence also in health and disease throughout the body. Thus, a better understanding of the connections between EECs and neurons will have implications locally for GI motility, and better define the role for EECs in the gut-brain axis, and hence more broadly for health and disease impacted through the gut-brain axis.

## 6.1.4 Factors which might drive connections between EC cells and extrinsic sensory neurons:

There is currently very limited understanding of the factors which drive the connections between EECs and neurons in the gut wall, likely due to the novelty of this field. The only previous study to outline connections between EECs and neurons highlights a role for various growth factors in this process, demonstrating *in vitro* an increase in EEC neuropods in organoids treated with growth factors (Bohórquez et al., 2014). The nature of such connections, as discussed in depth in Chapters 4 and 5, is of significant importance in understanding the molecular mechanisms which underlie the gut-brain axis. Hence, it is also important to understand what drives such connections, assuming EEC-neural connections are functional, to further our understanding of the role EECs play in the gut-brain axis. In the current study we were interested to determine factors which might drive the connections between EC cells and CGRP-labelled sensory neurons in the mouse colon, using a novel mouse model in which extrinsic sensory neurons are removed from mice *in vivo*. This unique surgical model allows the ablation of sensory innervation to the distal colon specifically *in vivo*, via the highly specialised removal of particular DRG bilaterally. DRG-ablation mice allow us to delineate the

specific role that extrinsic sensory innervation has in driving EC cell neuropod formation and EC-neural connections. In Chapter 5, we used advanced confocal microscopy and 3D analysis software to characterise EC cell neuropods in DRGablated mice, to determine the effect of the removal of extrinsic sensory innervation on EC cell neuropods. Here, we quantify the significant reduction of CGRP-labelled nerves in the colons of these mice and see a dramatic reduction in the number of EC cells, an unexpected result. We also see a reduction in the number of EC cells which contain neuropods and the mean length of EC cell neuropods within the distal colon of these mice. These findings highlight the potential role for sensory neurons to impact EC cell numbers, and drive EC cell neuropod formation. Such results give us a greater insight into the potential relationship between EC cells and sensory innervation into the colon and open up a range of possibilities for future experiments into this area.

Due to the large impact seen on EC cell numbers in DRG-ablated mice, we used publicly available data sets to investigate potential factors released from CGRP nerves that may impact EC cell numbers and neuropod formation. Using a bioinformatic approach, we define 13 genes of interest expressed in CGRP-containing sensory neurons known to encode for proteins important in axonal growth and development, and controlling cell fate, all of which contain receptors encoded for by genes enriched in EC cells. Our resultant dataset provides a shortlist of factors which are supportive of evidence that chemoattractants from extrinsic sensory innervation contributes to the formation of EC cells and EC cell neuropods. Such work, as described in Chapter 4 and 5 of the current thesis, provides a valuable platform for future investigation into the mechanisms which underpin EEC-neuropod interactions and, more broadly, the gut-brain axis (discussed in the following section, '6.2 Future Directions').

#### **6.2 Future Directions**

The current body of work has demonstrated a modulatory role for EC cell derived serotonin in GI motility, the mechanosensing properties of EC cells by Piezo2, and demonstrated the potential connection of EC cells with both intrinsic and extrinsic sensory neurons of the mouse and human colon. These findings may be built upon by future investigations into the serotonergic mechanisms underlying motility, including the role of neuronal serotonin and neuronal Piezo2 in the regulation of GI motility. Such investigations could entail the use of an inducible Tph2 floxed model, in which Tph2 expression is knocked down in the enteric nervous system by an enteric neuronal promotor, such as ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 (Wiese et al., 2013). This would allow the inducible loss of Tph2 expression and hence neuronal serotonin, leaving Tph2 cholinergic neurons unaffected. Motility experiments on a Tph2 floxed model would bypass issues with previous pharmacological and knockout mouse models, such as developmental differences seen in the neuroanatomy of Tph2<sup>-</sup> <sup>-</sup> ENS, hence aid in the conclusive delineation of neuronal serotonin on motility. Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Piezo2<sup>flox/flox</sup> Additional investigation of mice could entail pharmacological inhibition of Piezo2 on these mice ex vivo to measure the effect on CMMCs, such a result would indicate the importance of neuronal Piezo2 in colonic motility.

Furthermore, mechanisms by which EC cells or EC cell serotonin is altered in motility disorders could be further deduced by the collection of biopsies from elderly patients with age-related chronic constipation or others suffering from chronic constipation to measure the levels of Piezo2 in their gut. Similarly, it would be interesting to determine the occurrence of constipation in human patients already known to have a loss-of-function mutation in their Piezo2 gene (Chesler et al., 2016, Marshall et al., 2020), or

generally what effects are seen in these patients' bowel movements. Together these studies will better define the mechanisms which are affected in various motility disorders, from which we can create more specific treatments to target in such disorders. This could include treatments which specifically target EC cells, directed towards proteins known to be exclusively expressed by EC cells along the GI tract, such proteins are already known to exist. These treatments could be designed as nonabsorbable, hence with their specificity they would only act on EC cells and not produce off-target effects with other tissues outside of the gut. Further, there are a number of factors which can be altered surrounding drug manufacturing, such as pH, specific enzymes, reactive oxygen species (ROS), or a combination, which can allow the specific release to occur in the colon and hence bypass the upper gut (Teruel et al., 2020). As we understand that a reduction in EC cell serotonin leads to constipation, the use of such EC cell activating drugs could cause EC cell serotonin release, to mitigate constipation in patients with various motility disorders. Considerable further investigation would need to be undertaken in order to design such drugs; however, this is the promising future for more precise medicines.

EC cells are typically described as sensory cells, receptive to a range of provocations, including mechanical (Wang et al., 2017), chemical (Martin et al., 2017c), microbial (Ye et al., 2021), and noxious stimuli (Bellono et al., 2017). However, as highlighted in Chapter 3 and 4, there is growing evidence to suggest that subtypes of EC cells exist, in which different subtypes of EC cells may respond to differing stimuli or mediate different functions along the GI tract. EC cell subtypes have been distinguished through genetic profiling (Haber et al., 2017, Gehart et al., 2019, Beumer et al., 2020), distinct morphologies along the crypt-villus axis (Koo et al., 2021, Kuramoto et al., 2021), differing nutrient sensing capabilities along the GI tract (Martin et al., 2017d)

and varied life-cycles (some short-lived and others long-lasting (Wei et al., 2021)). In the current study, we highlight that a proportion of EC cells contain Piezo2, while others do not, and that a proportion of EC cells contact nerves, while others do not. As hypothesised by Fujita et al (1971), differences in EC cell morphology may indicate that some EC cells are mechanically sensitive while others may respond to chemical stimuli. As such, whether distinct subtypes of EC cells do in fact exist could be distinguished through a number of mechanisms. This includes but is not limited to, further analysis of the genetic profiles of EC cells, which could be analysed to distinguish whether EC cells can be separated out into pools of EC cells based on gene clustering. This could also be tested functionally, through sorting EC cells based on Piezo2<sup>+</sup> expresison using fluorescence-activated cell sorting. As such Piezo2<sup>+</sup> EC cells could be sorted from EC cells lacking Piezo2, these separate pools could then be tested with mechanical and chemical stimuli, and analysed in real-time using calcium imaging to determine whether separate subtypes of EC cells respond differently to different stimuli.

The burgeoning field of EEC-neuronal interactions is one with a wide range of questions which need investigation. Key unknowns within this field currently include the legitimacy of synaptic connections between EECs and neurons, whether such connections are feasible in an ever-changing environment such as the intestinal epithelial lining and finally the mechanisms which drive such connections. The novel surgical DRG-ablation mice described in Chapter 5 could be utilised further to delineate the contributions of extrinsic and intrinsic innervation to the colon, through comparison of 3D analysis of CGRP-labelled sensory innervation to the entire length of the colon, pre- and post-surgery. Additionally, these mice could be used to measure the proportion of EC cells which form connections with intrinsic and extrinsic nerves

257

respectively. This could be measured through 3D distance analysis, as seen in Chapters 4 and 5, and would need to be performed on tissue 3-weeks post-surgery to reduce confounding effects of the reduction of EC cells seen 1-week post-surgery. EC cells found to form connections with CGRP-labelled nerve fibres post-surgery would represent the percentage of EC cells which contact intrinsic sensory neurons and could be compared to the same analysis in Chapter 5 to delineate the proportions of EC cells which contact intrinsic and extrinsic afferents respectively.

To add to the data presented in this thesis, further immunofluorescent experiments could be performed on control colonic tissue to stain for indicators of functional synaptic connections, such as pre- and post-synaptic markers. Such an investigation could give evidence as to whether the points of contact between EC cells and sensory neurons have functional capacity. This key piece of information would be highly beneficial in our understanding of whether EECs can form functional synaptic-like connections with nerves within the gut wall. Separately, gut tissue from EC cell reporter mice, in which a pool of EC cells are long-lived (Wei et al., 2021), could be co-stained with CGRP and pre- and post-synaptic markers to determine whether long-lived EC cells preferentially make functional connections with sensory neurons compared to short-lived EC cells. This would provide further evidence surrounding the feasibility of such connections between EECs and neurons within the gut wall.

Finally, the 13 proteins of interest, highlighted in Chapter 5, could be tested on intestinal organoids to measure EC cell number and percentage of EC cells containing neuropods, building upon experiments performed previously (Bohórquez et al., 2014). If such investigations on organoids were successful in determining protein candidates which impact EC cell number and/or neuropod formation, the Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup> mouse

model could be utilised to produce EC cell-restricted genetic manipulations, to knockdown receptors within EC cells specifically. Such single gene knockouts or knock-ins to investigate the roles of specific proteins within EC cell and neuropod formation *in vivo*. This could help to further our understanding of factors controlling EC cell differentiation and neuropod formation, and hence advance our knowledge surrounding the mechanisms which underlie the gut-brain axis.

### 6.3 Concluding remarks

The results in this study demonstrate that EC cells have a role in GI motility, a mechanism mediated by Piezo2, with evidence that EC cell mechanosensitivity and serotonin are modulatory but not essential for GI motility. Furthermore, we provide evidence which supports our hypothesis that neuronal-derived serotonin does not function in gut motility. This work also shows a reduction in EC cell mechanosensitivity and Piezo2 expression in human colon with age, highlighting the potential for disordered EC cell mechanosensitivity in age-related constipation. Together, this data presents EC cells as a potential target for future specialised treatments in functional motility disorders. Using advanced microscopy and 3D analysis, we characterise the presence and distribution of EC cell neuropods in mouse and human colon. We also investigate the connection between EC cells and sensory innervation and develop a better understanding of the frequency at which EC cells contact sensory nerves. We reveal that most EC cell-neural connections occur at the cell body, hence potentially undermining the term neuropod in description for EC cell cytoplasmic processes. Furthermore, through a novel surgical approach, the removal of extrinsic sensory innervation to the colon reveals a role for extrinsic sensory afferents in the development of EC cells and EC cell neuropods. These findings provide insight into

factors which might drive EC cell proliferation and neuropod formation, but also opens many new questions in the quest to better understand the communication between ECs and innervating nerves. Bioinformatic analysis of EC cells and sensory neurons highlights 13 protein:receptor pairs of interest, that might mediate the link between extrinsic afferents and EC cell differentiation or neuropod formation. With the inclusion of the results described in this thesis, the field is now poised to further investigate the connection between EC cells the gut neural innervation to better understand the circuitry in which EC cells modulate GI motility and facilitate functions within the gutbrain axis.

### References

- Heath, J. P. 1996. Epithelial cell migration in the intestine. *Cell Biology International*, 20, 139-146.
- Guzman, J. R., Conlin, V. S. & Jobin, C. 2013. Diet, microbiome, and the intestinal epithelium: An essential triumvirate? *BioMed Research International*, 2013, 425146.
- De Santa Barbara, P., Van Den Brink, G. R. & Roberts, D. J. 2003. Development and differentiation of the intestinal epithelium. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 60, 1322-1332.
- Van Der Flier, L. G. & Clevers, H. 2009. Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 71, 241-260.
- Jandhyala, S. M., Talukdar, R., Subramanyam, C., Vuyyuru, H., Sasikala, M. & Nageshwar Reddy, D. 2015. Role of the normal gut microbiota. *World journal of gastroenterology*, 21, 8787-8803.
- Cheng, H. 1974. Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine ii. Mucous cells. *American Journal of Anatomy*, 141, 481-501.
- Barker, N., Van Es, J. H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., Van Den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., et al.Clevers, H. 2007a. Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene lgr5. *Nature*, 449, 1003.
- Bjerknes, M. & Cheng, H. 1999. Clonal analysis of mouse intestinal epithelial progenitors. *Gastroenterology*, 116, 7-14.
- Hsu, S. Y., Liang, S.-G. & Hsueh, A. J. W. 1998. Characterization of two lgr genes homologous to gonadotropin and thyrotropin receptors with extracellular leucine-rich repeats and a g protein-coupled, seven-transmembrane region. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 12, 1830-1845.
- Flier, L. G. V. D. & Clevers, H. 2009. Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 71, 241-260.
- Mah, A. T., Yan, K. S. & Kuo, C. J. 2016. Wnt pathway regulation of intestinal stem cells. *The Journal of physiology*, 594, 4837-4847.
- Spit, M., Koo, B.-K. & Maurice, M. M. 2018. Tales from the crypt: Intestinal niche signals in tissue renewal, plasticity and cancer. *Open biology*, 8, 180120.
- Barker, N., Van Es, J. H., Jaks, V., Kasper, M., Snippert, H., Toftgård, R. & Clevers, H. 2008. Very long-term self-renewal of small intestine, colon, and hair follicles from cycling Igr5+ve stem cells. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, 73, 351-356.
- Hall, P. A., Coates, P. J., Ansari, B. & Hopwood, D. 1994. Regulation of cell number in the mammalian gastrointestinal tract: The importance of apoptosis. *Journal of Cell Science*, 107, 3569.
- Ricci-Vitiani, L., Pagliuca, A., Palio, E., Zeuner, A. & De Maria, R. 2008. Colon cancer stem cells. *Gut*, 57, 538.
- Johansson, M. E. V., Gustafsson, J. K., Holmén-Larsson, J., Jabbar, K. S., Xia, L., Xu, H., et al.Hansson, G. C. 2014. Bacteria penetrate the normally impenetrable inner colon mucus layer in both murine colitis models and patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut*, 63, 281-291.
- Karam, S. M. 1999. Lineage commitment and maturation of epithelial cells in the gut. *Front Biosci,* 4, D286-98.
- Bjerknes, M. & Cheng, H. 1981. The stem-cell zone of the small intestinal epithelium. I. Evidence from paneth cells in the adult mouse. *American Journal of Anatomy*, 160, 51-63.
- Sato, T., Van Es, J. H., Snippert, H. J., Stange, D. E., Vries, R. G., Van Den Born, M., et al.Clevers, H. 2011. Paneth cells constitute the niche for lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. *Nature*, 469, 415-8.
- Snoeck, V., Goddeeris, B. & Cox, E. 2005. The role of enterocytes in the intestinal barrier function and antigen uptake. *Microbes and Infection*, 7, 997-1004.

- Reimann, F. & Gribble, F. M. 2013. Towards the harnessing of gut feelings. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 13, 909-911.
- Habib, A. M., Richards, P., Cairns, L. S., Rogers, G. J., Bannon, C. a. M., Parker, H. E., et al.Gribble, F. M. 2012. Overlap of endocrine hormone expression in the mouse intestine revealed by transcriptional profiling and flow cytometry. *Endocrinology*, 153, 3054-3065.
- Haber, A. L., Biton, M., Rogel, N., Herbst, R. H., Shekhar, K., Smillie, C., et al.Regev, A. 2017. A single-cell survey of the small intestinal epithelium. *Nature*, 551, 333-339.
- Adriaenssens, A. E., Reimann, F. & Gribble, F. M. 2018. Distribution and stimulus secretion coupling of enteroendocrine cells along the intestinal tract. *Comprehensive Physiology*.
- Gehart, H., Van Es, J. H., Hamer, K., Beumer, J., Kretzschmar, K., Dekkers, J. F., et al.Clevers, H. 2019. Identification of enteroendocrine regulators by real-time single-cell differentiation mapping. *Cell*, 176, 1158-1173.e16.
- Martin, A. M., Lumsden, A. L., Young, R. L., Jessup, C. F., Spencer, N. J. & Keating, D. J. 2017a. Regional differences in nutrient-induced secretion of gut serotonin. *Physiological reports*, 5, e13199.
- Suzuki, K., Iwasaki, K., Murata, Y., Harada, N., Yamane, S., Hamasaki, A., et al.Inagaki, N. 2018. Distribution and hormonal characterization of primary murine I cells throughout the gastrointestinal tract. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*, 9, 25-32.
- Beumer, J., Artegiani, B., Post, Y., Reimann, F., Gribble, F., Nguyen, T. N., et al.Clevers, H. 2018. Enteroendocrine cells switch hormone expression along the crypt-to-villus bmp signalling gradient. *Nature Cell Biology*, 20, 909-916.
- Gribble, F. M. & Reimann, F. 2016. Enteroendocrine cells: Chemosensors in the intestinal epithelium. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 78, 277-299.
- Egerod, K. L., Engelstoft, M. S., Grunddal, K. V., Nøhr, M. K., Secher, A., Sakata, I., et al.Schwartz, T. W. 2012. A major lineage of enteroendocrine cells coexpress cck, secretin, gip, glp-1, pyy, and neurotensin but not somatostatin. *Endocrinology*, 153, 5782-5795.
- Diwakarla, S., Fothergill, L. J., Fakhry, J., Callaghan, B. & Furness, J. B. 2017. Heterogeneity of enterochromaffin cells within the gastrointestinal tract. *Neurogastroenterology and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society,* 29, 10.1111/nmo.13101.
- Noah, T. K., Donahue, B. & Shroyer, N. F. 2011. Intestinal development and differentiation. *Experimental cell research*, 317, 2702-2710.
- Chimerel, C., Riccio, C., Murison, K., Gribble, F. M. & Reimann, F. 2017. Optogenetic analysis of depolarization-dependent glucagonlike peptide-1 release. *Endocrinology*, 158, 3426-3434.
- Ahlman, H. & Nilsson 2001. The gut as the largest endocrine organ in the body.
- Sjölund, K., Sandén, G., Håkanson, R. & Sundler, F. 1983. Endocrine cells in human intestine: An immunocytochemical study. *Gastroenterology*, 85, 1120-1130.
- Bertrand, P. P. & Bertrand, R. L. 2010. Serotonin release and uptake in the gastrointestinal tract. *Auton Neurosci,* 153, 47-57.
- Yano, J. M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G. P., Shastri, G. G., Ann, P., Ma, L., et al. Hsiao, E. Y. 2015. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell*, 161, 264-276.
- Williams, E. K., Chang, R. B., Strochlic, D. E., Umans, B. D., Lowell, B. B. & Liberles, S. D. 2016. Sensory neurons that detect stretch and nutrients in the digestive system. *Cell*, 166, 209-21.
- Bellono, N. W., Bayrer, J. R., Leitch, D. B., Castro, J., Zhang, C., O'donnell, T. A., et al.Julius, D. 2017. Enterochromaffin cells are gut chemosensors that couple to sensory neural pathways. *Cell*, 170, 185-198 e16.
- Reigstad, C. S., Salmonson, C. E., Rainey, J. F., Szurszewski, J. H., Linden, D. R., Sonnenburg, J. L., et al.Kashyap, P. C. 2014. Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin

production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. *The FASEB Journal*, 29, 1395-1403.

- Wang, F., Knutson, K., Alcaino, C., Linden, D. R., Gibbons, S. J., Kashyap, P., et al.Beyder, A. 2017. Mechanosensitive ion channel piezo2 is important for enterochromaffin cell response to mechanical forces. *The Journal of physiology*, 595, 79-91.
- Alcaino, C., Knutson, K. R., Treichel, A. J., Yildiz, G., Strege, P. R., Linden, D. R., et al.Beyder, A. 2018. A population of gut epithelial enterochromaffin cells is mechanosensitive and requires piezo2 to convert force into serotonin release. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115, e7632-e7641.
- Alcaino, C., Knutson, K., Whiteman, S., Nayak, V., Kacmaz, H., Strege, P. R., et al.Beyder, A. Sensory epithelial gastrointestinal enteroendocrine cells use different signaling pathways for chemo and mechanotransduction. NEUROGASTROENTEROLOGY AND MOTILITY, 2020. WILEY 111 RIVER ST, HOBOKEN 07030-5774, NJ USA.
- Barker, N., Van Es, J. H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., Van Den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., et al.Clevers, H. 2007b. Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene lgr5. *Nature*, 449, 1003-1007.
- Piccand, J., Vagne, C., Blot, F., Meunier, A., Beucher, A., Strasser, P., et al.Gradwohl, G. 2019. Rfx6 promotes the differentiation of peptide-secreting enteroendocrine cells while repressing genetic programs controlling serotonin production. *Mol Metab*, 29, 24-39.
- Tsakmaki, A., Fonseca Pedro, P., Pavlidis, P., Hayee, B. H. & Bewick, G. A. 2020. Isx-9 manipulates endocrine progenitor fate revealing conserved intestinal lineages in mouse and human organoids. *Molecular Metabolism*, 34, 157-173.
- Basak, O., Beumer, J., Wiebrands, K., Seno, H., Van Oudenaarden, A. & Clevers, H. 2017. Induced quiescence of lgr5+ stem cells in intestinal organoids enables differentiation of hormone-producing enteroendocrine cells. *Cell Stem Cell*, 20, 177-190.e4.
- Zecchini, V., Domaschenz, R., Winton, D. & Jones, P. 2005a. Notch signaling regulates the differentiation of post-mitotic intestinal epithelial cells. *Genes & development,* 19, 1686-1691.
- Stanger, B. Z., Datar, R., Murtaugh, L. C. & Melton, D. A. 2005. Direct regulation of intestinal fate by notch. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 12443.
- Fre, S., Huyghe, M., Mourikis, P., Robine, S., Louvard, D. & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. 2005. Notch signals control the fate of immature progenitor cells in the intestine. *Nature*, 435, 964-968.
- Jenny, M., Uhl, C., Roche, C., Duluc, I., Guillermin, V., Guillemot, F., et al.Gradwohl, G. 2002a. Neurogenin3 is differentially required for endocrine cell fate specification in the intestinal and gastric epithelium. *EMBO Journal*, 21, 6338-6347.
- Lee, C. S., Perreault, N., Brestelli, J. E. & Kaestner, K. H. 2002. Neurogenin 3 is essential for the proper specification of gastric enteroendocrine cells and the maintenance of gastric epithelial cell identity. *Genes Dev*, 16, 1488-97.
- Mellitzer, G., Beucher, A., Lobstein, V., Michel, P., Robine, S., Kedinger, M. & Gradwohl, G. 2010a. Loss of enteroendocrine cells in mice alters lipid absorption and glucose homeostasis and impairs postnatal survival. *J Clin Invest*, 120, 1708-21.
- Beucher, A., Gjernes, E., Collin, C., Courtney, M., Meunier, A., Collombat, P. & Gradwohl, G. 2012. The homeodomain-containing transcription factors arx and pax4 control enteroendocrine subtype specification in mice. *PLOS ONE*, **7**, e36449.
- Du, A., Mccracken, K. W., Walp, E. R., Terry, N. A., Klein, T. J., Han, A., et al.May, C. L. 2012. Arx is required for normal enteroendocrine cell development in mice and humans. *Developmental Biology*, 365, 175-188.
- Larsson, L.-I., St-Onge, L., Hougaard, D. M., Sosa-Pineda, B. & Gruss, P. 1998. Pax 4 and 6 regulate gastrointestinal endocrine cell development. *Mechanisms of Development*, 79, 153-159.
- Terry, N. A., Walp, E. R., Lee, R. A., Kaestner, K. H. & May, C. L. 2014. Impaired enteroendocrine development in intestinal-specific islet1 mouse mutants causes

impaired glucose homeostasis. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 307, G979-G991.

- Ye, D. Z. & Kaestner, K. H. 2009. Foxa1 and foxa2 control the differentiation of goblet and enteroendocrine I- and d-cells in mice. *Gastroenterology*, 137, 2052-2062.
- Gierl, M. S., Karoulias, N., Wende, H., Strehle, M. & Birchmeier, C. 2006. The zinc-finger factor insm1 (ia-1) is essential for the development of pancreatic beta cells and intestinal endocrine cells. *Genes Dev*, 20, 2465-78.
- Naya, F. J., Huang, H. P., Qiu, Y., Mutoh, H., Demayo, F. J., Leiter, A. B. & Tsai, M. J. 1997. Diabetes, defective pancreatic morphogenesis, and abnormal enteroendocrine differentiation in beta2/neurod-deficient mice. *Genes & development*, 11, 2323-2334.
- Mutoh, H., Fung, B. P., Naya, F. J., Tsai, M. J., Nishitani, J. & Leiter, A. B. 1997. The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor beta2/neurod is expressed in mammalian enteroendocrine cells and activates secretin gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94, 3560-3564.
- Gradwohl, G., Dierich, A., Lemeur, M. & Guillemot, F. 2000. Neurogenin3 is required for the development of the four endocrine cell lineages of the pancreas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 1607-11.
- Desai, S., Loomis, Z., Pugh-Bernard, A., Schrunk, J., Doyle, M. J., Minic, A., et al.Sussel, L. 2008. Nkx2.2 regulates cell fate choice in the enteroendocrine cell lineages of the intestine. *Developmental Biology*, 313, 58-66.
- Gross, S., Garofalo, D. C., Balderes, D. A., Mastracci, T. L., Dias, J. M., Perlmann, T., et al.Sussel, L. 2016. The novel enterochromaffin marker lmx1a regulates serotonin biosynthesis in enteroendocrine cell lineages downstream of nkx2.2. *Development (Cambridge)*, 143, 2616-2628.

Schneider, J. W., Gao, Z., Li, S., Farooqi, M., Tang, T.-S., Bezprozvanny, I., et al. Hsieh, J. 2008. Small-molecule activation of neuronal cell fate. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 4, 408-410.

- Erspamer, V. 1966. Occurrence of indolealkylamines in nature. *In:* Erspamer, V. (ed.) *5hydroxytryptamine and related indolealkylamines.* Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Le Floc'h, N., Otten, W. & Merlot, E. 2011. Tryptophan metabolism, from nutrition to potential therapeutic applications. *Amino Acids*, 41, 1195-1205.
- Fernstrom, J. D. & Fernstrom, M. H. 2006. Exercise, serum free tryptophan, and central fatigue. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 136, 553S-559S.
- Ruddick, J. P., Evans, A. K., Nutt, D. J., Lightman, S. L., Rook, G. a. W. & Lowry, C. A. 2006. Tryptophan metabolism in the central nervous system: Medical implications. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, 8, 1-27.
- Spiller, R. 2008. Serotonin and gi clinical disorders. *Neuropharmacology*, 55, 1072-1080.
- Walther, D. J. & Bader, M. 2003. A unique central tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 66, 1673-80.
- Walther, D. J., Peter, J. U., Bashammakh, S., Hortnagl, H., Voits, M., Fink, H. & Bader, M. 2003. Synthesis of serotonin by a second tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Science*, 299, 76.
- Costa, M., Brookes, S. J. H., Steeled, P. A., Gibbins, I., Burcher, E. & Kandiah, C. J. 1996. Neurochemical classification of myenteric neurons in the guinea-pig ileum. *Neuroscience*, 75, 949-967.
- Mordhorst, A., Dhandapani, P., Matthes, S., Mosienko, V., Rothe, M., Todiras, M., et al.Alenina, N. 2021. Phenylalanine hydroxylase contributes to serotonin synthesis in mice. *The FASEB Journal*, 35, e21648.
- Schwarcz, R., Bruno, J. P., Muchowski, P. J. & Wu, H.-Q. 2012. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: When physiology meets pathology. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 13, 465.
- Tyce, G. M. 1990. Origin and metabolism of serotonin. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, 16 Suppl 3, S1-7.

- Humphrey, J. H. & Jaques, R. 1954. The histamine and serotonin content of the platelets and polymorphonuclear leucocytes of various species. *The Journal of physiology*, 124, 305-310.
- Blakely, R. D., Berson, H. E., Fremeau Jr, R. T., Caron, M. G., Peek, M. M., Prince, H. K. & Bradley, C. C. 1991. Cloning and expression of a functional serotonin transporter from rat brain. *Nature*, 354, 66.
- Martel, F. 2006. Recent advances on the importance of the serotonin transporter sert in the rat intestine. *Pharmacological Research*, 54, 73-76.
- Fung, T. C., Vuong, H. E., Luna, C. D. G., Pronovost, G. N., Aleksandrova, A. A., Riley, N. G., et al. Hsiao, E. Y. 2019. Intestinal serotonin and fluoxetine exposure modulate bacterial colonization in the gut. *Nature microbiology*, 4, 2064-2073.
- Olson, R. E., Gursey, D. & Vester, J. W. 1960. Evidence for a defect in tryptophan metabolism in chronic alcoholism. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 263, 1169-1174.
- Nichols, D. E. & Nichols, C. D. 2008. Serotonin receptors. Chem Rev, 108, 1614-41.
- Hoyer, D., Hannon, J. P. & Martin, G. R. 2002. Molecular, pharmacological and functional diversity of 5-ht receptors. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 71, 533-54.
- Nebigil, C. G., Choi, D. S., Dierich, A., Hickel, P., Le Meur, M., Messaddeq, N., et al.Maroteaux, L. 2000. Serotonin 2b receptor is required for heart development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 9508-13.
- Choi, D. S., Ward, S. J., Messaddeq, N., Launay, J. M. & Maroteaux, L. 1997. 5-ht2b receptormediated serotonin morphogenetic functions in mouse cranial neural crest and myocardiac cells. *Development*, 124, 1745-55.
- Nebigil, C. G., Etienne, N., Schaerlinger, B., Hickel, P., Launay, J. M. & Maroteaux, L. 2001. Developmentally regulated serotonin 5-ht2b receptors. *Int J Dev Neurosci*, 19, 365-72.
- Liu, M. T., Kuan, Y. H., Wang, J., Hen, R. & Gershon, M. D. 2009. 5-ht4 receptor-mediated neuroprotection and neurogenesis in the enteric nervous system of adult mice. *J Neurosci*, 29, 9683-99.
- Bianco, F., Bonora, E., Natarajan, D., Vargiolu, M., Thapar, N., Torresan, F., et al.De Giorgio, R. 2016. Prucalopride exerts neuroprotection in human enteric neurons. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*, 310, G768-G775.
- Richardson, B. P., Engel, G., Donatsch, P. & Stadler, P. A. 1985. Identification of serotonin mreceptor subtypes and their specific blockade by a new class of drugs. *Nature*, 316, 126-131.
- Johnson, D. S. & Heinemann, S. F. 1995. Detection of 5-ht3r-a, a 5-ht3 receptor subunit, in submucosal and myenteric ganglia of rat small intestine using in situ hybridization. *Neurosci Lett*, 184, 67-70.
- Mawe, G. M., Branchek, T. A. & Gershon, M. D. 1986. Peripheral neural serotonin receptors: Identification and characterization with specific antagonists and agonists. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 83, 9799-803.
- Goldberg, P. A., Kamm, M. A., Setti-Carraro, P., Van Der Sijp, J. R. M. & Roth, C. 1996. Modification of visceral sensitivity and pain in irritable bowel syndrome by 5ht<sub>3</sub> antagonism (ondansetron). *Digestion*, 57, 478-483.
- Gershon, M. D. 2004. Review article: Serotonin receptors and transporters -- roles in normal and abnormal gastrointestinal motility. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther,* 20 Suppl 7, 3-14.
- Rosenbaum, D. M., Cherezov, V., Hanson, M. A., Rasmussen, S. G., Thian, F. S., Kobilka, T. S., et al.Stevens, R. C. 2007. Gpcr engineering yields high-resolution structural insights into β2-adrenergic receptor function. *science*, 318, 1266-1273.
- Smith, D., Hill, R. G., Edvinsson, L. & Longmore, J. 2002. An immunocytochemical investigation of human trigeminal nucleus caudalis: Cgrp, substance p and 5-ht1d-receptor immunoreactivities are expressed by trigeminal sensory fibres. *Cephalalgia*, 22, 424-31.
- Kaumann, A. J. & Levy, F. O. 2006. 5-hydroxytryptamine receptors in the human cardiovascular system. *Pharmacol Ther*, 111, 674-706.

- Nagatomo, T., Rashid, M., Abul Muntasir, H. & Komiyama, T. 2004. Functions of 5-ht2a receptor and its antagonists in the cardiovascular system. *Pharmacol Ther*, 104, 59-81.
- Sommer, C. 2004. Serotonin in pain and analgesia: Actions in the periphery. *Mol Neurobiol,* 30, 117-25.
- Van Steenwinckel, J., Brisorgueil, M.-J., Fischer, J., Vergé, D., Gingrich, J. A., Bourgoin, S., et al.Conrath, M. 2008. Role of spinal serotonin 5-ht2a receptor in 2', 3'-dideoxycytidine-induced neuropathic pain in the rat and the mouse. *PAIN®*, 137, 66-80.
- Duxon, M. S., Flanigan, T. P., Reavley, A. C., Baxter, G. S., Blackburn, T. P. & Fone, K. C. 1997. Evidence for expression of the 5-hydroxytryptamine-2b receptor protein in the rat central nervous system. *Neuroscience*, 76, 323-9.
- Choi, D. S., Birraux, G., Launay, J. M. & Maroteaux, L. 1994. The human serotonin 5-ht2b receptor: Pharmacological link between 5-ht2 and 5-ht1d receptors. *FEBS Lett*, 352, 393-9.
- Clemett, D. A., Punhani, T., Duxon, M. S., Blackburn, T. P. & Fone, K. C. 2000. Immunohistochemical localisation of the 5-ht2c receptor protein in the rat cns. *Neuropharmacology*, 39, 123-32.
- Pasqualetti, M., Ori, M., Castagna, M., Marazziti, D., Cassano, G. B. & Nardi, I. 1999. Distribution and cellular localization of the serotonin type 2c receptor messenger rna in human brain. *Neuroscience*, 92, 601-11.
- Parker, R. M., Barnes, J. M., Ge, J., Barber, P. C. & Barnes, N. M. 1996. Autoradiographic distribution of [3h]-(s)-zacopride-labelled 5-ht3 receptors in human brain. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 144, 119-127.
- Ohuoha, D. C., Knable, M. B., Wolf, S. S., Kleinman, J. E. & Hyde, T. M. 1994. The subnuclear distribution of 5-ht3 receptors in the human nucleus of the solitary tract and other structures of the caudal medulla. *Brain Res*, 637, 222-6.
- Bickmeyer, U., Heine, M., Manzke, T. & Richter, D. W. 2002. Differential modulation of i(h) by 5-ht receptors in mouse ca1 hippocampal neurons. *Eur J Neurosci*, 16, 209-18.
- Neumaier, J. F., Sexton, T. J., Yracheta, J., Diaz, A. M. & Brownfield, M. 2001. Localization of 5-ht7 receptors in rat brain by immunocytochemistry, in situ hybridization, and agonist stimulated cfos expression. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, 21, 63-73.
- Irving, H. R., Tan, Y. Y., Tochon-Danguy, N., Liu, H., Chetty, N., Desmond, P. V., et al.Coupar,
  I. M. 2007. Comparison of 5-ht4 and 5-ht7 receptor expression and function in the circular muscle of the human colon. *Life sciences*, 80, 1198-1205.
- Martin, A. M., Young, R. L., Leong, L., Rogers, G. B., Spencer, N. J., Jessup, C. F. & Keating, D. J. 2017b. The diverse metabolic roles of peripheral serotonin. *Endocrinology*, 158, 1049-1063.
- Gershon, M. D. & Tack, J. 2007. The serotonin signaling system: From basic understanding to drug development for functional gi disorders. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 397-414.
- Bulbring, E. & Lin, R. C. 1958. The effect of intraluminal application of 5-hydroxytryptamine and 5-hydroxytryptophan on peristalsis; the local production of 5-ht and its release in relation to intraluminal pressure and propulsive activity. *The Journal of physiology*, 140, 381-407.
- Heredia, D. J., Gershon, M. D., Koh, S. D., Corrigan, R. D., Okamoto, T. & Smith, T. K. 2013. Important role of mucosal serotonin in colonic propulsion and peristaltic reflexes: In vitro analyses in mice lacking tryptophan hydroxylase 1. *The Journal of physiology*, 591, 5939-5957.
- Keating, D. J. & Spencer, N. J. 2010. Release of 5-hydroxytryptamine from the mucosa is not required for the generation or propagation of colonic migrating motor complexes. *Gastroenterology*, 138, 659-70 670 e1-2.
- Rapport, M. M., Green, A. A. & Page, I. H. 1948. Crystalline serotonin. Science, 108, 329-330.
- Brommage, R., Liu, J., Doree, D., Yu, W., Powell, D. R. & Melissa Yang, Q. 2015. Adult tph2 knockout mice without brain serotonin have moderately elevated spine trabecular bone but moderately low cortical bone thickness. *BoneKEy reports*, *4*, 718-718.

- Cui, Y., Niziolek, P. J., Macdonald, B. T., Zylstra, C. R., Alenina, N., Robinson, D. R., et al.Robling, A. G. 2011. Lrp5 functions in bone to regulate bone mass. *Nature medicine*, 17, 684-691.
- Yadav, V. K., Oury, F., Suda, N., Liu, Z.-W., Gao, X.-B., Confavreux, C., et al.Karsenty, G. 2009. A serotonin-dependent mechanism explains the leptin regulation of bone mass, appetite, and energy expenditure. *Cell*, 138, 976-989.
- Young, R. L., Lumsden, A. L. & Keating, D. J. 2015. Gut serotonin is a regulator of obesity and metabolism. *Gastroenterology*, 149, 253-255.
- Sumara, G., Sumara, O., Kim, J. K. & Karsenty, G. 2012. Gut-derived serotonin is a multifunctional determinant to fasting adaptation. *Cell Metab*, 16, 588-600.
- Oh, C. M., Namkung, J., Go, Y., Shong, K. E., Kim, K., Kim, H., et al.Kim, H. 2015. Regulation of systemic energy homeostasis by serotonin in adipose tissues. *Nat Commun*, 6, 6794.
- Crane, J. D., Palanivel, R., Mottillo, E. P., Bujak, A. L., Wang, H., Ford, R. J., et al. Steinberg,
   G. R. 2015. Inhibiting peripheral serotonin synthesis reduces obesity and metabolic dysfunction by promoting brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. *Nat Med*, 21, 166-72.
- Young, R. L., Lumsden, A. L., Martin, A. M., Schober, G., Pezos, N., Thazhath, S. S., et al.Keating, D. J. 2018. Augmented capacity for peripheral serotonin release in human obesity. *Int J Obes (Lond)*.
- Le Beyec, J., Pelletier, A. L., Arapis, K., Hourseau, M., Cluzeaud, F., Descatoire, V., et al.Bado, A. 2014. Overexpression of gastric leptin precedes adipocyte leptin during high-fat diet and is linked to 5ht-containing enterochromaffin cells. *International Journal Of Obesity*, 38, 1357.
- Zhang, Y., Deng, R., Yang, X., Xu, W., Liu, Y., Li, F., et al.Ning, G. 2017. Glucose potentiates β-cell function by inducing tph1 expression in rat islets. *The FASEB Journal*, 31, 5342-5355.
- Choi, W., Namkung, J., Hwang, I., Kim, H., Lim, A., Park, H. J., et al.Kim, H. 2018. Serotonin signals through a gut-liver axis to regulate hepatic steatosis. *Nature Communications*, 9, 4824.
- Scarpellini, E., Ianiro, G., Attili, F., Bassanelli, C., De Santis, A. & Gasbarrini, A. 2015. The human gut microbiota and virome: Potential therapeutic implications. *Dig Liver Dis*, 47, 1007-12.
- Sun, E. W., De Fontgalland, D., Rabbitt, P., Hollington, P., Sposato, L., Due, S. L., et al.Keating, D. J. 2017. Mechanisms controlling glucose-induced glp-1 secretion in human small intestine. *Diabetes*, 66, 2144-2149.
- Sun, E. W. L., Martin, A. M., Young, R. L. & Keating, D. J. 2018a. The regulation of peripheral metabolism by gut-derived hormones. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, 9, 754.
- Lund, M. L., Egerod, K. L., Engelstoft, M. S., Dmytriyeva, O., Theodorsson, E., Patel, B. A. & Schwartz, T. W. 2018. Enterochromaffin 5-ht cells a major target for glp-1 and gut microbial metabolites. *Molecular metabolism,* 11, 70-83.
- Findeisen, M., Allen, T. L., Henstridge, D. C., Kammoun, H., Brandon, A. E., Baggio, L. L., et al.Febbraio, M. A. 2019. Treatment of type 2 diabetes with the designer cytokine ic7fc. *Nature*, 574, 63-68.
- Bahne, E., Sun, E. W. L., Young, R. L., Hansen, M., Sonne, D. P., Hansen, J. S., et al.Knop,
   F. K. 2018. Metformin-induced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion contributes to the actions of metformin in type 2 diabetes. *JCI Insight*, 3.
- Sun, E. W., Martin, A. M., Wattchow, D. A., Defontgalland, D., Rabbitt, P., Hollington, P., et al.Keating, D. J. 2019. Metformin triggers pyy secretion in human gut mucosa. J Clin Endocrinol Metab.
- Bertrand, P. P. 2006. Real-time measurement of serotonin release and motility in guinea pig ileum. *J Physiol*, 577, 689-704.
- Martin, A. M., Lumsden, A. L., Young, R. L., Jessup, C. F., Spencer, N. J. & Keating, D. J. 2017c. The nutrient-sensing repertoires of mouse enterochromaffin cells differ between duodenum and colon. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 29, e13046.

- Martin, A. M., Lumsden, A. L., Young, R. L., Jessup, C. F., Spencer, N. J. & Keating, D. J. 2017d. Regional differences in nutrient-induced secretion of gut serotonin. *Physiol Rep*, 5.
- Akiba, Y., Inoue, T., Kaji, I., Higashiyama, M., Narimatsu, K., Iwamoto, K.-I., et al.Kaunitz, J. D. 2015. Short-chain fatty acid sensing in rat duodenum. *The Journal of physiology*, 593, 585-599.
- Wang, H., Kwon, Y. H., Dewan, V., Vahedi, F., Syed, S., Fontes, M. E., et al.Khan, W. I. 2019a. Tlr2 plays a pivotal role in mediating mucosal serotonin production in the gut. *The Journal of Immunology*, 202, 3041-3052.
- Lumsden, A. L., Martin, A. M., Sun, E. W., Schober, G., Isaacs, N. J., Pezos, N., et al.Keating, D. J. 2019. Sugar responses of human enterochromaffin cells depend on gut region, sex, and body mass. *Nutrients*, 11, 234.
- Zelkas, L., Raghupathi, R., Lumsden, A. L., Martin, A. M., Sun, E., Spencer, N. J., et al.Keating, D. J. 2015. Serotonin-secreting enteroendocrine cells respond via diverse mechanisms to acute and chronic changes in glucose availability. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*, 12, 55.
- De Vadder, F., Grasset, E., Mannerås Holm, L., Karsenty, G., Macpherson, A. J., Olofsson, L. E. & Bäckhed, F. 2018. Gut microbiota regulates maturation of the adult enteric nervous system via enteric serotonin networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115, 6458-6463.
- Ge, X., Ding, C., Zhao, W., Xu, L., Tian, H., Gong, J., et al.Li, N. 2017. Antibiotics-induced depletion of mice microbiota induces changes in host serotonin biosynthesis and intestinal motility. *Journal of translational medicine*, 15, 1-9.
- Kashyap, P. C., Marcobal, A., Ursell, L. K., Larauche, M., Duboc, H., Earle, K. A., et al.Sonnenburg, J. L. 2013. Complex interactions among diet, gastrointestinal transit, and gut microbiota in humanized mice. *Gastroenterology*, 144, 967-977.
- Vincent, A. D., Wang, X. Y., Parsons, S. P., Khan, W. I. & Huizinga, J. D. 2018. Abnormal absorptive colonic motor activity in germ-free mice is rectified by butyrate, an effect possibly mediated by mucosal serotonin. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 315, G896-G907.
- Ghia, J. E., Li, N., Wang, H., Collins, M., Deng, Y., El–Sharkawy, R. T., et al.Khan, W. I. 2009. Serotonin has a key role in pathogenesis of experimental colitis. *Gastroenterology*, 137, 1649-1660.
- Kwon, Y. H., Wang, H., Denou, E., Ghia, J.-E., Rossi, L., Fontes, M. E., et al.Khan, W. I. 2019. Modulation of gut microbiota composition by serotonin signaling influences intestinal immune response and susceptibility to colitis. *Cellular and molecular gastroenterology and hepatology*, 7, 709-728.
- Martin, A. M., Yabut, J. M., Choo, J. M., Page, A. J., Sun, E. W., Jessup, C. F., et al.Keating, D. J. 2019. The gut microbiome regulates host glucose homeostasis via peripheral serotonin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 116, 19802-19804.
- Mandić, A. D., Woting, A., Jaenicke, T., Sander, A., Sabrowski, W., Rolle-Kampcyk, U., et al.Blaut, M. 2019. Clostridium ramosum regulates enterochromaffin cell development and serotonin release. *Scientific reports,* 9, 1177-1177.
- Mcvey Neufeld, K. A., Bienenstock, J., Bharwani, A., Champagne-Jorgensen, K., Mao, Y., West, C., et al.Forsythe, P. 2019. Oral selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors activate vagus nerve dependent gut-brain signalling. *Sci Rep*, 9, 14290.
- Hunne, B., Stebbing, M. J., Mcquade, R. M. & Furness, J. B. 2019. Distributions and relationships of chemically defined enteroendocrine cells in the rat gastric mucosa. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 378, 33-48.
- Kaelberer, M. M., Buchanan, K. L., Klein, M. E., Barth, B. B., Montoya, M. M., Shen, X. & Bohórquez, D. V. 2018. A gut-brain neural circuit for nutrient sensory transduction. *Science*, 361, eaat5236.
- Raghupathi, R., Duffield, M. D., Zelkas, L., Meedeniya, A., Brookes, S. J. H., Sia, T. C., et al.Keating, D. J. 2013. Identification of unique release kinetics of serotonin from

guinea-pig and human enterochromaffin cells. *The Journal of physiology*, 591, 5959-5975.

- Hiemke, C. & Hartter, S. 2000. Pharmacokinetics of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Pharmacol Ther*, 85, 11-28.
- Maier, L., Pruteanu, M., Kuhn, M., Zeller, G., Telzerow, A., Anderson, E. E., et al.Typas, A. 2018. Extensive impact of non-antibiotic drugs on human gut bacteria. *Nature*, 555, 623-628.
- Lee, S. H., Paz-Filho, G., Mastronardi, C., Licinio, J. & Wong, M. L. 2016. Is increased antidepressant exposure a contributory factor to the obesity pandemic? *Transl Psychiatry*, 6, e759.
- Bayliss, W. M. & Starling, E. H. 1899. The movements and innervation of the small intestine. *The Journal of Physiology*, 24, 99-143.
- Brierley, S. C., Marcello 2016. The enteric nervous system: 30 years later, Springer (Springer Nature).
- Koeppen, B. S., Bruce 2009. Berne & levy physiology, Elsevier.
- Ward, S. M., Ördög, T., Bayguinov, J. R., Horowitz, B., Epperson, A., Shen, L., et al.Sanders, K. M. 1999. Development of interstitial cells of cajal and pacemaking in mice lacking enteric nerves. *Gastroenterology*, 117, 584-594.
- Spencer, N. J., Hibberd, T. J., Travis, L., Wiklendt, L., Costa, M., Hu, H., et al.Sorensen, J. 2018. Identification of a rhythmic firing pattern in the enteric nervous system that generates rhythmic electrical activity in smooth muscle. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 38, 5507.
- Spencer, N. J., Dinning, P. G., Brookes, S. J. & Costa, M. 2016. Insights into the mechanisms underlying colonic motor patterns. *The Journal of Physiology*, 594, 4099-4116.
- Corsetti, M., Costa, M., Bassotti, G., Bharucha, A. E., Borrelli, O., Dinning, P., et al.Tack, J. 2019. First translational consensus on terminology and definitions of colonic motility in animals and humans studied by manometric and other techniques. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol,* 16, 559-579.
- Dinning, P. G., Wiklendt, L., Omari, T., Arkwright, J. W., Spencer, N. J., Brookes, S. J. & Costa, M. 2014. Neural mechanisms of peristalsis in the isolated rabbit distal colon: A neuromechanical loop hypothesis. *Front Neurosci*, 8, 75.
- Costa, M., Wiklendt, L., Simpson, P., Spencer, N. J., Brookes, S. J. & Dinning, P. G. 2015. Neuromechanical factors involved in the formation and propulsion of fecal pellets in the guinea-pig colon. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 27, 1466-77.
- Costa, M., Keightley, L. J., Hibberd, T. J., Wiklendt, L., Dinning, P. G., Brookes, S. J. & Spencer, N. J. 2021. Motor patterns in the proximal and distal mouse colon which underlie formation and propulsion of feces. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility,* n/a, e14098.
- Bulbring, E. & Crema, A. 1958. Observations concerning the action of 5-hydroxytryptamine on the peristaltic reflex. *Br J Pharmacol Chemother*, 13, 444-57.
- Foxx-Orenstein, A. E., Kuemmerle, J. F. & Grider, J. R. 1996. Distinct 5-ht receptors mediate the peristaltic reflex induced by mucosal stimuli in human and guinea pig intestine. *Gastroenterology*, 111, 1281-90.
- Grider, J. R., Kuemmerle, J. F. & Jin, J. G. 1996. 5-ht released by mucosal stimuli initiates peristalsis by activating 5-ht4/5-ht1p receptors on sensory cgrp neurons. *Am J Physiol*, 270, G778-82.
- Jin, J. G., Foxx-Orenstein, A. E. & Grider, J. R. 1999. Propulsion in guinea pig colon induced by 5-hydroxytryptamine (ht) via 5-ht4 and 5-ht3 receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 288, 93-7.
- Kadowaki, M., Wade, P. R. & Gershon, M. D. 1996. Participation of 5-ht3, 5-ht4, and nicotinic receptors in the peristaltic reflex of guinea pig distal colon. *Am J Physiol*, 271, G849-57.
- Smith, T. K. & Gershon, M. D. 2015a. Crosstalk proposal: 5-ht is necessary for peristalsis. J Physiol, 593, 3225-7.

- Spencer, N. J., Sia, T. C., Brookes, S. J., Costa, M. & Keating, D. J. 2015. Crosstalk opposing view: 5-ht is not necessary for peristalsis. *J Physiol*, 593, 3229-31.
- Smith, T. K. & Gershon, M. D. 2015b. Rebuttal from terence k. Smith and michael d. Gershon. *J Physiol*, 593, 3233.
- Spencer, N. J., Nicholas, S. J., Robinson, L., Kyloh, M., Flack, N., Brookes, S. J., et al.Keating, D. J. 2011. Mechanisms underlying distension-evoked peristalsis in guinea pig distal colon: Is there a role for enterochromaffin cells? *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 301, G519-27.
- Kunze, W. a. A., Bornstein, J. C. & Furness, J. B. 1995a. Identification of sensory nerve cells in a peripheral organ (the intestine) of a mammal. *Neuroscience*, 66, 1-4.
- Bertrand, P. P., Kunze, W. a. A., Furness, J. B. & Bornstein, J. C. 2000. The terminals of myenteric intrinsic primary afferent neurons of the guinea-pig ileum are excited by 5-hydroxytryptamine acting at 5-hydroxytryptamine-3 receptors. *Neuroscience*, 101, 459-469.
- Bulbring, E. & Crema, A. 1959. The release of 5-hydroxytryptamine in relation to pressure exerted on the intestinal mucosa. *J Physiol*, 146, 18-28.
- Pan, H. & Gershon, M. D. 2000. Activation of intrinsic afferent pathways in submucosal ganglia of the guinea pig small intestine. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 3295.
- Heredia, D. J., Dickson, E. J., Bayguinov, P. O., Hennig, G. W. & Smith, T. K. 2009. Localized release of serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine) by a fecal pellet regulates migrating motor complexes in murine colon. *Gastroenterology*, 136, 1328-38.
- Bayguinov, P. O., Hennig, G. W. & Smith, T. K. 2010. Calcium activity in different classes of myenteric neurons underlying the migrating motor complex in the murine colon. J Physiol, 588, 399-421.
- Bush, T. G., Spencer, N. J., Watters, N., Sanders, K. M. & Smith, T. K. 2001. Effects of alosetron on spontaneous migrating motor complexes in murine small and large bowel in vitro. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 281, G974-G983.
- Sia, T., Whiting, M., Kyloh, M., Nicholas, S., Brookes, S., Oliver, J., et al.Spencer, N. 2013a.
   5-ht3 and 5-ht4 antagonists inhibit peristaltic contractions in guinea-pig distal colon by mechanisms independent of endogenous 5-ht. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7.
- Barnes, K. J., Beckett, E. A., Brookes, S. J., Sia, T. C. & Spencer, N. J. 2014. Control of intrinsic pacemaker frequency and velocity of colonic migrating motor complexes in mouse. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 8, 96-96.
- Hu, X. Q. & Peoples, R. W. 2008. The 5-ht3b subunit confers spontaneous channel opening and altered ligand properties of the 5-ht3 receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 6826-31.
- Berthouze, M., Ayoub, M., Russo, O., Rivail, L., Sicsic, S., Fischmeister, R., et al.Lezoualc · H,
   F. 2005. Constitutive dimerization of human serotonin 5-ht4 receptors in living cells.
   *FEBS Letters*, 579, 2973-2980.
- Li, Z., Chalazonitis, A., Huang, Y. Y., Mann, J. J., Margolis, K. G., Yang, Q. M., et al.Gershon, M. D. 2011. Essential roles of enteric neuronal serotonin in gastrointestinal motility and the development/survival of enteric dopaminergic neurons. *J Neurosci*, 31, 8998-9009.
- Yelin, R. & Schuldiner, S. 2002. Vesicular neurotransmitter transporters. *Neurotransmitter transporters.* Springer.
- Sia, T. C., Flack, N., Robinson, L., Kyloh, M., Nicholas, S. J., Brookes, S. J., et al.Spencer, N. J. 2013b. Is serotonin in enteric nerves required for distension-evoked peristalsis and propulsion of content in guinea-pig distal colon? *Neuroscience*, 240, 325-35.
- Spencer, N. J., Nicholas, S. J., Sia, T. C., Staikopoulos, V., Kyloh, M. & Beckett, E. A. 2013. By what mechanism does ondansetron inhibit colonic migrating motor complexes: Does it require endogenous serotonin in the gut wall? *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 25, 677-685.
- Kim, M., Javed, N. H., Yu, J.-G., Christofi, F. & Cooke, H. J. 2001. Mechanical stimulation activates gαq signaling pathways and 5-hydroxytryptamine release from human carcinoid bon cells. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 108, 1051-1059.

- Kim, M., Christofi, F. L., Xue, J., Robinson, J. M. & Cooke, H. J. 2007. Mechanically evoked 5-hydroxytryptamine release is mediated by caveolin-associated cholesterol rich membrane domains. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 19, 309-317.
- Linan-Rico, A., Ochoa-Cortes, F., Beyder, A., Soghomonyan, S., Zuleta-Alarcon, A., Coppola, V. & Christofi, F. L. 2016. Mechanosensory signaling in enterochromaffin cells and 5ht release: Potential implications for gut inflammation. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 10, 564-564.
- Bertrand, P. P. 2004. Real-time detection of serotonin release from enterochromaffin cells of the guinea-pig ileum. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 16, 511-514.
- Christofi, F. L. 2008. Purinergic receptors and gastrointestinal secretomotor function. *Purinergic Signalling*, 4, 213-236.
- Chin, A., Svejda, B., Gustafsson, B. I., Granlund, A. B., Sandvik, A. K., Timberlake, A., et al.Kidd, M. 2011. The role of mechanical forces and adenosine in the regulation of intestinal enterochromaffin cell serotonin secretion. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 302, G397-G405.
- Liñán-Rico, A., Wunderlich, J. E., Grants, I. S., Frankel, W. L., Xue, J., Williams, K. C., et al.Christofi, F. L. 2013. Purinergic autocrine regulation of mechanosensitivity and serotonin release in a human ec model: Atp-gated p2x3 channels in ec are downregulated in ulcerative colitis. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*, 19, 2366-2379.
- Cooke, H. J., Wunderlich, J. & Christofi, F. L. 2003. "The force be with you": Atp in gut mechanosensory transduction. *Physiology*, 18, 43-49.
- Linan-Rico, A., Ochoa-Cortes, F., Alhaj, M. A., Enneking, J., Bitticker, E., Needleman, B. J., et al.Christofi, F. L. 2014. Su2021 utp evokes ca2+ oscillations in human enterochromaffin cells via multiple intracellular signaling and ionic mechanisms. *Gastroenterology*, 146, S-525.
- Miyamoto, T., Mochizuki, T., Nakagomi, H., Kira, S., Watanabe, M., Takayama, Y., et al.Tominaga, M. 2014a. Functional role for piezo1 in stretch-evoked ca2+ influx and atp release in urothelial cell cultures\*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289, 16565-16575.
- Wynn, G., Ma, B., Ruan, H. Z. & Burnstock, G. 2004. Purinergic component of mechanosensory transduction is increased in a rat model of colitis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 287, G647-57.
- Burnstock, G. 2009. Purinergic mechanosensory transduction and visceral pain. *Molecular Pain*, 5, 69.
- Eyckmans, J., Boudou, T., Yu, X. & Chen, C. S. 2011a. A hitchhiker's guide to mechanobiology. *Dev Cell*, 21, 35-47.
- Joshi, V., Strege, P. R., Farrugia, G. & Beyder, A. 2021. Mechanotransduction in gastrointestinal smooth muscle cells: Role of mechanosensitive ion channels. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*.
- Coste, B., Mathur, J., Schmidt, M., Earley, T. J., Ranade, S., Petrus, M. J., et al. Patapoutian, A. 2010. Piezo1 and piezo2 are essential components of distinct mechanically activated cation channels. *Science*, 330, 55-60.
- Coste, B., Xiao, B., Santos, J. S., Syeda, R., Grandl, J., Spencer, K. S., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2012. Piezo proteins are pore-forming subunits of mechanically activated channels. *Nature*, 483, 176-81.
- Ikeda, R., Cha, M., Ling, J., Jia, Z., Coyle, D. & Gu, J. G. 2014. Merkel cells transduce and encode tactile stimuli to drive aβ-afferent impulses. *Cell*, 157, 664-75.
- Taberner, F. J., Prato, V., Schaefer, I., Schrenk-Siemens, K., Heppenstall, P. A. & Lechner, S. G. 2019. Structure-guided examination of the mechanogating mechanism of piezo2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 14260.
- Wang, L., Zhou, H., Zhang, M., Liu, W., Deng, T., Zhao, Q., et al.Xiao, B. 2019b. Structure and mechanogating of the mammalian tactile channel piezo2. *Nature*, 573, 225-229.
- Lin, Y. C., Guo, Y. R., Miyagi, A., Levring, J., Mackinnon, R. & Scheuring, S. 2019. Forceinduced conformational changes in piezo1. *Nature*, 573, 230-234.

- Cox, C. D., Bae, C., Ziegler, L., Hartley, S., Nikolova-Krstevski, V., Rohde, P. R., et al.Martinac, B. 2016a. Removal of the mechanoprotective influence of the cytoskeleton reveals piezo1 is gated by bilayer tension. *Nature Communications*, *7*, 10366.
- Lewis, A. H. & Grandl, J. 2015. Mechanical sensitivity of piezo1 ion channels can be tuned by cellular membrane tension. *eLife*, 4.
- Syeda, R., Florendo, M. N., Cox, C. D., Kefauver, J. M., Santos, J. S., Martinac, B. & Patapoutian, A. 2016. Piezo1 channels are inherently mechanosensitive. *Cell reports*, 17, 1739-1746.
- Retailleau, K., Duprat, F., Arhatte, M., Ranade, S. S., Peyronnet, R., Martins, J. R., et al. Honoré, E. 2015a. Piezo1 in smooth muscle cells is involved in hypertension-dependent arterial remodeling. *Cell Rep*, 13, 1161-1171.
- Faucherre, A., Kissa, K., Nargeot, J., Mangoni, M. E. & Jopling, C. 2014a. Piezo1 plays a role in erythrocyte volume homeostasis. *Haematologica*, 99, 70-5.
- Miyamoto, T., Mochizuki, T., Nakagomi, H., Kira, S., Watanabe, M., Takayama, Y., et al.Tominaga, M. 2014b. Functional role for piezo1 in stretch-evoked ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and atp release in urothelial cell cultures. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 289, 16565-16575.
- Cinar, E., Zhou, S., Decourcey, J., Wang, Y., Waugh, R. E. & Wan, J. 2015a. Piezo1 regulates mechanotransductive release of atp from human rbcs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112, 11783-8.
- Slattum, G. M. & Rosenblatt, J. 2014. Tumour cell invasion: An emerging role for basal epithelial cell extrusion. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 14, 495-501.
- Faucherre, A., Kissa, K., Nargeot, J., Mangoni, M. E. & Jopling, C. 2014b. Piezo1 plays a role in erythrocyte volume homeostasis. *Haematologica*, 99, 70-75.
- Cinar, E., Zhou, S., Decourcey, J., Wang, Y., Waugh, R. E. & Wan, J. 2015b. Piezo1 regulates mechanotransductive release of atp from human rbcs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 11783.
- Retailleau, K., Duprat, F., Arhatte, M., Ranade, S. S., Peyronnet, R., Martins, J. R., et al. Honoré, E. 2015b. Piezo1 in smooth muscle cells is involved in hypertension-dependent arterial remodeling. *Cell Reports*, 13, 1161-1171.
- Ranade, S. S., Qiu, Z., Woo, S. H., Hur, S. S., Murthy, S. E., Cahalan, S. M., et al. Patapoutian,
   A. 2014a. Piezo1, a mechanically activated ion channel, is required for vascular development in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 10347-52.
- Nonomura, K., Lukacs, V., Sweet, D. T., Goddard, L. M., Kanie, A., Whitwam, T., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2018. Mechanically activated ion channel piezo1 is required for lymphatic valve formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115, 12817.
- Zeng, W.-Z., Marshall, K. L., Min, S., Daou, I., Chapleau, M. W., Abboud, F. M., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2018. Piezos mediate neuronal sensing of blood pressure and the baroreceptor reflex. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 362, 464-467.
- Wang, S., Chennupati, R., Kaur, H., Iring, A., Wettschureck, N. & Offermanns, S. 2016. Endothelial cation channel piezo1 controls blood pressure by mediating flow-induced atp release. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 126, 4527-4536.
- Peyronnet, R., Martins, J. R., Duprat, F., Demolombe, S., Arhatte, M., Jodar, M., et al.Patel, A. 2013a. Piezo1-dependent stretch-activated channels are inhibited by polycystin-2 in renal tubular epithelial cells. *EMBO Rep,* 14, 1143-8.
- Romac, J. M. J., Shahid, R. A., Swain, S. M., Vigna, S. R. & Liddle, R. A. 2018. Piezo1 is a mechanically activated ion channel and mediates pressure induced pancreatitis. *Nature Communications*, 9.
- Solis, A. G., Bielecki, P., Steach, H. R., Sharma, L., Harman, C. C. D., Yun, S., et al. Flavell, R. A. 2019. Mechanosensation of cyclical force by piezo1 is essential for innate immunity. *Nature*, 573, 69-74.
- Fang, Y., Wu, D. & Birukov, K. G. 2019. Mechanosensing and mechanoregulation of endothelial cell functions. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 9, 873-904.

- Mehta, V., Pang, K.-L., Rozbesky, D., Nather, K., Keen, A., Lachowski, D., et al.Tzima, E. 2020. The guidance receptor plexin d1 is a mechanosensor in endothelial cells. *Nature*, 578, 290-295.
- Wu, J., Lewis, A. H. & Grandl, J. 2017. Touch, tension, and transduction the function and regulation of piezo ion channels. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 42, 57-71.
- Ranade, S. S., Woo, S. H., Dubin, A. E., Moshourab, R. A., Wetzel, C., Petrus, M., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2014b. Piezo2 is the major transducer of mechanical forces for touch sensation in mice. *Nature*, 516, 121-5.
- Woo, S. H., Ranade, S., Weyer, A. D., Dubin, A. E., Baba, Y., Qiu, Z., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2014. Piezo2 is required for merkel-cell mechanotransduction. *Nature*, 509, 622-6.
- Chang, W., Kanda, H., Ikeda, R., Ling, J., Deberry, J. J. & Gu, J. G. 2016. Merkel disc is a serotonergic synapse in the epidermis for transmitting tactile signals in mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113, E5491.
- Nonomura, K., Woo, S.-H., Chang, R. B., Gillich, A., Qiu, Z., Francisco, A. G., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2017. Piezo2 senses airway stretch and mediates lung inflation-induced apnoea. *Nature*, 541, 176-181.
- Woo, S. H., Lukacs, V., De Nooij, J. C., Zaytseva, D., Criddle, C. R., Francisco, A., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2015. Piezo2 is the principal mechanotransduction channel for proprioception. *Nat Neurosci*, 18, 1756-62.
- Yang, J., Zhang, J., Yang, H., Li, K., Lei, X. & Xu, C. 2016. The potential role of piezo2 in the mediation of visceral sensation. *Neuroscience letters*, 630, 158-163.
- Basbaum, A. I., Bautista, D. M., Scherrer, G. & Julius, D. 2009. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of pain. *Cell*, 139, 267-84.
- Lewin, G. R. & Moshourab, R. 2004. Mechanosensation and pain. J Neurobiol, 61, 30-44.
- Marshall, K. L., Saade, D., Ghitani, N., Coombs, A. M., Szczot, M., Keller, J., et al. Patapoutian, A. 2020. Piezo2 in sensory neurons and urothelial cells coordinates urination. *Nature*.
- Albuisson, J., Murthy, S. E., Bandell, M., Coste, B., Louis-Dit-Picard, H., Mathur, J., et al.Patapoutian, A. 2013. Dehydrated hereditary stomatocytosis linked to gain-offunction mutations in mechanically activated piezo1 ion channels. *Nature Communications*, 4, 1884.
- Chesler, A. T., Szczot, M., Bharucha-Goebel, D., Čeko, M., Donkervoort, S., Laubacher, C., et al.Bönnemann, C. G. 2016. The role of piezo2 in human mechanosensation. *N Engl J Med*, 375, 1355-1364.
- Szczot, M., Liljencrantz, J., Ghitani, N., Barik, A., Lam, R., Thompson, J. H., et al.Chesler, A. T. 2018. Piezo2 mediates injury-induced tactile pain in mice and humans. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10, eaat9892.
- Haeberle, H., Fujiwara, M., Chuang, J., Medina, M. M., Panditrao, M. V., Bechstedt, S., et al.Lumpkin, E. A. 2004. Molecular profiling reveals synaptic release machinery in merkel cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 14503-8.
- Sugisawa, E., Takayama, Y., Takemura, N., Kondo, T., Hatakeyama, S., Kumagai, Y., et al.Maruyama, K. 2020. Rna sensing by gut piezo1 is essential for systemic serotonin synthesis. *Cell*, 182, 609-624.e21.
- Wang, P., Jia, Y., Liu, T., Jan, Y.-N. & Zhang, W. 2020. Visceral mechano-sensing neurons control <em>drosophila</em> feeding by using piezo as a sensor. *Neuron*, 108, 640-650.e4.
- Jourjine, N. 2017. Hunger and thirst interact to regulate ingestive behavior in flies and mammals. *BioEssays*, 39, 1600261.
- Furness, J. B., Kunze, W. a. A. & Clerc, N. 1999. Nutrient tasting and signaling mechanisms in the gut ii. The intestine as a sensory organ: Neural, endocrine, and immune responses. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 277, G922-G928.
- Brookes, S. J. & Costa, M. 2002. *Cellular organisation of the mammalian enteric nervous system*, CRC Press.
- Furness, J. B. 2008. The enteric nervous system, John Wiley & Sons.

- Furness, J. B., Callaghan, B. P., Rivera, L. R. & Cho, H.-J. 2014. The enteric nervous system and gastrointestinal innervation: Integrated local and central control. *In:* Lyte, M. & Cryan, J. F. (eds.) *Microbial endocrinology: The microbiota-gut-brain axis in health and disease*. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Bertrand, P. P., Kunze, W. A., Bornstein, J. C. & Furness, J. B. 1998. Electrical mapping of the projections of intrinsic primary afferent neurones to the mucosa of the guinea-pig small intestine. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 10, 533-41.
- Furness, J. B., Jones, C., Nurgali, K. & Clerc, N. 2004a. Intrinsic primary afferent neurons and nerve circuits within the intestine. *Prog Neurobiol*, 72, 143-64.
- Kang, Y.-N., Fung, C. & Vanden Berghe, P. 2021. Gut innervation and enteric nervous system development: A spatial, temporal and molecular tour de force. *Development,* 148.
- Brookes, S., Chen, N., Humenick, A., Spencer, N. J. & Costa, M. 2016. Extrinsic sensory innervation of the gut: Structure and function. *In:* Brierley, S. & Costa, M. (eds.) *The enteric nervous system: 30 years later.* Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Altschuler, S. M., Escardo, J., Lynn, R. B. & Miselis, R. R. 1993. The central organization of the vagus nerve innervating the colon of the rat. *Gastroenterology*, 104, 502-9.
- Herrity, A. N., Rau, K. K., Petruska, J. C., Stirling, D. P. & Hubscher, C. H. 2014. Identification of bladder and colon afferents in the nodose ganglia of male rats. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, 522, 3667-3682.
- Grundy, L. & Brierley, S. M. 2018. Cross-organ sensitization between the colon and bladder: To pee or not to pee? *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 314, G301-g308.
- Christianson, J. A., Traub, R. J. & Davis, B. M. 2006. Differences in spinal distribution and neurochemical phenotype of colonic afferents in mouse and rat. *J Comp Neurol*, 494, 246-59.
- Tan, L. L., Bornstein, J. C. & Anderson, C. R. 2008. Distinct chemical classes of medium-sized transient receptor potential channel vanilloid 1-immunoreactive dorsal root ganglion neurons innervate the adult mouse jejunum and colon. *Neuroscience*, 156, 334-43.
- Harrington, A. M., Castro, J., Erickson, A., Grundy, L. & Brierley, S. M. 2018. Chapter 17 extrinsic sensory afferent nerves innervating the gastrointestinal tract in health and disease. *In:* Said, H. M. (ed.) *Physiology of the gastrointestinal tract (sixth edition)*. Academic Press.
- Brookes, S. J. H., Spencer, N. J., Costa, M. & Zagorodnyuk, V. P. 2013. Extrinsic primary afferent signalling in the gut. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 10, 286-296.
- Yu, Y., Daly, D. M., Adam, I. J., Kitsanta, P., Hill, C. J., Wild, J., et al.Jiang, W. 2016. Interplay between mast cells, enterochromaffin cells, and sensory signaling in the aging human bowel. *Neurogastroenterology and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society*, 28, 1465-1479.
- Jiang, W., Adam, I. J., Kitsanta, P., Tiernan, J., Hill, C., Shorthouse, A. & Grundy, D. 2011. 'First-in-man': Characterising the mechanosensitivity of human colonic afferents. *Gut*, 60, 281-2.
- Mcguire, C., Boundouki, G., Hockley, J. R. F., Reed, D., Cibert-Goton, V., Peiris, M., et al.Bulmer, D. C. 2018. Ex vivo study of human visceral nociceptors. *Gut*, 67, 86-96.
- Hockley, J. R. F., Tranter, M. M., Mcguire, C., Boundouki, G., Cibert-Goton, V., Thaha, M. A., et al.Bulmer, D. C. 2016. P2y receptors sensitize mouse and human colonic nociceptors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 36, 2364-2376.
- Hockley, J. R. F., Taylor, T. S., Callejo, G., Wilbrey, A. L., Gutteridge, A., Bach, K., et al.Smith, E. S. J. 2019. Single-cell rnaseq reveals seven classes of colonic sensory neuron. *Gut*, 68, 633-644.
- Bohórquez, D. V., Shahid, R. A., Erdmann, A., Kreger, A. M., Wang, Y., Calakos, N., et al.Liddle, R. A. 2015. Neuroepithelial circuit formed by innervation of sensory enteroendocrine cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 125, 782-786.
- Uesaka, T., Young, H. M., Pachnis, V. & Enomoto, H. 2016. Development of the intrinsic and extrinsic innervation of the gut. *Developmental Biology*, 417, 158-167.

- Ye, L., Bae, M., Cassilly, C. D., Jabba, S. V., Thorpe, D. W., Martin, A. M., et al.Rawls, J. F. 2021. Enteroendocrine cells sense bacterial tryptophan catabolites to activate enteric and vagal neuronal pathways. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 29, 179-196.e9.
- Furness, J. B., Rivera, L. R., Cho, H.-J., Bravo, D. M. & Callaghan, B. 2013. The gut as a sensory organ. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 10, 729-740.

Liddle, R. A. 2019. Neuropods. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol, 7, 739-747.

- Wade, P. R. & Westfall, J. A. 1985a. Ultrastructure of enterochromaffin cells and associated neural and vascular elements in the mouse duodenum. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 241, 557-563.
- Okano-Matsumoto, S., Mcroberts, J. A., Taché, Y. & Adelson, D. W. 2011. Electrophysiological evidence for distinct vagal pathways mediating cck-evoked motor effects in the proximal versus distal stomach. *The Journal of physiology*, 589, 371-393.
- Psichas, A., Reimann, F. & Gribble, F. M. 2015. Gut chemosensing mechanisms. *The Journal* of *Clinical Investigation*, 125, 908-917.
- Bertrand, P. P. 2009. The cornucopia of intestinal chemosensory transduction. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *3*, 48-48.
- Cummings, D. E. & Overduin, J. 2007. Gastrointestinal regulation of food intake. *The Journal* of clinical investigation, 117, 13-23.
- Rehfeld, J. F. 1998. The new biology of gastrointestinal hormones. *Physiol Rev,* 78, 1087-108.
- Beutler, L. R., Chen, Y., Ahn, J. S., Lin, Y.-C., Essner, R. A. & Knight, Z. A. 2017. Dynamics of gut-brain communication underlying hunger. *Neuron*, 96, 461-475.e5.
- Su, Z., Alhadeff, A. L. & Betley, J. N. 2017. Nutritive, post-ingestive signals are the primary regulators of agrp neuron activity. *Cell Reports*, 21, 2724-2736.
- Bohórquez, D. V., Samsa, L. A., Roholt, A., Medicetty, S., Chandra, R. & Liddle, R. A. 2014. An enteroendocrine cell – enteric glia connection revealed by 3d electron microscopy. *PLOS ONE,* 9, e89881.
- Larsson, L. I., Goltermann, N., De Magistris, L., Rehfeld, J. F. & Schwartz, T. W. 1979. Somatostatin cell processes as pathways for paracrine secretion. *Science*, 205, 1393-5.
- Lundberg, J. M., Tatemoto, K., Terenius, L., Hellström, P. M., Mutt, V., Hökfelt, T. & Hamberger, B. 1982. Localization of peptide yy (pyy) in gastrointestinal endocrine cells and effects on intestinal blood flow and motility. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 79, 4471-4475.
- Karaki, S., Mitsui, R., Hayashi, H., Kato, I., Sugiya, H., Iwanaga, T., et al.Kuwahara, A. 2006. Short-chain fatty acid receptor, gpr43, is expressed by enteroendocrine cells and mucosal mast cells in rat intestine. *Cell Tissue Res*, 324, 353-60.
- Chandra, R., Samsa, L. A., Vigna, S. R. & Liddle, R. A. 2010. Pseudopod-like basal cell processes in intestinal cholecystokinin cells. *Cell Tissue Res*, 341, 289-97.
- Bohórquez, D. V., Chandra, R., Samsa, L. A., Vigna, S. R. & Liddle, R. A. 2011. Characterization of basal pseudopod-like processes in ileal and colonic pyy cells. *J Mol Histol*, 42, 3-13.
- Alumets, J., Ekelund, M., El Munshid, H. A., Håkanson, R., Lorén, I. & Sundler, F. 1979. Topography of somatostatin cells in the stomach of the rat: Possible functional significance. *Cell Tissue Res*, 202, 177-88.
- Nilsson, O., Bilchik, A. J., Goldenring, J. R., Ballantyne, G. H., Adrian, T. E. & Modlin, I. M. 1991. Distribution and immunocytochemical colocalization of peptide yy and enteroglucagon in endocrine cells of the rabbit colon. *Endocrinology*, 129, 139-48.
- Südhof, T. C. 2012. The presynaptic active zone. *Neuron*, 75, 11-25.
- Chen, X., Winters, C., Azzam, R., Li, X., Galbraith, J. A., Leapman, R. D. & Reese, T. S. 2008. Organization of the core structure of the postsynaptic density. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 4453-8.
- Koo, A., Fothergill, L. J., Kuramoto, H. & Furness, J. B. 2021. 5-ht containing enteroendocrine cells characterised by morphologies, patterns of hormone co-expression, and

relationships with nerve fibres in the mouse gastrointestinal tract. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*.

- Wei, L., Singh, R., Ha, S. E., Martin, A. M., Jones, L., Jin, B., et al.Ro, S. 2021. Serotonin deficiency is associated with delayed gastric emptying. *Gastroenterology*, 160, 2451-2466 e19.
- Hamamichi, R., Asano-Miyoshi, M. & Emori, Y. 2006. Taste bud contains both short-lived and long-lived cell populations. *Neuroscience*, 141, 2129-38.
- Hinds, J. W., Hinds, P. L. & Mcnelly, N. A. 1984. An autoradiographic study of the mouse olfactory epithelium: Evidence for long-lived receptors. *The Anatomical Record*, 210, 375-383.
- Kuramoto, H., Kadowaki, M., Sakamoto, H., Yuasa, K., Todo, A. & Shirai, R. 2007. Distinct morphology of serotonin-containing enterochromaffin (ec) cells in the rat distal colon. *Archives of Histology and Cytology*, 70, 235-241.
- Inokuchi, H., Kawai, K., Takeuchi, Y. & Sano, Y. 1984. Immunohistochemical study on the morphology of enterochromaffin cells in the human fundic mucosa. *Cell Tissue Res*, 235, 703-5.
- Bordi, C., D'adda, T., Azzoni, C. & Ferraro, G. 2000. Classification of gastric endocrine cells at the light and electron microscopical levels. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 48, 258-271.
- Kusumoto, Y., Grube, D., Sato, A. G., Kaneda, K. & Nakamae, E. 1988. Cytology and arrangement of enterochromaffin (ec) cells in the human stomach. *Arch Histol Cytol*, 51, 271-6.
- Fakhry, J., Stebbing, M. J., Hunne, B., Bayguinov, Y., Ward, S. M., Sasse, K. C., et al.Furness, J. B. 2019. Relationships of endocrine cells to each other and to other cell types in the human gastric fundus and corpus. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 376, 37-49.
- Bush, T. G., Savidge, T. C., Freeman, T. C., Cox, H. J., Campbell, E. A., Mucke, L., et al.Sofroniew, M. V. 1998. Fulminant jejuno-ileitis following ablation of enteric glia in adult transgenic mice. *Cell*, 93, 189-201.
- Van Landeghem, L., Chevalier, J., Mahé, M. M., Wedel, T., Urvil, P., Derkinderen, P., et al.Neunlist, M. 2011. Enteric glia promote intestinal mucosal healing via activation of focal adhesion kinase and release of proegf. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*, 300, G976-G987.
- Neunlist, M., Rolli-Derkinderen, M., Latorre, R., Van Landeghem, L., Coron, E., Derkinderen, P. & De Giorgio, R. 2014. Enteric glial cells: Recent developments and future directions. *Gastroenterology*, 147, 1230-7.
- Kaplan, D. R., Hempstead, B. L., Martin-Zanca, D., Chao, M. V. & Parada, L. F. 1991. The trk proto-oncogene product: A signal transducing receptor for nerve growth factor. *Science*, 252, 554-8.
- Klein, R., Jing, S. Q., Nanduri, V., O'rourke, E. & Barbacid, M. 1991. The trk proto-oncogene encodes a receptor for nerve growth factor. *Cell*, 65, 189-97.
- Yasuda, T., Sobue, G., Ito, T., Mitsuma, T. & Takahashi, A. 1990. Nerve growth factor enhances neurite arborization of adult sensory neurons; a study in single-cell culture. *Brain Res*, 524, 54-63.
- Baloh, R. H., Tansey, M. G., Lampe, P. A., Fahrner, T. J., Enomoto, H., Simburger, K. S., et al.Milbrandt, J. 1998. Artemin, a novel member of the gdnf ligand family, supports peripheral and central neurons and signals through the gfralpha3-ret receptor complex. *Neuron*, 21, 1291-302.
- Madduri, S., Papaloïzos, M. & Gander, B. 2009. Synergistic effect of gdnf and ngf on axonal branching and elongation in vitro. *Neurosci Res*, 65, 88-97.
- Yadav, V. K., Balaji, S., Suresh, P. S., Liu, X. S., Lu, X., Li, Z., et al.Ducy, P. 2010. Pharmacological inhibition of gut-derived serotonin synthesis is a potential bone anabolic treatment for osteoporosis. *Nature medicine*, 16, 308-312.
- Collier, R. J. 1975. Diphtheria toxin: Mode of action and structure. *Bacteriological reviews*, 39, 54-85.

- Wong, D. T., Horng, J. S., Bymaster, F. P., Hauser, K. L. & Molloy, B. B. 1974. A selective inhibitor of serotonin uptake: Lilly 110140, 3-(p-trifluoromethylphenoxy)-n-methyl-3phenylpropylamine. *Life Sciences*, 15, 471-479.
- Hillhouse, T. M. & Porter, J. H. 2015. A brief history of the development of antidepressant drugs: From monoamines to glutamate. *Experimental and clinical psychopharmacology*, 23, 1-21.
- Ross, S. B. & Renyi, A. L. 1969. Inhibition of the uptake of tritiated 5-hydroxytryptamine in brain tissue. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 7, 270-277.
- Ehrlein, H. J., Reich, H. & Schwinger, M. 1983. Colonic motility and transit of digesta during hard and soft faeces formation in rabbits. *The Journal of physiology*, 338, 75-86.
- Huizinga, J. D., Chen, J.-H., Zhu, Y. F., Pawelka, A., Mcginn, R. J., Bardakjian, B. L., et al.Chen, D. 2014. The origin of segmentation motor activity in the intestine. *Nature communications*, 5, 3326-3326.
- Siegle, M. L. & Ehrlein, H. J. 1989. Effects of various agents on ileal postprandial motor patterns and transit of chyme in dogs. *Am J Physiol*, 257, G698-703.
- Ellis, M., Chambers, J. D., Gwynne, R. M. & Bornstein, J. C. 2013. Serotonin and cholecystokinin mediate nutrient-induced segmentation in guinea pig small intestine. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 304, G749-G761.
- Kisloff, B. & Moore, E. W. 1976. Effect of serotonin on water and electrolyte transport in the in vivo rabbit small intestine. *Gastroenterology*, 71, 1033-1038.
- Jahn, H. M., Kasakow, C. V., Helfer, A., Michely, J., Verkhratsky, A., Maurer, H. H., et al.Kirchhoff, F. 2018. Refined protocols of tamoxifen injection for inducible DNA recombination in mouse astroglia. *Scientific Reports*, *8*, 5913.
- Wade, P. R., Chen, J., Jaffe, B., Kassem, I. S., Blakely, R. D. & Gershon, M. D. 1996. Localization and function of a 5-ht transporter in crypt epithelia of the gastrointestinal tract. *J Neurosci*, 16, 2352-64.
- Chen, J. X., Pan, H., Rothman, T. P., Wade, P. R. & Gershon, M. D. 1998. Guinea pig 5-ht transporter: Cloning, expression, distribution, and function in intestinal sensory reception. *Am J Physiol*, 275, G433-48.
- Lund, M. L., Sorrentino, G., Egerod, K. L., Kroone, C., Mortensen, B., Knop, F. K., et al.Petersen, N. 2020. L-cell differentiation is induced by bile acids through gpbar1 and paracrine glp-1 and serotonin signaling. *Diabetes*, 69, 614-623.
- Zagorodnyuk, V. P. & Spencer, N. J. 2011. Localization of the sensory neurons and mechanoreceptors required for stretch-evoked colonic migrating motor complexes in mouse colon. *Frontiers in physiology*, *2*, 98-98.
- Gershon, M. D. 2000. 5-ht (serotonin) physiology and related drugs. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol,* 16, 113-20.
- Bertrand, P. P., Kunze, W. A., Bornstein, J. C., Furness, J. B. & Smith, M. L. 1997. Analysis of the responses of myenteric neurons in the small intestine to chemical stimulation of the mucosa. *Am J Physiol*, 273, G422-35.
- Furness, J. B., Robbins, H. L., Xiao, J., Stebbing, M. J. & Nurgali, K. 2004b. Projections and chemistry of dogiel type ii neurons in the mouse colon. *Cell Tissue Res*, 317, 1-12.
- Osborne, C. K. 1998. Tamoxifen in the treatment of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 339, 1609-18.
- Lee, D. M., Chang, S. J., Park, C. G., Kim, M. W., Lim, G. H., Choi, S., et al.Jun, J. Y. 2005. [effects of tamoxifen on the voltage-dependent ionic currents in mouse colonic smooth muscle cells]. *Korean J Gastroenterol*, 46, 388-95.
- Roth, K. A. & Gordon, J. I. 1990. Spatial differentiation of the intestinal epithelium: Analysis of enteroendocrine cells containing immunoreactive serotonin, secretin, and substance p in normal and transgenic mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 87, 6408-6412.
- Beumer, J., Puschhof, J., Bauzá-Martinez, J., Martínez-Silgado, A., Elmentaite, R., James, K. R., et al.Clevers, H. 2020. High-resolution mrna and secretome atlas of human enteroendocrine cells. *Cell*.

- Holzer, P. & Holzer-Petsche, U. 1997. Tachykinins in the gut. Part i. Expression, release and motor function. *Pharmacol Ther*, 73, 173-217.
- Deiteren, A., De Winter, B. Y., Nullens, S., Pelckmans, P. A. & De Man, J. G. 2011. Role of tachykinin receptors in the modulation of colonic peristaltic activity in mice. *European journal of pharmacology*, 667, 339-347.
- Dickson, E. J., Heredia, D. J., Mccann, C. J., Hennig, G. W. & Smith, T. K. 2010. The mechanisms underlying the generation of the colonic migrating motor complex in both wild-type and nnos knockout mice. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*, 298, G222-G232.
- Mulè, F., Amato, A. & Serio, R. 2007. Role for nk(1) and nk(2) receptors in the motor activity in mouse colon. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 570, 196-202.
- Jaafari, N., Khomitch-Baud, A., Christen, M.-O. & Julé, Y. 2007. Distribution pattern of tachykinin nk2 receptors in human colon: Involvement in the regulation of intestinal motility. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 503, 381-391.
- Matsumoto, K., Kurosawa, E., Terui, H., Hosoya, T., Tashima, K., Murayama, T., et al.Horie, S. 2009. Localization of trpv1 and contractile effect of capsaicin in mouse large intestine: High abundance and sensitivity in rectum and distal colon. *American Journal* of *Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 297, G348-G360.
- Costa, M., Furness, J. B., Cuello, A. C., Verhofstad, A. a. J., Steinbusch, H. W. J. & Elde, R. P. 1982. Neurons with 5-hydroxytryptamine-like immunoreactivity in the enteric nervous system: Their visualization and reactions to drug treatment. *Neuroscience*, 7, 351-363.
- Wardell, C. F., Bornstein, J. C. & Furness, J. B. 1994. Projections of 5-hydroxytryptamineimmunoreactive neurons in guinea-pig distal colon. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 278, 379-387.
- Furukawa, K., Taylor, G. S. & Bywater, R. A. 1986. An intracellular study of myenteric neurons in the mouse colon. *J Neurophysiol*, 55, 1395-406.
- Nurgali, K., Stebbing, M. J. & Furness, J. B. 2004. Correlation of electrophysiological and morphological characteristics of enteric neurons in the mouse colon. *J Comp Neurol*, 468, 112-24.
- Okamoto, T., Barton, M. J., Hennig, G. W., Birch, G. C., Grainger, N., Corrigan, R. D., et al.Smith, T. K. 2014. Extensive projections of myenteric serotonergic neurons suggest they comprise the central processing unit in the colon. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 26, 556-570.
- Wiese, C. B., Fleming, N., Buehler, D. P. & Southard-Smith, E. M. 2013. A uchl1histone2bmcherry:Gfp-gpi bac transgene for imaging neuronal progenitors. *genesis*, 51, 852-861.
- Schriemer, D., Sribudiani, Y., Ijpma, A., Natarajan, D., Mackenzie, K. C., Metzger, M., et al.Eggen, B. J. L. 2016. Regulators of gene expression in enteric neural crest cells are putative hirschsprung disease genes. *Developmental Biology*, 416, 255-265.
- Coates, M. D., Mahoney, C. R., Linden, D. R., Sampson, J. E., Chen, J., Blaszyk, H., et al.Moses, P. L. 2004. Molecular defects in mucosal serotonin content and decreased serotonin reuptake transporter in ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology*, 126, 1657-64.
- Vahora, I. S., Tsouklidis, N., Kumar, R., Soni, R. & Khan, S. 2020. How serotonin level fluctuation affects the effectiveness of treatment in irritable bowel syndrome. *Cureus*, 12, e9871.
- Fukudo, S., Kinoshita, Y., Okumura, T., Ida, M., Akiho, H., Nakashima, Y., et al.Haruma, K. 2016. Ramosetron reduces symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea and improves quality of life in women. *Gastroenterology*, 150, 358-66.e8.
- Sinagra, E., Romano, C. & Cottone, M. 2012. Psychopharmacological treatment and psychological interventions in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice*, 2012, 486067.
- Sinagra, E., Morreale, G. C., Mohammadian, G., Fusco, G., Guarnotta, V., Tomasello, G., et al.Raimondo, D. 2017. New therapeutic perspectives in irritable bowel syndrome:

Targeting low-grade inflammation, immuno-neuroendocrine axis, motility, secretion and beyond. *World J Gastroenterol*, 23, 6593-6627.

- Camilleri, M. 2018. Management options for irritable bowel syndrome. *Mayo Clin Proc,* 93, 1858-1872.
- Qi, Q., Zhang, Y., Chen, F., Zuo, X. & Li, Y. 2018. Ramosetron for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Gastroenterol*, 18, 5.
- Olden, K. W., Chey, W. D., Shringarpure, R., Paul Nicandro, J., Chuang, E. & Earnest, D. L. 2019. Alosetron versus traditional pharmacotherapy in clinical practice: Effects on resource use, health-related quality of life, safety and symptom improvement in women with severe diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 35, 461-472.
- Lacy, B. E., Nicandro, J. P., Chuang, E. & Earnest, D. L. 2018. Alosetron use in clinical practice: Significant improvement in irritable bowel syndrome symptoms evaluated using the us food and drug administration composite endpoint. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol*, 11, 1756284818771674.
- Gunn, D., Garsed, K., Lam, C., Singh, G., Lingaya, M., Wahl, V., et al.Spiller, R. 2019a. Abnormalities of mucosal serotonin metabolism and 5-ht3 receptor subunit 3c polymorphism in irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhoea predict responsiveness to ondansetron. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 50, 538-546.
- Cangemi, D. J. & Lacy, B. E. 2019. Management of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea: A review of nonpharmacological and pharmacological interventions. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol*, 12, 1756284819878950.
- Gunn, D., Fried, R., Lalani, R., Farrin, A., Holloway, I., Morris, T., et al.Spiller, R. 2019b. Treatment of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhoea using titrated ondansetron (triton): Study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, 20, 517.
- Lacy, B. E. 2016. Diagnosis and treatment of diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. International journal of general medicine, 9, 7-17.
- Xie, C., Tang, Y., Wang, Y., Yu, T., Wang, Y., Jiang, L. & Lin, L. 2015. Efficacy and safety of antidepressants for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: A meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0127815.
- Chen, L., Ilham, S. J. & Feng, B. 2017. Pharmacological approach for managing pain in irritable bowel syndrome: A review article. *Anesth Pain Med*, 7, e42747.
- Zheng, Y., Yu, T., Tang, Y., Xiong, W., Shen, X., Jiang, L. & Lin, L. 2017. Efficacy and safety of 5-hydroxytryptamine 3 receptor antagonists in irritable bowel syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0172846.
- Xiao, B. 2020. Levering mechanically activated piezo channels for potential pharmacological intervention. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol,* 60, 195-218.
- Alcaino, C., Farrugia, G. & Beyder, A. 2017a. Mechanosensitive piezo channels in the gastrointestinal tract. *Curr Top Membr,* 79, 219-244.
- Alcaino, C., Knutson, K., Gottlieb, P. A., Farrugia, G. & Beyder, A. 2017b. Mechanosensitive ion channel piezo2 is inhibited by d-gsmtx4. *Channels*, 11, 245-253.
- Kunze, W. A., Clerc, N., Furness, J. B. & Gola, M. 2000. The soma and neurites of primary afferent neurons in the guinea-pig intestine respond differentially to deformation. *J Physiol*, 526 Pt 2, 375-85.
- Spencer, N. J. & Smith, T. K. 2004. Mechanosensory s-neurons rather than ah-neurons appear to generate a rhythmic motor pattern in guinea-pig distal colon. *The Journal of Physiology*, 558, 577-596.
- Mazzuoli, G. & Schemann, M. 2009. Multifunctional rapidly adapting mechanosensitive enteric neurons (ramen) in the myenteric plexus of the guinea pig ileum. *The Journal of Physiology*, 587, 4681-4694.
- Mazzuoli, G. & Schemann, M. 2012. Mechanosensitive enteric neurons in the myenteric plexus of the mouse intestine. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e39887.

- Drokhlyansky, E., Smillie, C. S., Van Wittenberghe, N., Ericsson, M., Griffin, G. K., Eraslan, G., et al.Regev, A. 2020. The human and mouse enteric nervous system at single-cell resolution. *Cell*, 182, 1606-1622.e23.
- Fujita, T. & Kobayashi, S. 1971. Experimentally induced granule release in the endocrine cells of dog pyloric antrum. *Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat,* 116, 52-60.
- Kobayashi, S., Fujita, T. & Sasagawa, T. 1971. Electron microscope studies on the endocrine cells of the human gastric fundus. *Arch Histol Jpn*, 32, 429-44.
- Beyder, A. 2019. In pursuit of the epithelial mechanosensitivity mechanisms. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 9.
- Kraichely, R. E. & Farrugia, G. 2007. Mechanosensitive ion channels in interstitial cells of cajal and smooth muscle of the gastrointestinal tract. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 19, 245-252.
- Farrugia, G., Holm, A. N., Rich, A., Sarr, M. G., Szurszewski, J. H. & Rae, J. L. 1999. A mechanosensitive calcium channel in human intestinal smooth muscle cells. *Gastroenterology*, 117, 900-905.
- Bae, C., Sachs, F. & Gottlieb, P. A. 2011. The mechanosensitive ion channel piezo1 is inhibited by the peptide gsmtx4. *Biochemistry*, 50, 6295-6300.
- Gottlieb, P. A., Bae, C. & Sachs, F. 2011. The mechanosensitive channel piezo1 and the effect of gsmtx4. *Biophysical Journal*, 100, 280a.
- Gottlieb, P. A. & Sachs, F. 2012. Piezo1: Properties of a cation selective mechanical channel. *Channels (Austin)*, 6, 214-9.
- Suchyna, T. M., Johnson, J. H., Hamer, K., Leykam, J. F., Gage, D. A., Clemo, H. F., et al.Sachs, F. 2000. Identification of a peptide toxin from grammostola spatulata spider venom that blocks cation-selective stretch-activated channels. *J Gen Physiol*, 115, 583-98.
- Suchyna, T. M., Tape, S. E., Koeppe, R. E., Ii, Anderson, O. S. & Et Al. 2004. Bilayerdependent inhibition of mechanosensitive channels by neuroactive peptide enantiomers. *Nature*, 430, 235-40.
- Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M. K., Kostas, S. A., Driver, S. E. & Mello, C. C. 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded rna in caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*, 391, 806-11.
- Cox, C. D., Bae, C., Ziegler, L., Hartley, S., Nikolova-Krstevski, V., Rohde, P. R., et al.Martinac, B. 2016b. Removal of the mechanoprotective influence of the cytoskeleton reveals piezo1 is gated by bilayer tension. *Nature communications*, 7, 10366-10366.
- Peyronnet, R., Martins, J. R., Duprat, F., Demolombe, S., Arhatte, M., Jodar, M., et al.Patel, A. 2013b. Piezo1-dependent stretch-activated channels are inhibited by polycystin-2 in renal tubular epithelial cells. *EMBO Rep,* 14, 1143-1148.
- Martins, P., Fakhry, J., De Oliveira, E. C., Hunne, B., Fothergill, L. J., Ringuet, M., et al.Furness, J. B. 2017. Analysis of enteroendocrine cell populations in the human colon. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 367, 161-168.
- Eisenhoffer, G. T., Loftus, P. D., Yoshigi, M., Otsuna, H., Chien, C. B., Morcos, P. A. & Rosenblatt, J. 2012. Crowding induces live cell extrusion to maintain homeostatic cell numbers in epithelia. *Nature*, 484, 546-9.
- Yang, X.-N., Lu, Y.-P., Liu, J.-J., Huang, J.-K., Liu, Y.-P., Xiao, C.-X., et al.Guleng, B. 2014. Piezo1 is as a novel trefoil factor family 1 binding protein that promotes gastric cancer cell mobility in vitro. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 59, 1428-35.
- Eyckmans, J., Boudou, T., Yu, X. & Chen, Christopher s. 2011b. A hitchhiker's guide to mechanobiology. *Developmental Cell*, 21, 35-47.
- Yu, J., Bergaya, S., Murata, T., Alp, I. F., Bauer, M. P., Lin, M. I., et al.Sessa, W. C. 2006. Direct evidence for the role of caveolin-1 and caveolae in mechanotransduction and remodeling of blood vessels. *J Clin Invest*, 116, 1284-91.
- Cooke, H. J., Wang, Y., Liu, C. Y., Zhang, H. & Christofi, F. L. 1999. Activation of neuronal adenosine a1 receptors suppresses secretory reflexes in the guinea pig colon. *Am J Physiol*, 276, G451-62.

- Christofi, F. L., Kim, M., Wunderlich, J. E., Xue, J., Suntres, Z., Cardounel, A., et al.Cooke, H. J. 2004. Endogenous adenosine differentially modulates 5-hydroxytryptamine release from a human enterochromaffin cell model. *Gastroenterology*, 127, 188-202.
- Miyamoto, T., Mochizuki, T., Nakagomi, H., Kira, S., Watanabe, M., Takayama, Y., et al. Tominaga, M. 2014c. Functional role for piezo1 in stretch-evoked ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and atp release in urothelial cell cultures. *J Biol Chem*, 289, 16565-75.
- Guan, N. N., Sharma, N., Hallén-Grufman, K., Jager, E. W. H. & Svennersten, K. 2018. The role of atp signalling in response to mechanical stimulation studied in t24 cells using new microphysiological tools. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine,* 22, 2319-2328.
- Lechner, S. G. & Lewin, G. R. 2009. Peripheral sensitisation of nociceptors via g-proteindependent potentiation of mechanotransduction currents. *J Physiol*, 587, 3493-503.
- Shin, S. M., Moehring, F., Itson-Zoske, B., Fan, F., Stucky, C. L., Hogan, Q. H. & Yu, H. 9000. Piezo2 mechanosensitive ion channel is located to sensory neurons and nonneuronal cells in rat peripheral sensory pathway: Implications in pain. *PAIN*.
- Dubin, Adrienne e., Schmidt, M., Mathur, J., Petrus, Matthew j., Xiao, B., Coste, B. & Patapoutian, A. 2012. Inflammatory signals enhance piezo2-mediated mechanosensitive currents. *Cell Reports*, 2, 511-517.
- Del Rosario, J. S., Yudin, Y., Su, S., Hartle, C. M., Mirshahi, T. & Rohacs, T. 2020. Gi-coupled receptor activation potentiates piezo2 currents via gβγ. *EMBO reports*, 21, e49124.
- Hukuhara, T. & Neya, T. 1968. The movements of the colon of rats and guinea pigs. *Jpn J Physiol,* 18, 551-62.
- Martin, A. M., Jones, L. A., Jessup, C. F., Sun, E. W. & Keating, D. J. 2020a. Diet differentially regulates enterochromaffin cell serotonin content, density and nutrient sensitivity in the mouse small and large intestine. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 32, e13869.
- Strege, P. R., Knutson, K., Eggers, S. J., Li, J. H., Wang, F., Linden, D., et al.Beyder, A. 2017. Sodium channel na(v)1.3 is important for enterochromaffin cell excitability and serotonin release. *Sci Rep*, **7**, 15650.
- Eijkelkamp, N., Linley, J. E., Torres, J. M., Bee, L., Dickenson, A. H., Gringhuis, M., et al.Wood, J. N. 2013. A role for piezo2 in epac1-dependent mechanical allodynia. *Nature communications*, 4, 1682-1682.
- Lou, S., Duan, B., Vong, L., Lowell, B. B. & Ma, Q. 2013. Runx1 controls terminal morphology and mechanosensitivity of vglut3-expressing c-mechanoreceptors. *J Neurosci*, 33, 870-82.
- Hibberd, T. J., Zagorodnyuk, V. P., Spencer, N. J. & Brookes, S. J. H. 2012. Identification and mechanosensitivity of viscerofugal neurons. *Neuroscience*, 225, 118-129.
- Spencer, N. J., Hennig, G. W. & Smith, T. K. 2003. Stretch-activated neuronal pathways to longitudinal and circular muscle in guinea pig distal colon. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 284, G231-41.
- Maksimovic, S., Nakatani, M., Baba, Y., Nelson, A. M., Marshall, K. L., Wellnitz, S. A., et al.Lumpkin, E. A. 2014. Epidermal merkel cells are mechanosensory cells that tune mammalian touch receptors. *Nature*, 509, 617-621.
- Neshatian, L., Strege, P. R., Rhee, P.-L., Kraichely, R. E., Mazzone, A., Bernard, C. E., et al.Farrugia, G. 2015. Ranolazine inhibits voltage-gated mechanosensitive sodium channels in human colon circular smooth muscle cells. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*, 309, G506-G512.
- Kim, Y. S. & Kim, N. 2018. Sex-gender differences in irritable bowel syndrome. *Journal of neurogastroenterology and motility*, 24, 544-558.
- Higgins, P. D. & Johanson, J. F. 2004. Epidemiology of constipation in north america: A systematic review. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 99, 750-9.
- Gandell, D., Straus, S. E., Bundookwala, M., Tsui, V. & Alibhai, S. M. H. 2013. Treatment of constipation in older people. *CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne,* 185, 663-670.

- Sun, T., Li, D., Hu, S., Huang, L., Sun, H., Yang, S., et al.Zhou, D. 2018b. Aging-dependent decrease in the numbers of enteric neurons, interstitial cells of cajal and expression of connexin43 in various regions of gastrointestinal tract. *Aging*, 10, 3851-3865.
- Saffrey, M. J. 2013. Cellular changes in the enteric nervous system during ageing. *Dev Biol,* 382, 344-55.
- Camilleri, M., Lee, J. S., Viramontes, B., Bharucha, A. E. & Tangalos, E. G. 2000. Insights into the pathophysiology and mechanisms of constipation, irritable bowel syndrome, and diverticulosis in older people. *J Am Geriatr Soc,* 48, 1142-50.
- Rao, M. & Gershon, M. D. 2016. The bowel and beyond: The enteric nervous system in neurological disorders. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol,* 13, 517-28.
- Gomez-Pinilla, P. J., Gibbons, S. J., Sarr, M. G., Kendrick, M. L., Shen, K. R., Cima, R. R., et al.Farrugia, G. 2011. Changes in interstitial cells of cajal with age in the human stomach and colon. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 23, 36-44.
- Wade, P. R. & Westfall, J. A. 1985b. Ultrastructure of enterochromaffin cells and associated neural and vascular elements in the mouse duodenum. *Cell Tissue Res*, 241, 557-63.
- Kunze, W. A., Bornstein, J. C. & Furness, J. B. 1995b. Identification of sensory nerve cells in a peripheral organ (the intestine) of a mammal. *Neuroscience*, 66, 1-4.
- Furness, J. B., Johnson, P. J., Pompolo, S. & Bornstein, J. C. 1995. Evidence that enteric motility reflexes can be initiated through entirely intrinsic mechanisms in the guineapig small intestine. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 7, 89-96.
- Powley, T. L., Holst, M. C., Boyd, D. B. & Kelly, J. B. 1994. Three-dimensional reconstructions of autonomic projections to the gastrointestinal tract. *Microsc Res Tech*, 29, 297-309.
- Berthoud, H. R., Kressel, M., Raybould, H. E. & Neuhuber, W. L. 1995. Vagal sensors in the rat duodenal mucosa: Distribution and structure as revealed by in vivo dii-tracing. *Anat Embryol (Berl)*, 191, 203-12.
- Berthoud, H. R., Patterson, L. M., Neumann, F. & Neuhuber, W. L. 1997. Distribution and structure of vagal afferent intraganglionic laminar endings (igles) in the rat gastrointestinal tract. *Anat Embryol (Berl)*, 195, 183-91.
- Norman, P. & Bower, A. J. 1982. An autoradiographic study of the brainstem projections of vagal visceral afferent fibres in the domestic hen. *J Anat*, 134, 583-9.
- Brierley, S. M., Hibberd, T. J. & Spencer, N. J. 2018. Spinal afferent innervation of the colon and rectum. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, 12, 467-467.
- Jones, L. A., Sun, E. W., Martin, A. M. & Keating, D. J. 2020. The ever-changing roles of serotonin. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 105776.
- Kuramoto, H., Koo, A., Fothergill, L. J., Hunne, B., Yoshimura, R., Kadowaki, M. & Furness, J. B. 2021. Morphologies and distributions of 5-ht containing enteroendocrine cells in the mouse large intestine. *Cell and Tissue Research*.
- Spencer, N. J., Kyloh, M. & Duffield, M. 2014. Identification of different types of spinal afferent nerve endings that encode noxious and innocuous stimuli in the large intestine using a novel anterograde tracing technique. *PloS one,* 9, e112466-e112466.
- Mccoy, E. S., Taylor-Blake, B., Street, S. E., Pribisko, A. L., Zheng, J. & Zylka, M. J. 2013. Peptidergic cgrpα primary sensory neurons encode heat and itch and tonically suppress sensitivity to cold. *Neuron*, 78, 138-151.
- Otsuki, T., Yata, K., Takata-Tomokuni, A., Hyodoh, F., Miura, Y., Sakaguchi, H., et al.Sugihara, T. 2004. Expression of protein gene product 9.5 (pgp9.5)/ubiquitin-c-terminal hydrolase 1 (uchl-1) in human myeloma cells. *British Journal of Haematology*, 127, 292-298.
- Tecott, L., Shtrom, S. & Julius, D. 1995. Expression of a serotonin-gated ion channel in embryonic neural and nonneural tissues. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 6, 43-55.
- Zhang, Z.-W., Kang, J. I. & Vaucher, E. 2011. Axonal varicosity density as an index of local neuronal interactions. *PloS one,* 6, e22543-e22543.
- Berthoud, H. R. & Patterson, L. M. 1996. Anatomical relationship between vagal afferent fibers and cck-immunoreactive entero-endocrine cells in the rat small intestinal mucosa. *Acta Anat (Basel)*, 156, 123-31.

- Tsubouchi, S. & Leblond, C. P. 1979. Migration and turnover of entero-endocrine and caveolated cells in the epithelium of the descending colon, as shown by radioautography after continuous infusion of 3h-thymidine into mice. *American Journal of Anatomy*, 156, 431-451.
- Latorre, R., Sternini, C., De Giorgio, R. & Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B. 2016a. Enteroendocrine cells: A review of their role in brain-gut communication. *Neurogastroenterology and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society,* 28, 620-630.
- Fujita, T. 1973. The cells and hormones of the gep endocrine system-the current of studies. *Gastro-entero-pancreatic endocrine system. A cell-biological approach*, 1-16.
- Blackshaw, L. A. & Grundy, D. 1993. Effects of 5-hydroxytryptamine on discharge of vagal mucosal afferent fibres from the upper gastrointestinal tract of the ferret. *Journal of the Autonomic Nervous System*, 45, 41-50.
- Martin, A. M., Sun, E. W. & Keating, D. J. 2020b. Mechanisms controlling hormone secretion in human gut and its relevance to metabolism. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 244, R1-R15.
- Latorre, R., Sternini, C., De Giorgio, R. & Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B. 2016b. Enteroendocrine cells: A review of their role in brain-gut communication. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility*, 28, 620-630.
- Agirman, G. & Hsiao, E. Y. 2021. Snapshot: The microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Cell*, 184, 2524-2524.e1.
- Spencer, N. J., Kyloh, M. A., Travis, L. & Dodds, K. N. 2020. Sensory nerve endings arising from single spinal afferent neurons that innervate both circular muscle and myenteric ganglia in mouse colon: Colon-brain axis. *Cell and Tissue Research*.
- Zecchini, V., Domaschenz, R., Winton, D. & Jones, P. 2005b. Notch signaling regulates the differentiation of post-mitotic intestinal epithelial cells. *Genes Dev*, 19, 1686-91.
- Modasia, A., Parker, A., Jones, E., Stentz, R., Brion, A., Goldson, A., et al.Carding, S. R. 2020. Regulation of enteroendocrine cell networks by the major human gut symbiont bacteroides thetaiotaomicron. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11.
- Lundgren, O., Jodal, M., Jansson, M., Ryberg, A. T. & Svensson, L. 2011. Intestinal epithelial stem/progenitor cells are controlled by mucosal afferent nerves. *PloS one,* 6, e16295-e16295.
- Peck, B. C. E., Shanahan, M. T., Singh, A. P. & Sethupathy, P. 2017. Gut microbial influences on the mammalian intestinal stem cell niche. *Stem cells international*, 2017, 5604727-5604727.
- Schwerdtfeger, L. A. & Tobet, S. A. 2020. Vasoactive intestinal peptide regulates ileal goblet cell production in mice. *Physiological reports,* 8, e14363-e14363.
- Chiu, I. M., Barrett, L. B., Williams, E. K., Strochlic, D. E., Lee, S., Weyer, A. D., et al.Woolf, C. J. 2014. Transcriptional profiling at whole population and single cell levels reveals somatosensory neuron molecular diversity. *eLife*, 3, e04660.
- Sjögren, K., Engdahl, C., Henning, P., Lerner, U. H., Tremaroli, V., Lagerquist, M. K., et al.Ohlsson, C. 2012. The gut microbiota regulates bone mass in mice. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 27, 1357-1367.
- Tsuruta, T., Saito, S., Osaki, Y., Hamada, A., Aoki-Yoshida, A. & Sonoyama, K. 2016. Organoids as an ex vivo model for studying the serotonin system in the murine small intestine and colon epithelium. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 474, 161-167.
- Jenny, M., Uhl, C., Roche, C., Duluc, I., Guillermin, V., Guillemot, F., et al.Gradwohl, G. 2002b. Neurogenin3 is differentially required for endocrine cell fate specification in the intestinal and gastric epithelium. *The EMBO Journal*, 21, 6338-6347.
- Dicicco-Bloom, E. 1996. Region-specific regulation of neurogenesis by vip and pacap: Direct and indirect modes of action. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 805, 244-56; discussion 256-8.
- Sherwood, N. M., Krueckl, S. L. & Mcrory, J. E. 2000. The origin and function of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (pacap)/glucagon superfamily. *Endocr Rev*, 21, 619-70.

- Dicicco-Bloom, E., Lu, N., Pintar, J. E. & Zhang, J. 1998. The pacap ligand/receptor system regulates cerebral cortical neurogenesisa. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 865, 274-289.
- Kawano, Y. & Kypta, R. 2003. Secreted antagonists of the wnt signalling pathway. *Journal of Cell Science*, 116, 2627-2634.
- Bafico, A., Gazit, A., Pramila, T., Finch, P. W., Yaniv, A. & Aaronson, S. A. 1999. Interaction of frizzled related protein (frp) with wnt ligands and the frizzled receptor suggests alternative mechanisms for frp inhibition of wnt signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 16180-7.
- Esteve, P., Crespo, I., Kaimakis, P., Sandonís, A. & Bovolenta, P. 2019. Sfrp1 modulates cellsignaling events underlying telencephalic patterning, growth and differentiation. *Cereb Cortex*, 29, 1059-1074.
- Esteve, P., Sandonis, A., Cardozo, M., Malapeira, J., Ibañez, C., Crespo, I., et al.Bovolenta, P. 2011. Sfrps act as negative modulators of adam10 to regulate retinal neurogenesis. *Nat Neurosci*, 14, 562-9.
- Zagon, I. S. & Mclaughlin, P. J. 1984. Naltrexone modulates body and brain development in rats: A role for endogenous opioid systems in growth. *Life Sciences*, 35, 2057-2064.
- Zagon, I. S., Wu, Y. & Mclaughlin, P. J. 1999. Opioid growth factor and organ development in rat and human embryos. *Brain Research*, 839, 313-322.
- Malendowicz, L. K., Rebuffat, P., Tortorella, C., Nussdorfer, G. G., Ziolkowska, A. & Hochol, A. 2005. Effects of met-enkephalin on cell proliferation in different models of adrenocortical-cell growth. *Int J Mol Med*, 15, 841-5.
- Tegeder, I. & Geisslinger, G. 2004. Opioids as modulators of cell death and survival-unraveling mechanisms and revealing new indications. *Pharmacol Rev*, 56, 351-69.
- Alumets, J., Håkanson, R., Sundler, F. & Chang, K. J. 1978. Leu-enkephalin-like material in nerves and enterochromaffin cells in the gut. *Histochemistry*, 56, 187-196.
- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P. & Edwards, R. H. 2013. The function of α-synuclein. *Neuron,* 79, 1044-1066.
- Koncina E., R. L., Gonthier B., Bagnard D. 2007. Role of semaphorins during axon growth and guidance. In: Bagnard, D. (ed.) Axon growth and guidance. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. New York, NY: Springer.
- Alamri, A., Soussi Gounni, A. & Kung, S. K. P. 2017. View point: Semaphorin-3e: An emerging modulator of natural killer cell functions? *International journal of molecular sciences*, 18, 2337.
- Nakayama, H., Kusumoto, C., Nakahara, M., Fujiwara, A. & Higashiyama, S. 2018. Semaphorin 3f and netrin-1: The novel function as a regulator of tumor microenvironment. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9.
- Chauvet, S., Cohen, S., Yoshida, Y., Fekrane, L., Livet, J., Gayet, O., et al.Mann, F. 2007. Gating of sema3e/plexind1 signaling by neuropilin-1 switches axonal repulsion to attraction during brain development. *Neuron*, 56, 807-822.
- Yoshida, Y. 2012. Semaphorin signaling in vertebrate neural circuit assembly. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 5.
- Pecho-Vrieseling, E., Sigrist, M., Yoshida, Y., Jessell, T. M. & Arber, S. 2009. Specificity of sensory-motor connections encoded by sema3e-plxnd1 recognition. *Nature*, 459, 842-846.
- Hilario, J. D., Rodino-Klapac, L. R., Wang, C. & Beattie, C. E. 2009. Semaphorin 5a is a bifunctional axon guidance cue for axial motoneurons in vivo. *Developmental Biology*, 326, 190-200.
- Edgar, D., Carter, J., Runswick, S. & Ybot, P. Role of laminin for axonal growth. 1994 Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 60-61.
- Mckerracher, L., Chamoux, M. & Arregui, C. O. 1996. Role of laminin and integrin interactions in growth cone guidance. *Mol Neurobiol*, 12, 95-116.
- Turney, S. G. & Bridgman, P. C. 2005. Laminin stimulates and guides axonal outgrowth via growth cone myosin ii activity. *Nat Neurosci,* 8, 717-9.

- Baron-Van Evercooren, A., Kleinman, H. K., Ohno, S., Marangos, P., Schwartz, J. P. & Dubois-Dalcq, M. E. 1982. Nerve growth factor, laminin, and fibronectin promote neurite growth in human fetal sensory ganglia cultures. *J Neurosci Res*, 8, 179-93.
- Sann, S. B., Xu, L., Nishimune, H., Sanes, J. R. & Spitzer, N. C. 2008. Neurite outgrowth and <em>in vivo</em> sensory innervation mediated by a ca<sub>v</sub>2.2–laminin β2 stop signal. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 2366-2374.
- Aarts, L. H. J., Schotman, P., Verhaagen, J., Schrama, L. H. & Gispen, W. H. 1998. The role of the neural growth associated protein b-50/gap-43 in morphogenesis. *In:* Ehrlich, Y. H. (ed.) *Molecular and cellular mechanisms of neuronal plasticity: Basic and clinical implications.* Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Rosskothen-Kuhl, N. & Illing, R.-B. 2014. Gap43 transcription modulation in the adult brain depends on sensory activity and synaptic cooperation. *PloS one*, 9, e92624-e92624.
- Watkins, J. C. & Jane, D. E. 2006. The glutamate story. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 147, S100-S108.
- Kwon, H.-B. & Sabatini, B. L. 2011. Glutamate induces de novo growth of functional spines in developing cortex. *Nature*, 474, 100-104.
- Lomax, A. E., Linden, D. R., Mawe, G. M. & Sharkey, K. A. 2006. Effects of gastrointestinal inflammation on enteroendocrine cells and enteric neural reflex circuits. *Autonomic Neuroscience: Basic and Clinical*, 126, 250-257.
- Vandestadt, C., Vanwalleghem, G. C., Castillo, H. A., Li, M., Schulze, K., Khabooshan, M., et al.Kaslin, J. 2019. Early migration of precursor neurons initiates cellular and functional regeneration after spinal cord injury in zebrafish. *bioRxiv*, 539940.
- Galligan, J. J., Costa, M. & Furness, J. B. 1988. Changes in surviving nerve fibers associated with submucosal arteries following extrinsic denervation of the small intestine. *Cell Tissue Res*, 253, 647-56.
- Jiang, M. M. & Surprenant, A. 1992. Re-innervation of submucosal arterioles by myenteric neurones following extrinsic denervation. *Journal of the autonomic nervous system*, 37, 145-54.
- Mellitzer, G., Beucher, A., Lobstein, V., Michel, P., Robine, S., Kedinger, M. & Gradwohl, G. 2010b. Loss of enteroendocrine cells in mice alters lipid absorption and glucose homeostasis and impairs postnatal survival. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 120, 1708-1721.
- Lai, N. Y., Musser, M. A., Pinho-Ribeiro, F. A., Baral, P., Jacobson, A., Ma, P., et al.Chiu, I. M. 2020. Gut-innervating nociceptor neurons regulate peyer's patch microfold cells and sfb levels to mediate salmonella host defense. *Cell*, 180, 33-49.e22.
- Vicenzi, S., Foa, L. & Gasperini, R. J. 2020. Serotonin functions as a bidirectional guidance molecule regulating growth cone motility. *Cell Mol Life Sci.*
- Dinning, P. G., Wiklendt, L., Maslen, L., Patton, V., Lewis, H., Arkwright, J. W., et al.Bampton, P. A. 2015. Colonic motor abnormalities in slow transit constipation defined by high resolution, fibre-optic manometry. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 27, 379-88.
- Dinning, P. G., Sia, T. C., Kumar, R., Mohd Rosli, R., Kyloh, M., Wattchow, D. A., et al.Spencer, N. J. 2016. High-resolution colonic motility recordings in vivo compared with ex vivo recordings after colectomy, in patients with slow transit constipation. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 28, 1824-1835.
- Cryan, J. F., O'riordan, K. J., Cowan, C. S. M., Sandhu, K. V., Bastiaanssen, T. F. S., Boehme, M., et al.Dinan, T. G. 2019. The microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Physiol Rev*, 99, 1877-2013.
- Teruel, A. H., Gonzalez-Alvarez, I., Bermejo, M., Merino, V., Marcos, M. D., Sancenon, F., et al.Martinez-Mañez, R. 2020. New insights of oral colonic drug delivery systems for inflammatory bowel disease therapy. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 21, 6502.

## **APPENDICES**



# Appendix Figure 1: Fluoxetine reduces CMMC frequency in intact *ex vivo* mouse colonic preparations.

Fluoxetine reduces CMMC frequency significantly in intact colonic preparations *ex vivo* but has not effect on CMMC frequency of mucosa-free preparations. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* = p<0.05, \*\*=p<0.01.





No difference is seen in the total GI transit time of Tph inhibitor (LP5333401) treated mice *in vivo*. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM.




A 50% reduction of GI mucosal serotonin is seen after 28days treatment with the Tph inhibitor, LP5333401, *in vivo*. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*=p<0.05, \*\*=p<0.01.

Appendix	Table	1:	Patient	information	for	each	human	specimens	used	in
immunohistochemical analysis.										

Patient ID	Age	Sex	Region
IP201	90	F	lleum
IP160	41	F	lleum
IP159	93	М	lleum
CP174	59	f	Descending Colon
CP201	90	f	Ascending Colon
CP363	53	m	Sigmoid Colon
CP365	45	f	Descending Colon
CP370	71	f	Ascending Colon
CP371	65	f	Sigmoid Colon
CP360	86	М	Descending Colon

Patient ID	Age	Sex	Region	ВМІ
IP198	81	F	lleum	27.9
IP200	70	F	lleum	24.7
IP201	91	F	lleum	30
IP202	71	F	lleum	26.5
IP203	73	F	lleum	30
IP227	59	М	lleum	29.6
IP229	85	М	lleum	-
CP381	81	F	Colon	27.9
CP383	70	F	Colon	24.7
CP384	63	М	Colon	38
CP385	91	F	Colon	30
CP386	71	F	Colon	26.5
CP387	73	F	Colon	30

Appendix Table 2: Patient information for each human specimen used in amperometry analysis.

Appendix Table 3: Patient information for each human specimen used in orbital shaking mechanical stimulation experiments.

Patient ID	Age	Sex	BMI
IP198	81	F	27.9
IP200	70	F	24.7
IP201	91	F	30
IP202	71	F	26.5
IP203	73	F	30
IP227	59	М	29.6
IP229	85	М	-
CP381	81	F	27.9
CP383	70	F	24.7
CP384	63	М	38
CP385	91	F	30
CP386	71	F	26.5
CP387	73	F	30



Appendix Figure 4: Example of unidentified Piezo2 positive cells outside of the mucosa.

An example image of human small intestine stained with Piezo2 (red) and DAPI (blue).

White arrows depicting Piezo2<sup>+</sup> cells outside or below the mucosa.





The (A) colonic transit time and (B) total GI transit times are significantly longer in Tx treated Tph1<sup>CreERT2/+</sup>;Piezo2<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice in *vivo*. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*=p<0.05, \*\*=p<0.01



## Appendix Figure 6: EC cell neuropod bifurcating into two.

An example image of an EC cell, labelled with serotonin (red), in which the neuropod bifurcates in two. Scale bar =  $30 \ \mu m$ .



## Appendix Figure 7: Example of two EC cell neuropods contacting each other.

Serotonin (red) labelled EC cells touching, from above (A), rotated to one side (B), and rotated to the other (C). Scale bar =  $10 \mu m$ ,  $5 \mu m$ , and  $15 \mu m$  respectively.